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AFFIDAVIT

|, the undersigned,

MXOLISI SANDILE OLIVER NXASANA

do hereby state under oath:

1. | am the former National Director of Public Prosecutions (NDPP) and was
previously based at the head office of the National Prosecuting Authority
(NPA), in Pretoria.

2. The facts deposed to below are within my personal knowiedge, unless
otherwise stated or indicated by the context, and they are, to the best of my

belief, true and correct.

A. The NPA before my appointment (A pattern of political interference and
instability?)

3. Below is a brief timeline reflecting the various individuais who have held the
position of NDPP:

3.1. April 2001 — 31 August 2004: Bulelani Ngcuka
3.2, August 2004 - January 2005: Dr Silas Ramaite {acting)

3.3. 1 February 2005 — 17 February 2009: Vusi Pikoli (suspended and then

removed / retired)
3.4. 1 May 2009 - 31 October 2009: Mokotedi Mpshe (acting)

35. 1 December 2009 — 8 May 2012: Menzi Simelane (December 201 1 Simelane
was suspended after the SCA judgement; 8 May 2012 Simelane dismissed
pursuant to the Constitutiona! Court judgment).

Page 1 of 28

/S



3.6.

3.7.

3.8.

3.8.

3.10.
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20 December 2011 — 30 September 2013: Advocate Nomgcobo Jiba in an
acting capacity, including her maternity leave, which she took between early
January and 17 May 2013.

1 October 2013 ~ 31 May 2015; Mxolisi Nxasana

18 June 2015 —- 13 August 2018: Shaun Abrahams

1 August 2018 — 31 January 2019: Dr Sitas Ramaite (acting)
1 February 2019 - present: Shamila Batoyi

Bulelani Ngcuka was the first NDPP. His tern of office ended in 2004
following an enquiry into his fithess to hoid office. He was alleged toc have
been an apartheid spy. He was cleared by Judge Hefer. He subsequently
resigned in August 2004.

Vusi Pikoli succeeded him. He too was subjected to an enquiry into his
fitness to hold office: The Ginwala enquiry. It was alleged that the
refationship between him and the then Minister of Justice had broken down.
He was cleared. The matter was referred to Parliament. He was ‘voted’ out
of office. He had instituted charges against former President Zuma and
Jackie Selebi, the Commissioner of Police. His term of office came to an end
in February 2009.

During Pikoli's suspension Advocate Mpshe acted as NDPP. He was not
permanently appointed. He withdrew charges against Zuma - after the
Nicholson J judgement.

President Zuma then appointed Menzi Simelane as NDPP His appointment
was declared invalid by the Constitutional Court.

He was replaced by Advocate Jiba - in an acting position.

| was appointed in August 2013 with effect from 1 October 2013.
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10. | am abie to comment on this brief history of the NPA as follows:

10.1.  Stability: None of the NDPP's before me lasted their full term of office (10

years).

10.2.  Independence: There was political interference or outside interference in the
decision-making in the NPA.

10.3.  Parliamentary oversight: | will comment on the Vusi Pikoli case.

B. The appointment of a NDPP

11. The appointment of the NDPP is governed by section 179 of the Constitution.
It requires there to be a single NPA structured in terms of an Act of
Parliament, consisting, infer afia, of a NDPP who is the NPA’s head. The
President appoints the NDPP in his capacity as head of the National

Executive,

12. Section 179(2) of the Constitution provides that the NPA has the power to
institute criminal proceedings on behalf of the State. Section 179(4) of the
Constitution requires there to be national legislation to ensure that the NPA
exercises its functions ‘without fear, favour or prejudice’.

13. in terms of Section 179(5) the NDPP must determine prosecution policy with
the Minister of Justice's concurrence. Section 179(6) states that the Minister
exercises final responsibility over the NPA.

14. Section 9 of the National Prosecuting Authority Act 32 of 1998 (NPA Act) sets
out the requirements of a person appointed as NDPP. Such person must be:

¢ a South African citizen;

* possess legal qualifications that entitle him or her to practise in all courts in
the Repubiic; and
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16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.
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» be a fit and proper person, with due regard to his or her experience,
conscientiousness and integrity, to be entrusted with the responsibilities of the
office of the NDPP.

The suspension and removal from office of the NDPP are governed by
Section 12 of the NPA Act.

My appointment as NDPP

| was appointed by the former President of the Republic of South Africa, the
honourable Mr Zuma (the former President), as the National Director of
Public Prosecutions (NDPP) with effect from 1 October 2013, in terms of
section 84(e) of the Constitution.

In terms of section 179 of the Constitution read, with section 10 of the NPA
Act, my appointment was for a period of 10 years.

During 2013 | was approached by Mr Hulley at my office in Durban where he
requested to meet with me. The meeting took place at my office and lasted
approximately 30 minutes. He had with him a list of 3 names whom |
assumed were candidates for the post. | was not one of them.

Mr Hulley told me that my colleagues had recommended me to take up the
position of NDPP. He asked If | was willing to serve as NDPP and ! said “yes
! would”. Following my appointment, | met Mr Hulley again as part of my
transition to the office of NDPP.

| was surprised when told | was being considered for the post as | had not
applied for the post, had not sought it out, indicated to anyone that | was
interested in it and | had no expectation of being appointed to the post.

In approximately August 2013 | met with the President, Mr Hulley, and the
President's legal advisor, at the President's official residence in Pretoria. That
too was a short meeting lasting no more than half an hour. The main concern
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21.1.

22.

23.

24.

241,

24.2.
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of the President was whether | had the necessary courage required of the
post. | took that to mean that the President wanted to know whether |
understood that a main requirement of the post was prosecutorial
independence. He asked how ! would cope under the pressure and demands
of ‘the job’. | said that if appointed, | would approach the job with the
necessary courage, but also with the composure characteristic of the

President's own performance.

As | was leaving the meeting with the President, Mr Hulley asked me if there
was anything he should know. | told him that my father had been a trade
unionist whom | understand had interacted politically with the President on
occasion, a long time ago. | disciosed this information because it is not well
known or public knowledge, and because | thought that | should disclose
information about any connection between the President and my late father.

On 30 August 2013, Mr Hulley telephoned me and asked me to send him a
copy of my CV, which | did. He told me that the President was going to
announce his decision to appoint me as NDPP.

On 31 August 2013 the President announced his decision to appoint me as
NDPP.

To the best of my knowledge the position was not advertised. | was not
aware of any selection process other than what | have stated above.

| was not interviewed (in a way ordinarily characteristic of a job interview) by
the President or anyone on his behalf for the purpose of considering whether

to appoint me;

| was not required to complete any application form or similar document
(except for my security clearance application which | completed on 4
December 2013 after | had already been appointed);
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31.

MSON-06

FP-JGZ-838

The only document | compieted and signed (apart from my security ciearance
application) was my employment contract.

What ] found in the NPA

When | arrived at the NPA personnel were warm and receptive to me.

My view on arrival was that the NPA was a well-equipped and functional
organization. This was so notwithstanding the challenges it faced at a
leadership level.

There was no handing-over to me. There was clearly a reluctance and
insubordination on the part of Jiba to do so. | instructed her to “hand-over’.
She refused.

I'recall that | had not been informed of the Cato Manor investigations into
General Booysen. | read about this in the newspaper, which published the
judgement of Gorven J. This judgement was critical of Advocate Jiba’s
handling of the case.

I was also not briefed on the status of the President Zuma investigation.

Events leading to my suspension

During my first year in office, it became clear that my leadership of the NPA
was resisted by National Deputy Director Advocate Nomgcobo Jiba
(Advocate Jiba) and the Special Director Specialised Commercial Crime
Unit Advocate Lawrence Mrwebi (Advocate Mrwebi). They appeared
determined to undermine my standing with the President. ) iater established
that they had run a campaign to discredit me as a person fit and proper to
hold the office of NDPP.

Even before | assumed my position as NDPP, | was made aware of attempts
from within the NPA to discredit me.
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36.2.
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I grew up in Umiazi, in Durban. Aithough | no longer live there, | have family
and friends who still do. Soon after my appointment was announced, they
reported to me that unknown people had been asking questions about me,
trying to dig up information about my past. In particular, they were asking
questions about my background and my arrest and acquittal on charges of
murder in 1985.

Almost Immediately after | was appointed, two NPA officials approached me
(independently of each other) with information that Advocates Jiba and
Mrwebi were plotting to oust me. They volunteered this information of their

own accord.

One of the employees, Mr Terence Joubert (Mr Joubert), a Risk Specialist
for the NPA, deposed to an affidavit in which he explained how he had been
approached by Colonel Welcome Mhlongo (Cotonel Mhlongo), a member of
the Directorate of Pricrity Crimes Investigation (DPCI, commonly referred to
as the "Hawks”) for information about me. Colonel Mhiongo claimed to be
acting on the authority of Ms Jiba.

i do not know Mr Joubert and the information that he sent me was
unsolicited. Furthermore, | do not know why he decided to send me the

information.

A copy of his affidavit is attached, marked Annexure “MN 1.”. in his
affidavit, Mr Joubert states the following under oath;

On 18 September 2013 he was meant to fetch Advocate Jiba from King
Shaka International Airport.

Her secretary phoned him and told him that he did not need to fetch her. She
said that arrangements had been made for Colonel Mhlongo to fetch

Advocate Jiba instead.
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38.

39.

40.
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Colonel Mhlongo disclosed to him that Advocate Jiba had fold him that she
did not think that | was the correct person for the job of NDPP. According to
him, she toid Colonel Mhlongo that “"they" (presumably Colonel Mhlongo,
Advocate Jiba and Advocate Mrwebl) should try to find some dirt on me as
they had against Mr Stanley Gumede.

Mr Stanley Gumede is the Regional Court magistrate who had been tipped to
become NDPP. His appointment was withdrawn following media reports that
the Magistrates Commission was investigating numerous complaints against

him.

Colonel Mhlongo disclosed to him that he was following up information that |
had embezzied money from the Road Accident F und.

Mr Joubert recorded his conversation with Colonel Mhlongo. He also sent me
a copy of a voice recording of the conversation that he had with
Colonel Mhiongo. | listened to and it confirmed what he stated in his

affidavit.

In addition, | believe that Advocates Jiba and Mwebl advised the
President that | intended to reinstate the criminal charges against him that my
predecessor had withdrawn. | had in fact made no such decision.

The President informed me in one of our meetings that he had been told that
| was apparently meeting former NDPP Bulelani Ngcuka at a flat in Durban,
He said; “Hey Mfanakiti, umuntu uma eke washo igama lalowomunty angifuni
nokuzwa lutho ngaye indlela angangifunl ngakhona ngivesane ngihianye”.
This can be roughly translated as “once they mention the name of this person
! don't want to hear anything about that man - | simply go crazy." | told the
President that | have never met Mr Ngcuka and that he was being misled.

| believe that Advocate Jiba was resentful when she was not appointed
as NDDP as she had been acting in that position prior to my appointment. |
do not have any reason to believe that Advocate Jiba and { were unable to
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43.
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43.3.
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work together professionally, but do believe that the campaign to have the
President remove me was aimed at ensuring her continuing to act as, or
even her permanent appointment as, the NDPP. | later discovered that
Advocate Jiba had been recommended in a memorandum by former Minister
of Justice and Constitutional Development, Mr Jeffrey “Jeff’ Thamsanga
Radebe (Minister Radebe), for permanent appointment as NDPP. This
campaign was similar to that which disqualified Mr Stanley Gumede who had
been widely tipped to be made NDPP before my appointment.

I believe that this campaign against me culminated in the President's
establishment of the inquiry into my continued service as NDPP,

Finally, | was concerned that this campaign was also used to influence some
staff members against me. Some staff members were used in pursuit of the
campaign, which disrupted the operation of the organisation.

| had taken various steps to address the instability suffered by the NPA at
this time. These Included:

Obtaining a legal opinion from Senior Counsel Patrick Ellis, regarding the
findings of the High Courts and the Supreme Court of Appeal against
Advocates Jiba, Mrwebi and Advocate Sibongile Mzinyathi (MzInyathi) the
Director of Public Prosecutions North Gauteng Division

The appointment of a Commission of Inquiry headed by retired Constitutionai
Court Justice Yacoob to inquire into the instability within the NPA leadership.
Advocates Jiba and Mrwebi refused to assist the commission despite my

instructions to do so.

The preparation of a Memorandum by Advocate Gerhard Nel the Legal
Advisor in my office. This was signed by Mr Willie Hofmeyr (Mr Hofmeyr). It
was addressed to the Minister for onward transmission to the President. It
dealt with the situation at the NPA. A copy of an affidavit attested to by
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43.5.
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45.
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MrHofmeyr is attached as Annexure “MN 2.” This affidavit deais with
circumstances relevant to this memorandum.

Correspondence addressed to the General Council of the Bar regarding
Advocates diba, Mrwebi and Mzinyathi.

Informal attempts to improve my relationship with Advocates Jiba, Mrwebi
and Mzinyathi; and

Repeatedly requesting a meeting with the President, so as to request him to
intervene and address the situation at the NPA by instituting disciplinary
action against Advocates Jiba, Mrwebl and Mzinyathi.

My initiation of disciplinary action against Advocates Jiba, Mrwebi and
Mzinyathi appeared not to be supported by the President and the then
Minister of Justice, Minister Masutha. | had requested that the President
intervene by taking disciplinary steps against Advocates Jiba, Mrwebi and
Mzinyathi, and | had provided him with a file of relevant documentation. This
included the legai opinion, reports and memoranda.

At the NPA meeting at Emperors Palace in March 2015 Minister Masutha
informed me that the President had agreed to intervene as | had requested.
He failed to do so.

In July 2014, | was informed by the President that he had taken a decision to
institute a commission of inquiry to determine whether | was fit and proper to
hold office, in terms of section 12(6)(a)(iv) of the NPA Act.

At the end of that month, the President also informed me that he intended to
suspend me with full pay pending the outcome of the inquiry and he gave me
an opportunity to make submissions in that regard.
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48.
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My suspension

By letter dated 4 July 20i4, the President informed me that, after careful
consideration, he had taken a decision to institute an inquiry in terms of
section 12(6)(a)(iv) of the NPA Act. Section 12(6)(a)(iv) provides that the
President may provisionally suspend the NDPP from his office, pending an
Inquiry into his fitness to hold office. A copy at this letter Is attached marked
Annexure “MN 3.”.

The President advised me that the details regarding the establishment of the
inquiry would be communicated to me shortly. The notice did not contain the
terms of reference of such an inquiry. Nor did it list the allegations that the
inquiry would investigate against me.

On 30 July 2014 | received a notice from the President informing me that he
was considering suspending me on full pay pending the finalisation of the
inquiry into whether | was fit and proper to hold the office of the NDPP. A
copy of this notice is attached marked Annexure “MN 4.”. The notice reads:

“The enquiry will examine your fitness to hold the office as National Director
of Public Prosecutions having regard to whether:

1. The criminal convictions which you possess for violent conduct:

2. Reported comments in the media are unbecoming of a National Director of
Public Prosecutions, divisive and have the effect of bringing the National
Prosecuting Authority into disrepute;

3. The lack of disclosure of the facts and circumstances of prosecutions

which you faced.

Are consonant with the conscientiousness and integrity of an incumbent to
the office of the National Director of Public Prosecutions as required by the

Ac”
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The notice invited me to provide the President with written representations as
to why | should not be suspended.

My rights to a fair hearing

Section 12(6)(a) of the NPA Act empowers the President to suspend me
pending an enquiry into my fitness to hold office. Implicit in the statutory
power to suspend is the right to a fair hearing before suspension.

The requirement of faimess required that | be given a fair hearing or a fair
opportunity to be heard on why | should not be suspended. That meant that |
should have been given sufficient or adequate time and sufficient or
adequate particularity of the allegations against me to make proper
representations. It Is apparent from the President's letter of 30 July 2014 that
I was not given sufficient or adequate essential particulars of the allegations

against me.

The first bullet point of the President’s notice of 30 July referred to the
‘criminal convictions | possess for violent conduct”. The President did not
give particulars of the criminal convictions to which this allegation referred.

In the second bullet point of the President’s notice of 30 July | was told that
the inquiry would investigate “reported comments in the media’ which the
President contended were unbecoming of an NDPP, were divisive, and had
the effect of bringing the NPA into disrepute. The President did not give
particulars of the comments reported in the media, the dates on which those
comments were reported and the media in which they were reported.

The third bullet point informed me that the enquiry would consider whether |
was fit to hold the office of NDPP in light of my lack of disclosure of facts and
circumstances of prosecutions which | had faced. The President did not give
particularity of the prosecutions, nor to whom and when [ had failed to

disclose the relevant prosecutions.
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| could speculate, as | did in my representations of ! August 2014. But to
have required me to speculate about the essential particulars of the

allegations against me was unfair.

Because | did not have the essential particulars of the allegations against me,
| could not say whether they were tfrue, or whether they were sufficiently
serious to warrant suspension or whether they were such that it Is not
possible for me to interfere with an investigation into them or with witnesses
who made them. These are all considerations relevant to suspension.

in his 8 August 2014 letter the President justified his refusal to provide me
with particulars of the allegations by saying that:

“It is my view that the details you require in paragraph 5 of your letter dated
30 July 2014 and repeated under paragraph 2 of your recent letter are
matters that will be the subject of the enquiry that | advised | shall be
instituting. The information which | have provided is sufficient for the purpose
of the representations which you are invited to make. In any event it appears
apparent from your initial response that you are was aware of the matters fo

which [ refer,

As a result, | do not deem it appropriate to engage on matters that will form
the subject matter of the enquiry. My letter invites you to make
representations as to why you befieve | should not suspend you pending the
finalisation of this enquiry and | await your supplementary representations by
no later than the extended deadline of 16:00 on Wednesday I3 August 2014”.

| submit that it was unfair and unlawful to require me to respond to
allegations as lacking in particularity as the allegations in the President’s
notice of 30 July 2014 were.
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The Cassim Enquiry regarding the fitness of the NDPP to hold office:

Terms of Reference

By letter dated 5 February 2015 the President informed me that he had
appointed Nazeer Cassim SC (Cassim) (assisted by LG Nkosi-Thomas and
SKD Mdladla) to chair an inquiry.

The inquiry's Terms of Reference were published in Government Gazette No.
38453 on 9 February 2015,

The TOR directed the Chairperson to inquire into whether it was fit or proper
for me to hold the office of the NDPP in light of the following:

My two previous separate convictions on charges of assauilt;

The compiaints of professional misconduct laid against me with the KwaZulu
- Natal Law Society;

My having faced criminal charges for acts of violence;
My arrest and detention on criminal charges;

Media statements either issued by me or on my instruction that undermined
or brought the office of the NDPP or the NPA into disrepute;

Any other matter as might be relevant to the abovementioned issues and my
fitness and propriety to hold the office of the NDPP as contemplated in
section 9 (1}(b) of the NPA Act.

The President's complaints

Submissions on behalf of the President and the Minister were filed on
Monday 4 May 2015 at 18h30.

His complaints in the submissions were different to the complaints in the
Terms of Reference.
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The complaints in the submissions were the following:

63.1.1. Before my appointment | had failed to disclose to the President or his
advisors that | had two previous convictions for assauit.

63.1.2. | had failed to take steps to expedite the finalisation of a complaint to the Law
Society by Mr Jabulani Mtshali against me in 2008.

83.1.3. In my security clearance application questionnaire, in answer to the question:

"Have you over been convicted or are there any pending cases for a

cnminal/departmental offence...?

| failed to disclose the following:
¢ During 1985 | had been acquitted on a charge of murder;

e During October 2012 | had been arrested, but not charged, for
inconsiderate driving.

63.1.4. | had failed to disclose whether had taken took any steps to resolve my
complaint against the two police officers who arrested me unlawfully {during
October 2012) for inconsiderate driving.

63.1.5. | had made made statements to the media that:
* were notin the public Interest:
* fuelled media specuiation:
* negatively affected the public's confidence in the NPA;

¢ breached the Code of Conduct.

Page 15 of 28



64.

64.1.1.

64.1.2.

64.1.3.
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Complaints that did not fall within the TOR
The following complaints did not fall within the TOR:

The complaint identified in paragraph 63.1.1 above. The complaint in the first
TOR was that my two previous convictions of assault meant that | was not fit
and proper to hold the office of NDPP.

The complaint identified in paragraph 63.1.2. above. The complaint in the
second TOR is that | am not fit and proper because of complaints of
professional misconduct made against me with the KwaZulu-Natal Law

Society,

The complaint identified in paragraph 63.1.3. The compiaint in the third TOR
is that | am not fit and proper because | faced criminal charges for acts of

violence.

The complaint identified in paragraph 63.1.3 (bullet 2). The complaint in the
fourth TOR was that | was not fit and proper because of my arrest and

detention on criminal charges.

The complaint identified in paragraph 63.1.4. None of the TOR referred to a
failure to disclose what steps [ took to finalise my complaint against the South
African Police Services (SAPS).

| further submitted that the only complaint contained in the submissions that
should be adjudicated at the inquiry was the complaint identified in paragraph
63.1.5. Despite this, | responded to all of the allegations contained in the

President’s submissions.
My submission to the Cassim Enquiry

[ prepared (but did not present) a detailed submission to the Cassim Enquiry
wherein | dealt at length with the TOR of the Enquiry and the complaints

against me.
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My submission is attached hereto as Annexure “MN 5.7,

In my submission | raised my opinion that the complaints against me
concerned the three requirements of Section 9(1)(b) as set out in 12.3 of my
submission (paragraph 14 of this affidavit, above). Salient points raised in

this regard are indicated in the excerpt below:

15.

15.1

15.2.

15.3

16.

17.

Those three requirements mean the following:

Integrity includes the high standards of honesty and candour the
law expects from all legal practitioners who may not compromise on
standards of honesty and integrity.

Experience implies relevant knowledge and skill acquired over time
from observing and from practical acquaintance.

Conscientiousness means hardworking, diligent and reliable with a
genuine concern for the quality of one's work.

The fit and proper test for appointment as NDPP is substantially
similar to the fit and proper test for admission as an attorney or
advocale; ie. the same requirements and considerations apply.
Consequently, the submission by the President that a higher test
applies to the appointment of an NDPP [s wrong in law (and in
logic. There is no reason why the requirements of Integrity,
experience and conscientiousness applicable to legal praclitioners
should be any different for the NDPP.)

The requirements of s9(1)(b) apply to the NDPP to ensure that he
discharges his statutory and prosecutorial duties honestly,
independently, diligently, without fear, favour or prejudice, in
keeping with the professional status and standards associated with
the post, while maintaining prosecutorial independence.
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18. The question whether the NDPP Is a fit and proper person is an
objective inquiry. Whether the NDPP is fit and proper is not a
question left to the discretion or indeed opinion or view of the

President.

H. Unlawful conduct of Advocates Jiba and Mrwebi and Public
Perceptions of the NPA

69. I also dealt with this aspect in my submission to the Cassim Enquiry when
dealing with the public's perception of the NPA, emanating from numerous
media reports. The President later complained that my statements to the
media damaged the public's perception of the NPA. While | agreed that
public confidence in the NPA had been shaken, | disputed that it was
because of anything that | had done.

70. Rather, it was because of the unlawful conduct of Advocates Jiba and
Mrwebi. Both of them had abused their positions in the NPA and had acted
uniawfully. Examples of this conduct inciude:

70.1.  The involvement of Advocates Mrwebi and Jiba in withdrawing charges of
fraud and corruption against the former head of crime intelligence, Major-
General Richard Naggie Mdluli (Major-General Mdiuli).

70.2.  Both the High Court' and the Supreme Court of Appeal? found that there
were grounds to review their decision to withdraw charges against Major-
General Mdluli. The NPA was ordered to reinstate the charges against Major-
General Mdluli.

70.3. In the High Court, Murphy J criticised the manner in which they had
conducted the proceedings. He held3:

! Freedom Under Law v The national Director of Public Prosecutions (26912/12) [2013] ZAGPHHC 271: [2013] all
SA657 (GNP); 2014 (1) SA 254 (GNP); 2014 (1) SA SACR 111 (GNP) (23 September 2013)

? National Director of Public Prosecutions v Freedom Under Law (67/2014; ZASCA 58;2014 (4) SA 298 (SCA);
2014 (2) SACR 107 (SCA) (17 April 2014

3 FUL v NDPP, op cit at [24)
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“Suffice it to say that the conduct of the respondents is unbecoming of
persons of such high rank in the public service and especially worrying in the
case of the NDPP, a senior officer of this Court with weighty responsibility in
the proper administration of justice. The affitude of the respondents signals a
troubling lack of appreciation of the constitutional ethos and principles

underpinning the offices they hold”

70.4. Murphy J found that Advocate Jiba had failed to disclose Glynnis
Breytenbach's representations in the NPA's record of the decision. Advocate
Jiba also made no mention of the representations made by Ms Glynnis
Breytenbach urging her to review the decision not to pursue charges against

Major-General Mdiuli®

70.5. In the SCA, Brand JA confirmed Murphy J's decision. He criticised Advocate

Jiba's conduct.®

70.6. In the case of Major-General Johan Booysen v Acting National Director of
Public Prosecutions,® Gorven J found that Advocate Jiba had misled the

court?.
71. in relation to Advocate Mrwebi, the following is relevant:

71.1.  Murphy J found that Advocate Mrwebi's evidence lacked credibility,
particularly in relation to his contention that he consulted with Mr Sibongile
Mzlnyathi before he decided to discontinue the prosecution against Major-
General Mdluli.®

4 FUL v NDPP, op cit para 88

SNDPP v FUL 2014 (4) SA 298 (SCA) at para [37]
§(2014) 2 All SA 391 (KZD)

7(2011) 32 ILJ 112 (LAC)

8 FUL v NDPP, op cit [56]
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71.2.  Advocate Mrwebi had failed to disclose relevant documents that formed part
of the record of his decision to withdraw charges against Major-General
Mdluli®.

71.3. Murphy J also rejected Advocate Mrwebi's contention that the decision to
withdraw charges against Major-General Mdluli had been made in
consultation with Mr Sibongile Mzinyathl. He also rejected Advocate
Mrwebi's contention that investigations into the charges against Major-
General Mdluli were defective, and his evidence that Ms Breytenbach had
believed that the charges were defective, as improbable. He found his

evidence unreliable0.
71.4.  Murphy J's findings against Advocate Mrwebi were confirmed by the SCA"1,

72. As early as 18 July 2014 | had recommended to the Minister of Justice that
the President pursue disciplinary action against, amongst others, both
Advocate Mrwebi and Advocate Jiba.

73. in the memorandum to the Minister of Justice referred to above, it was
pointed out that:

73.1.  Section 195 (1) of the Constitution requires public administration to be
governed by democratic values and principles enshrined in the Constitution.
These values require public servants to conduct themseives with a high
standard of professional ethics, to provide services impartially, fairly and
equitably without bias, and to be accountable,

73.2.  The Code of Conduct of the NPA was informed by the values and principles
that are enshrined in the Constitution, the NPA Act and the United Nations
Guidelines on the Role of Prosecutors. It emphasises the crucial role that

® Booysen v Action National Director of Public Prosecutions, op cit at para [32] and [34]
' FUL v NDPP, op cit at paras [58]; [61]; [68]
" 'NDPP v FUL op cit at Fné, paras [40] - [42]
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76.

77.

78.
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prosecutors play in the administration of justice. It also stresses the need for
prosecutors to be fair, effective and to act without fear, favour or prejudice.

| requested the President to suspend Advocates Jiba and Mrwebi pending an
inquiry into their fitness to hold the offices of Deputy NDPP and Directors of
Public Prosecutions. | suggested that the inquiry be chaired by a retired
Judge of the High Court.

i pointed out that there were outstanding criminal proceedings against
Advocate Mrwebi for defeating the ends of justice and for intimidation.

At the time | wrote that memorandum | was considering appointing a fact-
finding inquiry to investigate allegations of unethical conduct by senior
members of the NPA, including Advocates Jiba and Mrwebi.

On 31 July 2014 Justice Yacoob was appointed to investigate, establish and

determine;

The alleged involvement of the NPA's employees, including senior officials, in
the leaking of information to the media and other interested parties;

The alleged unethical and unprofessional conduct on the part of the NPA's

employees.
Whether any member of the NPA committed an unlawful act.

Advocates Jiba and Mrwebl refused to cooperate with Justice Yacoob,
despite my express instructions to them to do so.

Justice Yacoob completed his report.

Justice Yacoob made three recommendations, two of which were relevant to

the Cassim inquiry. They were:

Criminal charges should be instituted or continued against certain members
of the NPA;
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The NPA should appoint a Judicial Commission of Inquiry with powers of
compulsion to investigate allegations of impropriety in the NPA.

I handed a copy of Justice Yacoob’s recommendations to the Minister of
Justice and the President. They did not act on the recommendations.

The Mokgoro Commission was later appointed by President Ramaphosa.

The settlement agreement

| had on 8 August 2014 submitted a founding affidavit to the High Court
citing the President of the Republic of South Africa as the first Respondent
and the Minister of Justice and Correctional Services as the Second
Respondent, in an application to compel the President to furnish me with
further particulars pursuant to his intention to hold an Inquiry into my fitness
to remain in office. 1 did not proceed with my urgent application since
negotiations then commenced between myself and the President with a
view to settling the dispute that had arisen regarding my continued

service as head of the NPA.

There were a number of reasons why | negotiated a settlement agreement

with the President.

First, I entered into the settlement agreement to settle what | considered
to ‘be an intractable, undesirable and ongoing dispute between myself, the
President and Minister Radebe.

The source of the dispute was the fact that the President wanted me to
vacate the office of the NDPP and | did not want to leave office. A number of
spurious and baseless grounds- were raised for me to depart office, and |
vehemently disagreed with those grounds. To this day | maintain that | am fit
and proper to hold the office of NDPP and would serve again. My fithess and
propriety was agreed to and recorded by the President and Minister in the
settlement agreement, and they did not contend otherwise before Court.
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82.2. In my position as the NDPP | understood my relationship with the President
as the appointing authority of the NDPP to be relevant to my employment
status. This is based on his appointment powers in terms of section 179 of
the Constitution. | further understood my tenure as NDPP to be contractual in

nature and not exclusively regulated by the NPA Act.

82.3. While the dispute between the President and i remained unresolved,
attempts were made to resolve it through negotiations between myself, the
President's legal representatives, Michael Hulley and Ms Busisiwe Makhene,
(Ms Makhene) the Minister and the Minister of State Security, David
Mahlobo (Minister Mahlobo).

82.4. Inlight of these negotiations, | ultimately accepted the terms of the settlement
agreement so as to resolve the dispute that had arisen with the President
and the pending litigation | had been forced to bring to the Court. | did so on
the basis that the President and | were entitled to resolve disputes by

reaching a settlement that was acceptabie to all parties.

82.5. | was therefore of the view that the settiement agreement was conciuded, not
in terms of the NPA Act, but rather to settle a dispute. | later was advised,
and accept, that the NPA Act regulated the terms of any early termination of

my tenure as NDPP.

82.6. However, all of this did not change the simple fact that the settlement
agreement was not, and was never intended to be, concluded to constitute a
request on my part to vacate office in terms of section 12(8) of the NPA Act.

Second, | was also of the view that my entering into the settlement
agreement was an attempt to protect the integrity of the office of the NDPP.

83.1. The dispute between the President and |, and my difficulties with Advocates
Jiba and Mrweb! of the NPA had been ongoing and the President did not

seem willing to intervene to resolve them.
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There was also considerable media attention paid to the dispute and
speculation on the issues at stake regarding the integrity and functionality of
the NPA.

During May 2015, the President, the Minister and | concluded a
settlement agreement in terms of which | agreed to relinquish my position as
NDPP. | received a seftlement amount equivalent to what | would have
received as a salary had | served my full term as NDPP. in that agreement,
the President acknowledged that | was a fit and proper person to hoid office
as the NDPP.

| then vacated my office as the National Director of Public Prosecutions, but
not in terms of Section 12(6) of the NPA Act..

My refusal to vacate my Office in terms of section 12(6)

At all material times, the President, the Minister and the President's legal
representative Mr Hulley, were aware that | did not intend to, and in fact did
not, request the President to allow me to vacate office in terms of section
12(6), me having informed them accordingly.

In this regard, | met with Mr Hulley after the conclusion of the settlement
agreement and shortly after | was served with the papers in the application
issued out of the Court under case number 62470/15 (the Corruption
Watch/ Freedom Under Law application).

On 22 October 2015, | met with the Minister of State Security, David Mahlobo
at the Beverley Hilis Hotel in Durban, at his request. | drove him to Ebandia
Hotel in Ballito where he was scheduled to speak at the opening of the
‘integrity Leadership Summit”, hosted by the Office of the then Premier of
KwaZulu Natal, Mr Senzo Mchunu.

| was acquainted with Minister Mahlobo from when we had both aitended
university at the same time.
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Minister Mahlobo instructed his Chief of Staff, Mr Maduma, to arrange a
meeting between myself and Mr Hulley. That meeting took place on the next
day, 23 October 2015, between myself, Mr Hulley and Mr Maduma, over
breakfast at the Beverly Hills Hotel in Durban,

During that meeting, Mr Hulley enquired how | intended to approach this
application by Corruption Watch and Freedon Under Law. | advised him that |
had not filed a Notion of Intention to Oppose.

Mr Hulley proposed that | should work with the President on the matter and
he offered to pay my legal costs, including the costs attendant on appointing

a senior counsel,

| advised him that | could not accede to that request until | had seen the
response which the President intended to file.

it was evident to me that Mr Hulley wanted me to say on oath that | had
made a request to the President to vacate my office in terms of section 12(8)
of the NPA Act. | advised Mr Huiley that | was not prepared to make that
statement since that was not what had occurred factually. | reminded him that
| was an officer or this Court and that | would not mislead the Court. |
emphasised to him that there was correspondence between my legal
representatives and the President that made it clear that | had never made
such a request. | had drafted some of that correspondence personally.

! pause to note that, when | requested copies of this correspondence from my
attorney following the meeting, | was informed that the files containing it had
disappeared from my attorney's office. Fortunately, | had taken the
precaution of keeping copies of the documents.

I concluded by stating to Mr Hulley that | did not intend to oppose the
application, but i would be required to file a response in the event that the
President's answering affidavit contained any false representation of events.
Mr Hulley advised me that the Presidents answering affidavit had already
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been prepared and that no false averments as to the sequence of events

were made in this regard.

Mr Hulley undertook to provide me with a copy of the draft affidavit. However,

he never did so.

| only became ‘aware of the content of the President's answering affidavit
after it had been filed in February 2016.

Thereafter, | contacted Minister Mahlobo and complained about the
version contained in the President's affidavit and Mr Hulley’s conduct.
Mlnlster Mahiobo invited me to his official residence in Waterkloof. Mr
Maduma was also present at that meeting. | advised Minister Mahlobo about

my meeting with Mr Hulley, and in particular about Mr Huliey's undertaking to
me fo provide the President's affidavit to me before it was filed, which was
not fulfilied.

| advised Minister Mahlobo that | was not happy about what had happened
and the version in the affidavit. | made it clear to him that even though | had
not filed a notice of intention to oppose the application, | would consult with
my legal representatives and advise them of what had happened. | explainéd
to Minister Mahlobo and Mr Maduma that this application had now affected
my reputation and | had to do something about it.

Minister Mahlobo then immediately telephoned the Minister, in my presence,
although | did not speak to the minister.

Minister Mahiobo explained to the Minister that the President had deposed to
an affidavit in which he had stated that | had requested to vacate office, even
though there was cbrrespondence which clearly indicated that this was not

correct.
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91.4.  Minister Mahlobo advised me that, according to the Minister, Mr Hulley had
advised the Minister that | had agreed that | had made a request to vacate
office. | disputed this with Minister Mahlobo,

92. Accordingly, to the knowledge of the President's legal representatives and
the Minister, | have always denied that | made a request to the President to
vacate the office of the NDPP in terms of section 12(8) or at all. This is
supported by the irrefutable documentary evidence that has been placed
before Court.

K. Conclusions

93. Political and external interference in decision making in the NPA
undermined its integrity and effectiveness and served to erode public

confidence in the organisation.

94, The failure to act decisively against Advocates Jiba and Mrwebi

harmed the organisation.

95. in my view the Parliamentary Committee on Justice did little or nothing to
exercise appropriate oversight or intervene in the issues concerning
Advocates Jiba and Mrwebi, at least while | was in office.

| know and understand the contents of this declaration.
| have no objection to taking the prescribed oath.

[ consi e prescribed oath to binding on my conscience.

MXOLIS| SANDILE OLIVER NXASANA

Page 27 of 28



FP-JGZ-860 MSON-28

The Deponent has acknowledged that he knows and understands the contents of this
affidavit, which was sworn to before me and the deponent’s signgture was placed
thereon in my presence at Pretoria on this the Z/‘ff day Ob__ “nl 2019,
the regulations contained in Government Notice No R1258 of 21 July 1972, as
lotice No R1648 of 19 August 1977, as amended, having

FULL NAMES:
(7— ol ' @
Y Z:OMC Laarvss,
= STATION €O Lo
DESIGNATION:
oma = {
€S/ LNt __
ADDRESS: .

. @noé,///é .ﬂ&.w&

/ Wéa/ N Y

Page 28 of 28



FP-1GZ-861 MSON-29

ANNEXURE MN.1

_{ July 2

AR

dats ol Tarrence Jo ) T
"'E’léﬂ 1a's slihmission o the Clusin Soammis

ftidavis
ki ¢

‘_f_lflﬂcéh o 'r:-r_ulh;s..r-d'ém (R 5y iz leg

j Cdtter r:'attr_.-..pg

MU

Lo




FP-JGZ-862

MSON-30

WHb

AFFIDAVIT

I, the undersigned,

TERENCE JOHN JOUBERT,
States under oath in English:

1.

I am an adult male 45years old with I.D no. 680728 5526 085, and residing
at 32 Roosevelt Road, Padfield Park, Pinetown, 3610 with telephone number
(031) 3345095, with cell number 0765966332 and 1 am employed as a Risk
Specialist for the National Prosecuting Authority of SA, 88 Field Street, 3*°
Floor, Southern Life Building, Durban, 4001.

2,

I hereby make oath and say that the facts deposed to herein are within my
own personal knowledge and belief unless otherwise stated and are true and

correct.

3.

On the 2013-09-18, I was on duty and I was supposed to fetch Adv. Jiba
from the Ushaka International Airport. After making the arrangements I got
a call from Adv. Jiba’s secretary to say that she would be fetched by Col.
Mhlongo on instructions from the DPP-KZN. Col. Mhlongo is currently
seconded to NPA's Missing Person’s Unit, that is headed by Debra Quinn in
the province and by Shawn Abrahams at VGM. Their job is to assist
members of the NPA to obtain information by interviewing witnesses to
conclude their investigations, Shortly after the meeting between Adv, Jiba
and Col Mhlongo, he (Col. Mhiongo) came to me in my office and told me
that the new guy (referring to the new NDPP Mr. Nxasana), does not like
Adyv. Jiba and Adv. Mrwebi. He is aware that [ do have a great relationship
with Adv. Mrwebi and he was playing on my emotions. I asked why he
thought so, and he said that he was sent by Jiba, as she is convinced that this
guy is not the right person for the job and that we should try and find
something on him as they did against Mr. Gumede.

7.z S
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4.

Mr. Gumede was the first person that we had heard about who would have
been appointed the NDPP. The DPP had then insisted that Adv. Makhosi
(prosecutor) make a statement against Mr. Gumede concerning the manner
in which he (Mr. Gumede) had ill-treated her. This incident gave us
indications as to the kind of people we were dealing with and to what
lengths these people would go to get their way. Col. Mhlongo was
instrumental in mobilizing people to gang up against Mr. Gumede.

5.

I then told him that this would be playing with fire as we are only small fries
and when elephants fight the grass suffers was my comment to his
suggestion. Col. Mhlongo assured me that their efforts would not be in vain
as Jiba had said if this man (Mr. Nxasana) is removed, then she would be
appointed again. The plan was not whether Mr. Nxasana is guilty but the
mere fact that they wanted to embarrass him and insist that he be removed,

6.

On the 18" November 2013 we (Col. Mhlongo and I} had another meeting,
but this time to discuss the fact that there are two unknown police officials
oceupying an office next to the DPP, When I raised this with the DPP, my
executive manager, Mr. Ramahana flew down to Durban to inform me that
the DPP complained about the manner in which I handled the issue of the
police officials. I should leave those members as they are, and I should not
ask too many questions. The police officials are said to be here to protect the
DPP, but this is done without any TRA (Threat Risk Assessment) as per the
security policy, We have requested secondment letters from SAPS but to
date we have not received any correspondence from SAPS.

7.

Col Mhlongo then informed me that I should not worry about these two
members as they were brought to work on the project against the NDPP,
They went to Umlazi SAPS where they found people that could implicate
Mr. Nxasana in a murder case. This case apparently happened in 1985/6 and
his mother (who is a teacher) paid for the docket to disappear. The police
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officials interviewed people in the Umlazi area to see whether they could not
get tangible evidence out of them. These two police members were given a
vehicle from the Provincial Commissioner to do their investigations against

the NDPP.

8.

Col. Mhlongo aiso asked that I must assist them with somebody that works
at RAF (Road Accident Fund) because the information was that he, Mr.
Nxasana had embezzled money from RAF. He also mentioned that Mr.
Nxasana wife worked there. I told him that I would talk to people that I
knew to see whether they could assist us. He then informed me that even if
he is moved from the NPA to another place, he would continue his

investigation from wherever he is.

9,

I know and understand the contents of this statement.
I have no objection to taking the prescribed oath.
I consider the prescribed cath to be binding to my conscience.

DATED AT DURBAN THIS DAY OF N MBER 2013

|
ERENCE JOHN JOUBERT

The abovementioned statement was taken me and the deponent has
acknowledged that he knows and understands the content of this statement,
This statement was sworn to before me and the deponent’s signature was
placed thereon in my presence at Durban on 2013-11-25.
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IN THE HIGH COURT OF SOUTH AFRICA
(WESTERN CAPE DIVISION, CAPE TOWN)

CASE NO: 1778215

In the matter between:

DEMOCRATIC ALLIANCE Applicant
and

PRESIDENT OF THE REPULIC

OF SOUTH AFRICA First Respondent
THE MINISTER OF JUSTICE AND

CORRECTIONAL SERVICES Second Respondent
THE NATIONAL DIRECTOR OF

PUBLIC PROSECUTIONS Third Respondent
NOMGCOBO JIBA Fourth Respondent
GENERAL COUNCIL OF THE BAR Fifth Respondent

AFFIDAVIT BY WILLIAM ANDREW HOFMEYR

|, the undersigned, .
WILLIAM ANDREW HOFMEYR

Do hereby make oath and state:

1. I am an adult male. | was appointed to the National Prosecuting Authority (NPA) in 1999
in order to head the Asset Forfeiture Unit (AFU). | have held that position ever since, first
as a Special Director of Public Prosecutions, and from 2001 as a Deputy Nationai Director
of Public Prosecutions to head the AFU. On 17 August 2015 | was moved from my
position as head of the AFU and became the head of the Lagal Affairs Division.

2. The facts herein contained are, except where the context otherwise indicates, within my
personal knowledge and are, to the best of my knowledge and belief both true and

- = ¢ /ffﬂr
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3. | have read the answering affidavit on behalf of the First, Second and Third Respondents
in this case (that is case number 17782/15 in the High Court of South Africa (Western
Cape Division, Cape Town)) of which the deponent was Mr Shaun Abrahams (Mr
Abrahams), the National Director of Public Prosecutions (NDPP). In that affidavit Mr
Abrahams expresses opinions about my conduct which are unfounded and misieading. |
have sought the advice of Attorneys Webber Wentzel and of Senior Counsel. | have in
these circumstances been advised that as an officer of the court it would be my duty to set
the record straight on affidavit and to make my affidavit available to the parties in this
matter.

4.  In addition, | have been advised that it is my duty to disclose the information | know having
regard to the provisions of s34, s165 and $179 of the Constitution, and the provisions of
the NPA Act. | have become aware that Mr Abrahams’s affidavit is misleading to my
personal knowledge. f am well equipped and better placed than any other person 1o set
the record straight. Further ! have been maligned and wish to act in defence of my

reputation.

5. 1do not want to take sides in this matter, and therefore wish to make my affidavit available
to both sides.

6. Mr Mxolisi Nxasana (Mr Nxasana) was appointed as NDPP by the President of the
Republic of South Africa with effect from 1 October 2013. He succeeded Ms Nomgcobo
Jiba (Ms Jiba) who had been acting as NDPP for the period of the preceding 18 months.
During this period | was head of the AFU.

7. The end of Ms Jiba's tenure as Acting NDPP and the beginning of Mr Nxasana's term as
NDPP saw a storm of judiclat criticism of Ms Jiba in the judgments in the following cases:

71 Freedom Under Law v The National Director of Public Prosecutions & Others (North
Gauteng High Court, Pretoria case no. 26912/2012 and SCA case no. 67/2014 in
which judgments were handed down on 23 September 2013 and 17 April 2014
respectively). (Judgments in these decisions have been reported as Freedom
Under Law v National Director of Public Prosecutions & Others 2014 (1) SA 254
(GNP}, [2013] 4 All SA 657 (GNP), and National Director of Public Prosecutions &
Others v Freedom Under Law 2014 (4) SA 298 (SCA); [2014] 4 All SA 147 (SCA),

respectively);

7.2 Booysen v Acting National Director of Public Prosecutions and Others {KwaZulu-
Natal High Court, Durban case number 4665/2010 in which judgment was handed
down on 26 February 2014) (The judgment in this decision has been reported as
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Booysen v Acting National Director of Public Prosecutions & Others [2014] 2 All SA
391 (KZN));

7.3 Demoacratic Alliance v Acling National Director of Public Prosecutions & Others
(North Gauteng High Court, Pretorla case no. 19577/200¢ and SCA case no.
836/2013 in which judgments was handed down on 16 August 2013 and 28 August
2014 respectively). The judgments in these decisions have been reported as
Democratic Alliance v Acting National Director of Public Prosecutions & Others
[2013] 4 All SA 610 (GNP); and Zuma v Democratic Alliance and Others [2014] 4 All
SA 35 (SCA)).

8.  Over the months following his appointment, Mr Nxasana made a sincere effort to find truth
and understand what had heppened. He requested reports from all those affected. They
all provided him with reports, except for Ms Jiba who refused to respond despite a number
of follow-up requests that she do so. She was given every opportunity to explain her
conduct and refute the court findings, but she failed to do so.

9. [ wish to emphasise that this was not an effort build a case against Ms Jiba or any of the
others.

10. It was in the context of this refusal by Ms Jiba to provide Mr Nxasana with information or
explanations of what had happened in these cases that asked me and others to assist him
to gather information concerning these cases and what had transpired in them, including
copies of judgments and the records of the cases.

11. 1 wish to stress that this was purely an internal investigation as happens every day in
organisations where there is a need to to determine whether these has been irregular
conduct or not. It did not involve the use of law enforcement powers, It was also similar to
what | had been requested to do by the then NDPP in the Zuma matter where serious
allegations were made against senior NPA staff. It involved looking at documents and
interviewing members of the NPA and others to gather information about what had
transpired. It was not in the nature of a criminal investigation. The purpose was to ensure
that Mr Nxasana was fully informed of the circumstances of the criticism of Ms Jiba so as
to enable him to camy out his functions and responsibilities as NDPP., Mr Nxasana was
briefed about this situation not only by me, but also by other officials of the NPA.

12.  In some cases information was gathered by the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the NPA,
Ms Karen van Rensburg, where it was necessary to use the powers vested in her to

5@%@

access information in possession of the NPA,

c.
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14,

15.

16.

17.
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In addition, on 26 June 2014, the NPA briefed Mr Ellis SC to furnish a legal opinion on the

following questions:

the disciplinary procedures available in respect of senior personnel in the NPA; and

whether disciplinary steps cught to be taken against Ms Jiba amongst others whose
conduct had also been subjected to judicial criticiam.

Mr Ellis SC furnished his opinion to the NPA on 7 July 2014,
Concerning Ms Jiba, Mr Ellis mada the following recommendations:

*I consequently recommend that the President should, in terms of section 12(6)(a) of
the NPA Act, consider to provisionally suspend Ms Jiba pending an inquiry into her
fitness to hold the office of Deputy National Public Prosecutions to be presided over

by a retired judge of the High Court,

I also recommend that a criminal investigation for perjury be opened against Ms
Jiba,

Finally, 1 recommend that the findings against Ms Jiba made in the judgments
referred to above be submitted to the General Council of the Bar as a matter of
urgency to consider whether an application should be brought against her in terms
of section 7 of the Admission of Advocaies Act.”

It was on the basis of this opinion that the NDPP instructed his legal advisor, Mr Gerhard
Nel (Mr Nel), to drait the confidential ministerial memorandum dated 18 July 2014
addressed to the Minister of Justice and Correctional Services (the Minister). The
memorandum was approved by the NDPP shortly before he departed on leave for 2 days
subject to few minor changes that he required. Since he regarded the matter as urgent,
he requested me to sign the memorandum once the changes had been made as | would
be acting as NDPP during his absence.

The memorandum made & number of conclusions and recommendations, namely that the
NPA and the NDPP should:

report the adverss findings to the Minister and the President;

recommend that the President should in terms of section 12(6)(a) of the NPA Act,
consider to provisionally suspend Ms Jiba, and Messrs Mrwebi and Mzinyathi
pending an inquiry into their fitness to hold the offices of Deputy NDPP and DPPs,
raspectively, o be presided over by a retired judge of the High Court;
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17.3 refer the matter and findings of the Courts to the South African Police Service
(SAPS) with a view to open criminal investigations for perjury against the above-
mentioned members of the NPA;

17.4 submit the findings of the Courts against the three members of the NPA to the
General Council of the Bar so as to consider whether an application should be
brought against them in terms of section 7 of the Admission of Advocates Act.

18.  Mr Nxasana and | were briefed by Mr Nel regarding the opinion of Advocate Ellis SC. We
also applied our minds to the opinion and the records of the cases available to us. It is not
for me to judge whether Ms Jiba is culpable. No more do | wish to take sides in this case.
We adopted a view in good faith, firstly, that there were prima facie grounds in terms of
section 12(6)(a) of the NPA Act on the basis of which the President should suspend Ms
Jiba pending an inquiry into her fitness, secondly, there existed a reasonable suspicion
that Ms Jiba had lied under cath and that the matter should be refetred to the SAPS for
further investigation and, thirdly, that there was a prima facle case of unprofessional
conduct on the part of Ms Jiba of sufficient gravity that the matter should be reported to
the General Council of the Bar to consider whether an application should be brought
against her in terms of section 7 of the Admission Advocates Act.

19. We are of the view and | submit that the contents of paragraph 85, 87, 97.5, 122.5 of Mr
Abrahams' affidavit are defamatory of us and are untrug. Nxasana and | reserve our
rights in this regard. There was no conspiracy to bring down Ms Jiba. NDPP Nxasana
could not just fold his hands and be supine in his response to the judicial criticism of Ms
Jiba. He took steps after careful consideration of the merits of the criticisms to ensure
these were fully investigated by the appropriate authorities - the SAPS, the GCB and the
President - s0 as to give them opportunity to take appropriate action if necessary.

20. | submit that Mr Nxasana conducted himself in accordance with the standards sst in
section 195 of the Constitution. As is my legal duty, | assisted him when he required my
assistance.

21, | refer to the statement by Mr Abrahams at paragraph 91 of his affidavit in which he states
his conviction that the Yacoob Committee was initiated by Mr Nxasana and Ms Van
Rensburg with a mind, in particular, to discredit Ms Jiba. This is not true. Mr Abrahams
interposes in parenthesis as follows “[importantly, | pause to mention that Mr Mofmeyr
confirmed to me that he had recommended the notion of the Yacoob Commission to Mr
Nxasanal.” | did indeed support the fact finding committee by Judge Yacoob in order to
obtain a further independent view (in addition to that of Adv Ellis) from a respected,
retired, senior judge on the accuracy and gravity of the judicial criticisms of Advocate Jiba
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and others. He was fo Interview relevant persons, look at the judgments, the records of
the cases and any other relevant documents which had been found. His work was not to
be equated to that a public commission of inquiry. It was intended fo be an internal
investigation in support of possible disciplinary processes as envisaged in the NPA Act.

22. Regarding the argument/implication that this was unlawfui, the NPA looked carefully at
this issue, took advice from counsel and was satisfied that it was lawful. In particular, it
also considered the precedent at SARS where a similar process was initiated to consider
serious allegations against its head, Mr Magashula.

23. Ms Jiba and Mrwebi were requested to co-operate with the Yacoob committee, but
refused to do so. Thus Yacoob recommended a formal commission of enquiry that would
have powers to compel them to cooperate,

24, [ refer to Advocate Abrahams statement at paragraphs 92 and 97.4 of his affidavit which
imply that it was improper for members of the AFU to have been involved in the internal
investigations regarding Ms Jiba. There was no impropriety. | was requested by the Ms
van Rensburg, the CEO of the NPA, to make some of my staff in the AFU available to
assist in the process of assembliing documents for the Yacoob committee, and 1o assist
her. Mr Nxasana supported this request. In regard 1o these activities they reported to her,
not to me. She was acting within her powers. | complied. Had | not complied, she was in
any event entitled to proceed to utilise members of the AFU without my consent me.

25. As CEO, Ms van Rensburg was the Chief Information Officer of the NPA and entitied to all
information and documentation in possession of the NPA and its officials.

26. | do not wish in this affidavit to debate the merits of the criticisms of Ms Jiba. These will no
doubt be at the heart of the debate on the merits of this case. However, for the sake of

clarity | refer to the following:

26.1 there is a conflict between what Mr Abrahams states at paragraphs 112.6 and 170
of his affidavit. On the one hand he states that Advocate Jiba's instructions were in
fact that a further affidavit be interposed to deal with allegations in Booysen's
answering affidavit. On the other he states that he is advised and verlly believes
that Ms Jiba was relying on the advice of counsel in not seeking to interpose a
further affidavit;

26.2 | refer to the extract from Gorven J's judgment contained in paragraph 24 of my
memorandum to the Minister of Justice and Correctional Services being annexure
"SA2" to Mr Abraham'’s affidavit. Gorven J stated:
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"The inference in this case need go no further than that, on her version, the
NDPP did not have before her annexure NJ4 at the time. In addition, it is clear
that annexure NJ3 is not a sworn statement. Most significantly, the inference

must be drawn that none of the information on which she says she relied
linked Mr Booysen to the offences in question.”

26.3 Whilst casting serious aspersions on the character and conduct of Booysen
annexures NJ2, NJ3 and NJ4 do not at all implicate Booysen in the conduct in
respect of which he was charged; annexure NJ5 on which Adv Jiba said she relied
(2 copy of which | attach marked WH1) does link Booysen to the offences in
question, but the statement is hearsay in its entirety in so far as Booysen is

concerned.

26.4 | am in possession of documents received by me in the normal course my work at
the NPA relevant to the case which Mr Abrahams has not attached to his affidavit.
As an officer of this court | am advised by my legal advisers that | am duty bound to
disclose this information. | attach one of these documents marked WH2. It is a
memorandum from Mr Jan Ferreira the prosecutor in the criminal case against Ms
Jiba arising from her conduct in the Booysens matter, dated 5 August 2015. He
reaches the conclusion that the decision to prosecute Ms Jiba was sound in law. Mr
Ferreira is widely regarded as one of the best and most experienced prosecutors In
the NPA.

26.5 ! attach marked WH3 an email from Mr Ferreira to Mr Mokgathle dated 17 August
2015. The subject is Ms Jiba. Mr Ferreira4 asked whether the docket {and opinion)
had been forwarded to the NDPP. He stated he needed a ‘decision' as soon as
possible. It is clear from the email that Mr Mokgathle believed that it was the NDPP
who would make the decision, even though Mr Abrahams later announced that Mr
Mokgathle had made the decision.

26.6 Mr. Nxasana had called for all files that she had dealt with as acting NDPP.,

26.7 The possible appeal against the Gorven judgement was not brought o Nxasana's
attention after his appointment. it was only when he read about it in the media that
he first knew of it. He was concerned that such a high profile matter was being
conducted without informing and briefing him, and called for a briefing and was not

told that there was an appeal.
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26.8 The tema informed him that counsel had let them down by making certain
concessions in court. However, the notice of appeal filed later disputes that the
concessions were made.

26.9 He asked Ms Jiba whether judge was incorrect In his finding, and she replied that
she had relied on the advice from the racketeering experts. He convinced the team
that even i the concessions had been wrongly made, that there would be little
prospects of success given the findings on the Ms Jiba’s evidence. He understood
them to agree that the appeal should be withdrawn.

26.10 | refer to paragraph 198 of Mr Abrahams affidavit. As described above, | signed the
confidential ministerial memorandum dated 18 July 2014 addressed to the Minister
of Justice and Correctional Services. | did s0 on behalf of the NPA. Any significant
action by an acting NOPP would only be undertaken with the full knowlsedge of the
NDPP, either by consulting on the phone or on email. In this case, | received a
request by the NDPP, Mr Nxasana, to sign the memo that he had already approved
subject to a few changes. | submit that annexe SA6 to Mr Abrahams’ affidavit clearly
demaonstrates that | was authorised to sign the memorandum and that it was duly
submitted on behalf of the NPA.

26.11 If it is correct that the Minister did not forward the memorandum. | would regard this
as unusual since | believe he was duty bound to forward the memorandum to the
President who was the decision maker in such matters. Howsver, it is not correct
that the President did not receive the memorandum as Mr Nxasana informed me
that he had personally handed the memo to the President when he met with him in

about July 2014.

26.12 Section 24(3) of the National Prosecuting Authority Act No 32 of 1998 provides as
follows:

A Special Director shall exercise the powers, carry out the duties and perform the
functions conferred or imposed on or assigned to him or her by the President,
subject to the directions of the National Director. Provided that if such powers,
duties and functions include any of the powers, duties and functions referred o in
section 20 (1), the shall be exercised, carried out and performed in consultation with
the Director of the area of jurisdiction concerned.

26.13 | attach marked WH4 redacted draft minutes of a meeting of the EXCO of the NPA
dated 24 and 25 January 2012. The meeting was chaired by Ms Jiba. | refer to
page 7 of the minute where both Dr Ramaite and | explained the existence and

=g
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effect of the provisions of section 24{3). Ms Jiba must have known at that point that
the decision of Mr Mrwebi to withdraw charges against Mdluli without having done
so in consultation with Mr Mzinyathi was unlawful. Yet she continued to defend Mr
Mrwebi's decision over the course of the following year in the litigation in the FUL

case.

26.14 I would like to point out that almost all the NPA senior management accepts that the
meaning of “in consultation” means that there must concurrence betwsen the
relevant decision makers. Indeed there is no room for debate as it is defined as such
in $233(3) of the Interim Constitution.

28.15 Finally, I wish to refer to paragraph 86 of Mr Abrahams' affidavit. | sat in the
meeting when Adv Ellis SC was briefed. He was informed that some acrimony
existed in the NPA to ensure that he would bear that in mind when he considered
the matter. However, this was given merely as background information, it was not
relevant to the conduct of Ms Jiba in respect of which his opinion was sought.

27. Mr Abrahams has launched an unwarranted and unfounded attack on my integrity in his
affidavit. Shortly after his assumption of office he had removed me from my position as
head of the AFU, which | had occupied with success for many years. He made me head of

the Legal Affairs Division.

28. He has removed from my supervision as head of LAD the significant number of cases
dealing with allegations of unethical conduct by Ms Jiba and other senior NPA officials,
and has indicated that he or his personal advisor would deal with such cases.

29. He presumably appointed me to the head of LAD as he viewed me as someone with
sufficient capabilities to hold that post. The question is why he would then remove those
cases from my supervision.

30. I believe that this is so because | have made it clear that | would not countenance false or
misleading information being placed before court to protect NPA officials against
allegations of wrongdoing.

31. Thus it has become the situation that almost half the LAD staff no longer report to me on
certain matters, although they are still formally on the establishment of the LAD,

32. The same has happened in this application. After it was delivered to the LAD, it was taken
away and | never saw the answer that was drafted until | was contacted by a journalist

about it.
Y
2 ™
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33. This raises the issue whether he wants to afford undue protection to Ms Jiba even if this
means that he must make baseless and defamatory attacks on me.

34. A request for Mutual Legal Assistance in the Booysens matter was removed from me
shortly after | informed him that it had been handed to me. |t related, inter alia, to a
request to Greece for Mr Danikas to sign the unsigned statement that was referred to in
the judgement by Gorven J.

35. The various attempts to undermine Mr Nxasana by Ms Jiba and others are dealt with
comprehensively in his response to the Cassim enquiry which is attached as WHS.

36. | refer to WHS, a signed statement made by Mr Terence Joubert, a senior employee in the
Security and Risk Department of the NPA. In the affidavit Mr Joubert tells a story of how
he and others had done investigations at the instance of Ms Jiba with a view to bring
about Mr Nxasana’s removal from office. He indicates that they had done the same
previously in respect of Mr Gumede who had earlier been mooted as a candidate for the
office of NDPP foliowing the FUL application to compel the President to appoint a
permanent NDPP in the place Ms Jiba who had been acting for a considerable period. A
recording of the conversation to which he refers is available.

37. It suggests to me that there is a systematic pattern of protecting Ms Jiba and others
improperly, not just in this case, but in others as well. It suggests that he has chosen to
align himself with their agenda.

38. While she was acting NDPP, Ms Jiba openly boasted about her close relationship with the
then Minister of Justice, and how she could persuade him to do whatever was needed for

the NPA.

38. The attempts by Ms Jiba to engage in activities that are in support of political groupings is
not new. In my affidavit in the DA application to review the decision to drop the charges
against Mr Zuma, | dealt extensively with the unethical role played by Ms Jiba in the
Selebi prosecution to try to assist those close to then President Mbeki, as well as the

subsequent disciplinary action taken against her.

40. Mr Abrahams has referred to me as a politician. | have not participated in politics since |
joined the NPA. For the past 17 years | have been a loyal and dedicated member of the
NPA. | have come across efforts by politicians to manipulate the NPA for their factional
purposes, which | have strongly opposed and have exposed whenever | became aware of

it.
= ¢ m@_W
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41. In regards o the statement by Mr Abraham that implies that there was something
improper in the NPA having a CEO, | wish to point out that it was Ms Jiba who personally
motivated for and persuaded the Minister and the DG of Justice to appoint Ms van
Rensburg as the CEO of the NPA on a 5 year contract.

42, | attach the confirmatory affidavit of Mr Mxolisi Sandile Oliver Nxasana.

Y

WILLIAM ANDREW HOFMEYR

Signed and sworn to before me at Joherfissbury on 30 January 2018, the deponent having

acknowledged that the deponent knows and understands the contents of this affidavit.
TqesS76 22
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| haraby advise you thal, afier caraful consideration of sil the matlers beforema, |
hava taker 3 decision o instirie an enquiry ¥ lsmme of Saction 12(8)Xa)(Iv) of the
Mational Procacuting Authority Aet 32 af 1998,

The detail regarding (ho estabishment of the Enqgidry will be communicaied io
you shortly,
Yo
Wr ma I
Prealdent, Republic of Ssuth Africa ‘
|
Mr Nxssana
Nailonat Cirsclor of Publie Prosecutions
Private Bag X 752
Prelotls
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30 July 2014

Daar Mr Nxasana

NOTICE OF INTENTION TO SUSPEND IN TERMS OF SECTION 12{6)s)
OF THE NATIONAL PROSECUTING AUTHORITY ACT 32 OF 1998

§ had eariier advised you of my daciaion io insfiule sn enquiry In terms of Sectioh

12{6)Xa)(bv} of the National Prosectiting Authority Act 32 of 1668, The enquiey is In the
threse of being esisbished end 1 sm edvised ihat the delais of such wil ba
communicatad 1o you In the naxt few days with 3 view lo I proceeding expaditiously.

You ara no doubt swam thal the National Prosecuting Avthority i an bnpadant
constitutiongl instftuben in the admipistraton of Justics and ihat maintaining publle
confidence [n the Instiution is of necesslly, In consideration of malnialning the integrity
of tha Nailonal Prosscuting Authority snd in particular ks good adminktration, | am
gving considarafion io suspending you on ful pay panding the finalization of the enquiy

fo which {'ve refemred.

The enquiry will &xamins your fitness 16 hakt the offica e Natianal Direttor of Public
Prosecufions having egant o whether

1. the erimbngl somvictions which you possess for violent conduct:

2 reported comments i the media are unbecoming of 2 National Dirsclor of Public
Prosecutions, divisive snd have the effect of bringing the Natienal Prasacuting

Authasity Info disreputs;

o ——— =
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N Huhuwdkdumofmsmwwmdprwmmm
taced

ae consonant with the consclenticusress snd intagrily of 21 Incumpent Jo the offics of
mmmmmmumwwmm

You are required 1o furmish me with written rapresantations In this regard by na faler
than I6hD0 on Friday 1 August 2014,

Yours fafthiully

Ne Zuma
Prosident of the Republie of Ssuth Africas a)

Mr Nxasana
Hlationsl Directar of Public Prasacutions ,

Privite Bag X 752
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CASSIM INQUIRY

THE FITNESS OF THE NDPP TO HOLD OFFICE

SUBMISSIONS BY THE NDPP C 0 R ﬂ ~T )

The Inquiry

By lelter dated & February 2015 the Prasident Informed e that he had appolnted
Mr N Casslm SC (asslsted by Ms LG NkoskThomas and Mr SKD Madale) to
chalr an inqulry. A copy of the letier Is attached, marked MN1.

The Inquiry's Terms of Reference {TOR) were published In Government Gazette
No. 38463 on 9 Fabruary 2015,

The TOR direot the Chalrperson (Chalr) to Inquire Into whether It Is fit or proper
for me to hold the office of the NOPP In light of the foliowing:

341 My iwo previous aeparate convictions on charges of assault;

32 The complaints of professional misconduct lald against me with the
KwaZulu - Natel Law Soclety;

8.3 My having faced oriminal charges for acts of violsnce;

34 My arrest and detention on criminal charges;

A copy of the TOR Is al pp 54 — 59 of the Presldent’s bupdle

& -
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8.5 Media statements either Issued by me or on my Instruction that
undermine or bring the alfice of the NOFP or tha NPA inle disrepute;

3.8 Any olher matter as may be relevant to the abovementioned Issues and
my fitness and propriety to hold the office of the NDPP as contemplated

In section 9(1)(b) of the NPA Act,
The President's complaints
4 Submissions on behaif of the President and the Ministar were flled on Monday 4
May 2016 al 18h30, (
5  His complaints In the submisalons ara different to the complainta in the TOR. The

complaints In the submisslons are the following:

8.1 Before my appoiniment ) falled to disclose to the President ar his
advisors thal | had two previous convictions for assauit

5.2  falied to take steps to expadite the finallsation of a complaint to the Law
Soclaly by Mr Jabutani Mishaif against me In 2008,

[

6.3 In my secuilly clearance applicatlon questfonnalre, in answer 1o the {
quastion -

*Have you ever bean convicled or are there any pending cases for a
criminalideparimental offence.., 7" -

{ falled fo distlose ihe followlng:

President's submissions, p22/29
President’s submissions p24/33- 34
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631 Durlng 1985 | was acquitted on a charge of murder";*

832 Duwring Oclober 2012 | was arresied, but not charged, for
Incongidarate driving.%

6.4 1 failad to disclose whether | took any steps to rescive my complaint
against the two police officers who arested me unlawtully (during
October 2012) for inconsiderate driving.®

65 | made stalements to the media that”:
6.6.1  are notin tha public Interest;
5.6.2 fuel media speculation;
5563 negalively affect the public’s confidence in the NPA;
5.54 Dbreach the Code of Conduct,

Complaints that do not fall within the TOR

6  The following complaints do not fall within the TOR:

8.1 The complaini identified in paragraph 6.1 above. The comptaint In the
first TOR Is that my two previous convicllons of assault mean that | am
hot fit and proper to hold the office of NDPP.

8.2 The complaint tdentfﬂed' in paragraph 6.2. The complaint in the sscond

President’s submissions p 28/37
President’s submlssions p 31/42.2
Peesident's submlssions pas/i7
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TOR Is that | am not fit and proper because of complaints of profsssional
misconduct made agalnst me with the KwaZulu-Naial Law Society,

6.9 The complaint ldentified In paragraph 6.3.1. The complaint In the third
TOR Is that [ am not fit and proper because | faced criminal charges for
aols of violenca,

6.4 The complaint identlfied In paragraph 5.3.2, The complaint in the fourth
TOR is that ! am not fit and proper because of my arrest and dstention
on oririnal charges.

6.5 The complalnl ldentified in paragraph 5,4, None of the TOR rofers to a
faliure to disclose what steps | took to finalise my complaint agalinst the
South African Police Services (SAPS).

The only complalnt in the submilssions that fais In the TOR Is the complaint
Identified In paragraph 5.8. it is a compiaint covered by the fifth TOR.

| submit that the only complaint contalned in the submissions that should be
adjudicaled al the inqulry Is the complaint Identified in paragraph 8.6, Desplte
this, 1 shall respond to all of the allagalions contalned in the Fresident's
submissions.

The applicable legal rules

Appeintment of the NDPFP
9 The appoiniment of the NDPP is governed by seatlon 172 of the Constitution. It

10

requires thera to be a single NPA structured in terms of an Act of Parliament,
cansisting, /nter alla, of an NDPP who Is the NPA's head. The Presldent
appoinis the NDPP In his capaclty as head of the national exacutive,

Sectlon 178{2) provides that the NPA has the power to instiute criminal

o -
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progsedings on bahalf of the atate, Section 179(4) roquires there to be national
legislation to ensure that Ihe NPA exerclses s funclions ‘withoul Jlear,
favour or prejudice’.

In terms of s 179(5) the NDFP must determine proseculion poflcy with Ihe
Minister of Justice's (Minister) concurrance. Beclion 178(6) states that the
Minister exercises final raspansibility over the NPA.

Section 9 of the National Prosecuting Authorlty Act 32 of 1098 (NPA Acl) sets out
the requiremenis of a person appointed as NDPP, Such person must be:

12,1 a South Afrcan cltizen;?

122  possess legal qualifications that entitie him or her fo practisa In all
courts In the Republic? and

128  be a fit and proper person, with due regard to his or her experlencs,
consclentiousness and Integrity, to be entrusted with the responsibilities
of the offlce of the NDPP."

As the NDPP, | may be removed from offics if | am not fit and proper.!' | may not
ba ramoved before there has been an nquiry Intc whether | am fil and proper to
continue 1o hold office, The TOR preacribe the limits and ambit of the inquiry Into
whelher | am (it and proper to continue to hold office as NDPP,

The TOR and complaints agalnst me concern the three requirements of s9(1)(h)
get out In 12.3 above,

Those three requirements mean the following:

Section 9(2)
Section 9(1)(a)
Sectlon 9(1)(b)

Seetion 12(8)Xa)iv)
& 5

L

_/E F@% ‘

MSON-55

El




159

16

17

18

FP-JGZ-888

MSON-56

1040

16.1  Integrity Includes the high standards of honesty and candour the Iaw
expeots from alf legal practitioners™ who may not compromise on
standards of honesty and Integrity.'®

162 Experlence implies relevant knowledge and eklll acquired aver lime from
observing and from praotical acqualntance, ™

16.3  Consclenilousness means hardworking, dliigent, and rellablo with g
genuine concern for the quality of one’s work, '

The flt and proper test for appointment as NOPP Is substantially simiiar to the fit
and proper test for admisslon as an altornsy or advocate; le. the -8ame
requirements and considerations apply,'® Gansequently, the submission by the
President'” that a higher test applies to the appointment of an NDPP Is wrong in
law (and In logic, There Is no reason why the requirements of Intagrity,
experence and consclentiougness applicablo to legal practitioners should be any
different for the NDPP.)

The requirements of s9(1 )b} apply to the NDPP 1o ensure that he discharges hls
statulory and prosecutorlal duties honestly, independently, dilgently, without fear,
favour or prejudics, In keeping with the profossional status and standards
assoclaled with the post, while maintaining proseculorlal Independence, 't

The question whether the NDPP Is & it ead proper person is an objestive
inquiry.” Whelher the NDPP is fit and proper Is nol a question left to the
disoration or indesd opinlon or view of the President.

n
n

1}
(4]

I
1#

Boiha v Law Society Nocthern Provinces 2000 (1) 3A 216 (SCA) pera 18

Malan v Law Society Northern Provinces 2009 (1) A 216 (SCA) para 10

Fine v Soclety of Advocates of SA 1983 (4) SA 488 (A) at 455 A - H

OBED

OED

Pikoli v President of the Republle of South Aflea 2010 (10 SA 400 (ONP) ot 406F

President's submisslon p 14719

Pikoli v the President 2010 (1) SA 400 {GNP) nt 406F

Dumocratic Allinnco v President of the Republic of South Africa 2003 (1) SA 248 {CC) at para
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[ submit that the way that the Inquiry should be carriad oul Is as follows:*®

18.1 Delermine whethar the conduct of which | am accused has been
" established on a balance of probablilties; '

19.2  Delermine whether my conduct breaches any or all of the requirements
In s9{1}{b) by -

19.21 comparing my conduct to the requirements in 89(1(b});

19.2,2 comparing my conduot with the way In which the requiroments
have been applied by judiclal authorlly;

1823 considering whether my conduct falls foul of the ordinary
meaning of the wording of those requirements considered
against thair purpose by exerclsing a value judgment in line with
constitulional and statulory imperatives and previous Judicial

pronouncements.!
Twe eonviotlons for assault

it B

Although this s no longer the complalnt, it Is implieit in the first TOR that the fact |
have two criminal convictions for asaault means thai | am not fit and proper to be
the NDPP.

In his submisslons, the President does not explain why the mere fact of the two
previous convictions means that | am net it and proper to be the NOPP.
Consequently, | am compelled to assume that the complalnt in the first TOR Is
thal the mere fact that | have two convictlons for common assault, dating back to

Jassat v Natel Law Society 2000 (3} 5A 44 (S3CA) ot pata 1O
Qeneral Councll of the Bar of South Africa v Qeach 2013 (2) SA 52 (SCA) a1 (69]
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1985, maans that | am not fit and propar,

It is a matter of publle record that | have iwo criminal convictions, both for
common assaull. The firat conviction was In 1986, | racall vecy llitle of the detalls
of that conviction except that Il was for common asgault and that ! was cautioned
and discharged. | was reminded of It when | applied for a securlty clearance
during December 2013 when [ was given a capy of & SAPS 69 form showing two
previous convicllons for common assault. The second corwvlotlon was for
common assault in 1986. 1 was convicted of assaulting my girlfriend at the time.
| was sentenceti to 30 days Imprisonment or a R50 fine. | pald the fine.

The only fit and proper requirement that the two convictions might be relevant to
Is the requirement of Integrity. But In the context of a fit and proper legel
practitioner (i submit a fit and proper NDPP), integrity relates to whether | can be
trusted to dischargs my statutory and prosecutorlal and professional dutfes,
honestly, independently, without fear, or prejudice and In kesping: with the
professional slatus and standards of the post,

| submit that the two conviclions are not evidence that | am unable to discharge
my dutles with integrity for the following reasons:

241  Iwas 17 and 18 years old whan | was convicted for the two assaults;

24.2 The convicliong occurred almost 30 years before my appointment;

24.3 | have not been convicted of the same or simllar offences since then;

24.4  They were not committed In the course of my employment or during the
course of my discharging any offlce;

245 | have not since, slther during the course of my employment or the
discharge of any offioe, been gullty of or heen found guilty of assault or

MSON-58
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any othar orime;

24,6  The assault on my gleifriend &t the tima, was not serlous, And | was very
young at the fime, But ever since, | have desply regretted assaulting har.
[ am awars that our soclety is bedewviled by gender violance, §§ Is g
maiter that causes pain to our soclety and to me. | do not stand for |t. |
do nat tolerate it. | have livad my life by a moral codo that rejecls gender
violence {and indeed all forms of violence}. Ons incident when [ was 17
yaers' old doss not make me a perpetrator of gender violence. Nor does
it mean that | live my parsonal or professional life by perpetrating or
supponrting violence, particularly against the vulnerable in our soclely.

24.7 There Is and has been no complaint against me that in my role es
NDPP, | have not directed the NPA to take domestic or gender vislence
seriously and 1o prosscute parsons who &re guilty of such violence.

i have never hidden the facl that | have a criminal record, | am an admitted
alforney, | was admitied as an aitorney on 12 May 19887, In my application tor
admission | disclosed the fact that [ had a criminal record, A copy of my
admisslon applicalion s aftached to my submisslons, marked MN2, In
paragraphs 23 to 26 of my affidavit | disclose the background to my 1986
conyiction. | did not disclose my 1985 convictlon for assault because | couid not

ramember It.

A representative of the professlonal committes of the KwaZulu Natal Law Soclety
(Law Society) flled an affidavit supporting my epplication for admission as an
attorney, with knowledge of my 1866 conviction for assault, The Law Soclaty did

not consider that | was unfit or improper to practice as en atiorney because of my
1986 assaull conviction. | do not belleve that the atiliude of the Law Soolely

wouid have been any different had | disclosed both convictlons.

| was admitted to practice as an attorney and enrolled on the roll of practising
attorneys by the court with full knowlsdge of my 1886 assauit convielion, | do not
belleve thal ihe courl would not have admitted or permitted my enrolment had the
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court baen aware of the 1988 assault conviclion,

No failure to disclose

28 The complaint in the submigslon le that my lallure to disclose my two provious
convictions to the Presicent meang that | am not fll or proper.®

29 | admit that before my appointment, 1 did not Inform the Presldency of my two
pravious convictions for common assault. |

30 Inlaw, an omission to speak is not unlawful. The faliure to disclose bacomes {
untawful whers, In the clrcumslances, there Is a duty lo speak. A duty only ajises
If the omitted Information Is within the exclusive knowledge of the parly gulity of
omission, such that the party ralying on him for Information has him es his only «
source, ™

31 My appointment as NDPP was preceded by the following Inleractions:

311 A mesling with Mr Hulley al which ke told me that the Presldent was
considering appointing me as NDPP. The mesiling took place at my ]
offico In Durban during June 2013. The mesting lasted approximately
30 minutes, {

81.2 | was surprised when told 1 was baing considerad for the post, | had not
applled for the post. | had not aought il out. | had not indicaled io anyone
that ! was Inlerested in lt. 1 had no expectation of being appolnted to the

post;

313  in approximately August 2013 | met with the Prasident, Mr Hulley, and
tha President's fegal advigor, at his officlal residence in Pretoria. That
too was a short mesfing lasting no more than half an hour. The maln

2 Seep22/29 of the President’s submiasion
¥ Eskom Holdings Limkted (Pty) v Fipaza (2013) 34 JLJ 549 (LAC) al [50)

. L~
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concem of the President was whether | had the necessary courage
required of the post. | took that to mean that the Presldent wanied to
know whether { undarstood that a maln requiramant of the post was
prosscutorial Independence. He asked how | would cope under the
pressure of the demands of the [ob. | sald that I appolnted, | would
approach the job whh the necessary courage, bhut also with the
compasiire characteristic of the President's own perormancs.

31,4  On 30 Augusi 2013, Mr Hultey telsphoned me and asked me to send
him a copy of my CV, which 1 did. He told me that the President was
going fo announce his decision to appoint me as NDPP,

81.6  On 31 August 2013 the President announced his dscislon to appolnt me
as NDPP,

Betore my appointment —

321 | was nol Interviewed (In a way ordinarily characterlstic of a fob
Interviaw) by the President or any one on his behalf for the purpose of
considering whether to appoint me;

32.2 | was not required to complets any application form or similar document
(except for my securlty clearance applicalion which | completed on 4
Degernber 2013, after | had alrsady been appointed);

22.2 Thae only document | completed and signed (apart from my security
clearance application) was my employment contract;

32.4  As | was |saving the meeting with the Prasident, Mr Hulley asked me if

there was anything he should know, | told him about that my father had
been a trade unlonist whom | understand had Interacted politlcally with
the Presldent on occasion & long (ime ago. | disclased this Information

oz
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becauss il s not well known or public knowledge and because | thoughl
that 1 should disclose information about any connection belween the
Presidant and my late father,

{ did not deliberately conceal my previous corwictions from Mr Hulley or the
President. That {or ather sanctlon) was not asked or ralsed In the two mestings
bafore my appointment, Tha purpase or tenor of those meetings was not lo get
Infarmation about me from myself. In any event, | assumed that the Prosldent
would never have considetad ma for the post, without doing & check on my
background and publlc records and records heid by the Law Scclety as Is
required by the Constitutional Gourt.®

It ts apparant from the above that my faliure to inform the Presidency was not In
breach of a legal duty to speak. | was not the only source of the fact of my
pravious conviotions. | did not know and was not informed that the President was
relying on me as the exclusive source for Information such as my previous

comvictions.

The assaudts for which | was convicted do not reflect negatively on my integrily.
They ara unrelated to the NPA or fo my responsiblilties as NDPP, As | pointed
out In'my submisslong to the President on why | should not be suspended, under
geation 271A(b) of the Criminal Procedure Act 51 of 1977 (CPA), | am entitled to
apply to expunge 1he criminal record of those conviations.

| understand and agree that even If | were to apply to have my criminal record
expunged, it woukd not change lhe fact that | had been convicted for assauit, It
would mean that | did not have a criminal record. But even in terms of the law,
these convictions are not regarded as setfous. There ls no automatic right to
apply under section 271A(b) of the CPA to have a oriminal record expunged. It
applles only In cages that are not regarded as serious.

46 {§ 12.:

[\
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37  The President crlilcises ma for not having applied to have my record expunged, |

39

40

4

am aware thal in my suspension submisslons | stated that | intended 1o apply to
the Directar-General (Justice and Conetltutional Development) to expunge my
criminal record. [t fe true that | have not done so. On reflection | deckdad that it
was not necessary for me 10 do so. | did nct want to be accused of being
opportunistic In anticipation of this Inquiry. My deolsion cannot Impact upon my
integrity, It |s In any event Irrelovant for purposes of declding whether | am fit and
proper to hold the posgition of NDPP,

The complaints of professional misconduct lald egalnst me with the
KwaZulu ~ Natal Law Soclety

The complalnt In the second TOR Is that | am not fit and proper because three
complainis had boen made egainst me to the Law Saociely.

These are complaints about my consclentiousness. impliclt in this complalnt ts
that 1 am not fit and proper to be the NDPP because | am net hardworking or
diligent or reliable with a genuine concermn for my work,

Two of the compialnis are that | allowed matters to prescribe. In one of tham, the
Law Socisty found me gullty. 1t imposed & R2 000,00 fine which 1 pald. The Law
Saclely dismissed the other complalnt; le. that complaint was found to be
urifounded.

The third complaint wae that | look too long to wind up the estate of q former
client, a Mr Mishal. The complaint was made against me by Mr Mishall's Slep-
son, Mr Jabulant Mishall.

It I8 irue that there were dalays In winding up Mr Mishall's estale, The ressons for
the delay are set out In my lstier of 21 June 2014, There Is no nesd to repeat
those reasons here, 1 ask tha the letter be treated as Incorporated at thls point in
my statement. It Is obvious from my explanation In the fetter that the delay in

In my letter to the President on 2§ June 2014 at President's Bundle liem 2 ps-7
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finafising the deceased’s estale was not of my making and that the delay was
beyond my control,

Only one of the complalnts turned out to be valld. The one instance In my career
as an atlorney whers | allowad a matter to presoribe, was Isolated and was not
characteristic of my career as an attarney. it Is not evidence of any profesafonal
character flaw. That explalns why the Law Soclely {or anyone else) never applied
for my removal from the roll of sttorneys. In any event, allowing cne matter to
prescribe that wouki-net constitute coriduct rendering a psrson unfit or Improper
to be an attorney.

Thare is no complaint that  hava not been conaclentious In discharging my dutles
as NDPP. | am unaware of any allegalion by the Prasidency that | have not basn
consclentious since my appointment as NDPP,

The Prasidant’s compiaint has chénged. It Is no longer the complaint that Is
conlained in the TOR. The complaint new I8 that | have not done evarything
reasonably expected of ms to finalise the complaint by Mtshall. The President
malntaine that 1 lack the willlngness 1o bring the complaint 1 a conclusion. He
claims that It sults me to leave it hanging. He says so because he assumes that |
have done nothing 1o expadite the finalisation of the complaint,

I have 1old the President what i did to try and resoive the maiter.?® | told him that:

461 Prior to my appoiniment | contacted the Law Society;
46.2 | asked about the stalus of this complaint agalnst me;

483  The Law Soclely could not locate their file. This means thal thers Is no

racord of this complaint against me;

In my letter to the President on 21 June 2014 at President’s Bundie Item 2 p5-7
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4684 | asked my former colleague (whe took over my practice In Durban) to

search for Mr Mishall's case flie In my old office. He could not locate i,

465 | went to my former office myself to try to locate the flle. | could nat
locale it.

Although the President criticises me for not having done encugh fo finallse this
complaint, he does not say what slse | should have done. ! do not know whet
elsg | could have done, As far as | am concerned | did everylhing reasonably
expacted of me. Any delays In finalising this compialnt are not of my own making.
| cannot now be criticised for the fact that the Law Soclety has not finalised a
complaint against me. A delay by the Law Soclely cannot mean that | am not il

and proper.

Charge/acqulittal on a charge of murdet — does not mean | am unft or
improper

in the third TOR the complaint (s that the mere fact thal | was charged with and
acquitied of murder in 1985 means that { am not fit and proper.

Brlafly, the facls that gave rise o the charge and acqulital are the following:

49.1  In December 1986 (as is now known, when | was 17 years’ old) | was
with frlends visiting my girfriend at her house In Umlazl, C Section.
Unknown men atlached her house and #s occupants. In the ensuing
scuffle | stabbed one of our atiackers In self-defence.

42.2 | reported the matter to my father who took me 1o the police where | was
detalned and subsequently released on ball. | was charged with murder
and tried in the Reglonal Cowrt in Durban where 1 was found not guilty

15
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and acqultied,

The fact of my ecquitial means thal | am innocent of any charge of criminal
conduct. It is true that in the incident involved violence on my part, But the
violance was lagally and lawfully justifled. It was employsd In seli-deferce against
violent Intrudors. | should not be held to be unfit or iImpropsr.

hange of TOR compla ]

The complaint in the TOR was changed in the President's submission, The
complaint now Is that my faflure to disclose this fact in my securlly clearance
application means thal | am not fit or proper. ¥

it Is trye that 1 did not dieclose this fact In my written application for a security
clearancs on 4 December 2012,

The security application form requlred me to fill in a questionnaira. One of the
questions | was asked to answer (item 11 on page 6 of the securily application
form)® was whether | had ever been convicted of a criminal offence andfor
whether there were any pending criminal actions agelnst me. | disclosed that |
had two criminal convictions lor assaull although | could not remember the detalls
about ons of them,

| was never requlred In the securlty application form to provide Information about
acquittals. | could not reasonabiy have been expected 1o provide this Information
in clroumstances where the security application form was expilcit about the type
of Information 1 was required to provide. That Information was Informatlon about
previous convictions or pending criminal and/or departmental charges, not

acquittals,

The Prasident relies on an affidavit from the former Acting DG of SSA, Mr Slmon

b
h

President’s submission nt p26/36.4
Presldent's bundle of documents, p 88 and 93 - 94
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Ntombela for submitting that | refused {o place on record the background
circumstances relaling to my arrest and acquittal on charges of murder,
retjiosted in the securlty clearance process.®

The allegation by Ntombela Is wrong on two grounds. The lirst Is that | was naver
nsked to provide information about acquittals, The second is that | never refused
to discuss thal information in discussion wilh Mr Ntomhela.

| diecussed the datalls of my arrest and acquittal with Mr Ntombela on two
occasions. The first time was on 16 May 2014. The second time was on 18 May
2014,

1 met with Mr Ntornbela fo discuss progress about my saourity clearance. | had
applled in Degember 2013, | could not understand why my clearance had not
been processed by May 2014 or why [l took 80 long to procass.

Aftar making the securlty clearance application, It was brought to my attention by
cerialn members of the SAPS in KwaZulu Natal, that two members of SSA (Mr
Blose and Mr Shhole) had been Investigaling my background. | was told that
they were trying to find out information about my atrest for murder. | did not
understand why they were doing this. | told Mr Ntombela what | had heard, |
asked him if he knew about It, He sald that he did not,

I explained to Mr Nlombela the background to my awest and subsequent
acquittal, 1 explained to him why | had not disclosed this in my security
application form. | tokd him that | did not belleve that the securlty application
questionnaire required me to disglose this Information

My mesting with Mr Ntornbela was cordial. He even thanked me for clarlfying the
matter with him, | got the Imprassion that the matler had heen resolved.

President’s bundle of documenis, p99/15
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62 | recordad the detalls of my discuasion with Mr Niombela in writing by way of a
letter dated 26 May 2014. A copy of the lelter is attached, marksd MN3, The
letter seis out the background circumstances related o my arrest for murder, It
also explains why | did not disclose this In my securlty application form,

63 Mr Niombela has never dispuled the contents of the ltter, | took that 1o mean
that he agrees with tha contents, The only Inference to be drawn from his slisnce
In the face of my lsiter that he must have recelvad In May 2014 already, is that he
admitted that we had met and that | had sxplainad the clrcumstances surromding
the charge and acquittal. It is surprising that In his aftidavit he now claime under
oath that [ refused fo place the facls of my arrest and murder on record. This is \0
not frue, | never refused to do so. . '

Arrest and detention onh criminal charges —~ does not mean | am not fit or
proper

84 The complaint in the fourth TOR [s that because | was arrested and detained for
Inconsidarate driving, | am not fit eand propsr to he NDPP.

66 This complalnt relates to my arrest during Ociober 2012 for Inconslderale driving
and resisling amest. | was arrested one evening dwing October 2012 while
driving my wife’s BMW 525 along Sydney Road, In Durban,

66 1 was released on R1000 ball. The following morning | appearsd In the Durban
Reglonal Magistrates Cotirt, The senior public prosscutor, Mr Ntull, withdrew the
matier from the roll, ! lald edminal against the police officers who arrested me. To o
my knowledge, that investigation has nol yet been finallsed. That of course Is not
an Investigation {deparimental, or otherwise) into my cohduct.

87 The Presldent does hot take Issue with my version of what happened. He does
not dispute the fact that | was unlawfully arrested, The facl that | was unlawfully
arrasled does not make me unfit or my appointment improper. It means that
police officers unlawtully arrested me,

18 AT

\—%{
, =




172

€8

69

70

71

72

FP-JGZ-901

MSON-69

1053

The President's complaint In his submission Is different to the compiaint as sel
out In the fourth TOR. His complaint now is that { did not disclose the fact of my
arrest in my sacurily clearancs application questionnalre.

| did not discloss this fact In my applicalion for a security clearance for the samse
reasons that | dig not disclose the fact that | was arrested and acquitted for
murder in 1988, | was not required to do so,

The fact that | was arresied for Inconsiderate driving and rasisting arrast has no
bearing on my suftabllity to held ihe office of NDPP, | was not charged with or
convicted of inconsliderate driving or resisting arrest. The incident has no bearing
on whethar | am honest or fit to de my job.

The Presldent’s second complaint Is that | have not done enough to finalise my
complaint againal the two police officars. The President doas not say what he
thinks | should have done, 1 do not know whal | more | should have done, itls
the responsibiilty of the police to investigate a criminal charge agalnst one of Its
rmembers. As a citlzen, | must rely on the police to investigate propsriy complainis
agalnst the police.

When | was appointed NDPP, my complaint agalnst the two police officers had
not baan resolved. Once | was appointed | did not want to be sean to be putting
pressure on iha police o finalige an investigation. | did not want to be seen 1o be
abusing my position of NDPP.

| submit that my complaint about police misconduct and how | followed it up in
these clroumatances has no bearing on whether | am fit and proper. |
compleined to the Independent Complaints Direslorate (now Independent Police
Investigative Direciorate). The responsibillly to follow up my complaint iles with
them, and not with me. Even If thare have been delays In finalising my complaint,
that fact does not mean that | am not fit and proper to be NDPP. It is an eniirely
Irrelevant consideration,
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Media etatements elther issued by me or on my Insiruction that undermine
or bring the office of the NDPP or the NPA inte disrepute

74  This ground of complaint relates o slatements by me recordad in the Sunday
independent and the Weekend Argus on 1 June 2014 and to the Sunday Times
on 8 July 2014 and to Times Live on 8 June 2014 .

75  Inihe Sunday Timas of 6 July 2014 } was reported as saying:

76.1 | learned about the Presldent's declsion fo Institute an inquiry Into my
fliness to hoid office from the media;

76.2 | would declde in due course whether to challenge the President's

decision to hold an inquiry; 10
7683 |did not comment on whether | Intended cooperating with any inquiry as
| would  walt and oross that bridge* when i got to It;
754 1did not want to commant on whether | was it and proper as | did not
want ta be seen to ba defying the President.
{
76 The comments recorded In the Sunday Tlmes are accurate. But 1 do not
understand the complaint of the Presldent to relate fo these comments, ! shail
ignare them in my submisslen.
77  In the Sunday Independent and Weekend Argus on 1 June 2014 | was reported
as saying:
771 My deputy, Ms Noemgcobo Jiba had enginesred a piot to oust me; ao

772 The former Minister had asked me to resign becausa 8SA refused lo
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grant me a top-sacret sacurlly clearance;

77.3 | had proof that two senior managers In the NPA, Mr Lawrence Mrwebi
and Ms Jlba, had bean altempting to dig up dirt on me and discredit me.

Times Live on 8 June 2014 reported me to have said thal the journalist ghould
reporl what Mokoted! sald and | would sue him,

The summary of my statemenls as set out in 77-8 above ls accurate. The
complaint about my comments to the media |s presumably that | lack Integrity. |
am accused of putiing my own interesis above those of the NPA and of
damaging the public perception of the NPA as a result of my comments to the
medla, paricularly my comments about senicr managers In the NPA such as Ms
Jiba and Mr Mrweb™ and of breaching the Code of Conduct®

The President malnlalns | should have aliowed the Minister and the Preslident
time lo deal with the problems In the NPA and not chosan 1o *vent my anger to
the madia,®

The context In which | mada the statements In 77 above to the media Is the
following:

81.1  Theee statements were made some lima aftar journalists first started
approaching me about damaging allegations about me and aftsr
damaging press reports about me appeared In the media. Uniit these
statemernts were made, | declined to speak to the media. These
statements were made after joumalists approached me shortly after my
maeting with the Minisier on 21 May and my meeting with EXCO on 22
May 2014,

n

n

President's submisslons, p 35/47.2
Precldent’s submisslons, p36/47.4
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My statornent that the Minlster asked me to resign Is trus, He did so
diring a meeling | had with him on 21 May 2014 during which he
Informed me that SSA had deolined fo grant me a lop-sacret securlty
clearance. When | declined to resign, the Minister sald that the President
would be left with no afternative but to establlsh an inquiry into whether |
ant {it and proper io hald the post of NDPP,

Foliowing my meeling with the Minlster, | met with the NPA's EXCO. |
Informed them what had happensd. | told them about Iny mesting with
the Minister the day before. [ also told them that the Minister had asked
me to resign because SSA had declined to grart me a security

clearance,

Soon efter my meeting with EXCO, | was approached by joumallsis
asking me to comment on allegations that 1 had been asked to resign,
that the President Intendsd holding an inquiry Into my fitness to hold
oftice and that senior managers In the NPA were conspiring to get rid of

me.

At the same fime various medla houses published articles about me
claiming that | had been asked to resign and that | had been refused a
securlty clearance for not disclosing that ¢ had killed a man. The media
articles questioned my integrity and my filness to hoid offlce. They also
distortad the truth,

| attach a copy of an arlicle (MN4) that appeared in the Mall and
Guardlan on 30 Mey 2014 as just one example of the types of articles
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that were olrculafing about ma &t the time. These arlicles distorted the
iruth about me. They damaged my reputation, By Implication, they
damaged the credibility of the NPA In the eyes of the public,

My comments to the medla about attempis to discredit me and oust me from my
position were Informad by Information that had come fo my knowledge from
sources that | honestly believed fo be reliable. Given tho Information at my
disposal, my bellef that Ms Jiba and Mr Mrwebl were inlent on discrediting ms is

reasonable.

The President announced his Intention to appaint me as NDPF on 81 August
2013 with effect from 1 Oclober 2013.

Evan before | assumed my position as NDPP, | was mads aware of attempls
from within the NPA to disoredit me.

i grew up in Umlazl, In Durban, Although | no longer live there, | still have friends
who do, Scon after my appoiniment was announced, they reported to me
{unknown) people had been asking questions about me, trying to dig up
information about my past. In partloular they ware asking questions aboul my
background and my arrest and acquittal on chargea of murder in 1985,

Almost immediately after | was appeinted, two NPA officlals approached me
{independently of each olher) with information that Ms Jiba and Mr Mrwebl were
plotiing to oust me. They volunteerad this information of thelr own accord.

One of the employees, Mr Terrence Joubert, a Risk Speclalist for the NPA,
deposed to an affidavit In which he explained how he had been approached by
Colonel Welcome Mhlongo, a8 member of the Hawks for information about me,
Colonie! Mhlongo claimed io be acting on the authority of Ms Jiba.

e
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[ do not know Mr Joubert. The Information that he sent me was unsolicited. | do
not know why he dacided to send me the informatlon.

A copy of hls affidavil ia attached, marked MNS. Mr Joubart states the followlng
under oath:

89.1

89.2

889

89.4

89.5

89.8

On 18 September 2013 he was meant to feich Ms Jiba from Ushaka
International Alrport.

Her secretary phoned him and {old him that he did not need lo fetch her.
She said that arrangemenis had besn made for Golonel Mhongo to fetch
Ms Jiba instead.

Colanel Mhlongo disclosed to him that Ms Jiba had told him that she did
not think that | was the cofrect person for the job of NDPP, According to
him, she told Colone! Mhlongo that “they" (presurnably Colonel Mhiongo,

Me Jiba and Mr Mrwebl) should try to find some dirt on me as they had -

agalnst Mr Gumede,

Mr Stanley Gumede is the former magistratla who was tipped 1o bacome
NDPP, Hie appointment was withdrawn foffowing media reports that the
Magistrates Commisaion was Investigating numerous complalnts agalnst
hlm,

Colonel Mhlongo disclosed to him that he was lollowing up information
thai 1 had embezzlad money from the Road Accldent Fund,

Mr Joubart recorded his conversation with Colonel Mhlongo. He also
sont me a copy of & voice recording of the conversation that he had with
Colonat Mhlongo. ! listenad to It. Il confirms what he slated In his
affidavit. { am In possession of the volce recording. | have not had It

MSON-74
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transcribed although § Intend to do so and meke It avallable lo the

Inquiry,
88,7

80 The statements raporiad in the media were made by me:

90.1  in my capaclly as NDPP
90,2  Inthe discharge of my duly as NDPP;

80,3  In response to quetles from the media about allegations of Impropriaty
on my part and atiempts fo discredit me;

804  In the discharge of my duty to keep the medla and the public informed

10

about matters of public interast relating to the NDFP;

( 90.5  In the public Interest and in the interests of the media to keep the public
Informed about matters relating to the NPA and the office of the NOPP,

81 In addition;
81,1  The statement In paragraph 77.2 Is frue;

81.2  The siatemant in paragraph 77.1 and 77,3 ware made in hanest bellef in

their truth and they were made based on Information supplied to me by




178

92

83

94

96

FP-JGZ-908

MSON-76

1060

sources that | believed to be rellable.
813 My statemenis were made In the discharga of my duty as NOPP.

814 My statement In paragraph 77.4 was mads In the honest bellef that the
information about Mr Prince Mokoted], supplied by the Journelist, was

trua.

The Prasldent's .complaint that | breached the by talking to the media is
misplaced. The Code of Conducl prohibits prosecutors from making publle
statsments about on going cases. it is clear from my comments that my
comments had nothing to do with on going cases in the NPA.

My statements reported In the Sunday Indspendent and Weekend Argus on 1
Juns 2014 and Times Live on 8 June 2014 appsar to be the statemenis relled on
in the complaint,”

The medla In question approachad me, They approached ma In my capaclty as
NDPP, They had a right to do so. They had a right {6 ask the questions that
solicited my statements. The public also had a right to know what my answers
were to quastions posed by the media, | cannot recall every eingle question
asked by the Journallsts who solicited these answers from me.

Given this context, my commenis to the medla were nessssary io sel the record
stralght. 1 did not respond out of anger. | responded because | belleved that |
have a duty as NDPP to respond trulhfully to queries by the media. The
journafists who asked for my comment told me that they intendsd publishing
stories that reflected badly on me as NDPP whether | reapondad or not, Had |
not responded, the public's parcsption of the NPA would have been distorted,

There ks no requirement for me not fo commurilcate with the medla. There Is also

\0
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no raguirement that | need 1o ¢channel my stalements through the Minister or the
President, The NPA has its own spokesperson. | am enlitled to address the
media as and when | see fit. in this case, | bolieve that it was eorrect for ma to

respond the way | did,

for me 1o resign

Attempts to disoredit me
Prince Mokoted)

Prince Mokotedi Is the formsr head of the NPA's Integrily Management Unit

{tMu).

During my mesting with the former Minister on 21 May 2014, he told me that Mr
Mokotedl had lodged a complaint agalnst me with the Fublic Service

Commlssion,®

In his complaint, Mr Mokoted| stated that he had been investigating allegations of
murder against me and that | had interfered with the Investigation.

Al the time | was unaware that he had lodged such a complaint. | was aiso

unaware of the detalls of the complaint.

| am awars that Mr Mokoted] was Investigating allegations of murder against ma.
Mr Mokoted! informed ma of this himself during a mesting that we had. | cannot

recall the day 1 met him,

3 president's bundle of docaments, p !0
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Mr Mokotsdi told ma that he was Investigaling a second charge of murder agalnst

me.

| told him that 1 did not want 1o discuss the maiter with him since the background
faols were & matter of public record. | told him that | did not want to be seen to

be Interfaring with his investigation.

My comments 1o the media about Mr Mokotedi should be undsrstoed In the
following contexi:*

106.1 | was approached by a joumalist asking me to commant Mr Mokotedl's
claims that T had blocked his investigation of me,

1052 Mr Mokotedi had loid the journalisi that he was Investigating a second
charge of murder against me,

106.3 The Journalist also claimed to know about my mealing with tha Minlster
and the tact that the Minlster had asked me to resign. Ha asked for my

commaent.

1054 The journalist lold ma that he intended publishing the story whather |

cornmented or not,
106.5 | confirmed that the Minigter had asked me to resign.

1056 | also conflrmed that | was aware that Mr Mokotad! was Investigating me,
1 denled that | had attempted to black his Investigation.

1057 ! denfed that | had ever been charged or convicted for a sacond murder.

105.8 | 1ald the journalist that if Mr Mokotedi persisied with his allegations thet |

Pregs repost, Times Live 8 June 2014, p[20
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had been chargad with a second murder | woulld conslder sulng him for
dafamaltion.

Mr Mokoted!'s statements to the medla are defamatory. 1 bekieve that he made
them with the intention of damaging my repulation. | had a right to comment In
clroumstances where a Journaiist intended publishing a story that was factually
Incorrect and dameging 1o me. It was Important o clear my name. It was also

important for the Integrity of the NPA that | deny the allegatlons against me.

Publle parceptions of the NPA
The President complalns that my siatements to the media have damagad the

public's percaption of the NPA. While 1 agres that pubfic confidence In the NPA
has basn shaken, | dispute that It Is because of anything that | have done,

Rather, it Is bacause of the unlawful conduct of Ms Jiba and Mr Mrwebl. Both of
them have abused their positions In the NPA and aoted unlawiully, Examples of
fhis conduct Inchude:

108.1 The Involvement of dr Mrwebl and Ms Jiba in withdrawing charges of
fraud and corruption against the former head of crime intelligencs,

Malor-Ganeral Mdiull,

108.2 Both the High Court®® and the Supreme Court of Appeal® found that
thare were ground to review their decislon to withdraw charges against
Major-Genaral Mdiull. The NPA was ordered lo reinstate the charges
against Major-General Mdiull.

108.3 in the High Court Murphy J crlticised the manner in which they had

16

Freedom Under Law v The National Director of Public Prosecullons (26912/12) {2013]
ZAGPEHC 271; [2013] 4 All SA 657 (GNP); 2014 (1) SA 254 (ONP}; 2014 (1) SACR 111 (GNP)
(23 Septerber 2013).

Natlonal Director of Public Prosecutions v Freedom Under Law (67/2014) [2014] ZASCA 58;
2014(4) SA 298 (SCAY; 2014 (2) SACR 107 (SCA) (17 April 2014),
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conducted the proceedings, He hald; ¥

* Suffice It lo say that the conduct of the respontents Is vnbecoming of
persons of such high rank in the public aervice and espacially worrying
In the case of the NDPP, a senior officer of this Cour! with walghiy
responsibiifly in the proper administration of justica. The attfiude of the
respondenis signals a troubling lack of approdiation of the consiitutionat
ethas and principles underpinning the offices they hold."

1084  Murphy J found that Mg Jiba falled to disclose Qiynnis Breytenbach’s
representatlons In the NPA's record of the declsion. She also made no
mentlon the representations made by Ms Glynis Brsytenbach urging her 10
to review the declsion not to pursue charges against Major-General
Mdlul,

1085 in the SCA, Brand J confikmed Murphy J's daclsion. Me oritlolsed Ms
Jiba's conduct.®

108.8 In the case of Booysen v Acting Natlenal Direcior of Pubilc
Prosecutions Gorven J found that Ms Jiba had misled the court.*"

109 in relation to Mr Miwebl, the following evidence exists:

108.1  Murphy J found that Mr Mrwebl's evidence lacked credibillty, pariicularly
in tefation to his contention that he consulted with Mr Sibongtle Mzinyatht
before he decldad to discontinue the prasacution, % o

108.2  Mr Mrwebl had falled o disclose relevant documents that formad part o
tha record of his daclsion to withdraw charges agalnst Major-Gienaral

FUL v NDPP, op cli at (24}

FUL v NDPP, op cil, pora 68

NDPP v FUL 2014 (4) SA 298 (SCA) &t pars [37]
{2014] 2 All 84 391 (K2ZDy)

(201 1) 32 1LY 112 (LAC)

PFUL v NDPP, op cit [56}
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Mdluli.

Murphy J also rejected Mr Mrwebl's contention that the decision to
withdraw charges against Msajor-General Mdiull was made In
consultation with Mr Sibonglle Mzinyathl. He also rejecied Mr Mrwebl's
contenllon that investigations into the oharges agalnst Major — General
Mdiull, and hls evidence that Ms Breytenbach had belleved that the
charges were delective as improbable. He found hie evidence
unreliable, *

Murphy J's findings agamst Mr Mrwebl were conflrmed by the SCA.*

As oarly as 18 July 2014 [ recommended to the Minister of Justice lhat the
Prealdsnt pursue disclplinary action against, amongst others, both Mr Mrwebi and

Ms Jiba.

In my memorandum lo the Minister of Justice, attached marked MNB, | pointed

ouk:

114

111.2

Section 185 (1) of tha Constitution requires publio administration to be
governggd by democrallc values and princlples enghrined In the
Conslitution, These values require public servants to conduct
themseives with a high standard of professional ethics, to provide
services impartlally, fally and equitably without bias, and to be
accountabla.

The NPA's Code of Conduct was published in Government Gazelte 29
of December 2010 (aftached marked MN7). The Code of Conduct was
informed by the velues and principles that are enshrined in the

Constitution, the NPA Act and the United Natlons Quidslines on the Role

[ 3 -

Boaysens v Acting Nuslonal Divecior of Public Prosecutions, op ¢it at para [22) and [34)
FUL v NDPP, op oit at paras [38]; (61 ; (68)
NDPP v FUL op cit at Fn6, paras [40) - {42}
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of Prosecutars. It emphasises the crucial role that prosecuiors play In
the administration of justice. It also stresses the need for prosecutors to
bae {alr, elfective and to act without fear, favour or prejudice,

| requested the Prosldent to suapend Ms Jlba and Mr Mrwebl pending an
Inquiry Into thelr fitness to hold the offloss of Deputy NDPP and Diraclors

of Public Proseculions, | suggested that the inqulry ble chaired by a
retired judgs of the High Court. '

I pointod out that thare wers outstanding criminal proceedings agalnst
Mr Mrwebi for defeating the ends of Justice and for Intimidation.

At the time | wrote thal memorandum | was consldaring appolnling a fact finding
inquiry o investigate allegations of unethical conduct by senicr members of the
NPA, Including Ms Jiba and Mr Mrwebi.

On 31 July 2014 rellred Constitutional court Justics Yakoob was appointed to
Investigate, eatablish and determine:

118.1

1132

1188

The alieged involvement of the NPA's employees, Including senlor
officials, In the jeaking of Information to the media and other Interested

partles;

The alleged unethical and unprofaessional conduct on the part of the
NPA's employees.

Whether any member of the NPA commiitad an unlawful adt,

Ms Jiba and Mr Mrwebl refused ta cooperate with Justice Yakoob,

116 Juslice Yakoob completed his report on [insert the date). A copy of his findings
and recommendations s altached, marked MNx. Juslice Yakoob made threa
recommendations, two of which are relevant to this tnquiry. They are:

10
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116.1  Criminal charges should be instituled againet certain members of the
NPA (Mr Mrwebi) should centinue;

1162 The NPA should appoint a judictal commission of inqulry with powers of
compuision to investigate allegations of mpropriety In the NPA,

116 | have given a copy of Justice Yakoob's recommendations to the Minister and the
Prasident. To date they have not acted on the recommendations.

Any olher relavant lesues

137 In addition to the Issues listed i the TOR, the President has ralsed an additional
iwo lssues which he believes impacts on whether | am fit and proper to hald the

office of NDPP. \©

118 The fiist rafates to my submission In paragraph 4 of my letter to the President on
21 June 2014, | submitted to the Presldent that the current aititude of the courts
to offences sirnliar to the offences [ was convicted of In 1986 and 1986 would be
to refer thern to Altarnative Dispute Resolution,

119 The President has Interprelsd this to msan that | do not accept the serlousness of
domestic viclence and that my comments are Intended to minimise [t
getlousness,

120 The implication is that my comment places doubt about my abllity to ensure that
the NPA protects Ihe interests of everyone in our soclety, Inciuding the Interests
of vuinerable people, espedally victims of domestic violence. o0

121 My statement has been taken out of context. That i not what | meant, | was
mersly explaining how cases like this would be dealt by our courts loday,

= /&%
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The second issue relates lo my stalement, cantained in my representations on 1
August 2014 In which | communicated my Intention to epply to have my criminal
record expunged In terms of section 271A(b) of the Crimina) Procedure Act. |
have already dealt with the reasons why | did not apply to have my criminal
record expunged.

Concluaton

123

124

128

The test for whether 1 am fit and proper to hoid the positlon of NDPP Is an
objective test. To be it and proper | must be honest, hava Integrity and be
congcientious, Simllady, to remove me from office, there must be objective

‘ evidence that | lack Integrity or that | am dishonest er have been dishonest in the

past, The fact that the Minlster and the President believe that 1 am not fit and
praper ls not sufficlent.

Objectively, none of the issues raised In the TOR or the President's complaint (as
it is now Iramed), Impact on my abiiily 1o perform my Job as NDPP, They de not
impact negatively on my integrily or my honeety.

For that reason, there Is no basis for this Inquiry to conclude that | am not fit and
proper to remain in my position as NOPP.

MXOLISI NXASANA

o
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CONSTITUTIONAL COURT OF SOUTH AFRICA

Case CCT 333/17 and CCT 13/18

In the matter between:

CORRUPTION WATCH NPC
FREEDOM UNDER LAW NPC

COUNCIL FOR THE ADVANCEMENT OF
THE SOUTH AFRICAN CONSTITUTION

and

PRESIDENT OF THE REPUBLIC
OF SOUTH AFRICA

MINISTER OF JUSTICE AND

- CORRECTIONAL SERVICES

MXOLISI SANDILE OLIVER NXASANA
SHAUN KEVIN ABRAHAMS

DIRECTOR GENERAL: DEPARTMENT OF
JUSTICE AND CONSTITUTIONAL DEVELOPMENT

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF THE NATIONAL
PROSECUTING AUTHORITY

NATIONAL PROSECUTING AUTHORITY

DEPUTY PRESIDENT OF THE REPUBLIC
OF SOUTH AFRICA

and

Case CCT 333/17

First Applicant

Second Applicant

Third Applicant

First Respondent

Second Respondent
Third Respondent

Fourth Respondent

Fifth Respondent

Sixth Respondent

Seventh Respondent

Eighth Respondent
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HELEN SUZMAN FOUNDATION

In the matter between:

MXOLISI SANDILE OLIVER NXASANA

“and

CORRUPTION WATCH NPC
FREEDOM UNDER LAW NPC

COUNCIL FOR THE ADVANCEMENT OF
THE SOUTH AFRICAN CONSTITUTION

PRESIDENT OF THE REPUBLIC
OF SOUTH AFRICA

MINISTER OF JUSTICE AND
CORRECTIONAL SERVICES

SHAUN KEVIN ABRAHAMS

DIRECTOR GENERAL: DEPARTMENT OF

JUSTICE AND CONSTITUTIONAL DEVELOPMENT

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF THE NATIONAL

PROSECUTING AUTHORITY
NATIONAL PROSECUTING AUTHORITY

DEPUTY PRESIDENT OF THE REPUBLIC
OF SOUTH AFRICA

and

HELEN SUZMAN FOUNDATION
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Amicus Curiae

Case CCT 13/18

Applicant

First Respondent .=

Second Respondent
Third Respondent
Fourth Respondent
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ORDER

Application for confirmation of the order of the Gauteng Division of the High Cout,

Pretoria and related appeals against the order of the same court:

Ig

The appeal of Mr Mxolisi Sandile Oliver Nxasana is upheld with no
order as to costs and Mr Nxasana’s explanatory affidavit is admitted.
The costs order by the High Court of South Africa, Gauteng Division,
Pretoria (High Court) against Mr Nxasana is set aside.

The appeal of Advocate Shaun Kevin Abrahams and the National
Prosecuting Authority is dismissed with costs, including the costs of two
counsel.

The declaration by the High Court that the settlement agreement dated
14 May 2015 concluded by former President Jacob Gedleyihlekisa
Zuma, the Minister of Justice and Correctional Services and
Mr Nxasana in terms of which Mr Nxasana’s incumbency as the
National Director of Public Prosecutions (NDPP) was terminated is
constitutionally invalid is confirmed.

The declaration by the High Court that the termination of the
appointment of Mr Nxasana as NDPP is constitutionally invalid is
confirmed.
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The declaration by the High Court that the decision to authorise
payment to Mr Nxasana of an amount of R17 357 233 in terms of the
settlement agreement is invalid is confirmed.
The declaration by the High Court that the appointment of
Advocate Abrahams as NDPP is invalid is confirmed.
The declaration by the High Court that section 12(4) of the
National Prosecuting Authority Act 32 of 1998 is constitutionally
invalid is confirmed.
The declaration by the High Court that section 12(6) of the
National Prosecuting Authority Act is constitutionally invalid is
confirmed only to the extent that the section permits the suspension by
the President of an NDPP and Deputy NDPP for an indefinite period and
without pay. :
The declaration of constitutional invalidity contained in paragraph 9 is
suspended for 18 months to afford Parliament an opportunity to correct
the constitutional defect.
During the period of suspension— -
(@)  a section 12(6)(aA) will be inserted after section 12(6)(a) and it
will read: |
“The period from the time the President suspends the
National Director or a Deputy National Director to the
time she or he decides whether or not to remove the
National Director or Deputy National Director shall not
exceed six months.”
(b)  section 12(6)(e) will read (with insertions and deletions reflected
within square brackets):
“The National Director or Deputy National Director

provisionally suspended from office shall receive, for the

duration of such suspension, [ne-salary-or-sueh-salary-as
may—be—determined—by—the—President] [her or his full

salary].”
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12.  Should Parliament fail to correct the defect referred to in paragraph 9
within the period of suspension, the interim relief contained in
paragraph 11 will become final. _

13.  Decisions taken, and acts performed, by Advocate Abrahams in his
official capacity will not be invalid by reason only of the declaration of
invalidity contained in paragraph 7.

14, Mr Nxasana is ordered to repay forthwith to the state the sum of
R10240767.47.

15.  The President is directed to appoint an NDPP within 90 days of the date
of this order. :

16.  The President, the Minister of Justice and Correctional Services and the
National Prosecuting Authority are ordered to pay all costs in this Court
that are additional to the costs referred to in paragraph 3, such costs to

include the costs of two counsel.

JUDGMENT

MADLANGA J (Cachalia AJ, Dlodlo AJ, Froneman J, Goliath Al, Khampepe J, and
Theron J concurring):

Introduction

[1]  The applicants, Corruption Watch NPC (Corruption Watch), Freedom Under
Law NPC (FUL) and Council for the Advancement of the South African Constitution
(CASAC), seck confirmation of orders of constitutional invalidity made by the High
Court of South Africa, Gauteng Division, Pretoria (High Court). What the High Court

declared constitutionally invalid are—

(@) a settlement agreement concluded by former President Jacob
Gedleyihlekisa Zuma, the Minister of Justice and Correctional Services
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(Minister) and the former National Director of Public Prosecutions
(NDPP), Mr Mxolisi Sandile Oliver Nxasana who is the third
respondent in the confirmation application in terms of which Mr

Nxasana’s incumbency as the NDPP was terminated;

(b)  the actual termination of Mr Nxasana’s incumbency as the NDPP;

(¢) & decision to authorise payment to Mr Nxasana of an amount of
RI17 357 233 (R17..3 million) in terms of the settlement agreement;

(d)  the appointment of Advocate Shaun Kevin Abrahams as the NDPP in
the position vacated by Mr Nxasana,

(e)  section 12(4) of the National Prosecuting Authority Act' (NPA. Act);
and

() section 12(6) of the NPA Act to the extent that it permits the President
to suspend the NDPP unilaterally, indefinitely and without pay.

[2]  The High Court’s order is two-legged and quite extensive. To do justice to its
content, I think it best to render it in full in a footnote.?

'32 0 1998,

® Corruption Watch {(RF} NPC'v President of the Republic of South Africa [2017] ZAGPPHC 743; [2018]1 Al
SA 471 (GP); 2018 (1) SACR 317 (GP) (High Court judgment) at paras 1289, The first leg of the order
granted in respect of an application brought by Corruption Watch and FUL jointly reads:

“In the result we make the following order on the application of Corruption Watch
and Freedom Under Law:

1. The settlement agreement between the President, the Minister of Justice and Mr
Nxasana dated 14 May 2015, is reviewed, declared invalid and set aside,

2. The termination of the appointment of Mr Nxasana as National Director of Public
Prosecutions is declared unconstitutional and invalid.

3. The decision to authorise payment to Mt Nxasana of an amount of R17357233,in
terms of the settlement is reviewed, declared invalid and set aside.

4. The appointment of Adv Abrahams as National Director of Public Prosecutions is
reviewed, declared invalid and set aside,

3. Decisions taken and acts performed by Adv Abrahams in his capacity as the
National Director of Public Prosecutions are not invalid merely because of the
invalidity of his appointment.

6. Mr Nxasana is ordered forthwith to repay to the State all the money he received in
terms of the settlement,

7. It is declared that, in terms of section 96(2)(b) of the Constitution, the incumbent
President may not appoint, suspend or remove the National Director of Public
Prosecutions or someone in an Acting capacity as such.
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[3]1  The confirmation application was consolidated with an appeal by Mr Nxasana
against the High Court’s refusal to grant him condonation for the late filing of what he
called “an explanatory affidavit”. As appears from the declarations of constitutional
invalidity just referred to and the quoted order, Advocate Abrahams and the National

8. It is declared that, as long as the incumbent President is in office, the Deputy
President is responsible for decisions relating to the appointment, suspension or
removal of the National Director of Public Prosecutions or, in terms of section
11(2)(b} of the National Prosecuting Authority Act, someone in an Acting capacity as
guch.

9. The orders of invalidity in paragraphs 2 and 4 above are suspended for a period of
60 days or until such time ag the Deputy President has appointed a National Director
of Public Prosecutions in terms of paragraph 8 above, whichever is the shorter
period.

10. The costs of this application must be paid joinily and severally by the President, the

Minister of Justice, Adv Abrahams and the National Prosecuting Authority,”

Here is the second leg which was granted in respect of an application launched by CASAC:

“In the result we make the following order on the application of Council for the Advancement
of the South African Constitution:

1. 1t is declared that section 12(4) of the National Prosecuting Authority Act 32 of
1998 is unconstituational and invalid,

2. It is declared that section 12(6) of the National Prosecuting Authority Act is
unconstitutional and jnvalid to the extent that it permits the President to suspend the
National Director of Public Prosecutions unilaterally, indefinitely and without pay.

3. The order of invalidity in paragraph 2 is suspended for 18 months.

4. During the period of suspension:
4.1 An additional subsection shall be inserted after gection 12(6)(a) that
reads;

*(aA) The period from the time the President suspends the National Director
or a Deputy National Director to the time he or she decides whether or not
to remove the National Director or Deputy National Direotor shall not
exceed six months.’; and

4.2 Section 12(6)(e) shall read:

‘The National Director or a Deputy National Director provisionally
suspended from office shall receive, for the duration of such suspension, his
or her ﬁlu sala.['y [ 58140 SHeR-SaaE—As-—be—de -'..-':'.-
Pregident].”

5. Should Parliament fail to enact legislation remedying the defect identified in

paragraph 2, the interim order in paragraph 4 shall become final.

6, The President, the Minister of Justice and the National Prosecuting Authority shall
pay the applicant's costs, including the costs of two counsel.

7. The orders of invalidity made above relating to the National Prosecuting Authority
Aot are referred to the Constitutional Court in terms of section 165(5) of the
Constitution for confirmation,”

The High Court heard and determined the two applications simultaneously.
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Prosecuting Authority (NPA) were unsuccessful before the High Court. Of particular
note in this regard, the appointment of Advocate Abrahams as the NDPP was declared
constitutionally invalid and Advocate Abrahams and the NPA were ordered to pay the
applicants’ costs, including the costs of two counsel. Advocate Abrahams and the
NPA too brought an appeal before this Court against the adverse orders. They also
oppose the confirmation proceedings insofar as they relate to Advocate Abrahams,
Their appeal was heard simultaneously with the confirmation application and Mr

Nxasana’s appeal.

[4]  Plainly the matter is properly before us and nothing more need be said in that
regard.” The questions are whether the orders of constitutional invalidity must be

confirmed and the appeals upheld.

[5]  The applicants have cited a number of respondents.* Some have entered the
fray, others not.” The Helen Suzman Foundation applied to be admitted as a friend of
the court (amicus curiae). 1Tt is admitted as there is no reason not to grant that

application,

Background

[6] The events that are at the centre of these proceedings are in the public domain.
The judgment of the High Court notes that it was common cause before that Court that

* Section 172(2)(a) of the Constitution provides:

“The Supreme Court of Appeal, the High Court of South Africa or a court of similar status
may make an order concerning the constitutional validity of an Act of Parliament, a provincial
Act or any conduct of the President, but an order of constitutional invalidity has no force
unless it is confirmed by the Constitutional Court.”

K Respectively, the first to ninth respondents are the President of the Republic of Scuth Africa, the Minister of
Justice, Mr Nxasana, Advocate Shaun Abrehams, the Director General: Department of Justice and
Constitutional Development, the Chief Bxecutive Officer: National Prosecuting Authority, the National
Prosecuting Authority and the Deputy President of the Republic of South Africa,

* The respondents listed above in n 4 participated before the High Court. Before this Court the respondents that
have participated throughout are Mr Nxasana, Advocate Abrahams, the Director General: Department of Justice
and Constitutional Development, the Chief Executive Officer; National Prosecuting Authority and the National
Prosecuting Authority. When the proceedings were launched before this Court, former President Zuma was the
incumbent President, Before the oral hearing, he resigned and President Cyril Ramaphosa became President,
Thirteen days before the hearing and after President Ramaphosa had taken over, the President's participation in
the proceedings was terminated, -
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since September 2007 the recent history at the NPA “has been one of paralysing
instability”.* That judgment gives details of that history.” I do not propose doing the
same. I will commence with the narrative from when Mr Nxasana, one of the people
affected by the High Court’s orders, was appointed to the position of NDPP.® His
appointment — which followed the short lived incumbency of Mr Menzi Simelane —
took effect from 1 October 2013. Mr Simelane’s appointment had come after that of
Mr Vusi Pikoli who — following a suspension, a commission of inquiry into his fitness
to hold office, some litigation and the conclusion of a settlement agreement — had also

vacated office in terms of that agreement without finishing his term of office,

[71  In July 2014 — within about only nine months of his appointment — a process
calculated to remove Mr Nxasana from office commenced. The then President,
Mr Jacob Zuma, informed Mr Nxasana of his intention to institute an inquiry into his

fitness to hold office.” This was followed by a notice that the former President was

M considering suspending Mr Nxasana pending finalisation of the inquiry. The former

President said that suspension was necessary in order to maintain the integrity and
good administration of the NPA. The notice also specified that the inquiry sought to
establish whether certain issues were “consonant with the conscientiousness and
integrity of an incumbent in the office of National Director of Public Prosecutions as
required by the [NPA] Act”. These issues were; Mr Nxasana’s previous criminal
conviction for “violent conduct”; allegedly unbecoming and divisive comments which
had the effect of bringing the NPA into disrepute made by Mr Nxasana and reported
in the media; and alleged non-disclosure of facts and circumstances of prosecutions

which Mr Nxasana had faced previously. The former President called upon

¢ High Court judgment above n 2 at para 19.
71d at paras 18-46.
¥ In this natrative I borrow copiously from, and am indebted to, the High Court’s sununary of the facts,

® In terms of section 12(6)(a)(iv) of the NPA Act the President may remove an NDPP from office if the NDPP is
no longer a fit and proper person to hold office.
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Mr Nxasana to give reasons “in this regard”. Apparently this was an invitation for

representations on why Mr Nxasana should not be suspendéd. o

[8] In a letter requesting an extension of the deadline for the submission of
representations, Mr Nxasana also requested particularity on the three issues itemised
above to which the intended inquiry related. By the morning of the deadline, former
President Zuma had not responded to either request. Mr Nxasana was forced to make
preliminary representations so as to meet the deadline. His intention was to
supplemeﬁt them upon receipt of the requested particulars, When he followed-up on
the particularity, the former President said it was not proper to discuss these issues as
they were the subject of the inquiry. Mr Nxasana approached the High Court seeking
an order: compelling former President Zuma to provide the required particularity; and
interdicting the former President from suspending him until he. had furnished him with
this particularity. That application was not pursued to finality. The former President
changed tack. In late 2014 he proposed that the dispute between him and Mr Nxasana
be mediated. Mr Nxasana acceded to this proposal.

[9] It appears from a letter written on 10 December 2014 by attorneys acting for
Mr Nxasana that former President Zuma had engaged Mr Nxasana to get him to agree
to vacate office. In the letter Mr Nxasana made it plain that he did not want to vacate
office as there was no basis for him to. He stated that he would, however, consider
stepping down only if he was fully compensated for the remainder of the contract

period.

[10] In early 2015 the former President set up the long-threatened commission that
was to eliquire into Mr Nxasana’s fitness to hold office. After some preliminary work,
the commission set 11 May 2015 as the commencement date for the hearing. Parallel

with this. inquiry process, Mr Hulley — the former President’s legal adviser — made a

% Indeed, this is how Mr Nxasana understood what was required of him. This appears from a letter in which
Mr Nxasana requested an extension of the deadline for giving the reasons and a letter that contained the reasons
or representations themselves, This was put beyond question by the content of later correspondence from the
former President,
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promise that Mr Nxasana would be paid a settlement amount from public coffers.
Over time that amount increased progressively. An earlier offer contained in a draft
settlement agreement was R10 million. Mr Nxasana did not accept it. Former
President Zuma was undeterred. Thereafter Mr Hulley sent Mr Nxasana another draft
settlement agreement with the amount left blank for Mr Nxasana to fill it in himself,

Nothing of moment came of this.

[11] In the end the commission hearing never commenced as settlement was
eventually reached. Mr Nxasana signed the settlement agreement on 9 May 2015,
The Minister and former President did 50 on 14 May 2015. In terms of this agreement
Mr Nxasana would relinquish his position as NDPP and receive a sum of
R17.3 million as a settlement payment. In the event, Mr Nxasana was paid an amount
of R10 240 767.47 as the rest was retained by the state for income tax.

process that culminated in the settlement agreement, Mr Nxasana une uivocally stated

that he did not wish to resign and that he considered himself to be fit for office.
Instead his preference was for former President Zuma’s allegations that he was no
longer fit for office to be tested in a formal inquiry as proposed by the former
President. Throughout, he protested the existence of a factual or legal basis for him to
vacate office. Also, he disavowed any invocation by him of section 12(8) of the
NPA Act to voluntarily vacate office.!! It is $0, of course, that he did indicate that he
would resign only if he was paid the full salary for the remainder of his term of office.

2
[13] On 18 June 2015 former President Zuma appointed Advocate Shaun Abrahams
who — to this day — is the incumbent NDPP.

[14] Corruption Watch and FUL approached the High Court seeking the review and
setting aside of the settlement agreement, an order that Mr Nxasana repay the
R17.3 million settlement payout and the review and setting aside of the appointment

! This section — which I deal with more fully later — provides for the voluntary vacation of office by the NDPP.,

It must be noted that, right from the onset and throughout the entire negotlatlon%
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of Advocate Abrahams. In a separate application which was later consolidated with
the application by Corruption Watch and FUL, CASAC sought an order declaring
section 12(4) and (6)'2 of the NPA Act unconstitutional,

[15] The High Court granted both applications, hence the present confirmation

proceédings.

Issues

[16] The issues are whether—

(a)  the settlement agreement and, therefore, Mr Nxasana’s vacation of the
office of NDPP are constitutionally valid;

(b)  Mr Nxasana should be required to repay the R17.3 million settlement
payout; | I

(¢) the appointment of Advocate Abrahams as NDPP is constitutionally
invalid;

(d) section 12(4) and (6) of the NPA Act is constitutionally invalid; and

(e)  the High Court erred in refusing to grant Mr Nxasana condonation for

the late filing of his affidavit.

(17] 1proceed to deal with these issues, but not necessarily in this order.

The validity of the settlement agreement and My Nxasana's vacation of office

[18] The importance of the office of NDPP in the administration of justice is
underscored and amplified by no less an instrament than the Constitution itself.
Section 179(4) of the Constitation requires that there be national legislation which
guarantees the independence of the prosecuting authority. In terms of section 179(1)
the prosecuting authority consists of the NDPP who is its head, Directors of Public

2 The section is quoted at n 44 below.

* The retief sought by the applicants in both applications was more extonsive than what T have captured here.
That is apparent from the two-legged High Court order quoted above n 2.
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Prosecutions and prosecutors.'* Section 179(4) provides that national legislation must
ensure that the NPA exercises its functions without fear, favour or prejudice. That
legislation is the NPA Act. Predictably, section 32(1)(a) of the NPA Act requires
members of the prosecuting authority to carry out their duties without fear, favour or

prejudice, and subject only to the Constitution and the law.

[19] This Court has said of the NPA’s independence “[t]here is . . . a constitutional
guarantee of independence, and any legislation or executive action inconsistent
therewith would be subject to constitutional control by the courts”.'® The reason why
this guarantee of independence exists is not far to seek. The NPA plays a pivotal role
in the administration of criminal justice. With a malleable, corrupt or dysfunctional
prosecuting authority, many criminals — especially those holding positions of
influence — will rarely, if ever, answer for their criminal deeds. Equally, functionaries
within that prosecuting authority may — as CASAC submitted — “be pressured . . . into
pursuing prosecutions to advance a political agenda”. All this is antithetical to the

rule of law, a founding value of the Republic.’® Also, malleability, corruption and

" Section 179 of the Constitution provides:

“(1) There is a single national prosecuting suthority in the Republic, sttuctured in terms of
an Act of Parliament, and consisting of—

(a) a National Director of Public Prosecutions, who is the head of the
prosecuting authority, and is appointed by the President, as head of the
national exeocutive; and

(b} Directors of Public Prosecutions and prosecutors as determined by an Act of
Parliament,

4 National legislation must ensure that the prosecuting authority exercises its functions
without fear, favour or prejudice.”

Y Ex Parte Chairperson of the Constitutional Assembly: In Re Ceytification of the Constifution of the Republic
of South Afica, 1996 [1996] ZACC 26; 1996 (4) SA 744 (CC); 1996 (10) BCLR 1253 (CC) at para 146.

% Section 1 of the Constitution provides:
“The Republic of South Africa is one, sovereign, democratic state founded on the following values:

(@ Human dignity, the achievement of equality and the advancement of human rights and
freadoms.

(b) Non-racialism and non-sexism.
(c) Supremacy of the Constitution and the rule of law,

(d) Universal adult suffrage, a national common voters roll, regular elections and a multi-party
system of democratic government, to ensure accountability, responsiveness and openness.”
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dysfunctionality are at odds with the constitutional injunction of prosecuting without
fear, favour or prejudice. They are thus at variance with the constitutional

requirement of the independence of the NPA.

[20] At the centre of any functioning constitutional democracy is a well-functioning
criminal justice system. In Democratic Alliance Yacoob ADCJ observed that the
office of the NDPP “is located at the core of delivering criminal justice”.’” If you
subvert the criminal justice system, you subvert the rule of law and constitutional
democracy itself. Unsurprisingly, the NPA Act proscribes improper interference with

the performance of prosecutorial duties. Section 32(1)(b) provides:

“Subject to the Constitution and this Act, no organ of state and no member or
employee of an organ of state nor any other person shall improperly interfere with,
hinder or obstruct the prosecuting authority or any member thereof in the exercise,

carrying out or performance of its, his or her powers, duties and functions.”

[21] Improper interference may take any number of forms, Without purporting to
be exhaustive, it may come as downright intimidation. It may consist in improper
promises or inducements. It may take the form of corruptly inﬂuencing the
decision-making or functioning of the NPA. All these forms and others are proscribed
by an Act that gets its authority to guarantee prosecutoria! independence directly from
the Constitution.

[22] Another guarantee of the NDPP’s independence is provision for secutity of
tenure. In section 12(1) the NPA Act provides that the NDPP shall hold office for a
10-year non-renewable term of office.'® It is now well established in terms of this
Court’s jurisprudence that security of tenure is an integral feature of the constitutional

requirement of independence. In Justice Alliance this Court held that “international

" Democratic Alliance v President of the Republic of South Africa [2012] ZACC 24; 2013 (1) SA 248 (CC),
2012 (12) BCLR 1297 (CC) at para 26.

1% Section 12(1) provides:

“The National Director shall hold office for a non-renewable term of 10 years, but must vacate
his or her office on attaining the age of 65 years.”
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standards acknowledge that guaranteed tenure and conditions of service, adequately

secured by law, are amongst the conditions necessary to secure and promote the .

independence of judges™.” These necessary conditions must, of course, be true of the
independence of the NPA as well. In a unanimous judgment in McBride Bosielo AJ
said that amongst the factors that are relevant to the independence of offices or
institutions which — in terms of constitutional prescripts — must be independent are
“the method of appointment, the method of feporting, disciplinary proceedings and the

method of removal . . . from office, and security of tenure” %

[23] The NPA Act has two other salient features that help shield the NPA from
improper interference, namely: the non-renewability of the 10-year term of office of
the NDPP;*! and certain safeguards on the removal of the NDPP from office.22
Section 12(8) provides for the voluntary vacation of office by an NDPP.® This

section is of some significance. It must be read in the context of the constitutional

¥ Justice Alliance of South Afvica v President of the Republic of South Africa [2011] ZACC 23; 2011 (5) SA
388 (CC); 2011 (10) BCLR 1017 (CC) (Justice Alliance) at para 38,

% MeBride v Minister of Police [2016] ZACC 30; 2016 (2) SACR 585 (CC); 2016 (11) BCLR 1398 (CC
atpara 31,

2 Section 12(1).
2 Section 12(5).
% Section 12(8) provides:

“(a) The President may allow the National Director or a Deputy National Director at his
or her request, to vacate his or her office—

(63 on account of continued ill-health; or
(ii} for any other reason which the President deems sufficient,

®) The request in terms of paragtaph (a)(ii) shall be addressed to the President at least
six calendar months prior to the date on which he or she wishes to vacate his or her
office, unless the President grants a shorter period in a specific case,

(c) If the National Director or a Deputy National Director—

(i) vacates his or her office in terms of paragraph (a)(i), he or she shall be
entitled to such pension as he or she would have been entitled to under the
pension law applicable to him or her if his or her services had been
terminated on the ground of continued ill-health occasioned without kim or
her being instrumental thereto; or

(ii) vacates his or her office in terms of paragraph (a)(ii), he or she shail be
deemed to have been retired in terms of section 16(4) of the
Public Service Act, and he or she shall be entitled to such pension as he or
she would have been entitled to under the pension law applicable to him or
her if he or she had been so retired,”
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guarantee that the office of NDPP be independent and, indeed, in the context of all the
provisions of the NPA Act that seek to give content to the provisions of section 179(4)
of the Constitution.”* Any act or conduct that purpotts to be a voluntary vacation of
office but which compromises or has the potential to compromise the independgnce of
the NDPP is constitutionally invalid. A question that follows is whether the manner in

which Mr Nxasana vacated office is constitutionally compliant,

[24]  Crucially, at the hearing before us it was no longer in dispute that Mr Nxasana
had not vacated office in terms of section 12(8). The contest concerned the question
whether the manner in which he vacated office was lawful. The applicants argued that
Mr Nxasana vacated office in a manner that was at odds with the Constitution and the
law. Advocate Abrahams and the NPA argued that an NDPP is not precluded from
vacating office voluntarily otherwise than under section 12(8). Mr Nxasana, on the

other hand, accepted that his vacation of office was not constitutionally compliant.

[25] The facts set out above point to one thing and one thing only: former
President Zuma was bent on getting rid of Mr Nixasana by whatever means he could
muster. His was an approach that kept on mutating: it was first a stick; then a carrot; a
stick once more; and eventually a carrot. There was first the notification that
Mr Nxasana would be subjected to an inquiry with a view to establishing whether he
was still a fit and proper person to hold office. Concomitantly, there was a threat of
suspension pending finalisation of the inquiry, albeit with full pay. This was followed

by former President Zuma’s proposal that there be mediation. When there was no

progress on this, the inquiry was instituted. Whilst the inquiry was in its preliminary

stages, the former President pursued a parallel process in which Mr Nxasana was first
offered — in a draft settlement agreement —~ R10 million. As indicated earlier, he did

not accept it. What plainly evinces how desperate former President Zuma was to get

rid of Mr Nxasana is that this was followed by a draft settlement in which the amount\\

was left blank. Mr Nxasana was being told to pick whatever figure. Indeed,

# To rocapitulate, this is the section that provides that “[nJational legislation must ensure that the prosecuting
authority exercises its functions without fear, favour or prejudice”,
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Mr Hulley said that he would “await the final amouﬁt” from Mr Nxasana. (Emphasis
added.)

[26] Iam not suggesting that the former President would have accepted any amount
Mr Nxasana inserted. All T am saying is that the very idea that former President Zuma
was willing, at least, to consider whatever amount Mr Nxasana inserted speaks
volumes. To be more direct, it lends credence to the view that he wanted to get rid of
Mr Nxasana at all costs. If that were not the case, why else would he have given
Mr Nxasana an opportunity to insert an amount of his liking? After all, this all started
because former President Zuma overtly made all and sundry believe that he had a
basis for holding a view that Mr Nxasana was no longer fit for office. It must have
been a matter of relative ease, therefore, to pursue the inquiry instead of offering
Mr Nxasana what — by all accounts — was an extremely huge sum of money. In its

Jjudgment the High Court notes that before it the parties were agreed that the amount

of R17.3 million “far exceeded what Mr Nxasana’s financial entitlement would have

been had his office been lawfully vacated in terms of section 12(8)(a)(ii) of the

NPA Act”.?

(27] Instead of settling for so huge an amount, why did the former President not
simply pursue the inquiry? Did he not believe that the evidence that had motivated
him to come up with the idea of an inquiry was sufficiently cogent? If so, why did he
not just abandon the inquiry and leave Mr Nxasana in office? After all, he was
exercising powers as President and not involved in a personal dispute which he could
settle as he pleased. It is difficult to comprehend why he would have settled on so

huge an amount, and from public coffers to boot.

[28] The inference is inescapable that he was effectively buying Mr Nxasana out of
office. In my book, conduct of that nature compromises the independence of the
office of NDPP. It conduces to the removal of “troublesome” or otherwise unwanted

NDPPs through buying them out of office by offering them obscenely huge amounts

% High Court Jjudgment above n 2 at para 3,
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of money. Although I deliberately eschew deciding the question whether an NDPP
may vacate office outside of the provisions of section 12(8) of the NPA Act, this much
I do want to say: it can never be that vacating office outside of these provisions would
ever entitle an NDPP to more benefits than those set out in section 12(8).
Section 12(8) is specific on the benefits, It provides that when an NDPP vacates
office on the basis of “continued ill-health”*® “he or she shall be entitled to such
pension as he or she would have been entitled to under the pension law applicable to
him or her if his or her services had been terminated on the ground of continued
ill-health occasioned without him or her being instrumental thereto”.?’ When an
NDPP vacates office for “any other reason which the President deems sufficient” 2
“he or she shall be deemed to have been retired in terms of section 16(4) of the Public
Service Act, and he or she shall be entitled to such pension as he or she would have
been entitled to under the pension law applicable to him or her if he or she had been so
retired”.”®  All these are the usual public service benefits. The problem with benefits
that are not capped by the section 12(8) limit is that they give rise to the real
possibility of NDPPs being bought out of office. That, as I say, compromises the
independence of the office of NDPP. Whatever we are to make of the full import of
section 12(8), the manner of voluntary vacation of office should never undermine the

constitutional imperative of the independence of the NDPP.

[29] The settlement agreement, Mr Nxasana’s vacation of office and the obligation
to pay the sum of R17.3 million are one composite whole. In fact, the vacation of
office and obligation to pay and subsequent payment were in terms of the settlement
agreement. T am led to the conclusion that all are constitutionally invalid for having
come about in a manner inconsonant with the constitutionally required independence
of the office of NDPP.

~ * Seotion 12(8)(a)(i).

7 Section 12(8)(c)(i).
% Section 12(8)(a)ii).
% Section 12(8)(c)(i).
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[30] Although I have alluded to this, let me say it explicitly. On the approach I have
taken, it is not necessary to deal with the argument by Advocate Abrahams and the
NPA that an NDPP may vacate office voluntarily outside the provisions of
section 12(8). | |

Was the appointment of Advocate Abrahams constitutionally invalid?

[31] The appointment of Advocate Abtahams as NDPP was an act consequential
upon the constitutionally invalid vacation of office by Mr Nxasana. Consequential
acts which follow on constitutionally invalid conduct are commonplace. An
interesting question raised by the oft-cited statement of law in Oudekraal® is the
cffect of the constitutional invalidity of Mr Nxasana’s vacation of office on the
consequential act of the appointment of Advocate Abrahams.”' In that statement
Howie P and Nugent JA said that until administrative action is set aside by a court in
review proceedings, it continues to exist in fact and has legal consequences that
cannot simply be overlooked.”” This pronouncement has been relied upon by this
Court on a number of occasions.”® Does this mean that— because Mr Nxasana’s
vacation of office had not yet been set aside when Advocate Abrahams was appointed
NDPP — Advocate Abrahams was validly appointed?

[32] What may lead some readers of what 1 have paraphrased from Oudekraal
astray is reading it in isolation. Later Oudekraal makes it clear that where a

% Oudekraal Estates (Pty) Ltd v City of Cape Town [2004] ZASCA 48; 2004 (6) SA 222 (SCA) (Oudekraal).

* The fact that Oudekraal concemed administrative action should not lead to the conclusion that I am
suggesting that former President Zuma’s conduct relative to Mr Nxasana’s vacation of office was administrative
action. As appears abovo from how I resolved the question of the lawfulness of Mr Nxasana’s vacation of
office, it is not necessary for me to decide the issue whether the former President’s conduct was administrative
action. That said, there is no reason in principle why Oudekraal should not apply to the conduct of the
Executive,

*2 Oudekraal above n 30 at para 26,

 See Department of Transport v Tasima (Pgy) Ltd [2016] ZACC 39; 2017 {2) 8A 622 (CC); 2017 (1) BCLR 1
(CC) at para 88; Merafong City v AngloGold Ashanti Limited [2016] ZACC 35; 2017 (2) SA 211 (CC); 2017 )
BCLR 182 (CC) at para 36; MEC for Health, Eastern Cape v Kirland Investments (Py) Ltd ta Eye & Lazer
Institute [2014] ZACC 6; 2014 (3) SA 481 (CC); 2014 (5) BCLR 547 (CC) (Kirland) at para 103;
Bengwenyama Minerals (Pty) Ltd v Genorah Resources (Pty) Lid [2010] ZACC 26; 2011 (4) SA 113 (CC);
2011 (3) BCLR 229 (CC) (Bengwenyama) at para 82; and Camps Bay Ratepayers’ and Residents dAssociation v
Harrison [2010] ZACC 19; 2011 (4) SA 42 (CC); 2011 {2) BCLR 121 (CC) at para 62,
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consequential act could be valid only as a result of the factual existence — not legal
validity — of the eatlier act, the consequential act would be valid only for so long as
the earlier act had not been set aside.** In Seale Cloete JA for a unanimous Court put

this beyond question. He held:

“Counsel for both Seale and the TYC sought to rely in argument on passages in the
decision of this court in Oudekraal Estates (Pty) Ltd v City of Cape Town which
adopted the analysis by Christopher Forsyth of why an act which is invalid may

nevertheless have valid consequences and concluded:

“Thus the proper enquiry in each case — at least at first — is not
whether the initial act was valid but rather whether its substantive
validity was a necessary precondition for the validity of consequent
acts. If the validity of consequent acts is dependent on no more than
the factual existence of the initial act then the consequent act will
have legal effect for so long as the initial act is not set aside by a

competent court.’

[T)ke reliance by counsel on the decision in Cudekraal, [is] misplaced. As appears
from the italicised part of the judgment just quoted, the analysis was accepted by this
court as being limited to a consideration of the validity of a second act performed
consequent upon a first invalid act, pending a decision whether the first act is to be set
aside or permitted to stand. This court did not in Oudekraal suggest that the analysis
was relevant to that latter decision.” (Footnotes omitted.)

[33] The Supreme Court of Appeal then concluded that “it is clear from
Oudekraal . . . that if the first act is set aside, a second act that depends for its validity
on the first act must be invalid as the legal foundation for its performance was

non-existent”, >

3 Oudekraal above n 30 at para 31.

% Seale v Van Rooyen N.O.; Provincial Government, North West Province v Van Rooyen N.O. [2008) ZASCA
28; 2008 (4) SA 43 (SCA) at para 13, . |

%14,
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[34] In Kirland this Court accepted what was decided in Seale. Writing for the

majority, Cameron J had this to say:

“In Seale . . . the Court, applying Oudekraal, held that acts performed on the basis of
the validity of a prior act are themselves invalid if and when the first decision is set
agide. ., , [TThe Court rightly rejected an argument, in misconceived reliance on
Oudekraal, that the later {(second) act could remain valid despite the setting aside of
the first.”*’

[35] Now that the manner in which Mr Nxasana vacated office has been declared
constitutionally invalid, it follows that the appointment of Advocate Abrahams is
constitutionally invalid. The appeal by Advocate Abrahams and the NPA directly
countered the application for confirmation of the order declaring the appointment of

Advocate Abrahams invalid. As a consequence, that appeal falls to be dismissed.

The validity of section 12(4) and (6) of the NPA Act

[36] The challenge to the constitutional validity of this section is not founded on any
factual matrix. Section 12(4) is about the extension of the term of office of an NDPP
who is otherwise liable to retire on grounds of age. In these proceedings nobody was
affected by the provisions of this section. Section 12(6) provides for the indefinite
suspension of an NDPP by the President without pay or with such pay as the President
may determine. Mr Nxasana was suspended with full pay. Nobody eise was
suspended. A preliminary issue that arises is whether we must entertain this abstract

challenge.

[37] This Court has entertained absiract challenges in appropriate circumstances. In
Ferreira in the context of an abstract challenge arising from public interest litigation,

O’Regan J held that the relevant factors are—

“whether there is another reasonable and effective manner in which the challenge can
be brought; the nature of the relief sought, and the extent to which it is of general and

Y7 Kirland above 1t 33 at fn 74.
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prospective application; and the range of persons or groups who may be directly or
indirectly affected by any order made by the court and the opportunity that those
persons or groups have had to present evidence and argument to the court.”*

[38] In Lawyefs Jor Human Rights Yacoob J, writing for the majority, quoted this
passage with approval®® and held that even though O’Regan J was in the minority, the
passage was mnot inconsistent with anything said in the majority judgment on
standing.* Crucially, he then held that the factors set out by O’Regan J in respect of
public interest standing where there is a live controversy are of relevance even where
there is none, In other words, the factors apply even in the case of abstract public

interest challenges. This is how he articulated this:

“It is ordinarily not in the public interest for proceedings to be brought in the abstract,
But this is not an invariable principle. There may be circumstances in which it will
be in the public interest to bring proceedings even if there is no live case. The factors
set out by O’Regan J help to determine this question. The list of relevant factors is
not closed. I would add that the degree of vulnerability of the people affected, the
nature of the right said to be infringed, as well as the consequences of the
infringement of the right are also important considerations in the analysis,”"!

39] 1 am of the view that — in the present circumstances — it ig imperative that the
abstract challenge be entertained. What stands out is the nature of the
unconstitutionality complained of and its susceptibility to occurring without detection,
CASAC argued that when the alleged unconstitutionality relates to independence as is
the case with the present challenges, abstract challenges are vital. It explained that
“the problem is not only the actual exercise of unconstitutional powers, but the subtie
ways in which the mere existence of those powers undermines independence”. An

NDPP may refrain from acting independently because she or he fears indefinite

¥ Ferreira v Levin N.O.; Viyenhoek v Powell N.0. [1995] ZACC 13; 1996 (1) S8A 984 (CC); 1996 (1) BCLR 1
(CC) at para 234,

¥ Lawyers Jor Human Rights v Minister of Home Affairs [2004] ZACC 12; 2004 (4) SA 125 (CC); 2004 (7)
BCLR 775 (CC) a para 16,

“ Id at para 17,
4 1d at para 18,
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unpaid suspension and the factual matrix for the challenge not to be abstract may
never arise. As CASAC further argued, rather than give the factual matrix an
opportunity to eventuate, it is better to pre-emptively challenge the relevant statutory

provision.

[40] 1t is, therefore, not sutprising that the Glemister I and Helen Suzinan
Foundation®™ challenges were determined in the absence of any factual predicate. In

sum, this is a fitting case to entertain an abstract challenge.

[41] 1next proceed to deal with the challenges to the two éubsections one after the

other

¥ Glenister v President of the Republic of South Afiica [2011] ZACC 6; 2011 (3) SA 347 (CC); 2011 {7) BCLR
651 (CC) (Glenister IT),

* Helen Suzman Foundation v President of the Republic of South Afvica; Glenister v President of the Republic
of South Afvica [2014] ZACC 32; 2015 (2) SA 1 (CC); 2015 (1) BCLR 1 (CC) (Helen Suzman Fosndation).

* Section 12(4) and (6) provides:

“4) If the President is of the opinion that it is in the public interest to retain a National
Director or a Deputy Nationa! Director in his or her office beyond the age of 65
years, and—

(a) the National Director or Deputy National Director wishes to continue to
serve in such office; and

) the mental and physical health of the person concerned enable him or her so
to continue,

the President may from time to time direct that he or she be so retained, but not for a
period which exceeds, or periods which in the aggregates exceed, two years: Provided
that a National Director's term of office shall not exceed 10 years.

(6) (a) The President may provisionally suspend the National Director ot a Deputy
National Director from his or her office, pending such enquiry info his or
her fitness to hold such office ag the President deems fit and, subject to the
provisions of this subsection, may thereupon remove him or her from
office—

(i) for misconduct;

(ii) on account of continued ill-health;
(iii) on account of incapacity to catry out his or her duties of office
efficiently; or

(iv) on account thereof that he or she is no longer a fit and proper
person to hold the office concerned,

(b) The removal of the National Director or a Deputy National Director, the
reason therefor and the representations of the National Director or Deputy
National Director (if any) shall be communicated by message to Parliament
within 14 days after such removal if Parliament is then in session or, if
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[42] Section 12(4) empowers the President to extend the term of office of an NDPP
or a Deputy NDPP which must ordinarily come to an end z;t age 65 beyond that age,
but not for a period which exceeds, or periods which in the aggregate exceed, two
years provided that an NDPP’s term of office shall not exceed 10 years. The
President’s power to extend an NDPP’s term of office undermines the independence

of the office. Here is how this was explained in Justice Alliance:

“In approaching this question it must be borne in mind that the extension of a term of
office, particularly one confetred by the Executive or by Parliament, may be seen as a
benefit. The judge or judges upon whom the benefit is conferred may be seen as
favoured by it. While it is true, as counsel for the President emphasised, that the
possibility of far-fetched perceptions should not dominate the interpretive process, it
is not unreasonable for the public to agsume that extension may operate as a favour
that may influence those judges seeking it. The power of extension in section 176(1)
must therefore, on general principle, be construed so far as possible to minimise the
tisk that its conferral could be seen as impairing the precions-won institutional
attribute of impartiality and the public confidence that goes with it (Footnotes
omitted.}

[43] In similar vein, Mogoeng CJ held in Helen Suzman Foundation:

“Renewal invites a favour-seeking disposition from the incumbent whose age and
situation might point to the likelihood of renewal. It beckons to the official to adjust-
her approach to the enormous and sensitive responsibilities of her office with regard

Parliament is not then in session, within 14 days after the commencement of
its next ensuing session,

{c) Parliament shall, within 30 days after the message referred to in paragraph
(b) has been tabled in Parliament, or as soon thereafler ag ig reasonably
possible, pass a resolution as to whether or not the resioration to his or her
office of the National Director or Deputy National Director so removed, is
recommended.

(D) The President shall restore the National Director or Deputy National
Director to his or her office if Parliament so resolves,

(e) The National Director or a Deputy National Director provisionafly
suspended from office shall receive, for the duration of such suspension, no
salary or such salary as may be determined by the President.”

% Justice Alliance above n 19 at para 75,
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to the preferences of the one who wields the discretionary power to renew or not to
renew the term of office. No holder of this position of high responsibility should be
exposed to the temptation to ‘behave’ herself in anticipation of renewal.”*

[44] There is no basis for this reasoning not to apply to section 12(4). The
High Court’s declaration of constitutional invalidity must be confirmed.

[45] Coming to section 12(6), two aspects that make the President’s power to
suspend particularly egregious are the facts that she or he may suspend with or
without pay and for an indefinite period. Of importance, suspending without pay is
the default position: the section says that for the duration of the suspension, an NDPP
or Deputy NDPP “shall receive no salary or such salary as may be determined by the
President”. There is no guidance whatsoever on how and on what bases the President
may exercise the discretion to (a) allow receipt of a salary and (b) determine its
quantum. This tool is susceptible to abuse. It may be invoked to cow and render
compliant an NDPP or Deputy NDPP. The prospect of not earning an income may fill
many with dread and apprehension. The possibility of this enduring indefinitely
exacerbates the situation. This is not a tool that should be availed to the Executive, It
has the potential to undermine the independence and iﬁtcgrity of the offices of NDPP
and Deputy NDPP and, indeed, of the NPA itself.

[46] In Helen Suzman Foundation this Court held:

“Suspension without pay defies the exceedingly important presumption of innocence
until proven guilty or the audi alteram partem tule and unfairly undermines the
National Head’s ability to challenge the validity of the suspension by the withholding
of salary and benefits. It irrefutably presumes wrongdoing. An inquiry may then
become a dishonest process of going through the motions. Presumably the Minister’s
mind would already have been made up that the National Head is guilty of what she
is accused of. Personal and familial suffering that could be caused by the exetcise of

* Helen Suzman Foundation shove n 43 at para 81.
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that draconian power also cties out against its retention. It is also the employer’s duty

to expedite the inquiry to avoid lengthy suspensions on pay.” ¥’

[47] There is the question of “unilateral suspension” on which the challenge is also

pegged. 1read Mogoeng CJ for the majority in Helen Suzman Foundation to say there

s nothing inherently wrong with a unilateral suspension. What he has a problem with

are the possibility of suspension without pay and benefits and the use of the words “as
the Minister deems fit” in section 17DA(2)(a) of the South African Police Service
Act® Tn MecBride, on the other hand, Bosielo AJ, writing for a unanimous Court,

says:

“To my mind, the cumulative effect of the impugned sections has the potential to
diminish the confidence the public should have in IPID [the Independent Police
Investigative Directorate]. As the amicus curiae emphasised in its submissions, both
the independence and the appearance of an independent IPID are central to this
matter, The manner in which the Minister dealt with Mr McBride demonstrates,
without doubt, how invasive the Minister’s powers are. What exacerbates the
situation Is that he acted unilaterally. This destroys the very confidence which the
public should have that IPID will be able, without undue political interference, to
investigate complaints against the police fearlessly and without favour or bias. IPID
must therefore not only be independent, but must be seen to be so. Without enjoying
the confidence of the public, IPID will not be able to function efficiently, as the
public might be disinclined or reluctant to report their cases to it.”™ (Emphasis
added.)

[48] 1 do not think this is a proper case in which I need grapple with the import of
the content of the two judgments on “unilateral suspension”. There is enough to
invalidate section 12(6) based on the above reasoning. In that regard, I conclude that

“? Helen Suzman Foundation above n 43 at para 85.

% Ordinarily, suspensions are unilateral acts, In the context of a fumctionary who is constitutionally required to
be independent the question may arise whether the power to suspend may be exercised by the member of the
Executive on whom that power vests without the involvement of Parliament; with the involvement of Parliament
the exercise of the power would be bilateral,

* 68 of 1995,
% MeBride above n 20 at para 43,
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section 12(6) is constitutionally invalid for empowering the President to suspend an

NDPP and Deputy NDPP without pay and for an indefinite duration.

My Nxasana’s appeal

[49] This appeal concerns the High Court’s refusal of condonation of the late filing
of an affidavit Mr Nxasana labelled as an “explanatory affidavit”. He was the third
respondent in the application brought by Corruption Watch and FUL and the fourth in
CASAC’s, He filed the explanatory affidavit out of turn; that is, he did not file it
when answering affidavits by respondents were due. In fact, it was so out of time that
he filed it after all affidavits had been filed even in the CASAC application which had
been launched later. Mr Nxasana accepts that — even though he styles the affidavit as
an explanatory affidavit — it is in fact an answering affidavit in both applications. The
affidavit was filed under cover of a notice that was headed “notice to abide”. In
addition to saying Mr Nxasana would abide the decision of the Court, the notice said
that the affidavit would be used to explain “the position of the third respondent”.

Reference to the third respondent was to Mr Nxasana.
[50] The former President opposed the application for condonation.

[(51] The fundament of Mr Nxasana’s grievance in the appeal is that the High Court
made certain adverse findings against him without considering his version and thus
contrary to the audi alteram partem (loosely, hear both sides) rule. He argues that in
the circumstances, the High Court’s order is not just and equitable within the meaning
of section 172(1)(b) of the Constitution.>!

5! Section 172(1) provides:
“When deciding a constitutional matter within its power, a court—

{a) must declare that any law or conduct that is inconsistent with the Constitution is
invalid to the extent of its inconsistency; and

(b) may make any order that is just and equitable, inctuding—
(i) an order limiting the retrospective effect of the declaration of invalidity; and

(ii) an order suspending the declaration of invalidity for any period and on any
conditions, to allow the competent authority to correct the defect,”
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[52] He “notes” that he was never served with any of the papers in the CASAC
application until April 2017 and that in the application by Corruption Watch and FUL
he received only the founding papers. By April 2017 all affidavits in both
applications had been filed. He filed the explanatory affidavit on 11 April 2017, He

explains filing out of time in these terms:

“I accept that my waiting until the conclusion of the rule 30/30A proceedings was not
in strict compliance with the Rules. However, I submit that it was a pragmatic
approach given the delay inevitably caused by the President’s failure to comply with
rule 53 and my desire to only provide a single affidavit to Court.”

[53] The High Court refused condonation for two reasons. The first was that the
explanation for the delay was not persuasive. I agree. The second was that “it i
generally accepted that when evidence is presented so late in proceedings, there is the
danger of it having been tailored to fit a particular position™.> On this, the question

that arises is: how real was this danger in the instant matter?

[54] Before dealing with this second reason, let me touch on Mr Nxasana’s apparent
complaint that he did not always receive proper service of the papers. Mr Nxasana
says that service of the application papers on him was haphaiard at best. I do not
want to make much of this. He seems to have been aware of what was going on. This
is especially so with regard to the application by Corruption Watch and FUL. He
assisted these applicants closely with the compilation of the rule 53 record. That
being the case, if he was ever intent on acting expeditiously, he could have taken the
initiative and insisted on being served with the papers, After all, he is an experienced

attorney.

%2 High Court judgment above n 2 at para 8.
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[55] The explanatory affidavit first deals with the “background”. Here Mr Nxasana
begins with discussing facts around his appointment as NDPP. Nothing contentious

arises from that,

[56] I next deals with acrimony between Mr Nxasana, on the one hand, and
Advobate Jiba, the former Acting NDPP, and Advocate Mrwebi, the Special Director:
Specialised Commercial Crime Unit, on the other, The acrimony allegedly erupted
soon after Mr Nxasana’s appointment. These are allegations that were not coming to
the fore for the first time. In the explanatory affidavit Mr Nxasana was repeating
allegations he had made previously in his founding affidavit in the application to
interdict former President Zuma from suspending him. That affidavit was before the
High Court in the present proceedings. It had been filed by CASAC before the
explanatory affidavit was filed. Mr Nxasana had also made these same allegations as
far back as 1 August 2014 in the letter in which he made representations as to why the
former President should not suspend him. That letter too had already been filed of
record in the present proceedings by the time Mr Nxasana filed the explanatory
affidavit.

[57] The explanatory affidavit then deals with various steps that Mr Nxasana says
he took to address the instability that existed at the NPA. In a context that had nothing
to do with Mr Nxasana’s condonation application, the High Court’s judgment itself
noted that it was common cause before it that since September 2007 the recent history
at the NPA “ha[d] been one of paralysing ins’cability”.53 The steps that Mr Nxasana
says he took are also nothing we were seeiﬁg for the first time in the explanatory
affidavit. For example, in the papers filed of record there is earlier mention of: the
fact that Mr Nxasana obtained an opinion from senior counsel regarding adverse
findings that had been made by the High Court and Supreme Court of Appeal against
Advocate Jiba, Advocate Mrwebi and Advocate Mzinyathi;** the appointment of
retired Justice Yacoob to enquire into the instability at the NPA; a memorandum

* High Court judgment above n 2 at para 19.
% Those findings were not made in the present proceedings,
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prepared by Mr Willie Hofimeyr addressed to the Minister for onward transmission to
former President Zuma in which the former President was being requested to
provisionally suspend Advocates Jiba, Mrwebi and Mzinyathi; and Mr Nxasana’s
requests for a meeting with former President Zuma for the former President to
intervene and address the instability at the NPA.

[58] The rest of what is dealt with under background is so uncontentious as not to

require any discussion.

[59] After the background the explanatory affidavit deals with the circumstances
that led to Mr Nxasana’s resignation, On this, correspondence that is
contemporaneous with those circumstances lends support to what Mr Nxasana is now
saying in the explanatory affidavit. To an extent the settlement agreement itself also
records why it was concluded; and that too is supportive of Mr Nxasana’s version in

the explanatory affidavit.

[60] The explanatory affidavit next asserts — and substantiates extensively — that the
settlement agreement was not concluded pursuant to a request by him to vacate office,
I need not say much on this because the High Court — relying on objective material
filed as part of the rule 53 record before the explanatory affidavit was deposed to -

found likewise.

[61] Inow revert to the High Court’s view that “it is generally accepted that when
evidence is presented so late in proceedings, there is the danger of it having been
tailored to fit a particular position”. Based on my analysis of the content of the
explanatory affidavit, it seems that the High Court applied the view without a close
look at the specific facts of this case. That is, it did not consider how real the danger
of the evidence having been tailored in a particular way was in this specific instance.
Looking at the content of the explanatory affidavit, I think very little in it was
surfacing for the first time when it was filed. And nothing in that is crucial to the

determination of the issues. That to me substantially minimises, if not eliminates, the
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danger identified by i:he High Court. Does that entitle us to interfere with the

High Court’s exercise of discretion in refusing condonation?

[62] The High Court’s decision entailed the exercise of a discretion “in the strict
sense” or “true sense” > As such, there are limited bases for us to interfere, In

National Coalition this Court held:

“A court of appeal is not entitled to set aside the decision of a lower court granting or
refusing a postponement in the exercise of its discretion merely because the court of
appeal would itself, on the facts of the matter before the lower court, have come to a
different conclusion; it may interfere only when it appeats that the lower court had
not exercised its discretion judicially, or that it had been influenced by wrong
principles or a misdirection on the facts, or that it had reached a decision which in the
result could not reasonably have been made by a court properly directing itself to all
the relevant facts and principles.”” (Footnotes omitted.)

[63] To my mind, the view that the High Court took on the danger of improperly
tailoring evidence amounts to a misdirection on the facts. That view was a central
pillar in the High Court’s exercise of discretion. The other pillar was the lack of a
satisfactory explanation for the delay. Because of the misdirection on the facts, one of
the central pillats collapses. I do not see how the edifice can remain standing on only
one of the central pillars. We are thus entitled to interfere with the exercise of
discretion. Must we then grant condonation and accept Mr Nxasana’s explanatory
affidavit?

¥ South Afican Broadcasring Corpordt!on Limited v National D:'récior of Public Prosecutions [2006] ZACC
1552007 (1) SA 523 (CC); 2007 (2) BCLR 167 (CC) at para 39.

% Trencon Construction (Pty) Ltd v Industrial Development Corporation of South Afvica Ltd [2015] ZACC 22;
2015 (5) 8A 245 (CC); 2015 (10) BCLR 1199 (CC) at paras 84-5.

*7 National Coalition for Gay and Lesbian Equality v Minister of Home Affairs [1999] ZACC 17, 2000 (2) SA 1
(CC); 2000 (1) BCLR 39 (CC) (National Coalition) at para 11. See also Mathale v Linda [2015] ZACC 28;
2016 (2) SA 461 (CC); 2016 (2) BCLR 226 (CC) at para 40, -
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[64] In Brummer this Court held that it is the interests of justice that are paramount
in considering whether to grant condonation. On how interests of Justice are

determined it held:

“The interests of justice must be determined by reference to all relevant factors,
including the nature of the relief sought, the extent and cause of the delay, the nature
and cause of any other defect in respect of which condonation is sought, the effect on
the administration of justice, prejudice and the reasonableness of the applicant's
explanation for the delay or defect.”® j

[65] Although the explanation for the delay is weak, Mr Nxasana is strong on the
merits of what the explanatory affidavit was — in the main — meant to achieve; that is
to counter former President Zuma’s version. For me, another factor that should count
in Mr Nxasana’s favour is that, although he delayed in filing his own affidavit, he
expended time and effort towards the compilation of a proper rule 53 record and was
thus of great assistance not only to Corruption Watch and FUL but to the Court as
well. Also, based on the possible relief that may be granted and the likely bases for it,
a lot i at stake in this matter; that tends to tilt the scales towards giving a hearing to
all disputants. Lastly, I am not aware of prejudice that was suffered by any party as a
result of the late filing of the explanatory affidavit; and none was suggested.

[66] On balance, I am of the view that condonation must be granted and the
explanatory affidavit accepted.

[67] Reverting to the declarations of invalidity, what must follow them?

** Brummer v Gorfil Brothers Investments (Ptp) Ltd [2000] ZACC 3; 2000 (2) 8A 837 (CC); 2000 (5) BCLR
465 (CC) at para 3. See also durecon South Africa (Pty) Ltd v City of Cape Town [2015] ZASCA 209; 2016 (2)
SA 199 (SCA) at para 17.
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Remedy
General

[68] There is no preordained consequence that must flow from our declarations of
constitutional invalidity. In terms of section 172(1)(b) of the Constitution we may
make any order that is just and equitable. The operative word “any” is as wide as it
sounds. Wide though this jurisdiction may be, it is not ynbridled. It is bounded by the
very two factors stipulated in the section — justice and equity. This Court has laid
down certain principles in charting the path on the exercise of discretion fo determine

a just and equitable remedy.

[69] What must be paramount in the relief that a court grants is the vindication of
the rule of law.”” The effect of that is the reversal of the consequences of the
constitutionally invalid conduct. Ordinarily, therefore, Mr Nxasana would have to
resume office as he did not vacate it validly, This is analogous to the situation of an
employee whose dismissal was invalid. About that this is what Zondo J , writing for

the majority, said in Steenkamp:

“An invalid dismissal is a nullity. In the eyes of the law an employee whose
dismissal is invalid has never been dismissed. If, in the eyes of the law, that
employee has never been dismissed, that means the employee remains in his or her
position in the employ of the employer. In this Court’s unanimous judgment in
Equity Aviation, Nkabinde J articulated the meaning of the word ‘reinstate’ in the
context of an employee who has been dismissed. She said, quite correctly, it means
to restore the employee to the position in which he or she was before he or she was
dismissed. With that meaning in mind, the question that arises in the context of an
employee whose dismissal has been found to be invalid and of no force and effect is:
how do you restore an employee to the position from which he or she has never been
moved? That a dismissal is invalid and of no force and effect means that it is not
recognised as having happened. 1t is different from a dismissal that is found to be

unfair because that dismissal is recognised in law as having occurred.

® See Electoral Commission v Mhlope [2016] ZACC 15; 2016 (5) SA 1 (CC); 2016 (8) BCLR 987 (CC)
{(Mhlope) at para 130,
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When a dismissal is held to be unfair, one can speak of a reinstatement but not in the
case of an invalid dismissal. This, therefore, means that an order of reinstatement is

not competent for an invalid dismissal.”™ (Footnotes omitted.)

[70] So, effectively this means Mr Nxasana remains in office as his vacation was
invalid. All that would have to happen is for him to physically resume office. A
natural consequence of that would be that Advocate Abrahams would have to be
removed from office. But must all that — that is the resumption and vacation of office

by Mr Nxasana and Advocate Abrahams, respectively — follow inexorably?

[71] The specific circumstances of a given matter may displace what should
ordinarily be the position. In Mhlope we granted just and equitable relief that was at
odds with extant statutory provisions. Mogoeng CJ held that the failure of the
Electoral Commission to compile a voters’ toll in accordance with section 16(3) of the
Electoral Act® was at “odds with the strictures riot just of the law but also of the rule
of la % When it came to a choice between scuppering the local government
elections which — in terms of the Constitution ~ had to take place by a certain date®
and upholding the strictures of the law, the Court opted for allowing the elections to
go ahead. .

[(72] What starkly helps illuminate why section 172(1)(b) of the Constitution
empowers us — where justice and equity dictate — to go so far as to make orders that

are at odds with extant law is the Canadian Supreme Court’s decision in the

0 Steenkamp v Edcon Limited [2016] ZACC 1; 2016 (3) SA 251 (CC); 2016 (3) BCLR 311 (CC) at
paras 189-90,

573 of 1998,
52 Mhlope above n 60 at para 122,
% Section 159 of the Constitution provides:

“(1) The term of a Municipal Council may be no more than five years, as determined by
national legislation,

{2) If a Municipal Council is dissolved in terms of national legislation, or when its term
expires, an election must be held within 90 days of the date that Council was
dissolved or its term expired.”
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Manitoba Language Rights case.** Without suggesting that — for a fact — this case
informed the inclusion of section 172(1)(b) in our Constitution, it typifies difficult
situations that explain why the framers of our Constitution may have decided to avert
those situations by expressly including this expansive remedial power. Very briefly
on this case, since 1890 the Manitoba Parliament had enacted statutes in English only.
This was contréry to constitutional prescripts that required that statutes be enacted in
English and French.,

[73] These statutes were held to be invalid, and this holding was made in 1985,
some 95 years from the time the Manitoba Parliament started enacting statutes in this
manner. Realising that a declaration of invalidity without more would take Manitoba
back 95 years in that the declaration would: undo post-1890 amendments to statutes
that continued to exist; revive pre-1890 statutes that had since been repealed; and
leave without statutory governance situations that were not provided for statutorily
before 1890 but which, as at the date of the judgment, plainly required statutory
govemance, the Canadian Supreme Court decided to deem the invalid statutes
temporarily valid for the period necessary for translation to French, re-enactment,
printing and publication. The Court held that not to do so would result in the Province
of Manitoba “being without a valid and effectual legal system for the present and
future”,* something that would be at odds with the rule of law, Crucially, without the
equivalent of section 172(1)(b), the Court was able to keep in force laws that were

uncohstitutional.

[74] The relevance of this is that — despite the fact that ordinarily the
Canadian Supreme Court had to invalidate all the affected laws without more — it did

not do so because justice, equity and indeed the rule of law dictated otherwise.

[75] The fact that in terms of our declaration of invalidity Mr Nxasana is'ordinarily
entitled to resume office is the default legal position. As such, it is a legal position

% Re Manitoba Language Rights [1985] 1 SCR 721; 1985 CanLll 33 (SCC).
% 1d at 758.
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like any other. It enjoys no place in law that is more special than — say — the
provisions of section 16(3) of the Electoral Act that were in issue in Mhlope. Despite
the continued validity of those provisions we were able — in the exercise of the

section 172(1)(b) power — to make an order at variance with them.

[76] Thave had the pleasure of reading the judgment by Jafia J (second judgment). I
disagree with much that it says., After some preliminary issues, it begins the debate by
making an observation that “Mhlope is not authority for the proposition that an
employee whose dismissal has been declared unlawful cannot resume his or her
duties”.* Of course, that is so. But that is not the end of the matter. The principle
laid down by Mhlope is that — if justice and equity so require — an existing law may
not be adhered to. Steenkamp does not purport to say anything at odds with that. It
merely declared what the legal position was. Statutory provisions do something
similar, if not more; they create law. We were able to depart from one of them in
Mhlope.

[77] Another basis of distinction by the second judgment is that “[i]t is true that the
order that was issued in Mhlope suspended the operation of a valid statute. But this
wag linked to the suspension of the declaration of invalidity.”®’ For present purposes,
what difference there may be between Mhlope and the present matter is not in
substance, but in context only. In the present matter as well there is a declaration of
invalidity. That is the invalidity of Mr Nxasana’s vacation of office. So, there is
nothing magical about the fact that we made a declaration of invalidity in Mhlope.
The ordinary effect of declaring Mr Nxasana’s vacation of office invalid is that — in
accordance with the Steenkamp principle — Mr Nxasana should return to office. As
was the case with section 16(3) of the Electoral Act in Mhlope, this principle is the
extant legal position that must ordinarily carry the day. The question is: why — as
seems to be the Suggestion of the second judgment — this principle must be immune
from the courts’ just and equitable remedial jurisdiction under section 172(1)(b) of the

% See [103),
57 See [1006].
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Constitution? Why must it inexorably take precedence? If in M#lope we were able to
hold that “the duty imposed by section 16(3) is . . . suspended for purposes of the
August 2016 elections”, here as well we should — by parity of reasoning — be able to

suspend the applicability of the Steenkamp principle.

(78] In paragraphs 106 to 112 the second judgment deals at length with
considerations that moved this Court to order susi)ensions of declarations of invalidity
in other matters and concludes that nothing similarly calls for that in the instant
matter. I will not deal with all those considerations. Suffice it to say that in those
other matters this Court never purported to lay down a closed list of scenarios where
suspensions of declarations of invalidity may be ordered. The question is whether ~ in
a given case — justice and equity demand that a suspension be made. Here they do.
After all, although Mr Nxasana may have been under pressure from former

President Zuma, he did not cover himself in glory; more on this later.

[79] My reasoning in this regard applies equally to the second judgment’s
discussion of section 12 of the NPA Act.* The second judgment underscores the
detail that has to be followed for an NDPP to be removed from office. I do not see
why — in comparison to section 16(3) of the Electoral Act — section 12 of the NPA Act
must have some superior force. The second judgment emphasises the fact that
section 12 is “umbilically linked to the Constitution”. So is section 16(3) of the
Electoral Act which — as we held in Mhlope — helps enhance so important a
fundamental right as the right to vote; a righf that is at the centre of constitutional
democracy. Indeed, in our constitutional dispensation universal adult suffrage is one
of the founding values.”” Thus the detail of the procedure that would normally have to
be followed in order to remove Mr Nxasana from office makes no difference. The
point of substance is that — like section 16(3) of the Electoral Act — section 12 of the
NPA Act may be departed from if justice and equity so dictate.

5 See [113] to [119].
% The founding values are quoted in 1 16 above.
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[80] Ido not see the inconsistency adverted to in the second judgment with regard to
reliance on section 12 in declaring the vacation of office invalid but then not holding
that it is obligatory, in terms of section 12, that Mr Nxasana be allowed to return to
office.” The very quotation by the second judgment from Mhiope™ also says that the
Electoral Commission had not complied with section 16(3). Therefore, section 1.6(3)
was central to the ultimate declaration of constitutional invalidity. And yet the Court
then proceeded to suspend the duty imposed by section 16(3). Where then is the
distinction that the second judgment seeks to draw in this regard? Ido not see it.

[81] TIn sum, I see no legal impediment to us being able to depart from what is
nothing other than another legal position; that is the default legal position that
Mr Nxasana should ordinarily resume office. Likewise, I do not understand why we
should treat section 12 of the NPA Act differently from how we treated section 16(3)
of the Electoral Act. The question is: must we depart from the default position
dictated by the Steenkamp principle and the process imposed by section 12?7 What is
just and equitable for us to order? That is what I next deal with both with regard to

Mr Nxasana and Advocate Abrahams.

The resumption of office by My Nxasana or retention of Advocate Abrahams

[82] In the context of the just and equitable remedial Jurisdiction provided for in
section 8 of the Promotion of Administrative Justice Act,”” Moseneke DCJ said that
“at a broader level [the purpose of a public law remedy is] to entrench the rule of

law”,™ In the same context in Bengwenyama Froneman J said:

“I do not think that it is wise to attempt to lay ddwn inflexible rules in determining a
just and equitable remedy following upon a declaration of unlawful administrative

™ See [116].
™ See [105],

™ 3 0f 2000. I think the pronouncements in that context are of relevance to the just and equitable jurisdiction
provided for in section 172(1)(b) of the Constitution.

7 Steenkamp N.O, v Provincial Tender Board of the Eastern Cape [2006] ZACC 16; 2007 (3) SA 121 (CC);
2007 (3) BCLR 300 (CC) at para 29,
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action. The rule of Jaw must never be relinquished, but the circumstances of each

case must be examined”™

[83]1 Where necessary, the aim is to ameliorate the effect of vindicating the rule of
law.” 1 say where necessary because in a given case it may be fitting to undo —
without any qualification — everything that came about as a result of the
constitutionally invalid conduct. But the injustice and inequity arising from this may
be of such a nature that the reversal — if there must be any at all — may have to be
tempered. That is a judgment call to be made based on the circumstances of each

case.

(84] In the present context, relief that upholds the rule of law is one that helps
vindicate the integrity of the office of NDPP.,

[85] Starting with Mr Nxasana, T have a lot of sympathy for him for the undue,
persistent pressure to which he was subjected. That said, based on the objectively
available material, quite early on he indicated his preparedness to vacate office if he
was paid in full for the remainder of his contract period. He made this demand when
he had been in office for just over a year. And yet he wanted a payout for close to
nine years, the unexpired period of his term of office, Some of the objectively
available material was obtained by Corruption Watch and FUL from Mr Nxasana
himself when he was assisting them with collating the rule 53 record. Effectively,
although Mr Nxasana strongly protested his fitness for office, he was saying he was
willing to be bought out of office if the price was right. As much as I sympaﬂ{use with
him, I do not think that is the reaction expected of the holder of so high and uﬁportant
an office; an office the holder of which — if she or he is truly independent — is required

to display utmost fortitude and resilience. Even allowing for human frailties —

because Mr Nxasana is human after all — I do not think the holder of the office of

™ Bengwenyama aboven 33 at para 85,
& Compare id at para 85,
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NDPP could not reasonably have been expected to do better. His conduct leads me to

the conclusion that a just and equitable remedy is not to allow him to return to office.

[86] I do agree with the second judgment that exercising our just and equitable

remedial jurisdiction in a manner that perpetuates non-compliance with an extant legal
position must be done only in exceptional circumstances.” Tn Mhlope what was
exceptional was the fact that, but for not adhering to the strictures of section 16(3) of
the Electoral Act, there would have been a constitutional crisis. In Black Sash if we
had not allowed the constitutionally invalid contract to continue, the vulnerable social
grant beneficiaries would have been subjected to untold hardship and suffering. What
we held in these two judgments does not create a closed list of what constitutes
exceptional circumstances. What is exceptional depends on the circumstances of each
case. The question is whether there are exceptiouél circumstances in the present case.

There are, and here is why.

[87] The narrative at the beginning of this judgment shows that for a few years there
has been instability in the office of NDPP and, therefore, in the leadership of the NPA.
With the court challenge to Mr Nxasana’s vacation of office and to the appointment of
Advocate Abrahams, that instability persists to this day. The second judgment accepts
— correctly — that it would be open to the President to initiate an inquiry into whether
the manner in which Mr Nxasana vacated office renders him unfit to hold office. The
order proposed by the second judgment thus has the effect of prolonging the
instability. Surely, this unending instability is deleterious not only te the office of
NDPP, but also to the NPA as an institution. The sooner it is brought to an end the
better. In the circumstances, an order that has the potential of prolonging the
instability cannot be just and equitable. To all this, we must add the fact that Mr

Nxasana is not free of blame in the manner in which he vacated office.

™ Compare Black Sash Trust v Minister of Social Development [2017] ZACC 8; 2017 (3) SA 335 (CC); 2017
(5) BCLR 543 (CC) at para 51.

MSON124
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[88] Inext deal with Advocate Abrahams. As a point of departure, I must state that
not a single party has suggested that he is not a fit and proper person to hold office.
As was to be expected, Advocate Abrahams seeks to get a lot of mileage out of this.
Must he succeed? I think not. Former President Zuma appointed Advocate Abrahams
following his unlawful removal of Mr Nxasana. That removal was an abuse of power,
Advocate Abrahams benefitted from this abuse of power. It maiters not that he may
have been unaware of the abuse of power; the rule of law dictates that the office of
NDPP be cleansed of all the ills that have plagued it for the past few years.- It would
therefore not be just and equitable to retain him as this would not vindicate the rule of

law,

Suspension of declarations of invalidity

(89] With the exception of the declaration in respect of section 12(6), I see no need
to suspend any of the declarations of invalidity. The extent to which we are
confirming the High Court’s declaration of the invalidity of section 12(6) means the
power to suspend an NDPP or Deputy NDPP will continue in existence. Like the
High Court, I think it proper to afford Parliament an opportunity to address the
shortcomings we have identified with the section. I consider a period of 18 months’

suspension to be sufficient for this purpose,

[90] It would be downright inconsonant with the requirement of the independence
of the NDPP, the Deputy NDPP and the NPA itself for the power to suspend to
continue in its present form. For that reason, there is a need for relief that is to apply
in the interim. I will not reinvent the wheel. Iam happy with the interim relief crafted
by the High Court. I set it out in the order below.

Repayment of the sum of R10 240 767.47

[91] Mr Nxasana did not resist paying back the money. And nobody has suggested

that he should not. Paying back the money is a natural consequence of the declaration
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of constitutional invalidity of the manner in which Mr Nxasana vacated office. I can

conceive of no reason why repayment should not follow as a matter of course.

Appointment of a new NDPP

[92] A new NDPP must be appointed expeditiously. But the President must be
afforded a sufficient opportunity to make a suitable choice. I think 90 days is enough
for that purpose.

Decisions taken and acts performed by Advocate Abrakams
[93] The setting aside of decisions taken, and acts performed, by Advocate
Abrahams in his official capacity before his appointment was declared invalid would
result in untold dislocation in the work of the NPA and in the administration of justice

itself. It is thus necessary to appropriately preserve these acts and decisions,

Order

[94] The following order is made:

L. The appeal of Mr Mxolisi Sandile Oliver Nxasana is upheld with no
order as to costs and Mr Nxasana’s explanatory affidavit is admitted.

2. The costs order by the High Court of South Africa, Gauteng Division,
Pretoria (High Court) against Mr Nxasana is set aside.

3. The appeal of Advocate Shaun Kevin Abrahams and the National
Prosecuting Authority is dismissed with costs, including the costs of two
counsel,

4. The declaration by the High Court that the settlement agreement dated
14 May 2015 concluded by former President Jacob Gedleyihlekisa
Zuma, the Minister of Justice and Correctional Services and
Mr Nxasana in terms of which Mr Nxasana’s incumbency as the
National Director of Public Prosecutions (NDPP) was terminated is

constitutionally invalid is confirmed.
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The declaration by the High Court that the termination of the
appointment of Mr Nxasana as NDPP is constitutionally invalid is
contfirmed. |

The declaration by the High Court that the decision to authorise
payment to Mr Nxasana of an amount of R17 357 233 in terms of the

settlement agreement is invalid is confirmed.

The declaration by the High Court that the appointment of |

Advocate Abrahams as NDPP is invalid is confirmed.
The declaration by the High Court that section 12(4) of the
National Prosecuting Authority Act 32 of 1998 is constitutionally
invalid is confirmed.
The declaration by the High Court that section 12(6) of the
National Prosecuting Authority Act is cons.titutionélly invalid is
confirmed only to the extent that the section permits the suspension by
the President of an NDPP and Deputy NDPP for an indefinite period and
without pay.
The declaration of constitutional invalidity contained in paragraph 9 is
suspended for 18 months to afford Parliament an opportunity to correct
the constitutional defect.
During the period of suspension— _
(8 @ section 12(6)(aA) will be inserted after scction 12(6)(a) and it
will read:
“The period from the time the President suspends the
National Director or a Deputy National Director to the
time she or he decides whether or not to remove the
National Director or Deputy National Director shall not
exceed six months.”
(b)  section 12(6)(e) will read (with insertions and deletions reflected
within square brackets):
“The National Director or Deputy National Director

provisionally suspended from office shall receive, for the
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duration of such suspensmn, [ﬂﬁ—BﬂlﬁF}'—GPSHEh—S-&lafy—as

ident] [her or his full

sala‘ry]."l
Should Parliament fail to correct the defect referred to in paragraph 9

within the period of suspension, the interim relief contained in
paragraph 11 will become final, |

Decisions taken, and acts performed, by Advocate Abrahams in his
official capacity will not be invalid by reason only of the declaration of
invalidity contained in paragraph 7.

Mr Nxasana is ordered to repay forthwith to the state the sum of
R10 240 767.47.

The President is directed to appoint an NDPP within 90 days of the date
of this order,

The President, the Minister of Justice and Correctional Services and the
National Prosecuting Authority are ordered to pay all costs in this Court
that are additional to the costs referred to in paragraph 3, such costs to

include the costs of two counsel,

JAFTA J (Petse AJ concurring):

[95] I have had the benefit of reading the judgment prepared by my colleague

Madlanga J (first judgment). I agree with it except in relation to one issue. This is

whether Mr Nxasana is entitled to resume office in light of the declaration that his

purported removal was invalid. The first judgment concludes that he may not. I think

he may.,

[96] With reference to the decision of this Court in Steenkamp, the first judgment

accepts that the termination of Mr Nxasana’s appointment as the NDPP amounted to a



FP-JGZ-963

MSON129
JAFTAJ

nullity in the eyes of the law.” This principle was laid down by this Court in
Steenkamp where the Court emphasised that a dismissal which is invalid has no force

and effect, hence it constitutes a nullity.

[97] While accepting this to be the position in law, the first judgment holds that it

does not follow that Mt Nxasana may resume office.”® I disagree.

[98] Steenkamp tells us that an invalid termination of employment or a dismissal has

no legal consequences, In that matter Zondo J declared:

“An invalid dismissal is a nullity,. In the eyes of the law an employee whose
dismissal is invalid has never been dismissed. If, in the eyes of the law, that
employee has never been dismissed, that means the employee remains in his or her

position in the employ of the employer.”™

(99] Therefore on the authority of Steenkamp, Mr Nxasana must be taken as if he
has not been dismissed. Since his dismissal constituted a nullity, there is nothing
further that may be done in the law to vindicate his rights arising from the dismissal.
Steenkamp informs us that, in his case, reinstatement is incompetent because he
cannot be reinstated to the post he had not vacated in terms of the law.® This means -

that he may report for duty and resume his work.

[100] To make the position clearer, Zondo J held that it is open to an employee
whose dismissal has been declared invalid on the ground of unlawfulness to report for
work. And if the employer prevents him or her from entering the workplace, the
employee may seck a court interdict against the employer. In this regard, our

colleague said:

7 Steenkamp above n 60,

™ See [85].

™ Steenkamp above n 60 at para 189.
%1d,
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“An employee whose dismissal is invalid does not need an order of reinstatement, If
an employee whose dismissal has been declared invalid is prevented by the employer
from entering the workplace to perform his or her duties, in an appropriate case a
court may interdict the employer from preventing the employee from reporting for
duty or from performing his or her duties. The court may also make an order that the
employer must allow the employee into the workplace for purposes of performing his

or her duties,”®!

[101] It is apparent from the judgment of the High Court that that Court proceeded
from a mistaken premise with regard to whether Mr Nxasana could resume office.
The High Court assumed that his reinstatement was necessary; hence it withheld such
an order on the ground that it was not just and equitable to reinstate him. The High
Court stated: '

“Mr Nxasana too must have known that the bargain he was driving was unlawful.
First, he was after all the NDPP and the NPA Act was ultimately his charge to
administer; he must have been aware of its provisions. Second, his attorney’s letter
of 10 December 2014 shows that he was fully aware of the specific statutory
provisions relative to his financial entitlement; but that he thought that since he was
not offering voluntarily to resign, they did not apply to him — the President was at
large to agree to his demands, Third, he abided the decision of the Court as to the
lawfulness of the settlement agreement, but was not prepated to say when the

realisation of potential unlawfulness came to him,

As in the case of the President, the inference that Mr Nxasana knew that he was
acting without lawful foundation is sirong; but, as in the case of the President, for the
reason there articulated, we prefer to conclude that he was reckless as to whether his

demand was lawful,

In our view, given then the conduct of these two main protagonists and the
considerations to which we have alluded, it is not just and equitable, in the context of
vindicating the Constitution and the independence of the prosecutorial authority, to

reinstate Mr Nxasana,”®

3 1d at para 192.
* High Court Jjudgment above n 2at paras 92-4.
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[102] It does not appear from the record that the decision of this Court in. Steenkamp
was brought to the attention of the High Court. Being bound by Steenkamp, it is
doubtful that the High Court could have reached the same conclusion if it was aware
of this decision. But more importantly, the order issued by the High Court did not
prevent Mr Nxasana from resuming office. Strictly speaking and on the authority of
Steenkamp, he could have repotted for duty after the High Court had delivered its
judgment because the order did not preclude him from going back to work. All that
was said by the High Court was that it was not just and equitable to reinstate him. But
now we know that reinstatement was not competent in his case. Therefore, what was

stated by the High Court was irrelevant.

- Mhlope

[103] The question that arises is whether the decision of this Court in Mhlope® alters
the legal position in Steenkamp. 1 think not. Mhlope is not authority for the
proposition that an employee whose dismissal has been declared unlawful cannot

resume his or her duties. That case dealt with a wholly different situation.

[104] In Mhlope the Electoral Commission had failed to comply with a statutory
injunction, emanating from a provision that was held to be valid, The issue that arose
for determination was the consequential effect of the order that declared unlawful the
Electoral Commission’s non-compliance with a valid statute. Declaring the
Commission’s failure to comply with a statute to be invalid there could put at risk the

entire municipal elections which were scheduled to take place in August 2016.

[105] To avoid this Mogoeng CJ opted for suspending the declaration of invalidity.
The Chief Justice said:

“[t]he invalidation of the unlawful conduct, which is essentiaily the production of the
national common voters’ roll that does not comply with section 16(3) of the

8 Mklopé above n 59,
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Electoral Act, has to be suspended. That suspension will allow the IEC to proceed
with the August 2016 elections and correct the defective voters® roll. The suspension
of the declaration of invalidity of the IEC’s unlawful conduct has the effect of
suspending the duty imposed by section 16(3) on the IEC which, if carried out, there
would have been no invalidity. The non-compliance with section 16(3) is in ferms of
our just and equitable remedial powers condoned and the duty imposed by
section 16(3) is itself suspended for purposes of the August 2016 elections.”®*

[106] It is true that the order that was issued in Mhnlope suspended the operation of a
valid statute. But this was linked to the suspension of the declaration of mvalidity,
This much is clear from the statement cited above. It is usual for this Court to declare
an Act of Patliament to be invalid and suspend the declaration for a fixed pericd so as
to avoid serious disruptions in the administration of government. The effect of the

suspension is that an invalid Act continues to operate as if it is valid.*

[107] However, the need to suspend the operation of the declaration of invalidity
arises where its immediate coming into effect would result in serious dislocation or
disruption in the administration of government. It is the interests of justice and good
government which may justify an order that allows an invalid law or conduct to

continue to operate for a fixed period of time. %

[108] That this Court has the power to direct that an unconstitutional law will
continue to have force and effect is beyond question. But that power may be
exercised where there are compelling reasons to allow an invalid law or conduct to

continue to operate.”” In Ferreira this Court held:

% Id at para 133.

% Sec Ramuhovhi v President of the Republic of South Afiica [2017] ZACC 41: 2018 (2) SA 1 (CC); 2018 (2)
BCLR 217 (CC); Estate Agency Affairs Board v Auction Alliance {(Pty} Ltd [2014] ZACC 3; 2014 (3) SA 106
(CC); 2014 (4) BCLR 373 (CC).

* S v Bhulwana; §'v Gwadiso [1995] ZACC 11;1996 (1) SA 388 (CC); 1995 (12) BCLR 1579 (CC) at para 30.

¥ Mvumvy v Minister of Transport [2011] ZACC 1; 2011 (2) SA 473 (CC); 2011 (5) BCLR 488 (CC) at paras
45-6,
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“The provisions of section 98(5) and (6), which permit the Court to control the result
of a declaration of invalidity, may give temporary validity to the law and require it to
be obeyed and persons who ignore statutes that are inconsistent with the Constitution

may not always be able to do so with impunity.”*

[109] In the present matter, unlike in Mhlope, the declaration of invalidity pertaining
to the termination of Mr Nxasana’s appointment is not suspended. Iis operation is
immediate. Nor are the requirements of section 12 of the NPA Act suspended. The
reasons that compelled this Court in Mhlope to suspend section 16(3) of the Electoral
Act do not exist here. In fact, no interests of good government have been put forward
which warrant the suspension of section 12 of the NPA Act. It is doubtful that such
suspension may be granted without suspending the declaration of invalidity. on the
termination of the appointment and also condoning the unlawful termination as was

done in Mhlope.

[110] But more importantly, the suspended operation of thé relevant statutory
provision in Mhlope did not adversely affect the rights of anybody. On the contrary,
that suspension enabled millions of voters to exercise their right to vote. The
suspension of section 12 of the NPA Act here will hugely prejudice Mr Nxasana by
depriving him of the protections that the section affords, in circumstances where there
are no reasons compelling suspension of the operation of a valid legislation. Instead,
compliance with section 12 will enhance the promotion of the independence of the
NPA and the rule of law.

[111] In Mhlope the suspension of the relevant statutory provision was justified by
the exceptional circumstances of that case which were regarded as crying out “for an
exceptional solution or remedy to avoid a constitutional crisis” ® Similarly, in
Black Sash the emphasis was placed on the extraordinary circumstances of the case

and the catastrophic consequences which could likely have ensued if the

8 Ferreira sbove n 38 at para 28.
* Mhlope above n 59 at para 137,
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unconstitutional contract was not allowed to continue to operate. Cautioning that the

just and equitable remedial power has limits, Froneman J said:

“It is necessary to be frank about this exercise of our just and equitable remedial
- power. That power is not limitless and the order we make today pushes at its limits,
Ii is a remedy that must be used with caution and only in exceptional circumstances,
But these are exceptional circumstances. Everyone stressed that what has happened
has precipitated a national crisis. The order we make imposes constitutional
obligations on the parties that they did not in advance agree to. Buf we are not
ordering something that they could not themselves have agreed to under our
supervision had an application been brought earlier, either by seeking an extension to

the contract that would have expired on 31 March 2017 or by entering into a new
238

one
[112] In the present matter there is nothing exceptional or eitraordinary that warrants
the exercise of rémedial power to prevent Mr Nxasana from returning to office. His
return will certainly not cause a constitutional crisis or a national crisis. On the
contrary, his return would enable the President to follow the law if he wishes to
remove him from office and Parliament would play a vital part in that process. And
more importantly, preventing Mr Nxasana from returning to office without
pronouncing on the validity of his employment contract would not only be unfair to
him but would also create considerable uncertainty on the parties’ rights and interests.
This would be antithetical to the rule of law which promotes certainty,

Section 12

[113] As the first judgment rightly points out, the purpose of the NPA Act is to
protect both the institutional independence of the NPA and the individual
~ independence of its head.” The section seeks to achieve this by securing the tenure of

office, conditions of service and other benefits.”” But more importantly, section 12(5)

* Black Sash above n 76 at para 51,
* See [217 to [23].
% Section 12 must be read with section 18 of the NPA Act.
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provides that the National Director “shall not be suspended or removed from office
except in accordance with the provisions of subsections (6), (7) and (8)”. This is a
potent guarantee, deliberately chosen by Parliament to protect the NPA’s
independence as required by section 179(4) of the Constitution.”

[114] Therefore, section 12 of the NPA Act is umbilically linked to the
Constitution.”* Suspending its operation will not only subvert its purpose but will also
be antithetical to the Constitution, Such suspension would be in conflict with the
principle of separation of powers and a number of provisions in the Constitution.
These include: section 1(c) which lists the supremacy of the Constitution and the rule
of law; section 2 which underscores the supremacy of the Constitution by declaring
that conduct inconsistent with it is invalid; section 165(2) that guarantees the
independence of courts “subject to the Constitution and the law, which they must

apply impartially and without fear, favour or prejudice”; and section 179(4).

[115] Ironically the first judgment impliedly suspends the operation of section 12(5)
of the NPA Act in order to uphold the rule of law and secure “the integrity of the
office of the NDPP”.” [ disagree. Suspending the operation of section 12(5) would
attain quite the opposite. It would mean that Mr Nxasana’s removal from office is
achieved by means other than the procedure prescribed in section 12. In that
procedure Parliament plays a crucial part. Barring a voluntary resignation, there can
be no removal of a National Director from office without the involvement and
approval of Parliament. A suspension of the operation of section 12 will be
subversive of this and will deny Parliament the role it had constitutionally given to
itself. -

% Section 179(4) reads;

“National legislation rust ensure that the prosecuting authority exercises its functions without
fear, favour or prejudice”,

* Department of Land Affairs v Goedgelegen Tropical Fruits (Pty) Ltd IZOO’?] ZACC 12; 2007 (6) SA 199
(CC); 2007 (10) BCLR 1027 (CC) at para 53.

% See [75].
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(116] What is more, this denial will occur in circumstances where the Court would
have taken inconsistent positions in relation to the enforcement of section 12. It will
be recalled that non-compliance with section 12 was the basis on which the decision
that the termination of Mr Nxasana’s appointment and the settlement agreement were
invalid, rested. The section could not be enforced and at the same time its operation
be suspended. This is another factor that distinguishes the present matter from
Mhlope, |

[117] In terms of section 12(6) and (7), a National Director may be removed from
office only if one of the grounds' listed in subsection (6)(a) has been established,
following an inquiry into the matter. In this case no enguiry was held and no
pronouncement on the existence of one or more of the listed grounds has been made.
This underlines the inappropriateness of holding that Mr Nxasana should not retutn to
office. Allowing him to return to office, does not mean that he is fit to continue in the
office. If his involvement in the conclusion of the settlement agreement renders him
unfit, it would be open to the President to invoke section 12(6) and establish an
enquiry to determine his fitness to hold office. Tf found unsuitable, Parliament will be

involved in his removal.

[118] This approach- does not do violence to the will of Parliament and the continuing
operation of section 12 of the NPA Act. It is also consonant with the various
provisions of the Constitution mentioned eatlier. Adbering to the requirements of
section 12 will, in addition, be consistent with the jurisprudence of this Court, In

Steenkamp Zondo J remarked:

“When a dismissal is held to be unfair, one can speak of a reinstatement but not in the
case of an invalid dismissal. This, therefore, means that an order of reinstatement is
not competent for an invalid dismissal. An employer against which an order has been,
made declaring the dismissal of its employees invalid and who does not want to
continue or cannot continue the employment telationship with those employees will
have to dismiss them again. Otherwise, they temain in its employ and, if they tender
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their services or are prevented by the employer from performing their duties, will be

entitled to payment of their remuneration,”®

[119] The instability in the NPA relied in the first judgment for not following section
12 does not constitute a constitutional or national crises referred to in Mhlope and
Black Sash. Nor was that instability created by compliance with that section. In fact
the section may be employed in manner that would not result in the immediate return
to office by Mr Nxasana. The President may suspend him before such return if the

requirements of the section are met. And if he is to blame for instability, the enquiry

'envisaged in the section is the best forum to determine this issue. But significantly,

the instability is not the reason advanced for preventing his return to office.

[120] Section 16(3) which was considered in Mhlope did not provide a remedy for
non-compliance. Yet section 12 prescribes in mandatory terms what should be done
in order to remove a National Director from office. Therefore there is no need to

search for a remedy in section 172(1) of the Constitution.

[121] Of course section 12 need not be followed in the case of Advocate Abrahams.
This is because the section guarantees the independence of and secures the tenure of a
National Director whose appointment was valid. Since Advocate Abrahams’

appointment was invalid, the protections of section 12 are not available to him.

Just and equitable order

[122] I need briefly to address this issue because the conclusion reached in the first
judgment is based on it.”” The concept of a just and equitable order is sourced from

section 172(1)(b) of the Constitution.”® It is an equivalent of section 98 of the interim

% Steenkamp above n 60 at para 190.
T See [71] 10 [72].
* Section 172(1)(b) provides:
1) ‘When deciding a constitutional matter within its power, a coutt-—

(b) may make any order that is just and equitable, including—
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Constitution mentioned in the statement from Ferreira quoted in paragraph 108. The
power to make a just and equitable order does not mean that a court may do whatever
it thinks would be just and fair in a given case, even if the order it intends issuing is
unlawful or inconsistent with the Constitution. On the contrary, the just and equitable
order must be lawful and consistent with the Constitution. This is because when a

court makes such order, it exercises judicial power.

[123] In terms of section 165(2) of the Constitution courts are entrusted to exercise
judicial power subject to the Constitution and the law. Moreover, courts are duty
bound to apply the law “impartially and without fear, favour or prejudice”. A court
may not evade the obligation to apply a valid statute by simply suspending its
operation and do so only for purposes of a particular order in circumstances where that

statute was enforced.

[124] The just and equitable remedial powers enable a court to regulate consequences
flowing from the declaration of invalidity. Section 172(1)(b) of the Constitution
mandates courts to preserve temporarily the validity of a law or conduct that is
inconsistent with the Constitution. This is usually achieved by suspending the
declaration of invalidity. A suspension becomes necessary only if the information
placed before the court shows that the interests of justice or good government warrant
that the invalid law or conduct should continue to operate, pending the correction of

the defect by the competent authority.”

[125] A just and equitable order must invariably be fair to all persons affected by it.

A court that contemplates issuing such order must weigh up the interests of all parties

i an order limiting the retrospective effect of the declaration of invalidity; and

(ii) an order syspending the declaration of invalidity for any period and on any
conditions, to allow the competent authority to correct the defect,”

% Mvumvu above n 87 at paras 44-6,
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to a litigation and where appropriate, the balancing must also take into account the

interests of the public,'®

[126] In the context of employment this Court has outlined the requirements of a just

and equitable order in these terms:

“In the context of our Constitution, ‘appropriate relief’ must be construed
purposively, and in the light of section 172(1)(b), which empowers the Court, in
constitutional matters, to make ‘any order that is just and equitable’. Thus construed,
appropriate relief must be fair and just in the circumstances of the particular case.
Indeed, it can hardly be said that relief that is unfair or unjust is appropriate. As
Ackermann J remarked, in the context of a comparable provision in the interim
Constitution, ‘[i]t can hardly be argued, in my view, that relief which was unjust to
others could, where other available relief meoting the complainant’s needs did not
suffer from this defect, be classified as appropriate’. Appropriateness, therefore, in
the context of our Constitution, imporl;s the elements of justice and fairness.

Fairness requires a consideration of the interests of all those who might be affected by
the order. In the context of employment, this will requite a consideration not only of
the interests of the prospective employee but also the interests of the employer, In
other cases, the interests of the community may have to be taken into consideration.
In the context of unfair discrimination, the interests of the community lie in the
recognition of the inherent dignity of every human being and the elimination of all
forms of discrimination.”*"

[127] What emerges from this statement is that the interests of all those who may be
affected by the just and equitable order must be consideredlin the process leading up
to issuing the order. Furthermore, an order that is unjust to some must be avoided
where the interests of the party secking relief niay be met by an alternative order, In

this matter, to require Mr Nxasana to pay back the money in circumstances where he

' dlipay Consolidated Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd v Chief Executive Officer of the South Afvican Social
Security Agency (No 2) [2014] ZACC 12; 2014 (4) SA 179 (CC); 2014 (6) BCLR 641 (CC) and Miflennium
Waste Management (Pty} Ltd v Chairperson of the Tender Board: Limpapo Province [2007] ZASCA 165; 2008
(2) SA 481 SCA at paras 22-9,

"' Hoffinann v South Afvican Airways [2000] ZACC 17; 2001 (1) SA 1; [2000] 12 BLLR 1365 (CC) at patas
423,
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is not allowed to go back to office, cannot be fair to him. This is especially so in light
of the fact that the former President was hell-bent to remove him from office at any
price and had put Mr Nxasana under intolerable pressure to leave. As the first
Jjudgment points out, the former President used stick and on other occasions carrot in

an attempt to get rid of him.

[128] As mentioned, allowing Mr Nxasana to go back to his job would also meet the
objects of the Constitution and the rule of law. If his involvement in the impugned
settlement agreement brought his fitness to hold office into question, he may be

removed in terms of section 12 of the NPA Act,

[129] For all these reasons, I do not support the conclusion that Mr Nxasana ought
not to resume office, following the setting aside of the invalid and unlawful

termination of his appointment.
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I, the undersigned
JACOB GEDLEYIHLEKISA ZUMA

Do hereby make oath and state that

1. | am the President of the Republic of South Africa (‘the President’), duly
elected in terms of section 87 of the Constitution of the Republic of South
Africa, 108 of 1996 ("the Constitution"); first respondent, and with my address
of service as care of the State Attomey, SALU building, 316 Thabo Sehume
Street Pretoria.

1.1 The facts contained herein are, unless the context otherwise indicates
within my own personal knowledge and are to the best of my
knowledge and belief both true and correct.

1.2  Any legal submissions that are made by me are made on the advice of

my legal representatives, which advice | believe to be comect.

2. | have read the affidavits of DAVID LEWIS and NICOLE FRITZ in support of
the application and wish to respond thereto in a manner outiined hereunder.

3. The broad structure of this affidavit will deal with:
31  the nature of the application and the relief sought;

32 summary of the answer,

/ e
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3.3 an outline of the legislative framewotk

34  the developments leading to the inquiry and settement agreement of
Mr Nxasana (“Nxasana”), the third respondent;

35 the appointment of Mr Abrahams (*Abrahams"), the fourth respondent;

3.6  the answer to each and every averment in the first applicant's founding
affidavit insofar as it relates to me;

3.7 the answer to each and every averment in the second applicant's

founding affidavit also as they rélate to me; and

38 the answer to each and every averment in the supplementary affidavit

that calis for my answer, \o

THE NATURE OF THE APPLICATION AND THE RELIEF SOUGHT

4.

This is an application in which the applicants are seeking infer ajia,
4.1 to review and set aside:

4.1.1 the seltlement agreement entered between the first, second and
third respondents dated 14 May 2015 and the monetary
consequences a}ising therefrom;

4.1.2 the appointment of the fourth respondent as the National
Director of Public Prosecutions (“the NDPP");

42  todeclare thatthe:

3|Page _4.40

A
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4.2.1 third respondent is obliged 1o refund the State, money received
in terms of the settlement agreement;

4.2.2 fist respondent may not appoint, suspend or remove the NDPP
in terms of section 96(2)(b) of the Constitution; and

4.2.3 second respondent is responsibie for decisions relating to the
appointment, suspension or removal of the NDPP for as long as
the first respondent hoids office.

SUMMARY OF THE ANSWER
Settlement Agreement: prayer 1.1

5. Inso far as the applicants seek to challenge the setttement agreement, entered
into between Nxasana and the second respondent in which inter alia, Nxasana
vacated his office as the National Director of Public Prosecution. The challenge
is bad in law in that: '

51 lexercised my constitutional power in terms of sections 179(1)(a) of the
Constitution and 12(8) of the National Prosecuting Authority Act, 32 of
1998 ("the NPA Act’) in the appointment and the vacating of office of
Nxasana.

52 | appointed Nxasana as the NDPP on 30 August 2013 under
Presidential Minute No. 205, a copy of the minute is attached and
marked *JS1°.

0

30
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| informed Nxasana, on 4 July 2014, that after consideration of all the
evidence before me, | took the_decision to institute an inquiry in terms
of Section 12(6)(a) of the NPA Act. * .

| established an inquin; into the fitness of Nxasana fo hold office of the
NDPP, on 5 February 2015, by notice in the Govemment Gazette, No.
38463, Notice 102 of 2015. The Rules for the inquiry were published in
the Government Gazette No. 38491, Notice 155 of 2015. The inquiry
was to sit on 11 May 2015, when | took the decision to temminate it.

During the period, August 2013 to 9 May 2015, Nxasana and | had
various one on one verbal discussions regarding the discord that
existed in the National Prosecuting Authority, especially as between

Nxasana and the senior managemeﬁt

The discord was so pronounced, that the senior management was
divided and the National Prosecuting Authority was destabilised and
haemorrhaging. The looming inquiry info the fitness to hold office of
Nxasana also contributed to this discord. The inquiry offered some of
the senior management an additional platform to question the authority

of Nxasana.

Section 12(8) of the NPA Act provides that the NDPP may request to
vacate his or her office for any reason which the President deems
sufficient. Nxasana made the raqr:mt fo me to vacate his office,
Nxasana made it plain .that the discord in the NPA largely rested on the
senior management not sharing his strategic views and the disciplinary

5|Page
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steps or criminal charges which he intended taking against certain of
the senior managers. This posited intractable disputes paralysing the
proper functioning of the NPA.

i, therefore, deemed the reasons provided by Nxasana, together with
the possibility of a protracted litigation and the holding of the inquiry not
to be in the best interest of the National Prosecuting Autherity, Nxasana
and the Republic of South Africa, to be sufficient to allow Nxasana to

vacate office.

It was plain to me that Nxasana was no longer willing to continue as the

NDPP and the only outstanding issue remained the financial aspects

refating to his vacating his office.

There were extensive negotiations relating to the financial tems with
which he would be agreeable to leave office having made the request
to do so. | was informed that there were offers made to Nxasana and
counter offers made by him around the amount he contended he was
entitled to.

Subsequently, | was informed that the paries had teached an
agreement around the money to be paid to Nxasana which rendered
the holding of the inquiry unnecessary. The settlement agreement was
therefore the culmination of these events.

With Nxasana having made it crystal clear 1o me that he no longer
wishes to continue as the NDPP, | am advised that it was within my

power to allow Nxasana to vacate office having been satisfied that it
6|Page
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was in the interests of the NPA, Nxasana and the Republic for him to
do so.

5.13 1t is particularly surprising that the applicants find no fault with the
appointment of Nxasana by me and want to contend that he is still to be
regarded as the NDPP'. | appointed Nxasana as the NDPF.*. It was still
during the period that | am perceived to be in “jecpardy of prosecution®.
If that appointment remains untainted there is no reason that any other
appeintment of an NDPP by me would suffer a challenge on that

ground.
Decision to authorise: prayer 1.2

5.14 The applicants also seek to impugn the decision to authorise the
payment to Nxasana of an amount of R17 357 233.00. This process
was undertaken by the fifth and‘seve,nm respondents. | am .advised that
the respondents who are competent to speak on the matter will do so
when they file their answering affidavits.

5.15 In so far as the Court may find that the payment to Nxasana of the
aforesaid amount was unlawful, | intend to abide by the decision of the
Court. | need to emphasise however, that the challenge relating to the
settlement payment is severable from Nxasana'’s vacating office as an
NDPP,

5.16 | am advised that the Court having been safisfied that Nxasana made
the request fo vacate his office; for-reasons which [ found sound and

sufficient, and his intimation that he has no desire to continue as an
7|Page
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NDPP satisfies the first leg of. section 12(8) of the NPA .Act. To the
extent that the payment to Nxasana is found unlawful, all that needs to
happen is that he must be paid in terms of the provigions of section
12(8)(c)Xi) of the NPA Act (meaning that he would be deemed to have
retired in terms of section 16(4) of the Public Service Act, and that he
shall be entitled to such pension as he would have been entitied to
under the pension law applicable to him had he been so retired).

Appointment of the fourth respondent: prayer 1.3

@ 5.17 The applicants want the appointment of the fourth respondent as NDPP
to be reviewed, declared invalid and set aside. The argument offered
for this retief, is that there was no vacancy. This argument is bad. As a
matter of fact and law, | am advised, that Nxasana had vacated his
office as from 4 June 2015 having made the request to vacate his
office; for reasons which | deemed sufficient and in interests of the
Republic. That he may have received payment inconsistent with the
provisions of the NPA Act, does not render his vacating office as

O invalid.

518 | am advised that the applicants do not question the fitness or propriety
of the fourth respondent to hol& office as the NDPP. For t‘his reason |
need not address the considerations | took account of in the
appointment of the fourth respondent as the NDPP.

Nxasana still as the NDPP: prayer 1.4
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5.19 The applicants argue that the Court must declare that Nxasana to still
be holding the office of the NDPP. The argument draws its strength
from an inference that a challenge on the decision to allow Nxasana to
vacate offica is unlawful, holds in logic, that Nxasana would be
reinstated as the NDPP. This is incorrect. Apart from maintaining that
Nxasana relinquished office in accordance with law, he has made it
very plain that he does not int;nd to serve as an NDPP. ‘!'o have him
degclared as still holding the office of an NDPP would be bad both in law
and fact. | am also informed that a Court cannot order somebody to do
that which he plainly does not want to do.

520 | am advised further that such a declarator would offend against the
rule of law in so far as it would conflate the separation of powers. The
constitutional power to appoint an NDPP remains that of Executive.
Further legal argument would be made at the hearing of this
application,

Third respondent to refund the money he received: prayer 1.5 |

521 | abide the decision of this Honourable Court in relation to whether

Nxasana is to refund the money he received in terms of the settlement

agreement.
Section 96(2)(b) of the Constitution argument: prayer 1.6

522 The applicants seek a declarator that | may not appoint, suspend or
remove an NDPP. The argument stems from a contention that | am in

jeopardy of prosecution and therefore wouid be conflicied in making
' g|Page
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5.23

5.24

5.25

5.26

FP-JGZ-986 MSON151 (532)

such an appointment. There is no substance to this argument. As a
matter of fact, there are no pending criminal charges against me.

i am advised that the only Iitigétion_pending in the oourts.mlatee toa
decision by a former acting NDPP Mr Mpshe, to discontinue the
prosecution against me. | am advised that there is no basis for the
applicants to contend that that application will be successful and if
successful would mean that the NDPP would not make his or her

decision without fear favour or prejudice as the law requires.

The applicants’ contention in this regard has embedded in it a wanton
and veiled accusation that | would act improperly or whoever the NOPP
is would equally act improperly. There is no evidence to support what is

merely an unfounded suspicion by the applicants.

There is no reason to believe that I will, in the event that actual conflict
of interest is shown 1o exist, act despite the existence of such a conflict,
in the exercise of my constitutional power. The applicants are inviting
the Court to make a determination on a matter entirely academic and in
anticipation that any confiict of interest might in the future be shown to
exist.

in any event, the nature of the relief which is sought in retation to this
aspect straddles the separation of powers doctrine — which is part of
the rule of law. The applieénts are Inviting the Court to make

pronouncements in areas which the Constitution has left exclusively for .

\p
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»
[}

the exercise by the Executive. | am told further legal argument will be
made at the hearing of this application.

Deputy President to appoint an NDPP: prayer 1.7

5.27

5.28

5.29

In so far as the applicants seek a declarator that for as long as | am the
President the power for the appointment the NDPP should be exercised
by the Deputy President. | am advised that the Constitution is very clear
as to what must happen if | or the President, is absent from the
Republic or otherwise unable- to fulfil the duties of President that

various members of the Cabinet would perform those duties.

Without conceding that there is any basis for this declarator, the
applicants do not make a case why a Minister designated by me cannot
act as President; a Minister designated by the other members of
Cabinet; the Speaker, until the National Assembly designates one of its
other members to perform the duties of President — all of which the
Constitution authorises should be options available and are
constitutionally authorised.

| am advised that the Court has no power to suspend the operation of a
constitutional provision which is what the applicants seek by way of a
declarator under this reiief.

Assignment of Presidentiaf powers: prayer 1.8

row
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530 The applicants want the Court to direct me to assign my constitutional
power to the Deputy President. They say this must happen in terms of
section 98 of the Constitution. This is a power the President has to
assign to a Cabinet Member any power or function of another member
who is absent from office or-is unable to exercise their power or
perform that function.

5.31 | repeat what | have said in relation to prayer 1.7 above.

@
6. | now turn to deal with the Legislative framework.
THE LEGISLATIVE FRAMEWORK
7. The applicants contend that | am conflicted regard being had to section
86(2)(b) of the Constitution which provides for conduct of cabinet members and
deputy minister and states that:
C @)

()  use helr position or any information entrusted 1o them, to envich themsetves or
improperly benefit any other person.” (own emphasis)

foo
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The reading of section 86(2)(b) of the Constitution addresses an entirely
different subject. it concerns itself with members of cabinet pursuing private
interests which are in conflict with their constitutional obligations. The
appointment of the NDPP is a performance of a constitutional duty wh;ch is not
pursued of any private interest. The Constitution further reposes independence
of the office of the NDPP who is to exercise the power to prosecute or not fo
prosecute without fear, favour or prejudice.

There is no suggestion that an NDPP would take a decision tainted purely by
who would have appointed him or her. Should there be evidence to support that
contention the proper relief would be 1o set aside the decision by that NDPP on
those grounds. To ask the Court in an anticipatory fashion to do so would
offend against the doctrine of the separation of powers. Further legal argument
would be advanced at the hearing of this application.

Regarding the institutional autonomy of the NPA which the Constitution
provides in section 179(1)(a) for a single national prosecuting authority in the
Republic, structured in terms of an Act of Parliament and consisting of a NDPP,
who is the head of the prosecuting duthority and who is appointed by the

L]

President, as head of the national executive.

Lo
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The NPA Act regulates matters incidental to the establishment of a single
national prosecuting authority and is the Act of Parliament referred to in section
179 of the Constitution and the following sections bear reference:

11.1  Section 10 provides that the President must, in accordance with section
179 of the Constitution, appoint the National Director;

11.2 There is no basis for the Cour} to remove the constitutional power of
the President. What the Court is entitled to do, if a good case is made
out, is o set aside any ‘conduct of the President that is inconsistent with
the Constitution and which is invalid. The applicants have not made out
any case that | have performed any act which is inconsistent with the

Constitution.

11.3 ) am advised that the question of tenure of an NDPP is regulated by
section 12 which in the refevant part reads:

“(1)  The National Director shall hold office for a non-renewable term of 10 years,
but must vacate his or her office on aftaining the age of 65 years.

(5  The Naional Director or a Deputy National Director shall not be suspended o
removed from office except in accordance with the provisions of subsections

(6): (7) and (8).
@ ()
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had been so relired.” (own emphasis S

11.4 As | have earfier indicated | allowed Nxasana to vacate office on the

strength of these statutory provisions.

THE DEVELOPMENTS LEADING TO THE INQUIRY AND SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENT OF NXASANA

C 12. The following developments led to the settlement agreement which took place
over a period of 18 months and were, in the main, verbal discussions held
primarily between myself and Nxasana, which were not minuted or
documented. The developments leading to the inquiry took place over a period
of 12 months and are documented and wilf also be dealt with more fully by the
second respondent who, in terms of section 179(6) of the Constitution, ps

exercises final responsibiiity over the National Prosecuting Authority. These
. ‘/

A SLT

events are:
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12.2

12.3

124
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After various media reports, on the 19 June 2014, | addressed a letter
to Nxasana, requeshng information regarding certain incidents infer
alia, criminal charges during Decemnber 1985; outstanding complaints
before the KwaZulu Natai Law Society; the amest during October 2012;
the assault charges proffered against him in the 1980's; the complaint
laid with the Public Service Commission by one Prince Mokotedi and
the appropriateness of the statements made to the media regarding

intemal communications'.

I received a response from Nxasana on 21 June 2014 providing me
with the information requested. However, Nxasana prefaced the reply
by stating that he may not be in a position to have a clear recoliection
of events due to the lapse of time, in some instances being more than

28 years, and the time period provided for to fumish a response®.

Subsequent to the response received and considering all the events
that has transpired together with the media reports®, on 4 July 2014, {
caused fo be served on Nxasana a nolice of the institution of an

inquiry®.

Nxasana then instituted legal proceedings in the High Court of South
Africa, Gauteng Division, Pretoria si'gned on 8 August 2014 in which |
was named as the ﬁr;t respondent. In these court papers, Nxasana
sought various refief on an urgent basis, the main being to interdict me

' This letter is contained in the Record in terms of prayer 5 ("Record 1°) on pages 2 to 3.
2 This letter Is contalned in Record 1 on pages 4 1o 13

? These media reporis are contained in Record 1 on pages 84 to 126

* This notice is contained in Record 1 on page 14

1B8fPage
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12.5

12.6

12.7
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from suspending him®. This matter was settled out of court between the
parties.

On § February 2015, | caused a nofice to be published in the
Government Gazette notice 102 of 2015, which established the inquiry
into the fitness of Nxasana. In this notice | appointed Advocate Cassim
SC as the chairperson and Advocatd Nkosi-Thomas SC and Advocate
Mdiadla as the additional members. | also provided the terms of

reference for the inquiry®.

On 20 February 2015, the chairperson of the inquiry issued rules for the
inqulry in Government Gazette notice 155 of 2015. The Code of
Conduct for members of the National Prosecuting Authority under
section 22(6) of the NPA Act as provided for in Government Gazetle

notice 1257 of 2010 was also provided’.

It was during the end of 2014 and the beginning of 2015, that | again
had discussions with Nxasana and | had discussions with the Minister.
It was during these discussions that Nxasana fequested to vacate his
position as head of the National Prosecuting Authority, citing the
continued discord with the senior members of the National Prosecuting
Authority and the inquiry as the primary reasons. | deemed the reasons

\o

ad

to be sufficient and accepted the request. This request was not reduced
to writing.
* The court papers are contained in Record 1 on pages 15 to 52
® This notice is contained in Record 1 on pages 53 to 80
? These notices are contsined in Record 1 on pages 61 to 82
17|Page ‘¢_
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12.8

12.9

12.10
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| caused the termination of the inquiry as a settlement had been
reached with Nxasana.

The settlement agreement® was signed on 9 and 14 May 2015 between
Nxasana and the Minister. The terms of which are contained in
annexure "CW12" to the founding affidavit.

The payment arising from the settiement agreement was handled by
the Department of Justice and the National Prosecuting Authority in
accordance with the Public Finance Management Act, 1999. | am
advised that various formula was provided by the National Treasury in
relation to the amount to be paid to Nxasana and the method of such
payment. After many sessions of nggotlations between my office and
Nxasana, Nxasana reqpested the payment of the entire penod

THE APPOINTMENT OF ABRAHAMS

13. The events which led to the appointment of Abrahams are as follows:

Q

13.1

13.2

After the vacation of office of Nxasana, | appointed Dr Silas Ramaite as
acting National Director in terms of section 11(2)(b) of the NPA Act.

The Department of Justice and Constitutional Development, at the
request of the Minister, prepared a‘report regarding possible persons
within the NPA who it deemed fit and proper to be appointed to the
vacant office of National Director.

® This is contained in the Record in terms of prayer six ("Record 2°) on pages 2 t0 5.

0
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13.3 | was provided with a submission from the Minister, in relation to the
appointment of Abrahams to the position of National Director®. | then
held ah interview with Abrahams together with Mr Hulley. The interview
guide notes form the minute of this interview™,

13.4 | considered all the information before me, and appointed Abrahams as
the NDPP. The Presidential Minute no. 162 provides for this
appointment as of 1 July 2015",

14, Mercifully the applicants do not contend that the fourth respondent is not it for
office.

THE CONFLICT OF INTEREST IN TERMS OF SECTION 96(2) OF THE
CONSTITUTION

15. The applicants cannot point to any conduct or action on my part, which is
inconsistent with the duties of my office nor am | exposing myseif to any
situation involving the risk of a conflict between my official respon:e.ibiliﬁes and
my private interests.

16.1  The power | exercised is power | derive directly from the Constitution.
Therefore acting in terms of that power can never be an act which is
inconsistent with the duties of my office.

® This Is contained in the Record in terms of prayer seven {("Record 37) on pages 3 to 10.
1 This is contained in Record 3 on pages 100 to 102
"' This is contained in Record 3 page 1
19|Page

PO ¢

D

0



$65

15.2

15.3
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15.5
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The power | exercised in accepting the request from Nxasana | deyive
directly from national legislation. Therefore acting in terms of that power
can never be an act which is inconsistent with the duties of my office.

There is also no basis to state that | have any conflict of interest in
exercising those powers. In fact the applicants have not provided this
Honourable Courst with any objective facts to show that a conflict of
interest exists.

Therefore section 96(2) of the Constitution does not arise.

| reiterate that the applicants find no fault with the appointment of
Nxasana by me and want to contend that he is stil to be regarded as
the NDFP. | appointed Nxasana as the NDPP. It was still during the
period that | am perceived to be in “jeopardy of prosecution®. if that
appointment remains untainted thére is no reason that any other
appointment of an NDPP by me would suffer a challenge on that

ground.

16. 1 now tum to deai with such allegations in the affidavits which | am able to

respond to.

AD FOUNDING AFFIDAVIT OF THE FIRST APPLICANT

17. AD PARAGRAPHS 1& 2

20|Page
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18.

19.

21,
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17.1 | admit the conlents of these paragraphs.

17.2 ldenymatlhefactsaré both true and correct.

AD PARAGRAPHS 3 - 12
18.1 | admit the content of these paragraphs.
18.2 | deny that | "purporiedly” appointed Abrahams.

18.3 | am also advised that the position of CEO of the National Prosecuting

Authority does not exist.

]

AD PARAGRAPH 13

19.1 | note the content of this paragraph.

AD PARAGRAPH 14 10

20.1 | note the content of this paragraph.

AD PARAGRAPHS 15~ 16.4

21.1 | admit the content of these paragraphs.

2t|Page
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22.
O

23.
O

24,
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21.2  With regards to the suspension of Nxasana, | requested reasons as to
why he should not be suspended which ultimately resulted in Nxasana
instituting proceedings against me in the Gauteng High Court, Pretoria.

AD PARAGRAPH 16

22.1 | have explained above, the events ‘which led to the conclusion of the
seitliement agreement. '

AD PARAGRAPHS 17 - 17.2
23.1 | deny the content of these paragraphs.

23.2 [ aver that Nxasana's vacating of office was in accordance with the
empowering provisions contained in section 12(8) of the NPA Act. This 9
provides for a consensual vacating of office of the NDPP, where

sufficient reasons exist as was the case in this instance.

23.3 = The vacating of office of Nxasana in terms of the NPA Act cannot affect
the independence of the Naticnal Prosecuting Authorily.

23.4 | repeat what| have stated above.

AD PARAGRAPHS 17.3-17.3.2

24.1 | deny the content of these paragraphs.
' 22|Page
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25,
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| aver that:

24.21 | am not ‘in Jeopardy of proseculion’ as alleged by the
applicants. The Concise Oxford Dictionary, 8% Edition, 1995
defines jeopardy as “n 1 danger, esp. of severe harm or loss. 2
Law danger resulting from being on trial for a criminel offence.”

24.2.2 The applicants have not and cannot show that | am in danger
as a result from being on trial for any criminal offence. The
liigation referred to, which was instituted in 2009, does not

place me "in jeopardy of prosscution.”

24.2.3 The appointment of an NDPP by the President in terms of a 0
constitutionally enshrined power and legislation cannot be

inconsistent with the Constitution.

24.2.4 | repeat what | have stated above,

AD PARAGRAPHS 18 -18.2

25.1

25.2

| note the content of this paragraph.

| abide the decision of this Honourable Court in relation to the payment
of the R17 357 233.

23|Page 4-
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26. AD PARAGRAPH 19
26.1 | deny the content of this paragraph.
26.2 |averthat

26.2.1 Nxasana requesied to vacate his office, which request |
accepted in accordance with section 12(8) of the NPA Act.

26.2.2 Therefore a vacancy was created which was filled by
Abrahams after the corect procedures were followed.

26.3 1repeat whatl have stated above.

27. AD PARAGRAPHS 20 - 20.2
27.1 | deny the content of these paragraphs. 19

27.2 |repeat what | have stated above.

28. AD PARAGRAPHS 21 -21.2.2 ’ .

28.1 | note the content of these paragraphs.

29. AD PARAGRAPHS 22-221

20.1 | note the content of these paragraphs.

24|Page
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31.

32.
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20.2 | again aver that the vacating of office of Nxasana does not affect the
independence of the National Prosecuting Authority.

AD PARAGRAPH 23
30.1 [ deny the content of this paragraph.
30.2 |averthat

30.2.1 the removal of Nxasana was in accordance with section 12(8)

of the NPA Act.
30.2.2 Mr Selebi was prosecuted and convicted.

30.2.3 Mr Pikoli, through consensual agreement between the parties,
vacated his office, afler being cleared by the Ginwala
Commission. .

AD PARAGRAPHS 24 - 26

31.1  1note the content of these paragraphs.

AD PARAGRAPH 27

321 1admit the content of this parag.ra'ph.

f
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32.2 | aver that the instability in 2007 in the office of the NDPP and the
National Prosecuting Authority hes escalated during the period 2013 to
2015 which were reasons | found compeliing to aliow Nxasana to

vacate office.

33. AD PARAGRAPHS 28 - 31
33.1 | deny the content of these paragraphs.

O 332 | am advised further that these allegations are irrelevant to the

appointment of Nxasana and Abrahams.

34. AD PARAGRAPH 32

34.1  ladmit the content of this paragraph.

34.2 I re-emphasise that the applicants seem to see no fault with me having

appointed Nxasana as an NDPP.

35. AD PARAGRAPHS 33 - 41

L]

35.1 | admit the content of these paragraphs to the extent that it accords
with the annexures referred therein and with what | have stated above.

AT
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38. AD PARAGRAPHS 42-425

36.1

36.2

| admit the content of these paragraphs to the extent it accords with the

settlement agreement.

I wish to point out that the seitlement agreement also makes reference,

in the preface, to some of the reasons which existed and which reasons

| deemed sufficient to accept Nxasana's request to vacate his office. |

provide them for ease of reference: ] 5

"WHEREAS

1.

On 4 July 2044, the President informed the Applicant {National Director of

Public Prosecutions herein afier refarred to as the NDPP) of his decision to \o
institute an inquiry In ferms of section 12 (6) (a){iv) of the National Prosecuting
Authority Act 32 of 1998 (the Act).

On 30 July 2014, the President gave Nofice of Intention fo suspend the NDPP
in terms of section 12 (6} (a) of the Act.

The NDPP brought an urgent application in the North Gauleng High Court fo
interdict the President from suspending him until the President has provided
the NDPP with the requested parficularity of the allegations levelied against
him, and which aflegations were to constitute the subject matier of the Inquiry.

27|Page
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T Theparﬁesataﬁ:ﬂycognizanlofﬂaamslshnpﬁcaﬁonsfm@gﬁgmdfm
conducting the inquiry which resources may be better applied given the
challenges our country faces.” (own emphasis)

37. AD PARAGRAPH 43

O 37.1 | admit that | appointed Abrahams into the position vacated by

Nxasana.

38. AD PARAGRAPH 44

38.1 | deny that | am disqualified in terms of section 96(2)(b) of the
Constitution to exercise my constitutional power of appointment,

suspension and removal of the NDPP.

39. AD PARAGRAPHS 44.1 -44.8

39.1 | admit the content of these paragraphs to the exient that it accords
with the judgments in the Democratic Alliance v Acting NDPP 2012 (3)
SA 486 (SCA) and NDPP v Zurr}a 2009 (2) SA 277 (SCA).

28|Page
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40.

41.
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AD PARAGRAPHS 44.9 - 44.10

40.1 | submit that this matter is currently sub judicae.

AD PARAGRAPHS 45 - 45.2

41.1  The content of these paragraphs are denied.

41.2 | submit that

41.21

41.2.2

4123

4124

4125

There is a constitutional doctrine that one is inpocent until
proven guiity. I-am neither charged nor am | found to be guilty
by any court of law.

To justify these allegations, the applicants state that there is a
potential that 1 may be in jeopardy of prosecution in respect of
which there apparently remains a case against me on the
merits. This is speculative at best.

The 2009 litigation deals with the review and sstting aside of
the decision to discontinue the prosecution;

To speculate as Io its outcome and then to deprive me of my
constitutional rights would be to hold me guilty without a finding

of a court of law.

| have provided the detailed approach adopted when sourcing
persons for the appointment of the NDPP and | hold that this

process provides for transparency and accountability.
29|Page
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41.2.6 |invite the applicants to fumish evidence that any NDPP having
been appointed in accordance with the provisions of the NPA
Adandw%meconsﬁmﬁonalpawertoperhnn his or her duty
without fear, favour or prejudice, wil act contrary to this
constitutional duly and.will do so purely because | made the
appointment to a person whd is otherwise fit and proper to hold
such office.

42. AD PARAGRAPHS 46 - 47.12.3

421

42.2

423

42.4

I note the content of these paragraphs.

| received the letter dated 12 September 2014 from Nxasana and was
informed about the recommendations relating to Advocates Jiba,
Mrwebi and Mzinyathi.

I through the Minister referred all these matters relaﬁt:lg to these
advocates to the NDPP to apprise mewhe_th_erlhefachsreg_ardingmeir
conlinued employment warrants consideration of their suspension. This
exercise was conducted by the current NDPP, Abrahams.

it seemed to me, once | have received ail the information that it is
prudent to await the outcome of the application by the General Council
of the Bar to have these advocates struck from the roll of advacates,
The Court would have determined their fitness 10 hold office. | would
clearly be informed by the outcome of those pending applications.

/s
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| believe my decision not to interfers pending judicial pronouncement
on the fitness of otherwise of these advocates, to be rational given the
constitutional protection enjoyed by the NPA.

AD PARAGRAPH 48

43.1

I note the content of this paragraph.

AD PARAGRAPH 49

441

442

| deny that | have failed to act in relation advocate Jiba, Mrwebi and
Mzinyathi. | am advised that whether. an advocate is fit and proper to be
an advocate is a matter eminently within the remit of the courts. No
doubt the Deputy National Directors hold that office on the strength that
their fitness to be advocates is above reproach. There would be no
need to hold an inquiry to probe the same issues of whether the
advocates are fit to hold offices as Deputy NDPP's,

There is aiso a possibility of conflicting outcomes with the inquiry
ﬁndingtheadvocatestobeﬁttoholdoﬂiceandacourtoflawholding
differently that they are unfit to be advocates. Similarly, the court having
found them to be fit to hold ofﬁoe..should not be contradicted by an
inquiry finding that they not. This should be avoided. .
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47,
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AD PARAGRAPH 50

451 | deny that Nxasana's vacating of office Iis unlawful and
unconstitutiona).

45.2  refer to what I have stated above.

AD PARAGRAPHS 51 - 66.3.2

46.1 | admit the content of these paragraphs to the extent that it accords

with the Constitution and the NPA Act.

AD PARAGRAPH 58

471 | agree that NDPP cannot vacate office pursuant to a golden
handshake,

47.2 | deny that the NPA Act does not provide for a consensual removal
from office if all the jurisdictional requirements are met.

47.3  Section 12(8) specifically allows for a consensual vacating of office of
the NDPP,

47.4 The applicants clearly understand ‘a consensual Temovaf as indicated
in paragraph 55.3 of the founding affidavit Here the applicants aver
that an NDPP can be removed from office ‘by agrsement’.
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48. AD PARAGRAPHS 57 - 57.2
48.1  ldeny the content of these paragraphs.

48.2 | admit that | established an inquiry into the fitness to hold office of
Nxasana which inquiry | terminated prior to any finding being made.

48.3 It was a matter to be determined by the inquiry if the allegations were
shown to be comrect and the decision was made by the inquiry itself.
This did not come it pass when the settlement agreement was

concluded.

49. AD PARAGRAPH 57.3
49.1 | deny the content of this paragraph.

49.2 | reiterate that the intractable discord that was in the NPA was bleeding
the institution and denanded some resolution. Nxasana had indicated
unequivocally that he would no longer wanted to continue as an NDFP
and the only iten? for negotiation remained the financial consequence of
him vacating office.

50. AD PARAGRAPHS §7.4 -57.5

50.1  1deny the content of these paragraphs,

L]
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50.2 | deny that the vacating of office of Nxasana is ullra vires and violates
the independence of the National Pr;:wewting Authority. | have already
addressed the reason‘sforallowing Nxasana fo vacate office as an
NDPP. 1 already pointed out that | acted in terms of the powers | have
as spelt out in section 12(8)(a) of the NPA Act.

50.3 | admit that the financial payment following Nxasana vacating office
may be open fo judicial review.

AD PARAGRAPHS 58 - 58.2
§$1.1 [ deny the content of these paragraphs.

51.2 [ repeat what | have stated above.

AD PARAGRAPHS 59 - 59.2

52.1 1 admit that objective facts relating to a conflict of interest must be
piaced before this Honourable Court in order to establish whether there
indeed a conflict of interest as provided for in section 96(2){b) of the
Constitution. '

52.2 | aver thet the applicants have not provided any objective facts to
establish a conflict of interest.

{o
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52.3 The exercise of a constitutional and fegislative power, for the President
to remove an NDPP where all the jurisdictional elements are met, is not |
an ‘act’ as contemplated by section 96(2)(b) of the Constitution.

524 | am advised that thefe is no need to prove ‘actual manipulation’. What
the applicants need to show though is an ‘actual conflict of interest’.
Such an ‘actuat conflict of interest’ has not been shown on the papers.
What the applicants appear to do is to anticipate a future event;
namely; that the application to review and set aside the de;:ision of the
former acting NDPP, will be successful and that | would appoint an
NDPP whose decision will be manipulated in my favour. This is (0

particularly remote where the NDPP enjoys statutory independence.

52.6 If the argument by the applicants was good, | would be disentitled o
appoint any Judge in this country who may potentially have to preside
over my matter if | ever get to be prosecuted. No such relief is being
sought and | am advised for correct reasons.

53. AD PARAGRAPHS 60-60.3
53.1 | deny the content of these paragraphs.
53.2 The applicants are relying on speculation at best.

53.3 repeat what | have siated regarding this aspect earlier.
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54. AD PARAGRAPH 61

85.

54.1

| note the content of this paragraph.

AD PARAGRAPH 62

55.1

85.2

§5.3

The settlement agreement has at least two aspects to it. The one
relates to Nxasana vacating office as an NOPP and the financial
consequences of him vacating the office of an NDPP. The first aspect, |
am advised, was lawful having considered the request by Nxasana to
vacate office, the reasons behind the request being cogent, compelling
and rational; and me allowing him 1o vacate office.

Regarding the financial consequences of him vacating office, | repeat
the averments contained herein and shall abide the finding of the Court

in this regard.

These two elements o the setflement agreement should not be
conflated.

AD PARAGRAPHS 63 - 64

58.1

I note the content of these paragraphs.

\o
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§7. AD PARAGRAPH 65

§7.1 | admit that Abrahams is a fit and proper person to hold office as the
NDPP.

58. AD PARAGRAPH 66 -66.4
58.1 1 deny the content of these paragraphs.
O 58.2 laverthat:

58.2.1 the vacating of office of Nxasana was in accordance with
section 12 of the NPA Act and this necessitated a filling of this

vacant post.

§8.2.2 Abrahams was appointed in accordance with section 179(1) of \0
the Constitution.

58.3 [repeatwhat | have stated above.

59. AD PARAGRAPHS 67 - 68
59.1  |deny the content of these paragraphs.

59.2 | averthat the applicants have not lald a basis for any conflict of interest
in terms of section 96(2) of the Constitution,

% 37|{Page ﬂ
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59.3 The applicants admission that there is instability in the National
Prosecuting Authority clearly shows an appreciation of the difficulties
Nxasana and | faced to try to resolve the instabifity not only for the
National Prosecuting Authority but also to contain its effect on the
country at large.

80. AD PARAGRAPHS 69 -70

60.1 | deny that the applicants are entitled to the relief as set out in the
notice of motion.

AD FOUNDING AFFIDAVIT OF THE SECOND APPLICANT
61. AD PARAGRAPHS 1-3
61.1 | admit the content of these paragraphs.

61.2 | aver that the deponent has not stated anywhere in the affidavit that
the facts contained in her affidavit are to the best of her knowledge both
true and correct.

62. AD PARAGRAPH4

62.1 | note the content of this paragraph.

* 3B|Page
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63.

65.

FP-JGZ-1015 MSON180 (561 )

AD PARAGRAPHS 5 -9

63.1 | note the content of these paragraphs.

AD PARAGRAPH 10

64.1 | deny that | have ‘perverted the rules’ or that | ‘unlawfully induced
Nxasana to vacate his office. | invite the applicants to produce evidence
of “threat of dismissal® made to Nxasana.

64.2 | am advised that applicants are enjoined by the Rules of Court to
fumish this type of evidence in their founding affidavit.

64.3 | refer to what | have stated above.

AD PARAGRAPH 11

685.1 | note the content of this paragraph.

AD PARAGRAPHS 12-13.5

66.1 [ have no knowledge of the content of these paragraphs but have noted
the content of the annexures as they'stand. .

v{Page '&/
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67. AD PARAGRAPH 14

67.1 | deny that the second applicant is entitied to the relief in its notice of
motion.

AD SUPPLEMENTARY AFFIDAVIT

68.

69.

AD PARAGRAPHS 1 -4
68.1 | admit the content of these paragraphs.

68.2 |deny that the facts are both true and correct.

AD PARAGRAPH 5
69.1 I deny the content of this paragraph.

68.2 | aver that the | have the power to shorten the period referred to in 10
section 12(8)(b), which period was duly shortened, It would not have
been in the interest of the workings of the NPA, with the disharmony
prevailing between Nxasana and se;aior management to re::juira the six
months' notice. To the‘ contrary, there was every reason to waive that
notice period to enable the smooth functioning of the NPA.

40|Page %
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70.

71

72,

73.

FP-JGZ-1017 MSON182 (563)

AD PARAGRAPHS 6 - 6.2

70.1 | have stated that due to the fact that my engagements with Nxasana
were verbal they were not documented or minuted. Therefore no
documentary evidence exists for me to produce in terms of the Rule 53

record.

70.2 The NPA Act requires me to deem whether the reasons are sufficient to
accept Nxasana's request to vacete his office. These reasons are

summarised in the preamble to the settlement agreement.

AD PARAGRAPH 7

71.1 I note the content of this paragraph. 0

AD PARAGRAPH 8
721 I have provided the record as is required in terms of Rule 53,

72.2 | have stated under oath that the verbal discussions which | had with Mr
Nxasana were not documented or minuted and therefore | am unable to

produce same.

AD PARAGRAPH 9

73.1 | deny the content of this paragraph.

. 7
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75.

76.

78.

FP-JGZ-1018 MSON183 (564 )

AD PARAGRAPHS 10 - 10.6

74,1 | have no knowledge of the content of these paragraphs.

AD PARAGRAPHS 11 - 12

75.1 | note the content of these paragraphs.

AD PARAGRAPHS 13 - 14

76.1 | deny the content of these paragraphs and repeat what | have stated

above.

AD PARAGRAPH 18

77.1 1 deny that the applicants are entitled to the relief as prayed for.

AD PARAGRAPH 16 10

78.1 I nole the content of this paragraph. .

42|Page



FP-JGZ-1019 MSON184 (565)

588

WHEREFORE | pray that this application be dismissed with costs, which costs
include the cost of two counsel.

<BEPONENT

O

THUS SIGNED AND SWORN to before me at _7 2<70R on this
the EL day of February 2016, by the deponent, he having acknowledged that he
knows and understands the contents of this affidavit, that he has no objection to
taking the prescribed oath and considers same to be binding on his conscience.
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Office of the

Prosecutions

CONFIDENTIAL MINISTERIAL MEMORANDUM

TM MASUTHA, MP (ADV)
MINISTER OF JUSTICE AND CORRECTIONAL SERVICES

Yiclorla & Griffiths
Mxenge Bullding
123 Westlaks Avenue

FROM

MR WA HOFMEYR
ACTING NATIONAL DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC PROSECUTIONS

{%9?;:* sumseer

SUSPENSION OF DEPUTY NATIONAL DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC
PROSECUTIONS AND DIRECTORS OF PUBLIC PROSECUTIONS
IN TERMS OF SECTION 12(8) OF NATIONAL PROSECUTING

AUTHORITY ACT, 1998

}/Bag X752
Prefosia REF NO. | 4/28HIH{NDPP)
oo
Tel: 012) 845-6000 || paye |18 JULY 2044
Fax: {012) 804 9529
WWW.NPO.GOV.I0 10
A. BACKGROUND |INFORMATION & PURPOSE OF
MEMORANDUM
h 1. On 22 ODecember 2010, the Prasident appointed Adv
Nomgcobo Jiba as Deputy National Direclor of Public
C Prosecutions in the Office of the National Director of Public
Progecutions (Naticnal Direclor) with effect from 22 December
2010 {(Annexure "A”).
2, On 28 Oclober 2011, tha President appointed Adv Sthembiso
Lawrence Mrwebl as & Special Director of Public Prosecutions
to head the Specialised Commercial Crime Unit in the Office of 30

the National Director, with effect frem 1 November 2011
(Annexurss “B" and “C".

Jusﬁainwsad‘lywlhdpmbmhh&udomcndmﬁw’)_”

L le
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]

3. Former President Thabo Mbeki appointed Adv Sibongile Mzinyathi as
Director of Public Prosecutions, with effect from 1 December 2003

{Annexure “D"), "

4. Following recent High Court and Supreme Court of Appeal decisions,

wherein the conduct of the above officials were severely criticiaed, the
National Progsecuting Authority (NPA), via the Office of the State
Attorney, brisfed Senior Counsal to fumish a lega! opinion as to whether,
among othare, diaclpunalysbpsoughitobetakananahulthe
abovementioned senior members of the NPA. The legal opinion was
fumished to the State Attomey on 7 July 2014 (Annexure “E"),

8. After careful consideration and taking into account the findings of the

High Court and the Supreme Court oprpenr;tlwvalueaandpﬂncbies
anshﬁnedhmeConsﬂluﬂon;ﬂwCédeofConductfoerwuton;me
recommendations of Senior Counsel; and certain outstanding and
ongoing inquiries and investigations, the NPA is of the view that it fo
obliged—

{(8) to infom the Minster regarding the abovementioned findings and
recommendations;

{b) to recommend that disciplinary steps be taken against al thres
abovementioned senior members of the NPA in terms of the
provisions of section 12 of the National Prosscuting Authority Act,
1988 (Act No. 32 of 1908) (NPA Act);

(c) memfwﬂnCourt]udumentstounSoumAfﬁcanPoﬁceSoMca
Mﬂnavlswtoopenmtﬂnaiimesﬂgaﬁonsforpetjuyagamstan
three senlor members of the NPA;

(d) aubmitﬂwﬂndhgsmdohmejudmmmsmmma
abovementioned senor members of the NPA to the General
Councﬂof&eﬂmtocumideracﬁoninlemsof%?afﬂw

Admission of Advocates Act, 1964 {Act No. 74 of 1984),

SUSPFENSION OF DEPUTY NATIONAL DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC umnmmmnmcrmorwmc
PFROSECUTIONS N TERMS OF SECTION 12(8) WMW&LWWG AUTBORITY ACT, 1992
T™
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)

6. In view of the above, the purpose of this memarandum is to request the

Minister to—

(a) forward the contents of this memorandum to the President: and

(b) approach the President and to request him io provisionally suspend
Advocates Nomgcobe Jiba, Sthembiso Lawrence Mrwebl, and
Sibongile MzInyathi from thair offices as Deputy National Director
of Public Prosecutions and Directors of Public Prosecutions,
respectively, pending an engulry into their filness to hold such
offices and the finalisation of the envisaged criminal investigations
and outstanding inquiries and Investigations and action of the
General Council of the Bar.

B. STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS

7. in terms of the NPA Act, the power to appoint the Nationat Director of
Public Prosecutions (NDPP), Deputy National Direciors of Public
Prasecutions (DNDPP's) and Directors of Public Prosecutions (DPP's),
including a Special Director of Public Prosacuticns, vests in the

President.!

8. The powers to suspend and remove the abova functionaries from office,
also vests in the Prasident?

9. In terms of section 12(8)(a), read with‘ucﬂon 143), of tha Nationat
Prosscuting Authority Act, 1908 (Act No. 32 of 1988) (NPA Acl), the
President may provisionally suspend a Deputy National Director or 2
DﬁnctmofPuhﬂchaemtbnaﬁ'om his or her office, pending such
enquiry info his or her fitness to hold such office as the President deems

fit.

! Sew sections 10, 11(1), 13(1)(@) and 13(1)(c) of the NPA Act respectivaly,
# See section 12(7) and 14{3) of the NPA Act.

mmmnwnmmumwmmmmmmmonum
mmmmmmmmwmmmsammamm N //(
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DISCUSSION

In Freedom Under Law v National Director of Public Prosecutions
and Others 2014 (1) SACR 111 (GNP) April 2014), the North Gauteng
High Court (per Murphy J) made certain unfavourable credibility findings
against Advocates Jiba, Mnvebi and Mzinyathl {(Annexure “F"). The
judgment of Murphy J was confinmied by the Supreme Court of Appeal

(SCA) in National Director of Public Prosecutions v Freedom Under i

Law 2014 (4) SA 268 (SCA) (Annexure “G™).

There were also other cases or Inquiries where unfavourabls findings
were made against the conduct of some of the abovemertioned sanior
members of the NPA. When desiing with the individuals concemned
separataly hereunder, these other instances will be referred to,

On 28 June 2014, the National Prosecuting Authority (NPA), briefed Adv
Patrick Ellis, SC (Adv Ellis), to fumish a legal opinion on the following
questions:

(8) The discipiinary procedures available in respect of senior personnel
at the NPA,

(b} Whether disciplinary steps ought to be taken against Advocates
Jiba, Mrwabl, Mzinyathi and Moipone, primarily as a result of the
findings made in the judgments referred 1o in paragraph 10 above
and the judgment by Gorven J In Booysen v Acting Netlonal
Director of Public Prosecutions & Others (4665/2010) {2014)
ZAKZDHC 1; [2014] 2 All SA 381 (KZD) (26 February 2014).

In hia legal opinion fumished to State Attomey of 7 July 2014, Adv Ellis
deals with the mentioned individuals separately as indicated hereunder
(Annexure “E”), This memorandum does not deal with the position of

Adv Noko, since no adverse finding has been made against her at this
stage. However, her conduct in the matter Democratic Allfance v

mmmwmnanmmwmmmnmwm

PROSECUTIONS IN TERMS OF SECTION 1216} OF NATIONAL PROSECUTING AUTHORETY ACT, 199
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Acting Director of Public Prosecutions: KZN (Case No. 4962/2013),
i8 still under Consideration by the National Director.

ADV NOMGCOBO JIBA (ADV Jiga)

maultofanappﬂeuﬂoninsﬁMadbyme Undarl.awaaahstmter
aﬁameNaﬁona:D&actortomviewandsetaﬂdeﬂwdeﬁsionsnouo
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MSON184.28 (592)
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18.  Adv Ellis points aut that *this criticism stems from Adv Jiba's faiuns fo file

Coumwhkhbﬂmeappmmmbvmnmsamsamscf 10
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0 el llegal [ s
scrutny.”. (Emphasis added)

21. In this regard Ady Ellis referred 1o the SCA decision of Genera/ Councif
of the Bar v Geach & Others 2013 (2) SA 52 {SCA) AT 1024 - ¢,
where Wallis AJ remarked as follows:

N_Onic

is addeq)

208 (SCA) and Ady Jiba's conduct was also strongly criicised by Brand
JA, In Paragraph 37 he remarked ag follows:

23. According to Adv Ellis, the above finding confirms “fhe finding by the
court & quo m:ir:?mmfsbdbymma’sconw.

! Seulsuﬂuwunﬁmdlohmmbl%fhnuuu“n".
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24. Adv Ellis furthet points out that a similar finding was made against Adv

Jiba In Booysen v Acting National Diractor of Public
Others where Gorven J said the following:

Prosecutions &

20
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(Emphasis added} |

25. Taking into account the abovementioned findings, Adv Elis holds the

SUSPENSION OF DEPUTY NATIONAL
b L Nl:g.’ggm PROSECUTIONS AND mnmm 0!' PUBLIC

AUTBORITY ACT,
TH
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622 . 12

the case. Hg implied thet, had she

done her job, the cha S
been reinstated, e utihave

80} FuL was justifiably sceptical in fls reply to ihess allegations,
Paragraphs 108 and 107 of the reply read:

106, Advocete Mrwebi's

.Or
(@
O
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623 [

[62] In a 24-page memo to the Acting NDPP dated 13 Apnl 2012,

annexed to her affidevit in the labour court application, Breytenbech

made a forceful ergument in fawurofpmceadingagamst Mdluli on the
oom:pﬁonchafgasmdstaledharviewmawwinmﬂon fo withdraw

31.  The judgment of Murphy J was confirmed by the SCA in paregraphs [39]
to {42). in paragraphs [40] to [42] the SCA held s follows:

o)

toakaﬁnalubcium!owﬂhdmwb‘rechamsbaﬁmhamfem
mammndumofsmoambarzoﬂ;mumrmgoheaﬁdmknow
Matbfzhyaﬂrrsviawam;sndmnoonﬁfmaﬂsedm & December

a 2011 that Mzinyathi did not shars his views, at which stage he heq
PE a&wmmwmbaﬂmwysmatmmmm!dhe
O mmm.AmgmmmuMsammm

Mmmmmamwmumgwsammamm«m
ohameshadbeenmmdmmmmna was functus officio,

mmwmmmnm OF FURLIC PROSECUTIONS AND BIRECYORS OF PUBLIC
FROSECUTIONS IN TERMS OF SECTION 13(¢) OFNAMHWGAWACRM /{

LoV



FP-JGZ-1034
MSON184.37 (601)

Ll d

624

42} mwmfammgawvadousmnema%yumvbﬁs
Impugned decision cannot stand, Masommwewsatout
inthajwbmmtofb‘;ecourtammdarthehamg'ﬁwmmww
the fraud and comuption charges’ (pera 141 ot soq). However, in the
Mofmyﬁndhgb‘:a!medm:ionfaﬂslobesetasidaonﬂ»basis
M&wummmmmemmmea.fWﬂ
lo revisit these masons. Suffice g {0 sav the: ;

el S _[R8sSoning convinclng &

14 ¥ L G

32. Taking into account the abovementioned findings of the High Court and
the SCA, Adv Ellis makes the following findings and recommendations:

*35. !md%mmmwmmmw&prhy.& as
cmmmadbyﬂmndJmmeSupnmaComwappealconw;
compeling justification for disciplinary proceedings against Mr

@ Wirwsbl. In view of ihe fect thet he has boen appointed a Speciel
I 'O' D&adordmﬁbmuﬁms,mapmmdm 12(6) and
mmmmﬁmﬂa}aﬂd(.?)mappﬂcabk.

(@S
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ADV SIBONGILE MZINYATHI (ADV MZINYATHY)

3 Mvmmlmwmwmmmtmmaumam

of Public Prosecutions, with effect from 1 December 2003, At present he
s the Director of Public Prosecutions of North Gauteng in Pretoria,

. Adv M2inyathi is one of the sanior members of the NPA whose conduct

was also strongly criticised by Murphy J in the Freedom Under Law
matter.

. Adv Mzinyathi's conduct came under scrutiny in the disciplinary hearing

ageinst Adv Breytenbach where he initiatly corroborated Ady Mrwebr's
mmﬂmm“tmmmdbyﬂnhﬂafbaforamdadﬂmm
mdatovdmdmwtlwdmgaaoffmudandoowpﬁonagalmtmm

. In the Freedom Under Law case Murphy J dealt comprahensively with

Adv Mzinyathi's invoivement. In paragraphs [52) to [54], Mumhy J
remarked as follows:

“I52] Mrwebi in his answering affidavit did not deal with Mzinyathi’s
tesﬁmanyafmad'mh&mymuﬂyrarbrmﬁmaﬂerm eny of the

avenmhﬂresmpbnwnmy!umdhgamw. His account of the
events betwsen 5 December 2011 and § December 2011 takes the form

ofaganmﬁnmﬂw%dmsnotaﬁrﬂwdanyhemﬂc

mmouwnmmmmmmwwcrmcummnmmormuc
nmmmmwsmlmwmmmmmamlm
TH
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allegations in the supplementary founding afiidevil. He nonslheess
maintained that he had consulted Mzinyathi. The answering affidevit was
not accompanied by a confirmstory affdavit from Mzinyett, who
thersfore initially did not confirm Mmbi’sgenwa!amom't.mm

anmmammmg. confirmed the allegations in
Mmmmm:smoymmm. thus saying in effect for the first
time that he had indeed concurred in the decision,

mjmmwmbmmmmmmrbsofﬂ»mm that
Mwwhﬁuathlsoﬂbemﬂomwmﬂ.whﬁnmr
mmmmmnmmmmmmwmm
consuit hirm. Mrwebl mentioned to him thel he wasbuaymseamhmﬂw
WaﬂaemeSandoesovmightAdmdmanﬁam. The
impression croaled, as mentioned earfler, Is that no subistantive
mmwmmmymhmmvmmm
concuirence before Mrwebi wiofs the consultative nots ang
mmwﬂcahdwmmbdm,vs. Laler Mzinyathi heerd from Smith
mmmmmwmmmmmmmmmﬁe
then wroto the email of @ December 2011 o Mrwebl and met him on 9
DOW?M?.WMWMW.MMMMMW
mwmmmammmmwwumwmm

mmwwmwammam%
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hearing. thet he was presented with a fait accompli and was unable to

{0
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38.n reapect of Agy
Mzinyatty
view: yain's

MSON184.41 (605)

Invoivement, Adv s holds the following

108®

209



520

%

O %

30.

40,

M.

42,

FP-JGZ-1039

EVALUATION BY NATIONAL PROSECUTING AUTHORITY

in teims of section 195(1) of the Constitution public administration mys
be govemed by the democratic values and principles enshyineqd in the

; Paragraph (9) of subsection ).
» PBregraph (d) of subssction (1.

» Paragreph (1) of subsection (1),

See paragraphy (£} t0 (e} of subsect; @
: Government Notice N, R, 1257, Government Gazete Np, samomnmauzow.

MSON184.42 (606)
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630,
“In framing this Code, the Minister Deputy Nationet Directors and
Directors of Public Prosecutions were consulfed as prascribed by the
[
oxpecied of
(. chbae g PUvie confidence in the infearity o ’
O Bt et 1 L1 SO JUSTICE D
43. The following are important exiracts for purposes of this memorandum;
‘ . 43.1 Under the heading "PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT" @
i " “Prosecutors should— 10

{o) ona?ysarvaandpmtscwwpubﬂchfensc
(@) strive o 4

SUSFENSION OF PEPUTY NATIONAL DIRECTOR OF FUBLIC PROSECUTIONS AND DIRECTORS OF rUBLIC
MMWMO?MWWMMMAWWJM
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631,

(@) ’

Mmaenns bmrg r status d'eca:um
court.”. (Emphasis added) R e

43.2 Under the heading ‘INDEPENDENCE"
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633

(e) to ()" (Emphasis sdded)

43.5 Under the heading *CO-OPERATION®
*In ordsr to ensyure ﬂrefaﬁnessandOMvonmafm prosscution

44, ltisimporhnttonoteﬂmamdmgtomanotutomcm.ﬂis
Specifically pointed out that “Refersnces in this Codes to prosecutors
MMMMMNMMGWAM%
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(0

¢
0

{8) report tha adverss findings to the Minister and the President;

(b) recommend that the Presidant should, in terms of section 12{8)(a)

of the NPA Act, consider to provisionally suspend Advocates Jiba, 20
. Mrweb! and Mzinyathi pending an inquiry info thels fitness 1o hoid

,Li—\ MoﬁmofbmﬂyNaﬁonalDMorofPublemecuum;and
(} Directors of Public Prosscutions, raspactively, to be presided over

bvafﬂﬁmdllldaeﬁﬂwﬂiﬂh%wh
() mfarﬂremauerand&adlngaofmoCoumtoﬂwSoumAfﬁcan

PoliceSaMoammaviowloopenorinmallnmﬁgaﬁonafor
pedmyagahutmeabwa-menuonedmambersome NPA;
(]] subuu&eﬁndmmofmemurhmimthemmbemofm
NPA to the General Council of the Bar so as to congider whether
an application should be brought against them in terms of section 7 30

of the Admission of Advocates Act.
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52. It is lotally undesirable for Advocates Jiba and Mrwebi to be at offica
whilst criminal charges have been opened and/or instituted against
them. They may aiso interfere with other outstanding and ongoing
investigations. Therefore, the opinion Is held that the President should
provisionally suspend them pending the outstanding and ongoing
investigations and/or criminal prosecutions,

53, llmustbebomainnﬂndﬁutltlstﬁhlawlhatemplomsmface
suspansion must be afforded the oppartunity to submit reasons as to
why&hnﬂnmwwbesmﬁemmmhm.ﬂhpmpwm
they be afforded an opportunity to make the necessary representations (0
befomauspensionhmidm.

54. To giva effect 1o the abovementioned recommendations contained in
Paragraph 48(a) and (b), a draft memorandum addressed i the
President Is in the cover for the Minister's consideration.

7, o il

Mr Wiille Hofmeyr
Acting Natlonal Director of Publle Prosecutions

Date: o214

w
Recommendations in paragraph 48(a) and (b) SUPPORTED/ NOF
SUPPORIED

Moy i

Adv Karen van Rensburg
Chief Executive Officer: NPA

21]7 o
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1. Contents of memorandum NOTED
Comments:

Mrs N Sindans
Director-General: Justice and Constitutional Development

Date:
1. Contents of memorandum NOTED

Comments:
o

Mr J Jaffery, MP
Deputy Minister of Justice and Constitutional Daevelopment

Date: \0

1. Contents of memorandum NOTED
2. Draft letter to President SIGNED / NOT SIGNED

TM Masutha, MP (Adv)
Ministar of Juatice and Correctional Services

Date:

WMONOPDWWNAMMOFMWMDMMMM
FROJECUTIONS (N TERMS OF SECTION 1338) OF NATIONAL FROSECUTING AUTBORITY ACT, 1998
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JUSTICE AND
CONSTITUTIONAL
ﬂnmcormum
Mr MxoBsl Nxassna
The National Direclor of Pubfio Frosscutions
Privels Bag x 782
PRETORIA
o001
Daar Mr Nxasana

RE: MEMORANDUM RECEMVED FROM THE NPA

§ am In recaipt of ¢ memorsndum datad 18 July 2014, signed by the Acling Nasional Directer

of Publis Prosscutions, Mr Wille Hofmeyr (the ANDPP).

I view of the recommendations made in that memorandum, | hed enquired from the ANDPP
how & cama sbout that he was acting =a the National Direclor of Public Prosscutions
(NDFP), a8 | fad not been informed of such eppolntment. | understand that you were on
leave from 17 to 18 July 2014, in which fime the ANDPP signed » memorendum of such
signiicance, | had wiitten to tha ANDPP on the circumelsnces giving riss fo Be ecting
mhmmhm.ﬂhndMMbh
memorsndum In quasticn, informed me thel &t is "customary for the ecling eppointment to
conault the Nafional Direcior talsphonicelly or othenwise on important matiers that may
92, On this besle, | address this latiar to you, on iha untderstanding that you ate swers of
the contenia of the memomndum dated 18 July 2014, which is the subject of this letier o

Yo,

The memorendum of 18 July 2014 recommends thal | spprosch the Honoursble President
with & requesd to suspend Adv Jba, Adv Mrwabi and Adv hzinyathl (the officisls) pending en
enquiry into their fiiness fo hold office and the ouicome of criminal investigations sgeinst
them for parury end sn tnvestigation by the General Councll of the Ber for their removal from
the Roll of Advocates. The request is based upon certaln negative siutements reigfing fo
MMWthMMthmdﬂMﬂWﬂ‘m
Prosecutions v Froedom Under Lew (the FUL judgment) and, in respect of Adv Jiba, sleo the
comments made in the casa of Booysan v ihe Acting Nalional Dirwolor of Pubiio

Prossculions (the Bouysen judgment).

LSl
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tnmdmsaum&mmmayu 1580, |, as the Minisier,
WNMWNMM.WMMMh
Mmbmduﬁﬂm.hwotmdﬂﬂmm
Mmmmnmuwlmﬁmmmwmmdh'wmmm
by the National Director or 8 memummmmmudm
MNNMMMMNMIMEMHQQMWJ

in larma of this empowering section.

in conaidering the memorandum, lhmﬁmmhm-hm:w.u
NWM.MWMMNMdmwmmm
was delvered In Septambar 2013 in the High Court and confirmed by the SCA on the 17
mmmmmumuhmmwmmammm

lmmumm«nmm“&wmwm
messures in the NPA to address the lssues that wers ralsed In the judgments, and whet
m&mmmﬂmmmu%#h%ﬂu
ensure that the cradibiily of the NPA is strangthaned and mainiainad.

unmumwmmmwmdmm-um.mn

mmmammmmamwmmmnm
H not, why have the officials not been

mhmhmmummmmm

In light of the Hhhmmmhh%mumw
mmmwdﬂulmmm,mm
processes you have put in place, 1o sneure that inciderrts of the neture refermad to W the
Judgmenia do not recur.

The legal apinion sourced by the NPA sisa makas reference 1o a proposed considerstion of
lMMnmhMMMMGMMhm | hava
m-m—mmuwmmm)mmumum
appoiniment of a fect finding commities 10 Investigate unslhical snd unprofessienal conduct
of sanior officials in the NPA, and the leaking of information to the madis. Kindly inform me
Whether tha GEO wes acting under your instruction when she enpointed the fedt finding
cammitas and in tenms of which legiejative suthortty wes her sction besed. | would K you
umm«-mmm«mmuumuhm
finding cominitias was dona on your instruction.

1 ook forward to hearing from you by 19 August 2014,

Yours sincerely,
i

A
T.A2 Masutha, BP (Adv) !
Winister of Justice and Correctional Gervices

Dute:, 2808/, 22k
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A

view thet we need i disouss ol NPA lssuss thal require

discusslon Including thosa that you heve rtsed in your letser.

In e ocumatance | would W you covkd inckate he dale

3 vy ol > ainigs [ Moo, | ouks shengy recr
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M. Muolsl Nesana

The National Direclor of Public Prosscutions

Privata Bag x 762

PRETORIA

oo 10

Daar Mr, Nxatana

RE: MEMORANDUR FROM THE NPA
Your leiler deted 11 August 2014 refers and the contents thersin are noled.

VWhilst In principle | support the need for & proposed mesling bsiween the NPA
lsadership and myself, | am howsver of the view thet the issuas raised in the letler
dated 08 August 2044 1o yourseif shouid =il ba responded 10, The sald responee i
therefore swaitad.

Yours sincerely

Ak

T M Masttha, WP (Adv)
Winister of Justics and Comectional Services 2

Date: refosf 2ony
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Office of the
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Pmaewﬁ@ns : NATSONAL PROSECUTING AUTHORITY
Sowth Africa
CONEIDENT[AL MINISTERIAL MEMORANDIIM
TO T™ Masutha, MP (ADV)
Minister of Justics and Correciiona] Services
FROM | Mr M.S.0, Nxasana
Nallonal Drector of Public Prosecutions
[ = s
' SUSPENSION OF DEPUTY NATIONAL DIREGCTOR OF
SUBJECT | PUBLIC | RROSECUTIONS AND DIRECTORS OF PUBLIC
PROSECUTIONS IN TERMS OF SECTION 12(6) Of
NATIO NAL PROSECUTING AUTHORITY ACT, 1988
REF NO. | 4/2/18/1M{NDPP)
DATE | 17 September 2014
A. BACKGROUND INFORMATION & PURPOSE OF MEMORANDUM
1. In the Confidential Minlsterlal Memorandum dated 48 July 2014
aftached herelo as Annexure “A”, the  Acting National Dwector of
Public Prosecutions Mr WA Hofmeyr, informed the Minisier that the
members of the Management of the National Prosecuting Authority
(NPA) are obliged to— '
(a) rapart cerlain recant adverse findlings made by the High Court
and the Supreme Court of Appeal refating to the condust of
Advocates Nomgeobo Jiba, Sthembiso Lawrence WMrwabi, O

~ and Sitbongila Mzlnyath| ("three senior members of the NPA")
to the Mindster and the President;

1]

Justice In our sociely so that people con live in freedin and aliriy .

1
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(b) recommend that the President should, in tarms of aection 12(6)(&1} of the
" Nalishal Prosecullng Authorlly Act, 1888 (Act No. 32 of 1998) (“NPA Act’),
conslder 1o provisionally suspend Advocates .;iba, Mrweb! and Mzinyathi
pending an Inquity into thelr fliness to hold the offices of Depuly National
Dhector of Publlc Prosscutions and Directors of Public Prosecuflons,
réspectively, to be presided over by = retired Judge of the High Courl;

{o) wofer the malfer and findings of the High Court and the Supreme Court of
Appeal (SCA) o the South Afrlcan Palioe Service (SAPS) with a view to opsn
crimina! invastigations for perury against the above-mentioned three sanlor
members of tha NPA; '

{d) submit the findings of the Courts agalnst the three senlor membersrl:f the
NPA to the G:riral Council of the Bar so as to consider wheller an

application should be brought against- them in terme of gection 7 of the
Admissfon of Advocates Act, 1984,

In a letter dated 30 July 2014 addressed lo Mr Hofmeyr, the Minister
acknowledged recelpt of the abovententioned memorandum and Indicated (hat he
will consider the contents thereof and revert to him In due course.

In & leifer dated 8 August 2014 addressed to the National Director, the Mmf:ster
requested the Natlonal Dirsetor's response in respect of various lsesues by 19
Augusi 2014, On the fatter date the National Divector wiote to the Minister and
Indicated thai he did not have the opportunity to sit down and engage with the
Mindster properly on various malters eiffectmg the NPA. He therofore suggested
that he shouid meet with the Minister to discuss all NPA Issues including the

issuss ralsad in the Minister's letler.

In a lefter dated 12 August 2014 addressed to the Natlonal Direotor, the Minlster

“indicated that he In principle supported the need for a meesting with the NFA, bt -

the Minlster held the view that the National Director should first respond to the

tssues ralsed in his lelier.

ﬂff%_ﬂ'
e

Lo
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PURPOSE OF MEMORANDUM

The pa]rpase of this memorandum Is to— -
{a) respond lo the Minister regarding the issues raised In hils letter addressed to

{he National Diveclor dated 8 August 2014;

{b) Inform the Minlster about further Instances of misconduct committed by and
advarse findings mads against Advocates Nomgeaba Jiba and Sthemblso

Lawrence Mrwebl;
Inform the Minlster about steps already laken by the NPA and steps to be

taken against the three senior members of the NPA concerned;
(d) Inform the Minister about the NPA’s submission direclly Taaa to the

President; apd

(ch

(e}
suspension of the three senior members of the NPA asa matter of urgepey.

BISCUSSION

Ad paragrdph 5(a) supra: National Director’s response to Mintster regarding

fssues ralsed In letter nddressed to Naflonal Director

In the flrst Instance, as | have Indicated in my fetier to the Minlster dated 11 August
2014, with reepect, 1.t hold the view that it is vital for me to meet with the
Minister to enable us to dlscuss matters properly and avoid unnegessary
misunderstandings thal may arlse from engaging only by way of correspondence.
Indeed, there are also many operational issues about which the NPA Exco needs

to brief the Minlster properly. It Is disappolnting that the briefing which had been

scheduled In June 2014 has stift not been rescheduled mare than 2 months. after

the Minlster's appolntmeﬁt. Despite the mentioned reservations, | shajl attempt to
address the Issues raised by the Minister.

+

3

SRR S S

tequest the Minisier fo angage with the President regerding the proposed
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Whether National Direclor was consuited about the mamorano‘um of 1 8 July 2014

("the memorandum’)

in hla response to the Minisler, Mr Hofmeyr made it dear that he consuited me

about the memorandum. | horeby confirm that [ was fully apprised of the content of.

the memorandum and | supporiad 11,

Purposs of "memorandum”

Fwish to clarify that the purpose of the memorandurm (Annexure A"} was iwofald,

narely, for the Minister to— _
° fom%rd the contet;ts of the memorandum to the Presidaent, and

approach the Prasiden| with the request that the three senior members of the
NPA should be suspended pendlng the finallsatlon of the proposad inquiry

and oriminal chargas:

]

| believe that it {s urgent that te President be informed about the request made by
me as the Natianal Director to take action against senior members of the NPA who

fall under my authority. Although they report to me and ) have the responslbility to
manage them, the law vests the power lo talce approptiate action in the President.

| therefors sask the ‘Minister's uigent confirmation that the memorandutn has .

indesd bean forwarded o tho President. If It has naot, | befieve that, as fully arguied
in the memorandum attached as Annexure “A¥, His my duly in tarms of the law to
forward ft o the Presidsnt myself and fnform him that the Mipister may provlde

further advtce io him,

Sfeps ta!g;sn regardlng Judgments .

.|

] did Indeed take a number of stops regardlng the mentioned court judgments as

58t out below.

4!
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The most Important step | hava taken as the head of the NPA, Is t6 spproach

the President with a request to Institute an inquiry into the fltness of the three _
" senjor members of the NPA to hold offica and to suepend them pending the

inquiry.
Glven the senforlty of the officlals, | had felt that it was appropriate to request

an opinon from Indepandent senior counse! on how | shouid dea) with the
court findings that affecied the three senior NPA officlals concemsd.

I have applied my mind to the recommendations in the oplnlon and was of
the view that the actions proposed by senior counsel were appropriate. Thus,
, togother with the CEO of the NPA, have acted on those recommendations

¢ that fail within out legal powers, namely, the fellowing:

() -1 have submilted, via the Minister, the memorandum to the Presldent
recommending sn Inquiry into the fiiness of the three senlor membara
of the NPA to hold office. _

(i) [have submilied the memorandum to the Presldent recommanding the
suspension of the affected officlals in order 1o limit the reputational and
other domage te the NPA.

fll) As recommended by senfor counsel, the CEO has instructsd that
ariminal charges of perjury be lald against the three senior members of
the NPA. Consequently criminal chasges of parjury have already been
laid against the ihree senior members concernaed, The outcome of the

erliminal investigation 1s awalting.

() As recommended hy senlor counse!, the CEQ has Instructed that the

General Councl of the Bar ba approached with a View to have the
affeoted persons been removed from the roll of advocates, This has

. besndons, |
In adddition, the NPA continuss o fnvestigate the clrcumslances refating to

lhe judgments that it is able to investigate and will furnish any further
svidence It finds to the President, the police and the General Coungl] of the

Bar.

51

5
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Iniffal corrective measures and institufionel arrangements

-
-

finding on the conduct of the affected officlals. ! must mentfon that the
Meljull und Booysen mattsrs were never brought {o Iy atténtion after | assumed

6)
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office, despite the fact thal I had written to Ady Jiba and requested her to report to
me all matters that she had been desling with whilst acting as the Naiionai

Dlreclor.

Thus, It was unfortunite that | had to find out about the negative comments made
in the wo fudgments Jn the medla. t requested reporia from Ady Jiha and Adv
Mrwebl on the Mdlull corruption maiter afler the High Cowrl Judgment, As

Indloated above, .this request was Ignored by Adv Jiba and | have recelved ho
repott to date.

Furthermore, | must add that, since | to

oiup office, there has been no official
handover of matters being dealt with by

Jiba, dospile repeated requests

-f)'om me and verbal promises to do su. ] have given her ample opportunity and

frrne lo correct her bahavlor, but it has unforlunately becoms clear o me (hat she
slmply refuses to recognise my authority ss head of the NPA, Such
Insubordinaion ls intolerable and makes it very difficult 1o perforn my duties and

should be suificlent grounds.

From what [ have haard from othe;rs, she has been contident for soine fime that )
will be rernoved from my position soon and that she will be sppolnted as Nation|
Ditector or acling Natfional Direclor. Thus, it appears that she s simply defylng my
instructions In the balief that 1 wiil not be there lo hold her to account,

in early July 2014 and In frusteation, | put my request In wilting to Adv Jlba Agaln |
have not had any response or even acknowledgement of a yaply.

) had also requested reports on the above and other matters from other affecled
officiels, but suoh reporis were simply not fotthcoming. It was only when put my
request fn willing In early July 2014 that they provided me with the requested

raports, -

71
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1 took these steps despile the faci that | have been told in no uncertain terms
during NPA Exco and managemant meetings that | do not have the powers to
discipiine officiais who are appolnted by the Prasident, In this regard | refer you to
the memarandum which was piepared by the CEC and sent fo you soon before
your Visit fo our offices together with the Direstor-General of Justice ' ang

Constituliona) Development, Mg N Sindana.

Mltuli matter

-

You coirechly refer to the SCA Judgment in the Mdlull matter which contalned
severe crificlsm of the behavtr of Adv Jiba and Adv Mwebi, In effact, the

d by selling aslde the declsion not to prosecute.
As a correclive measure, | decided that Ady Jiba and Adv Mrweb! should not play
any role In further decislons on this matter. | accordingly appointed new

© proseoutors fo advise me on the matter.

20‘
( -
- 21,
|
22.
:
A
23,

24,

As slated above, | decided that we should obtain an Independent fegal opinion
regarding the findings by the High Gourls and the SCA, and same was forwarded
to you In the memorandum of 18 July 2014 signed by Mr Hofmayr (See Annesxure

ﬂA”)‘

The appoiniment of the Fact Finding Commities by the CEO to Investigate
unethical and unprofessionat conduct of senlor officlals of NPA and the leaking of

Information fo the media was made on my request afler a unanimous dsclsion to

do so was lakep at a speglal Exco mesting. At the same meating a unanimous
dlacision was taken o reloase g media statement.

Qther Institullonal srangements

At ihe racenl NPA siralegy session (18 and 19 August 2014), we have discussed .
several propasals on how to doal better with matters such as this In future, -

-

8]
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Including some resirucluring of the NPA to ensure a closer working relationship
baiween the Dirsctors of Public Fm;eecutlons and the Speciallsed Commersial
Crimes Unit (SCCU). | have also ensured that thers i betlet quallly contrel In the
prepéral{on of courl papers. and other documenis thal emanate from the office of

. the Natfonat Director.

Views regarding seclion 33 of NPA Act

With respact, 1 wish 1o pofnt aul thal the Minister's understanding of tha provisions
of sectlon 33(2) of the NPA Act Is not correct. My understanding of this section is

* that it empowers the Minister o tequest the Nalional Director to‘ furnish the

Minlster with information of a eport with segard {o any case, malter or subject
dealt with by the Natlonal Direetor, in his capacity as the Natlonal Director, or a
Director in the exarcise of the powers, the carrying out of our dutles and the
performance of tho funciioris of tha prosaculing authorlty.

The Minister alse made it clear repeatedly in relation to matlers ralating fo the

‘allegalions against me that he regards this as a matier for the President to decide,
and have never indicated that he intends {0 advise the President on how 1o deal

with the matter,
Y

F undarstand the provisions of seclion 33(2) of the NPA Act to refer to nrosecltion

“malters In Ijne with the legal advice | have been given, and the findings of the. -

Glnwala Commission. It Is preclsely for these reasons thal 1 belleve it is very
Important that we should meel and discuss these issues to epsure that we have a
common understanding regarding our respestive reaponsibllitles.

As ) have mentioned heretofore, | am of the view that the Memorandum dated 18

Jduly 2014 (Annexure “A”"), which was signed by Mr Hofmeyr during the time he

was acling as<he National Dlrector, Is sufifclent and [ do not hava to add anvthing

9]
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{o It save to beseach you lo forward It o the President for his conslderation as a

maller of exigehcy.

Ad paragraph 8(b) supra: To inforin tho Minjster abaut further instances of

miscapduct committed” by and edverse findings mmade agalnst Advocates

Jiha and Mrwebi

" Matlers pariaining to conduct of Adv Nomgcobo Jiba

As indicated in the Memorandum attached as Annexure "A”, In Fraedom Under
Law v National Divector of Public Prosecutions and Ofhers 2014 (1) SACR
111 {GNP) Aprll 2014), Murphy J made gertain unfavaurable credibiilty Mndings
against Advocates Jiha, Mirwebl and Mzinyatht. The judgment of Murphy J was
confirmed by the Supreme Court of Appeal (SCA) In National Director of Pub!fc
Pmsacuﬂons v Freedom Under Law 2014 (4) SA 288 (SCA).

_ Further information obtalned by the NPA mlating to the condue! of the three
senlor members has revealed shocking information. As Indicated to the Minister
In the Memorandumn marked Annexurs “A¥, one of the main oritlcisms of the
above judgments mada agalnst Advocates Mrwebl and Mzibyathl 1s that the

“wersion presented In Mrweb!’s answering affidavit, js thal it was In direct copfilct

_ with the svidence the! he and Mzinyvathi gave unde; cross-exgmination &t a
disciplipary frearing of Brevienbach®. (Emphasis added)

The NPA has in the meantime investigaled the facls ralating fo the drafling of
Adv Mrwabl's answering affidavil In tha above High Gouri mattar and it now
seams as if the NPA team who prepared the answering afiidavils was advised by
different counsel not to pmce'ed with the answerlng affidavit prepared by the
NPA, The NPA is al present investigaling the clroumstances under which.
different counsel withdrew from. the matter or where their services were
terminated by the NPA. At this stage, we have the following Information,

101
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After the services of two diffefent Counsel Teams were terminated by the NPA,
the: NPA was represented by Adv Terry Motau, SC, In & detailed memorandum
provided to the office of the State Attomey on 10 Decentber 2013, the NPA
counsel, advocates Terry Motau, 5G, Benny Makola and Lerato Malie pointed
out that they have prepared a draft answering affidavit for the conslderslion of the
NPA and requested the NPA's commenl on their draft. However, the NPA
informed them thal an affidavit should be prepared In the nama of Adv Miwebl,

Couinse| advised against this approach. K

On 26 June 2013 they met with Adv Jiba gnd the DPP: Soutiw Gauleng, Ady
Chauke, At that meeling they Informed Advicales Jiba and Chaulce about the
draft answering effidavit prepared by Counsel and their concems regarding the
NPA's approach. ARer consultation the original draft answerlng affidavit was
again sent to the NPA. In spite of thalr proposals how to deal with the maiter, the
NPA turnished them with split answering affidavits on the basis that the draft

prepared by Counsel were no longer in the NPA's possession, The orlginal

aifidavit was agaln sent 1o the NPA to afford the NPA an opportunity to comment
on the draft,

Whilst walting for cormnent on the draft affidavll, Counsel| requested more
" docurnents, among olhers, the transcript of the Breytenbach hearing. On .
consideration of the tanscilpt and the contents of the answaring affidavit -

prepared by the NPA for Adv Miwebi, they noticed coniradiciions betwean the
evidence which had been given under cath oby behalf of the NPA during the
Braylenbach hearing and the contents of Adv Mrwebl's answerlng affidavit.

Whilst stlll walting for the NPA's comment on their original answering affidavit,
ey were informed that the NPA dectded fo sign the spilt affidavits, thereby
distegarding thelr advice, They also realised that the spilt affidavit retained an
ariginal paragraph from Counsel's affidavit to the effect, that legal submissions

11)
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are made on the advice of lhe NPA's legal reprasentatives, whilst the advice was
not thalrs, As a result the members of Counsel met ahd toal decision to withdraw

from the matter.

Durng a consultative mesting with the CEO and the Deputy CEQ on 11 August
Counsel confirmed the above facts,

Prlor to the withdrawal of Adv Terry Motaa and his feamn, the NPA was
represented by two dliferant counse! teams, namely, that of Adv Leon Halgryn,
8G, and Adv McCaps Motinjete, 8C. The circumstances leading to the
termination of thalr services :L still under investigation and ihey will be
consulfed soon, Howevei, during telephone conversations they both expressed

the same senliments as eitded ta above,

From the ahove it is clear that the NPA Team acted In a cotrupt and deceltful -

manner and thereby confirmed-the finding of the High Court and the Supreme
Count of Appeais. Therefots, apart from the perjury charges alreqdy instiiuted, it
now seems as if the above conduct may also constliute the offence of wrongfully
and Intentiopally defeating or obstructing the course of justice. Afler further
ihvestigation and consuliation with the different counsel tearns, a declsion will be
made as to whether official charges will be lald against Advocates Jiba and
Mrwebl. I 'is suggested thal this conduct should also be brought to the
President's attentlon and should be taken info account In considering the
suspension of the fhree members pending an Inquiry to be Instituted by the

President.

81. In Zuma v DA (83672013) [2014) ZASCA 101 the Supreme Court of Appeai

delivered judgment on 28 August 2014. Al paragraph [41], Navea ADP remarked

as follows:

12
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(411  One remalning aspect requires to be addressed, albolt bhelly. As recently
as Aprlf this year, this cotrt in Mational Diractor of Public Prosacutions v Freedom
Under Law 2014 {4).SA 298 (SCA) crificlsed tha ofilee of the NDPF for being less

than cand:d and forrhcom!ng _f}_{flggﬁggn_f_g_lﬁ the (hQ@_ANDPP. jﬁg Jiba,

ggmls, &ﬁ!dgwfs frzm? peop:'e who M&M&Wﬂﬂi&%&

ware copsplotrously ebsent. Furthermors, It is lo be decrfed that an Mmporfant

gonstitulional Institution such as the offfoe of the NDPP Is Joalh (o take ah

i
indspendant view about conlidentialily, or otherwlse, of documents and cther

" matetisls within lis possession, particy in I order of (hf, it fis
lack of intesest in being of assistance to_elther the high court of thls court i

.} S equally lamentable thal the office of t P 0 staps before

the . commencement_of Iinalion fy the present case fo place ths fegel

reprosentativas of Mr Zume on terms jn a8 manner that would have ensyred ejther
a definifive response by the Jalter or 4 decision py the NPA on the refease of the

docume)iis. end malerial sought by (he DA. This conduct Is not worthy of the

" offfee of tha NDPP. Such conduct undsrmines the estesm In wiich the office

of the NOPP oggﬂg fo Qe fieid by the cltizenry of this country,”. {Emphasls

added)...

. A copy. of the SCA’s judgment Is atlached hereto for the Minlster's convenlence

{See Annexure “8"). It Is submilted that the aboveimentioned SCA's finding

. reiating fo the candict of Adv Jiba should be seen in a very settoys light and as

meanfioned by Navsa ADP, her conduct ja not worthy of the Offica of the Natonal
Director. The opinlon Is held thatl the judgment should also be the subject of an

enqulsy and the Presidsnt should also take this Info account in consldering.

whether he should provislonally suspend Adv Jiba pending the Institution of an
enquiry in temms of secon 12(6) of the NPA Act. | am Investigating this matter

further and have asked Adv Jiba for & full report In order 10 ald such endquiry.
Howaver, given my past experiance whays ghe has elmply refusad to provide me

13t
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with reports, | arg not h;:peful that 1 will recelve such a report, and an enquly will
 be fhe only way In which to elfelt information from her.

33. As mentloned abave, Adv Jiba has also refused and Is stifl refusing to ‘obey Fawiful
orders glven to her. The follawing matters are refevant:

" (8) Afer the High Court judgment | requested reports from har and Ady Miwsbl

on tha Mdiuli corruptlon matter. Thils request was ignored by Adv Jiba and |

( have received no report to date.
i (b) Since | fuok up office as Nallonal Direclor, there has been no offical {
i hapdover of matters being dealt with by Adv Jibh. | have repeatedly
~ fequested such a report from Adv Jiba without raspon:i 10

On 22 August 2014, | requesled Adv Jiba to provide by 26 August 2014
certain ldenilfied information and documents as requested by the
Chalrperson of the Fact Finding Commiltes. ! also wanted those dooumeants
for my own record, However, fo date she has not even acknowledged recelpt

of my request or providaed the nacessary informallon and documents.

{©

34. | have given Adv Jiba ampie cpportunity and time to corract her bahavfcur, but it
has unfortunately becoine tlear to me that she simply refuses to recognlse my
authority as haad of the NPA. Such insubordination Is intolerable and makes #
very difflcult fo perform my dufles and should be sufficient grounds for suspension, {

-

Mattors pertalning to conduct of Adv Lawrence Mrwebi 2o

The information provided in paragraphe 30.1 to 30.9 above, s also applicable to
Adv Miwebl's conduct,

35,

In paragraph 48 and further of the memorandum marked Annexure “A”, the NPA
refeired * the - Minister: fo other oriminal proceedings outstanding agalnst Adv
Mrwebl, | can now sonfirm that a decision has been taken o officlally charge Adv
Mrwebl on the following three criminal charges:

36,
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Gount 1: Thet the accused did wrongfully and intentionally defeal or obstruct -

the course of Justice, to wit the prosecution of Lt Genl Mdlull and Col Bamard,
on chatges of fraud and corruplion Siiverton CAS 18107/2011.

Count 2: Contravening section 32(1)(b}, read with sectlons 1, 20, 24, 25,
32(1){e) and 44(1) of e NPA Act, 32 of 1888, In that the aceused did
wronghully and intentionally Improperly mterfers with, hinder or obsfruct the
prosacuting authority or any member thereof, to wit the DPP, North Gauleng
and/or Adv Chrie Smith andfor Adv Glynnis Breylenbach [n the exeicise,
cartylng oul or performance of Ifs, his, her or thelr powers, duties and
functlons to wit the prosacution of Lt Gen| Mdluli and Gol Barnard on oharges
of fraud and corruption Shiverton CAS 155:31.’2011

Count 3: Contravening sectlon 32(1){b}, read with sections 1, 20, 24, 25,
32(1)a) and 41(1) of the NPA Acl, 32 of 1898, in that the accused did
wrongfufly and intentionaily and Improperty interfere wilh, hinder or obstruct

 the proseculing authotiy or aby member thereof, 1o wit Nathi Mncube, In the

axercise, catrying out or performance of lis, his powers, dutles and funttions
to wit the prosectrtion of Terrence Joubert and Others on charges of fraud
and corruption per Pretoria Central GAS 74210520065,

‘The above matters have heen referred 1o a prosecutor In the office of the DPP:

. North Gatteng and | have bsen Informed that Adv Mrweb s set to appear In Court

on 26 Septernber 2014,

38. As indleated above, these are serious charges encreaching upon. the NPA's

fundamental constitutional mandate, namely, “fo axeaise ils func {g& s Withot __._L
yggrgrg@{uaﬁrce" (Emphasis added) .

3&. As menptioned in the mamorandum marked Annexure “A”, the case dockel was
roferred to the DPP: South Qauteng, Adv Andrew Chauke, for a decislon. In hfs

. raport submitted fo the Naflonal Director and’in relation lo Adv Miwebl's condudt
' towards one of the complainants, Mr Paul O'Sullivan, Adv Ghauke is of the view

15|
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that Mr O'Sullivan's orlticlsm against Adv Mrwebi was uncalied for. Howsver, he »

tefers fo cerlaln enall responses by Adv Miweabi and fs of the view that Adv
Mrwebi employed pi-o_fane langurge. These Include the following responses to Mr

Paul O'Sullivan;

> On 28 August 2012: *Go [o hefl safanl”.

> On 29 August 2012: "/ request thet you never again contact me in any way
for your own good Basiard(*. . _

> Dn 31 August 2012: *f have always been informad that you are-a stupid plg
who overssiimates his importance and ralevance. ! have now indeed proven
It end can conclude without drub{ that you are such a stupfd and shorisightad

person’,

Inrespact of Iha above responses, Adv Chauke remarkad as follows In paragraphs

13.3 and 13.4 of his report:
"183  Mrwebl should have heeded the advice by Ramalts and the srsiwhile

Acting NDFP, Jibe and not have enlerisined O'Sullivan’s emalls in the first
place to avold the unnecessary exchange that ensued bstwesn them.

134 In fect, in some of his responses to O'Sullfvan, Miwebi emplovs profane
lrpousge that {s uabecoming of & senjor membear of the NPA, who is

oxpecled o display and act with profasslonal decorum af ail times and

with restraint, even in the face of axireme provocalion. His conduct brings

: MM@&MM&MMMQQ
ingugstion are fh the public domain.”. (Emphasis addsd) .

A further case Hlustrating Adv Miwebi's disregard for the proper administration of
Justice and the NPA's constitutional mandate, Is his conduct In the matter of State

" v M@ Ledwaba (Regional Court Case No, 111/68/2010). in this matter a former

Depuly Head of the DSO (Scatpions) was charged with theft of montes fram the

confidential fund of the DSO. Adv Mrwebi gave evidence in the matter and vndec

oross examination by the accused person, MG Ledwaba, Adv Mrwebl made
varlous admissions regarding incorrect statements made by him In his evidence.

18]
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#1. Thers are also Instances where Adv MrweBt made himself guilty of nstbordination
and refused to obey lawful orders given to him. The following are exaraples:

4149 On 22 August 2014, | requested Adv Mrwebi [n writing o provide certain
ldenfified information and documentation 1o me and 10 the Fact Finding
Coramitiee. On 26 August 2014 Adv Mrweb! indicated In a lelter to me
that he has previously made It clear that he will not cooperale with the
Gomynlitee, He, among olhers, helld the view that it is an lllegal Commlites

and he quesﬂored the objecilvity of the Chairpergon.

41.1.2 Fusther letiars ware addressed to Adv Miwsbl by the CEO (on 26 Auguist
2014) and the Naflonal Direotor {on 27 August 2014). He was again
fequested to provide the requirad information. 1f was pointed oul that the
faasons provided by him are unaccspiaple and that the hformation
raguested s the property of the NPA and therefore the NPA Is entitled
thereto and ha s obliged to provide i Furthermore, it was, among others,
polnted oul {0 him that in terms of the Presldential Proclemation he is
obliged o advise and render assistance to the National Director as may be
tequired to exercise the powers.' carry out the duties and perfonn the
funclions which are confered, imposed or assigned to the National
Director, )t was furlher polnted out to him that the funclions which are
confarred, imposad or assigned to him are o be sxacuted su'quct to the
control of {he I\iallonai Director. On 27 August 2014 Adv Mrwsb) wrots to ;
the GEO as follows: |
I rejterste my position thal 1 am nof going to cooperale with the said
commission or commifies which J regard to be an iflegaf structure to the
extent that & /s meant lo targel Individuals who 'are Fresidantial

appointees.”,
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© 4143 On 28 August 2014, | agaln wrote o Adv Mrwehi and requested him o
provide sound reagons why he deems the Commillee {o be unlawfid and in

the absance of such reasons to comp!y' with my requast 1o provide fhe

requijred !nfnrma_ﬂon. ©On 29 August 2014 the GEO, the Depuly CEQ, the

Head of Secuity, and officlals from the Director: Information Sesurity -
approached Adv Mrwebi in his offics. The CEO informed him about the

feasofis for the visll, hamely, that as the Information Officer of the NPA

she comes to collect the NPA documenis which have been requesied by

the Natlonal Director and fhe CEO several fimes as Indicatad above. He

was requasted to identify personal dosumentation, which will not be 1\
jcollecled. The NPA documents in his offices as ti]ell as s Japtop were

calliscted, The CEQ informed Adv Mrwebl that all the information on his

taptop will be transferred o & new laptop, which was done immediately

and left on his dasf.

41.1.4 According to the Sunday Independent of 31 August 2014, Adv Mwebl
fold the Sunday Independent that hls office was ralded this week 29

August 2014), with documents and his lapiop being selzed. According to

the, Sunday Independent, he remarked as follows:
"l have no idea why they docided lo sefze the documants and sompiters

in my office and In a sanée close my work stafion.”,
: {

He further told the pewspaper that the move had suprised him and that
*This was embarrassing and humifialing. | was being constiuctively

dismissed”. (See Annexure “0”)

41.1.5 As Indlcated In paragraphs 41,1.1 to 41.1.3 above, the statemenis made
by Adv Mwebl's lo the Sunday independent are false and must have been
done with the Intention to tamish the NPA. In a statement lssued by the
NPA’s gpokesperson on 2 September 2014, the correot facls were

provided 10 the media a8 par Annexure o,

18
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* 41.1.6 Accolding lo media raﬁorts Adv Miwehl over the weekend of 31 August

206
(
A
( 447
Lo s
( - i

2014, publicly critioized Judge Murphy's judgment in the ebove FUL

matter. He allegedly told the Sunday independent;
"Therefore, how can my declsion to drop charges against him have baen

Hlegai? | havo mainlained a consistent positian, though misintetpreted by

Judge Murphy, thet the case against Mdiul was defaclive, and fhat the
atfer was prematurely enrolled, as there was no svidence linking him to

the arlmes.. (Erophasis added) (See Annexure “E”)

In the same slatement of the NPA refdirad to In par 41..5 ahove, the NPA

distanced itself from Adv Mwebf's remarke and slated as follows:

"The Institution respeots e indspendence of the Judiclaly, and fufly
understends the role which ‘the judiclaty plays in strengthening our
dermocracy and is responsfbm‘(y fo assist in this process by ghving effect lo

ihe judgments of the pourls.
Tharefore tha NPA distances itself from remarks that seak fo uhderemine

court }udgmenla &

The above etiticlsm of & Judge of the High Gourt, and by mplication also
the Supreme Courl of Appeale, which Courl confirmed the iudgment of
Musphy J, is unbecoming of a ssnlor member of the NPA and his conduct
brings the NPA into disrepute. Durdng ihe weekend {7 September 2014),
he publicly crlicizes the NPA and senior managers In oufrageous terms.
He has done so In splfe of the Minlster's and my request that we ehould
refraln from commenting on these maltlers n the press (Seo Annexure
T, Furthermore. It I8 aiso NPA policy that onfy certaln identiftled
members of the NPA are authorized fo speak to the media,

. 42, Vhave given Adv Mrwebf ample opportunity and time to corredt het behavior, but i
hasg Unfortunately become clear 10 me that he simply remsas to recognise my

19
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authorily as head of‘the NPA. Such Insubordination ls Intolerable and makes 1t

. Very difficull to perform my duties and.sheuld be sufficient grounds.for suspension

Ad paragraph b{c) above: To Inform the Minister alrout steps already taken
by the NPA 'and staps tg be taken agalnst the three senlor members of the

NPA concorned

As indicated in the memorandum marked Annoxure “A”, the NPA has already
taken or intend taking the following steps agalnat the three senior NPA members

(a) The Minlsier was Informed regarding thelr conduct,
(b} The Minister was requested to forward the NPA's tequest to the Prasiden

end to requesl him to provisionally suspend Advocates Nomgeobo Jiba,
Sthambiso Lewience Mrwebl, and Sibonglle Mzinyathl from thelr offices

concernad:

Proseoutions, respem;'vely, bending an enqulry into thelr fitness to hold such
offices and the finalisatlon of the envisaged criminal investigations and
-outstanding inquirles and fnvestigations and action of the Geheral Councl-of
the Bar. ’

The Court judgmants, togethar with Counsel's opinion 10 fay criminat charges
agalnst the three members, were tefarred 1o the South African Pollce Service
with a view to opsn criminal investigafions for perjury against alf thres senior
membsts of the NPA. Investigation in this matter has already commenced
under Pretoria Bentral CAS 55/08/2014.

The findings mads In the Cour udgmenta agalnat the three senior members
of the NPA were refeired to the General Councll of the Bar (GCB) to consider
action in terms of saction 7 of the Admisslon of Advocates Act, 1964 (Aot No.
74 of 1964), o )

As olugded o In paragraghs 30.1 lo 30.8 abovs, the NPA Is currently also
Investigating charges of wrongfully and intentionatly defeating or obstrucling
the course of juslice, Aftor fuﬂﬁarjnvesﬂgaﬁon and aonsultatlc;n with the

@

(e}

20 |

as Deputy National Director of Public Prosscutions and Directors of Public
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different counse! teains, a decision will be made as 1o whaller official

charges will be lald against Advocates Jiba and Mrwebi,
On 4 September 2014 a furher memorandum was submitied fo the GCB

requesling them to also take into accoun! the further dishonesi conduci as
referred o above, .
(6) As indicated in paragraphs 38 and 37 above, criminal procesdings have

officially been Institute against Adv Mrwebl. He wiil appear in courl on 26

Sentember 2015.
The NPA envisages informing the Presidant fn & separate letler about these
charges and also infent emphasising the imporance 1o suspend Adv Mivwebl

passible pending the oulcoma of the {rial,

{m
8s soon J
r Adv MfWGbl.

clearly has a nagative influsnce on the funclioning of the NPA and it i In the
Interest of the NPA and conduche for proper discipline thai Adv Mrwebi
should nat be prasent at his office at the NPA. Therefors, | have requesfad
the Chilef Exaculive Officer of the NPA to grant Adv Mrwebl specia) leave in
terms of the NPA's Leave Polic;r, read with @ Presidentlal delermaination
Issuad by the fate President Nelson Mandela in December 1998, pending a

decision by the President to suspend him or not.

Ad paragraph 5{d} above; To Inform the Minister about the NPA’s
submission directly made to the President

It 1s understood that the Minister Indloated about lwe weeks ago that he has nol

_yat approached the President regarding the NPA's recommendatlons contained in

the memorandigm marked Annexura “A,

| wish to rellerate that the purpose of the memorandum (Annexurs YA") was o
Inform the Minlster regarding the adverse flndings made agalnst ihe fhrae sentor

members of the NPA and lo requea! the. M!nlster [ )
(a} forward lhe contents of that memorandum fo the Prasident;

o
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1

(b) approach the President and to roguest him o provisionally suspen (he three
senior members congerned from thelr offices as Deputy Mational Direclor of
Public Prosecutions and Directors of Public Prosecutions, respeclively,
pending an anguiry Into thelr fitness 1o hold such offices and the finallsatfon
of tho envisaged criminal Invostigations and outstanding Inquitles and

Invesligations and actian of ihe General Councll of the Bar.

I am of the view Ihat Iéli_ure to brng this serlous matter under the altention of the
President fs causing a crediblifty crsls for the NPA as a whole, The media s

constantly referrng to the lack of vonfidence in the NPA, As recent as June 2014,
that the NPA appears to be “chaolic arid

Justive Edwin Cameron remark:
as i should. Justice Camercon said while he

dysfunciiona’® and It is not performi
was nol fully aware of whai was happening within the NPA, from the outside

"things look chaotic®. He further sald that "There is a Jack of confidence in It fthe

NPAJ and such chaos would inhibit the NPA's abillty 10 function at fts best,

The apinion is held that It is time to bring stabiilty within the NPA and our request
to the President in this regard is of the utmost of impertance snd should be
comrunlcated to the President as a maller of urpency, Therefore, a- decizion has
been laken to once agaln inform you aboul these serous allegations agalnst the

" fhree senior menbers of the NPA; to fnform you about further serlous allegations

- of dishonesly and criminal charges instituted against some of these senfor
members; and to approach the President diectly so as to bring ihe matter afficiatly

under his altantion.

{e

———

et sy




FP-JGZ-1075
MSON184.23 (1091)

210

u that 1 have -prapared a ‘further

m_yo
he same

of tha above, 1 wish to Infon
hereof to the President along t

ubmisslon

48. in view
memorahdum for the dlrect §

lines gol oul above,

i\ L'
7 Mr 1.5.0, Nxasana
Natlonal Director of rubile Prose

l Date: \ R - of - LAY

cutions

3




708

FP-JGZ-1076

MSON185 (685 )

" ORL-Sky

ATTOSNEYS AT LAw

¥ Pemtws Rowa Cotmar My PPy, S80F Tod OV} 430 200403041 Fae (0103480 1958
B0 BO% M2 ttralabicwa 2102 Emed Adomns pa@metndave e 29 DOCEN £ nll

3 Novembar 2014

Dear Mr Hulley

RE: NATIONAL DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC PROSECUTIONS/
PRESIDENT OF THE REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA IN RE: THE

NDPP'S FITNESS TO HOLD OFFICE

Wemhtohhﬂmbmwﬁunmnmmmhammdmamm
30 October 2014,

We confirm that you have raised concemns aboul ihe inordinate lime the malfar is tking
and ihat in your view the delay s sitrbytsbie Yo our client,

You are i no dout swwe Mmewmhasbeenoulomeuounwm;me
wamaﬁmalsa:nsocraﬁm{lﬂé} Conference betwsen mp 150 and 28% Qclober 2014,
&5 3 result of shich it had bean drﬁmmcemoppwwy:oemsult

Wa have howsver ungently and subsequent to our lelaphonic convarsafion consylled
with dbntmmshs!mcwduswrﬁpordas foliows ;.

1, cmrnwmmwmmmmamwa&mmasmcumm
proposed, :

2, Although ctignt would heve preferred to have the madter rasalved by way of
enquiry, he Is of the view that f is i mm:mmsmflheﬂmtunmm
mmmmwsmmmmma.

3 nahwubepmmmmmmawrdenldoeanmhmmwahemmhe
haslnlawbragreeingtoexphmﬂlemedubnmwasmme
proposats oﬂhamediatarshaﬂmtbab!ndngon!ﬂmurﬁesa expressly egreed o

in wrilmg.
-3 L2
o ”*:::r:;'mm"*mmm vatn) Calhs Movm Ny Y S
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ATTORNEYS a7 Law
1 Punes Spae Carner Riey. Santontwaw. 2008 Tl (0712438 130411401 P an 1001 480 1534
FOBOK 51728 Mamhalicam 2107 hammwm e DOCEX 424 S

Ymmmmmmmmmmunmmmammmmm
peoposed mediaior, the lenms of reference for the mediation and al the logisiics that

nmmm.wrm:mimmammmmwsmsm
@ Agemy.memnmmmommmwmmmmmmsemmw

certificata
Fuﬂhnnm.maimmmmpmmmmésawmmmdmcﬁmmb (0

Iﬁndbr!ck!mdedgereceipl nﬂhis!euemiﬂlawemmm your further advises,

Yours Falthiuly

([ S

Par email; michasi@hutieync, co.2a

@,
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2 Protes Rosd, Comiw Hiyy, Bediordvien;, 2000 Tok: (D11) 450 23841841 Pz ; [071) 43D t8uy
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10" DECEMBER 2014

' THE PRESIDENCY
REPUBLIC OF 80UTH AFRICA

PRETORIA

ATTENTION: BONIBIWE MOXHENE
Emalt:bonleiwe@prasidency.gov.za

(C-' RE: NATIONAL DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC PROSECUTIONS /f
PRESIDENT OF REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

. Wa refar o the above mattar and parficidarfy to the meeting ws held on the 08"
mmatmmmmamumwmuwama

1.1 Fdlmﬂnmmmmmimmwumnumu.m
requestad you fo furmish us with the NOPP's total unaxpirad larm

package In ine with the annaxure o the pressntation.
12 You reweutodthaNDPPtofmﬂshmwihhbnmﬂonmga@ng:

1.21 l.eave balances; and
122 Psnslonbsneﬂh(5.12{8)uc{ﬂ)nfﬂsNPAAclSZoHaBBtNPA

Act)

1.3,  We wil furnish you with the above Information by no lster than the
cloge of busineas on Thursday the 119 December 204,

Followdng our discuesions of the 08 kstant and the subsequent Instruciions
mmwmmmmmmmmmmm

fotioving on
24 Wa ura of the firm viaw that the prescripts which you sought to rely on
pa&hhghnﬂhmmndapplcauemthepmmuaa?ms

Tolowing reasons:

:) 2.

T AT AR, Lt 0 e
he e e e e i
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l 241 Tha proviglons of tha NPA Act which you sesk to mly upen deal with a
scenario where tha NOPP Is removet from offica in tarns of Sacion

12(6)(2).

3. The procedure thenaof Is succinclly speli oul In Section 12 subseclions 8,7.8 and
Sofandtha NFA Aot

We would censequantly like (o draw the failowing to your attention:

7
L 3.1 Thatl has nevar been tha NDPP's Intsntion to rasign from his pashion since
he considers himssif o be 2 At and propar persen 1o fold s poaltion.

4.  The proposed settiemant wes triggered by the discusslons which the NDPP
had with the Prasidant following the latier's announcemant of his declsion i
hold en enquiry Into the NDPP'e fitness to hold office and ths posstls

stspension pending the enquiry,

8, Cur Instructions fther sre thet the meeting betwean the NDPP and the
President orly tock piaes efier numarous attampts by the NDPP to sealk
sudienca with the President without succass,

8, nnwubemmburedﬂm!ﬂwonlyﬁmeﬂmeimWEbmmma
NDFF was after the latter had lodged & cout spplicatlon, ke slfs,
Interdicting ihe President from auspending the NOFP bafors the Pragident
providad further and sufficlent particularity o enable th NDPP to respond or
show cavars why ha should not bs suspendsd,

7. WaawMMMnahMﬁmﬁeWPmmmﬂPmm
he NOPP mﬂaﬂvamdaarthathawmwywnsldsrsiapplngdmm
office i he is fully compensated for the remalinder of his enti contract gg

D hesad of the National Prassculing Authority.
8 We relierate that there is no factual or tmsls for our cllend o d
from his pasitian. togel M

B it s our considered view, inligluofﬂiaabovamalﬂ:emmufmamm
At read with tha Provisions of the Public Service Acl, which you have afiuded

1, do not apply {o this proposed sattament.

L]

T P AR A M L e 0. Accrons gt o G
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10.  In the ckcumstancas, our cilant will only consider the option of leaving ofiics,
3% he President would want kim ©, If he s fully compensated for the

remakidar of his contract.

1. Wa confim that the Presidant acdvieed ua the! the Minister of tha Staim
Security Agoncy ( the Minister) has confirnad that ha has upheld the NDPP's
appadl agelat e refusal to grart bim the oeculy clearancs and he has
almady tssued it but he i walling W fand i over to the NDPF upon
firalication of seitlement betvean tha pares.

12.  While we do o msmmmmmem?a dachbnofhu;phuuw
NDPP's appea our respe W graniing sacurity
clearance certificete fo the NOPP 1s endfor should not be @ condttion for any

propasad
it to your attention that we are dispstching a

13, We am accordingly biin
iatter to memhhrbgf’;?ma the Sacurly Ciesrance Certificate I the

NOPP,
14. Weawall Io hear from you,

Bloars PN e T 0T (SR N M e L) i O Az Bty ) B et
Austid by: Lotorsonst Villoerr & P (RALS LM (v murans! L Fatuftots aswrsvdunt
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THE FRESIDENCY 11N DECEMBER 2014
REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFSRHCA
PRETORMA

ATTENTIOM: BONIBIWE MOKHENE
Emal:bonisiwe @prosidency.gov.ee

RE: NATIONAL DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC PROSECUTIONS /f
PRESIDENT OF REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

The above matler refars.
Attached hareto find coples of the following documants for your attention:

1-

2'

copy of tha NDPP's estimated pension benafits, before tax, ae at the end of
Decamber 2014,

eglimated emount of Iaava days In tarms of the NDPF's Corditions of
employmant, .2 four (4) leave days remaining bafore the end of 2014,

Trusting that you will firnd the above In ardar.

Cmear :

Aadeind by,

A S MBI Lt M oty o i
g B N ot U ety et et 8t N

Apuiace Mooty 10O 11,

Regtie JHUDHTIN - VAT Reghvstion Mo 10010205~ Prezaca Masdor B3 A0
¥

£k

P e o B

20



FP-JGZ-1082
MSON191 {691)

714

08.44:40 Thu Dge 11, 2014 Z
ey COYDITICHE /RN YT 75 D FAOSRCTIZIG Myt 200 d=12=31

FBREAL BRTY
4.08.11 124} EZNOUTRY ATAVE CRROITH 0Br 44124, 2

PERSALRD: S6RVSTOT TS —— oA T TR P TR T o
45 tAT 203 COMSRACT Cuss cwTe, |5 m:rgnso

QUAL LYY QATIL.. .1 2033tp01
APPOININENT DATE....s 20133007

LEAVE GROGP,,....... 0008 (ZWTRACE WORARRA (WITN Gane COPTARIT S}

LEAYE QYCLE ACCOAAL JURaRIATION

CATEGORY MAKK narz CAEDITY DAYS EODE DESCNLIFTIOR b
S b A e . TR SRS S p——— £

VACATION CORREWT, - 2014 4.40 o 2020 CONTRANT WORKERS: ARPOTWTID

VACATION MEY,..: = 2013 0,00 23 2p20 caPRACY WoRNEDES, AEPO NN

SICK FULL.,,,,,.; - 2013 32.00 38 2001 pIok vaavs, CORTHACT NoARBRa

mnnum:mmmmmmm

CARVEU LEAUE CRRDIY,,,..; 2.00, CAPFED chxnry AUDITAD. ,,.:
LEAVE LAST UPOATEN......s ofy o1 CAPBED DREOTT ADIT DATE. 4
el hyar " :mmu

’m“ Imqm.a.-ai'* T DATE *asersagenna sl

LEAYE AURMIMDNTY BLOCEED! & oekidureion’ Inurearon. . )

VRACATION ¢, Iy CycLe, . 0,

q1ck rmﬁ?}'{’muﬁmmcrnﬂ..., oed O.sg 10

47 X Rifz253,
260, )/

R2% /by
foforts bay

e

MG‘-—'W



Hs

FP-JGZ-1083

MSON192 (§92)

AEPUSIG Of SUTH AFRICA
Shirley Namutandani ptnidRsgocReciat
Mabunda Incorporated
2 Protea Road, Comer Rifey
Bernifordviaw
2008
Per amal: shideyn@mabundainc.co.za
12 Dacembar 2044 0
Dear Sirs,
NOPP ! PRESIDENY OF THE REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

! refer fo your comaspondsnce deted 10 December 2014 addrassed lo The
Prasidency and respond therslo as follows:
1 W ls not my Intentlon to travarse each and every allegation or avement contained
In your corespondence notwithstanding certain glaring Inaccuracies and
missigiemants of fact. | raserva 1he right io do so in the event that i becomes elther
AGCAsSary or appropriate.
2. Whlls| any negoliated eattiement partalning lo your clients' employment as NDPP
aught proparly io ba had with the Minlatar of Justica and Correctional Semces, the
President sssumed this sole mindful as he was of cerlain rasarvations which had
bean exprassed rogarding the Minister, Whilst ol zoknowledging these 1o ba
corract, the President a3 Head of Goveramenl interacted with your clanl.
Notwithstanding such intervention, the Presidant is not at tiberty to depart from
acceptad proseripts which regulate govemment conduct,
3. Whal now appaars apparsnt is that the parties ara incapabls of rasaiving the
mater alone and | aiust therefore ravert to tha initlal suggestion of making use af the
servicas of an independent mediatar in order to find a settlement to the matter,
Accordingly, | request that you indicate by no Ister than Thirsday
18 Dacember 2014 your Inlention to embark on an indepandent and confidantisl
mediation process regarding your cllent's tanure as NDPP.
Youra 5

7 13 H
Adv. Burdsfue Mikhene i
Legal Advisor lo the President |

S
!
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THE PRESIDENCY 15™ JANUARY 2015
REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA
PRETORIA

ATTENTION: BONISIWE MAKHENE
Emall:barislm@pusldcm,gov.n

RE: NATIONAL DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC PROSECUTIONS/

PRESIDENT OF REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

We scknowladge racelpt of your latter deted the 08" December 2014 and

" teceived by our office on tha 05™ January 2015.

We place on rscorg that we hava been uahingandoorrespondinqmm

. Michas! tullay before you were Iniroduced 10 us st the legal advisor 1o the

Frasidant,
Al ull matarizt imas Mr Hullsy hag always rapresented (o us, which we aceapt

] thathams&ebgafmmmﬂveoftha?msident.kwasathhlnmm

end requesi that the format engapement which bears referance was initlatedg,
We are noling the lone of your latler, which is somewhat unsavoury gno

" unreconcilistory, We would Ue o bring o your aliention thai pey

commimicalion 1 Mr Hulley daiod tha 03" November 2014 is stit of
relevance in this case and equally remains on racord. We enclosa herewith a
cupy of the sald latter recsived ang read by Mr Muliey for the sags of your

referenca, .
You will note from the said leltertlulourcﬂenihaﬁalmy:boenandstm

' remalns amenable o tha Praposad medigtion, it a however apposits thal you

atlend o the proposed lemmg of referance for the medlation, for consideration
and acceptanca by aur client, In this rogand you are spacilically referred 1o
parsgraphs 1 and 3. respectively, The reminder of the latter in paricular
paragiaph 2 thereof remaitis our clent’s position,

Duatw ‘Promesllossaiitsdunys, § Pint JUCW) Milntawr L dpnd
e Irits e Forent A | e R R SRR e bnime e o cwey

Al
Ta

YiRgs 1 Prac {RALL LLM fnicinatana Lm mmm‘w LB {UNNE),

Uit by, Dowail] L aanary
boansoenreitiate |0 (UILALAOs Crar
TComares Lipism) D0 Bhriene oo Lk T T ALV

Uaursamen
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8. We must record that our cllent Is amanabls 15 a propased independan
medialien and not @ confidantial cne you seem 10 ba proposing,

7. We further wish 10 record that our clian! has &t no siage Initated te
discussions regarding settiemant propoeat.
8. In tesms of paragraph 2 of your iefer, you szem ln be crealing an imprassion
@ opinion in this mgerd. We are' aquelly nawsm of any fonnal matling

9. Trusting that you witl find the abovs in orler

Yours foithh

O

Direci -Bripsnfiiny A Prac L , P
e A e e R e trre it 0w Ciona

Ay
Asioted oy Gebroty Learad biian & fo AL LU ﬁntuuLl an{l'ﬂlNh"ﬂuw LB frtving
Tebagatnnos enkayhabrbar] I 1Y AR A Mlrtydy L JDoAL) i LLB L
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THE PRERIDENCY
REPLELIC OF BOUTH AFICA
Privade Bag R100S, Prwicetn, V0T

Ms Nemutandani

Mebunda Incorporated

2 Proisa Road, Comer Riley
BERDFOROVIEW

2008

Per emalt shiisyn@mabundalne.co.za
23 January 2015 0

Dear Medam

MATIONAL DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC PROSECUTIONS/PRESIDENT OF THE
REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

Irafer to your ragent correspandance In raepact of this matter and resarve our rights
{o deal with carialn aspacts contalned tharein,

It appaars apparend thet inaufficlent progress haa baen made in raspact of rssokving
your cllent's curreni status as National Cireclor of Public Prosacutions,

I must accordingly adviss that after oonsideration of the matter, President Zuma has
laken & daclsion to proceed with the Enquiry inta Mr Nxasana's fitness fo hold offics.

The matter wifl now proceed aceordingly. 20

Yaurs Jin

o

Legal Advisor 1o the Presidant

yino &

Ju
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THE PRESIDENCY 26™ JANUARY 2013
REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

PRETORIA

ATTENTION: SONISIWE MAKHENE
@ Email:bonisiwe@presidency.aov.za

RE: NATIONAL DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC PROSECUTIDNS//
PRESIDENT DF REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

1. We refer to your letter dated 23 January 2015,

2. We nots the Prasident’s intentlon to proceed with the inquiry into ur client's
fitness to hold office.

3. Kindly advise us when we can @xpect to receive the Tarms of Reference for
the ingquiry.

4. We urgently await to hear from you.

Yours foithfully,
Mbt(l_ga Intorporated

O 5

o
Per:if S NEMUTANDANT

Detarior Permrsanfvg asflohonde:  pres s i LM Letras LN Adrarvay Aphing . Comry
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Offico of the EOR
Nationgl Bivestor of Pubile £..\185
‘ Proseasdiions - ::;:-';‘._’,:" g ¥

The Honourebls Mr Jacob G Zuna
Presidant of s
Rapublg of South Afics

1

Ovar Prealdan! Zuma

Victunjs & Grlfiiha Ropressnistiona for Ilu Nattona! Oimolar of Public
Maenios Bulkding ProvecuNlans in responsa fo noties of immtion to slapand In
23 Wbtk s Avenve fervens of section 12{6){a) of tha Natlons! Prosscuting Authority
. -) Wrind Pk Act, 33 of 1888 ["'the NPA Aal"}
e {_‘" Shwton
f o
P/Nes X752 Discrationary powsr to suspend
Brubonic
1
. 1. Sacfion 126)2) of the NPA Att providos for i Pmaldent to

gﬂgﬁ-m provisionally suspand fve NDPP from hie or her offica pending
an Inquiry ki his or her fRness fo hold such affics.

By tetter daled § Jily 2014, 1 was hiormed of your Intention to

asiablish an inquiry In tsrrns of section 12{8)(s) into my Mnase 10

1o hold offfica. Ths rexsone for tha ingulky were not given, nor

3 cid tha lattar et out the sllegalions giving dse o the Inquiy,

'!r-r) | 3 On 30 July 2014, | recelved 2 noties biviing e fo rake

represantsiions 68 © why ! shauld not bg suspanded fram my

59 positan as the Nallona! Dimolar of Publlc Prosscutions

L CNDPP?). The alisgalions thal ure the rewsan for the Inquiry
are the following:

34. Mycriminal convicions for violant conduct;

Ry L

Jortice i ous 1acitly 5o thot propl con Dve bt bradom ond maurly 4 '
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32. Commenls reportsd in rradis 1o heve been mids by
ine thet ars unbacoming of en NOFP, ara dvisive and
hava tha efiect of bringhng the NPA Inf disrepyte; and
The faliura to kck of disclosure of facis end

creumatances of prosecutions that | faced.

On rageipt of this leitar, ) immedigisly wiota o you asking for

addijonal Gpe, unll Frdey B August 20, to make
mpresentalons =s io why | shouid not be suepsnded,

My reasons kx recuesting mors ms lo respond are that ]
auffered @ fomily bamavomand and had fo help exganizs and
prepare for the funersl on Eatundsy 2 August 2044, and that §
nesded daishs of the alisgefions nmde agiinst me I your
nofice of SO July 2014 o that § can proparly prapers for and

R
| sernind you thet thees detuils are the following:

8.1.  Delalk of it crimial convictions mfased (o In B fist
tnifiat polak;

82 ml_lluflluwmlmaumthumm.
the daias op which | am alleged to have mate tham
and the suecks In which they were pubiished:

6.3.  Dotells relaing to the prosacutions | am scoused of ngt
discloshg and datslie of 10 whem and whan ( fallsd iy

maka thesa alfsged disclogures.

By 15:65 1 had not yet racsived confimation thet you had
grarted mu more me io e my representafions, | take thet
ailurs to razpond o mann that you do nol grant my requasL

@

MSON210
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Camequently, | am forced 1o maka thess representations

withatd edequats nformaion Bt would ensble e t respund
properly and withold beleg given sufficlent time i prepace my

re3ponse.

Suspsnglon =the gamaral ruls
S, Saefion 12(t)s) of ths NPA At empoven the Preskisnt (o

suspand the NDPP panding an inquiy into his of het fineas to
hald office, The NPA Aot Is st on 1he cimumstances thet
et it for the Prasidant fo exarcles ihis disaetion. My
understanding of #12(6) ls thet the Preskisnt I8 given o
decrelionary power fo sispend, That means he must concse
& stject to the lw and the requitements of faimess and

Tha chjet of i Prasident's disorstionary powes % suapend
Is to protact the ntegrily of the offce of fha NDPF ang &

Fvtnct any pending ivesligelion fum Impropar Influanca o
Intasfarance by an NDPF wha i undar Investigation,

1a.

11, Ho, = swspersion withaut 8 huamg o an mdequste
opparkinly {p ba heard weald b trdalr, And 8 suspension fn
the absence of sleyalions of sefous miscondudt’ sind
Teasursbia gromda for believing that the NDPP will intarfere
with or jeoperdies x1 iwestgaton Into the alegations, woud
MhmﬁhmMmypmrhmﬂdhm

tawhilly or rationally."

! mvmmmwmwwummmum
wmm&.umummmumﬂ.;

$
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Ths aBogetions ogalast me do mot consiiivie serfous

Bection 271A{b) of the Crimins] Procadure Act, enlities 1o 1o
apply 1o expinge my aiminal secord.  Allough § have not
dmw.lhlandbdnu. Whan { do, the Blecior-Banom)]
wbnnhugdbmﬂvmamofmmmt
Theae two camvictions will fall awsy and in few, | will not Have
any aimins] canvictions,

‘mnm mu!b ufwdu !m; mm:. mmwuuu
i lsok place aimoet 30 years ego, They s unrelsied to the
NPA or to my reaponsiiities a3 NOPP niet wete Uy raluted
to an employmant sliuxdon,

The fist susault happenad bn 1985, 1 do neot recell o delais
o what § wes found gulty of. [ heod forpotion about &, { was
reminded of 1 whan { applied for imy securly clearancs during
Decernber 2013, | wes comvicted of the first sasauton 23 July
1635, At the fime | was 17 yaars old. | was cautioned and

disahrped,

The second ssthult happenad in 1808, at Nongome. 1 waa
chaged and convicted on 13 Novamber 1968 of common

assgult for ansaulting my phtflend ot the tma, | remembar
that my gictidond and 1 Wad ® fight, elthough § do not reeall they
delole, { was santanced to 30 duys imprisonment or m 150

fins, | pald the fns,

I tny apphcation for atimizalon w3 sn atiomay, mads i the
Pistemariteburg  High Court, | discloded the assar

MSON212

230

G

1s}



245

18,

18,

FP-JGZ-1093

conviction. The High Cowrt faund me fo be & Mt wod proper
parson to be admitied g3 an sitomay of the High Gourl,

The {1t and proper test for admission as an atiomay is the
same or substantialy shnfiar to the R end propar et for
appointment ss NDPP.® A High Caurt has winsady famd mo to
be fif and propas, [ has shwedy found that my past oriminal
nscacd does ol ks me unii o Improper b be sdmiliod as
an aliamey. Thera cannct be any reascn why o vary old
ordminad canvictiond for minor offencas, that will ba expunged,
should vender me unfR or Inproper to be appolnted as NDPP,

Haoorted commands (n the media

I have raquesied detalls aboid what commans | eflsgadly
mada, wheh | made B and in whet mudis they were
reporied, AL the (ms of making Linss submisslons, | was not
provided with s Informetion.

tmmmm*mmwmm&my
Independant and iw Weakend Argus on 1.Juns 2014 snd the
Sunday Times on & &uly 2014,

I the Interviaw, | am repariad ge saying:
201. Fommer Ministsr of Justice askad me (o reaign;

202, Two of ry deputies, Jibe and Mrneb! wam plotilng In
hive me fired;

208 Jiba hed sanclonad pecpie lo lvestigate ma with e
intantion of *frnding dirt on ma®

1 mﬂvmthmmwmnmmuﬁ
§
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204. Hummwmowommmmn
nrd inquiry to detarming whather { was e fit and proper
poison from the madia,

Thesa asws repoitd arm sccurta, As | confimed fn my
ragponué 1o the Minfster datad 22 May 2014, he aaked me o
realyn at 5 meeling on 21 Moy 2014, That elisgafons trus,

At | explalnad In my responsa to yor an 21 Juns 2034:

2.1, As wxiy uv Oclsbar 2013 | was provided with two

aftdavily from two NPA ampioyees confiming that

fhey had bein approachied by Cokinel Wetcorie "W5" 10
Mhiongs, 8 member of the Hawks far information abowt

me. One of them provided a volca relording b which

Col Mhiongo s heard to confinn that ke was woting on

the euthodly of Depuly NDPP Nomgeobo Jis fo

coflact harmation about me to dscred) me,

222, Asaow 38 | w3 mads aware of ts | brovght &t {o tha
attuntion of the Exscutive Commitios of ihe NPA,

222, | have also trought thess allegations te your aftanion
and askad that you kweetialo tem,

224, R wes w0 brought fo my atherdon that rumoum sboud

mamm One of the nmows is tat }
Intended relstetng crimina) churges egsinst the

T
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228 T informalion by Cof Mhiongo givea rise, ot the very
logst, 16 & masonable suspicion thal there i @ plot by
Jibs f discredit ma,

| travs asknd for, Gt have pot been provided with detafls of
the prossoulions referred to It the nollcs. Sacouse of tvs |

am forced 10 speculats,

t sunpect fhat this allsgation relaies (o two maties. The Brst
miatrs 10 my el and subssquent sequitel for misder,
Srielly, lire facls are that iy Decamber 1885, lran atack by e
numbsr of meq on the occupanis (incieling ma) st my
glriiend's houss, | meecied In ael! defernce and one of te
perpelralors Sad. | wes scquitied of @ chasge of murder,

| explsinad the background clrevimatances in my lstier o you
on 21 Jure 2014, § siso raised it with the former Minsier of
Justice and Constititional Davelopmant when § mat with Mim
on 21 Mey 2014,

At e time Ty Minister questioned why 1 lred nof discivsad
that | hod been srasled for mundar when | sas uadargolig my
securlly clownance. | did discioss thesa facts b the S8A
brfore R refused & grant me 4 bop ssorst sasally cleamnse,

The secand Incident il | suspaist i buing rafamad lo is an
svent fhat ook plece diring Octobar 2042, Bdelly, the focts

e (ha foliowing:

271, Athough | caunot remembsr the mmct dale, ong
evening i1 Oclober 2012 while deving my wife's BARY

MSON215
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5208 siong Sydnsy Roxd, | wae amesied for
inconaldersta difving and msiating arrsst.

272. (wes reladsed on R10DQ police bal. The fallowing
mornlmlmﬂlohmnanlmm_mn. The
eanior public prosacidar, Me Nivil dedined b place the

matter on the rol?,

21.3. ! have lald esbming charpes against e polce efficens
that smastud mo. { heve subsaguently leamed Bat iwo
of tha polics officers are In fagt polics negendals, That

. la g nvastigation haw ot yet bean fnalbed.
é No justifization to suspend

28, mdmmnmbwmmmm
serious, Them er no oulstanding prusecutions sgalnet me.

20, My previoue arimins! comviclions do mot e ot of my
appolntment 53 NOPP, my camying out my dulis 2= NDPR o
the exnrcine by any empioyen of the NPA of his or her duties,

g 3. The fect epd chrumsiances melsiad o my edming

[ convictions, my ecquitial dwing 1965 for muwder and the
é? withdrawa! of the Seplembar 2013 charge for noenaidarate

% diiving are a metler of publn racord, 0

~ 3}, They ars accessibla cowt flles or fies huld by ths BAPS,
These lavestigeilons \were complaled almost 30 years ago,
Thetp I8 no nesd for wry additioos! Investigrtion. And, in s0
far us the Pranidant might went to Inveslizate thass matere,
they da riot iwoive information heid by the NPA, nar do thay
|

et

10
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lovalve smpicyses of e NPA. It I self evident that, as
NDPP, | cannol interfiers with or kusnos thet investigation.

Thes soice of my commanta to the medi is Col Milenge:, He
llnﬂl_nmplomolmﬂl'& He wovks for the Hewke, The

informstion mlaiing 1o his Investigation of ma Is not held by th
NPA but by him, | have no control or infivence over hisa and

cannat influence or infetfara with him during the cowrte of shy
vt kiion oo the infomation held by him,

it iy galf aviderit that ) carmet intartare with or nfluence tha
former Ministor relaling lo b request o me b sk, |

informed e former Minkier of bl request. My ectamants fo

the madia sbout hls raquest are zecurabs,

Prejudios

in figit of B mbave, the offics of the NDPP and | wil ba
projusdiced if | am suspendad.

The oifios of the NOPP Wi by prujudiced by mw suspenaion
becsuss there em no grounds for my suspansion and nothing
o wamant &. Yo suspend I these chwmsiancas would

amoent io Intarfiarence wath the offics of 8ig NDPP.

im'u_mulmmmmhammnmw
Hght lo exerles my duiss ws NOPP, imposed wpon me by

I was nformed of your dclaion fo esieblsh an lnquiry In terme
of saction 12(G){a)() on 4 Jdudy 2044, | hve not influencad o
dnkerfared with or allempied to Wl or Inlarars with ay
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236

parmon or sny informmtion or dociments connecied o the
Risgalions ghing rise to the fxquly.

38, Accondlngly, thvem la no reason why | should not be aflowed o
mmwmmmmmmmm

Yours sinceraly

lﬂf%

Netional of Pyblla Presecufiong
Date: ot foafaeny

A
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Mxolisi M. Nxasana

From: Mxolisi M. Nxasana

Sent: Thursday, May 22, 2014 4:38 PM
To: ‘Ministry@justice.gov.za'

Cc: ‘kmaditla@justice.gov.za'
Subject: Meeting on 21 May 2014
Attachments: Letter to Minister.pdf

Dear Honourable Minister
Please find letter attached hereto.
Regards,

Mr Mxalisi Nxasana

Wational Director of Public Prosecutions (NDPP)
"*~gal Prosecuting Authority

T wn: 02 845 6758

Fax No: 017 843 I0RE
e-mail: mixasanafinpa.gov.za




Office of the
National Director of Public

L ]
Prosec Ut ions NATIONAL PROSECUTING AUTHORITY
South Africa
Mr J Radebe
The Honourable Minister
Victoria & Griffiths Department of Justice & Constitutional Development
Mxenge Building ;
22 May 2014
12 Vestluke Avenue
,.eavind Park
Silverton Dear Minister Radebe
P/Bag X752
Pretoria RE: THE MEETING ON 21 MAY 2014 BETWEEN MYSELF, YOUR GOOD SELF & THE
0001 DIRECTOR GENERAL
Tel: {012) 845-6000 | refer to the above meeting and confirm the following:

Fax: (012) 804 9529

1. That yesterday morning | received a call on my cellphone from your Personal
WWW.NPGa.gov.z0

Assistant, Kgomotso who informed me that you wanted to see me as soon as
you have landed at OR Tambo Airport from Cape Town.

2. That later in the day | received a further telephone cali from Kgomotso
confirming that the meeting was going to take place at your office at 20:30
yesterday.

3. That | duly turned up for the meeting and met you and the Director General,
Miss Sindane, at your office,

4, That you told me that yesterday morning, i.e. 21 May 2014 you were
informed by the State Security Agency (5SA) that after they had conducted
some investigations about me they decided not to issue me a Top Security
Clearance Certificate.

5. That the reasons for the 55A’s refusal to issue me a Top Security Clearance
Certificate are the following:

5.1 thatl did not disclose the fact that during 1985 | was charged with a case

of Murder;

5.2  that in about August 2013 ) was arrested for Inconsiderate Driving and

Resisting Arrest;

Justice in our society so that people can live in freedom and security



5.3

5.4

5.5

6.
6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

7.

FP-JGZ-1101 MSON332

that in about 1998 | was fined by the KwaZulu-Natal Law Society for
Failure to lodge and/prosecute a client’s claim timeously and
expeditiously thus allowing it to prescribe; and lastly
that 1 stopped Mr Prince Mokotedi, the Executive Manager of the
Integrity Management Unit (IMU) at my office, from investigating me
basically interfering with his investigation and that | went on to disband
the IMU.
That Mr Mokotedi has lodged a grievance with the Public Service
Commission against me and the latter has written to you and requested
that you investigate the matter.
| confirm that | responded to the above allegations as follows:
that whilst ! did disclose the case of murder to, amongst others, the CEQ,
Adv Karen Van Rensburg, the Deputy CEO, Ambassador Beryil Sisulu, my
members of EXCO and the Director of Domestic Intelligence SSA, Mr
Ntombela it is my belief that | do not have a duty In law to disclose the
case in which | was tried and acquitted by a Court of Law.
It is the same with the case of inconsiderate driving and resisting arrest, |
was wrongly arrested and the Senior Public Prosecutor and the Chief
Prosecutor declined to even place it on the Court roll, On the other hand |
opened a case against the police who arrested me with the help of a
police officer from IPID, Durban when the Charge Commander was
reluctant to help me. As far as | know the case that | opened against the
police is still active. In fact it turned out that the members that arrested
me were not Police Officers but Police Reservists.
i disclosed the complaint where | was fined R2000.00 by the KwaZulu-
Natal Law Society and it is there in my vetting documents.
The allegations leveled against me by Mr Mckotedi are devoid of truth as
| have never stopped him from investigating me and neither did [ disband
the IMU. The members of NPA EXCO and the IMU staff can attest to that.
| did point out that | know the people who are behind all this smear
campaign who go about bragging and boasting that they will do everything in
thelr power to bring me down. | also pointed out that these people make
sure that they drop your name and 1 am told that they have a direct access to
you and they communicate with you behind my back. | know they have been
peddling lies about me which | mentioned to you last night.
I confirm that you then suggested to me that in view of the fact that I do not
have a clearance certificate and in the light of all the aforementioned
allegations against me | should step down which was supported by Miss
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Sindane. The latter, in response to your guestion as to how does she suggest
that this be handled, suggested that | should tender resignation with
immediate effect.

9. | confirm that there was some misunderstanding when 1 said | cannot resist
when you suggested to me that | should consider stepping down from my
position until | explained that | meant that, as you were telling me, | have
nothing to say if “1 am fired” since | did not apply for the job but | was
approached whilst | was practicing in Durban.

10. | confirm that you then told me that it is going to be a process since the
President will have to appoint a Commission of Inquiry and you asked if |
wanted to see that happening. My response thereto was if that is the
procedure then it means it would have to be followed as | believe that | am a
fit and proper person to hold this position. | made it very clear which |
reiterate now that | am not going to resign because of these false allegations
against me,

11. | wish to state that 1 could not respond to the alleged complaint against me
by Mr Mokotedi as | am not aware of the nature thereof since no one has
brought it to my attention. In that regard | would very much appreciate it if |
could be furnished with a copy of the complaint.
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SWORN AFFIDAVIT

I, the undersigned,

BRENT ADRIAN SIMONS

do hereby state under oath:

1.

2.

The facts deposed to herein are true and correct and are, save where the context

indicates otherwise, within my personal knowledge.

This affidavit is submitted for purposes of providing evidence to the Commission

of Inquiry into State Capture (“the Commission”).

History of employment in the public sector

3.

| have worked in Public Service for some 18 years. My history of employment
with the South African Government is as follows:

3.1.

3.2.

3.3.

34,

Prior to joining the Public Service in early 2000, 1 worked as the Western
Cape spokesperson for the African National Congress.

Between the period 2000 and 2005, | was employed as a Director: Media
Liaison at the National Department of Provincial and Local Government

under Minister Sydney Mufamadi.

I then took up a post in the Western Cape as a Deputy Director in the
Government Communications and Information System Department
(“GCIS"). This was under the Director General (‘DG”) of GCIS, Mr Themba

Maseko (“Mr Maseko”).

e

In 2010, Mr Maseko created a post as Chief Director: Training and
Development, which | applied for. Mr Maseko was removed from GCIS in
early 2011 (under circumstances dealt with below) and after various delays,
towards the end of 2011, | was appointed to the post under the subsequent

BAS-01

17 nn
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DG, Mr Jimmy Manyi, who replaced Mr Maseko (an aspect also dealt with

by me below).

3.5. In December 2013, | received a call informing me that Minister Collins
Chabane (“Minister Chabane”) wanted me to join him at the Office of the
Presidency. During January 2014, | was seconded to the Office of the
Minister in the Presidency and worked directly under Minister Chabane as

a Chief Director.

3.6. Afterthe elections and in around May or June 2014, Minister Chabane was
transferred to the Department of Public Service and Administration
("DPSA”) and at his request, | accompanied him to the DPSA. | remained
working under Minister Chabane at the DPSA until his death in March 2015.

3.7. | subsequently worked under Minister Nathi Mthethwa, who was appointed
as the Acting Minister of the DPSA, after Minister Chabane’s death.

3.8. I resigned from the DPSA in January 2018 and took up a position as
Parliament's Unit Manager: information and Content Development.

Prior Submission

4.  In 2017, | submitted an affidavit to the Secretary of Parliament and the Speaker
of the National Assembly to refute the previous President, Mr Jacob Zuma's
(“Mr Zuma®) denial that he had used his position to secure government contracts

for his family members.

5. | am a member of the African National Congress (*ANC”) and the affidavit
submitted by me in 2017 was submitted both in my capacity as a member of the
ANC and pursuant to my legisiative duty, as a public servant, to report corruption

and nepotism.

6. In this respect, it is pointed out that the 2016 Public Service Reguiations direct
public servants to “immediately report fo the relevant authorities, fraud,
corruption, nepotism, maladministration and any other act which constitutes a
contravention of any law (including, but not limited to, a criminal offence) or which 5\

2

2
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is prejudicial fo the interest of the public, which comes fo his or her attention
during the course of his or her empioyment in the public service.”

As was stated by me in my submission to Parliament, | felt that “/ feould] no longer
remain silent while the leader of our political party, who is also the serving
President of our country, continues with his public lies in parfiamentl’

Attempts to have Government contracts awarded to Mr Zuma’s family members

8.

On 14 March 2014, at the launch of the Selomon Mahlangu Scholarship Fund by
the President in Sandton, | personally withessed Mr Zuma introducing
Mr Mgondisi Zuma (“Mr Mqondisi’), to Minister Chabane. That the introduction
took place on this date is confirmed by the email sent between Government
Depariments and copied to me, dated 13 March 2014, which states:

“Minister [referring to Minister Chabane} is scheduled to address the
GCIS Gauteng Post — SONA Youth Dialogue at Wesitcol campus in

Randfontein fomorrow.

According fo our Spokesperson, Minister will invite the audience fo
engage with him there-after. (Minister will join this event later than
scheduled due fo his atfendance at the Launch of the Solomon
Mahlangu Scholarship Fund in Sandton by the President)...”

A copy of this email is attached hereto as Annexure “BAS 1”.

I was standing next to Minister Chabane when this introduction took place. At the
time, Mr Mgondisi was standing together with a group of people, who appeared
to be business associates of Mr Mgondisi. Mr Zuma told Minister Chabane that
Mqondisi was a member of his family and asked Minister Chabane to “please
assist” Mr Mgondisi and his associates in furthering their various businesses with
government. Both the Minister and | understood this instruction to mean that
Minister Chabane should introduce Mr Mqgondisi and his associates to the
relevant government departments that they wished to do business with and
assist them in securing contracts with those departments.

BAS-03
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Two of the other individuals standing with Mr Mgondisi, who | later came to know
were Mgondisi's business associates, were Mr Busa Zuma, who Mr Mqondisi
referred to as his “brother,” and Mr James Zwane.

Mqondisi is a young man who referred to Mr Khulubuse Zuma (Mr Jacob Zuma's
nephew) as his “father”, but | am not able to confirm whether this was in fact the
case, or whether he simply regarded him as a father. | can, however, state that
during the subsequent months following our introduction, | became ‘friends’ with
Mr Mqondisi on the social chat network, ‘Facebook,” and on this network | saw
various pictures of Mr Mgondisi and Mr Busa Zuma together with Mr Khulubuse
Zuma. |, thus, believe that both Mr Mqondisi and Mr Busa Zuma were part of

Mr Jacob Zuma’s family.

Following the introduction, Minister Chabane directed Mr Mgondisi and his
business associates to me, informing them that | would be their main point of

contact with him (Minister Chabane).

My instruction from Minister Chabane was to introduce Mr Mqgondisi and his
business associates to various government officials in the departments with
which they wished to do business. This | was told was a perfunctory exercise,
but we had to be seen to be assisting Zuma’s family in their attempts to secure
government contracts for their various businesses and thus, complying with the
wishes of the President. However, Minister Chabane also gave me a clear
instruction to “keep them away from the Ministry’.

Pursuant to these instructions, | referred Mr Mgondisi and his business
associates to various government officials and aiso attended various meetings
with Mr Mgondisi to determine what it was that they needed. The details hereof
are contained within this affidavit further below. At the same time, | kept
Mr Mgondisi and his business associates away from the Ministry as instructed

by Minister Chabane.

From my meetings with Mr Mqondisi and his associates, it became clear to me
that their objective was to secure funds and contracts from the National Youth
Development Agency (“NYDA"), GCIS and the DPSA.

BAS-04
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16. The deals they were interested in related to:

17.

16.1.

16.2.

GCIS advertising contracts and the purchasing (by GCIS) of their Public

Information Terminals;

Obtaining a single service provider contract to supply airtime and cellular
phone deals to the DPSA and all other government departments;

16.3. A multi-million rand advertising contract with GEMS (the Government

16.4.

medical aid scheme); and

Various NYDA contracts. The NYDA is a South African youth
development agency, which was reporting to the Minister in the

Presidency at the time.

Mr Mgondisi and his business associates sought fo secure these contracts
through a company named ‘Wintelligent’ as well as through other companies that
are unknown to me. | was aware that at the time, Wintelligent had a R36 million
lawsuit against the NYDA which was reported in a Times Live news article

published on their website in 2011 as follows:

“Youth body sued for R36m - 13 March 2011

Two young entrepreneurs have slapped the National Youth
Development Agency with a R36-million lawsuit after it allegedly
reneged on an agreement to fund their Howzit project. Samuel Tsolo,
27, and James Zwane, 25, the owners of software company
Wintelligent Technology, filed papers in the Johannesburg High

Court yesterday. By late yesterday afternoon, the sheriff of the court
had served summons on the NYDA. Its chairman, Andile Lungisa, who
is also the depuly president of the ANC Youth League, declined to

comment, - Times Live website”

18. Mr Mgondisi wanted the Office of the Presidency to assist in resolving the dispute
between Wintelligent and the NYDA, but Minister Chabane was not interested in

becoming involved.

%

Lona
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However, following upon the introduction by Mr Zuma, Mr Chabane did address
a letter dated 24 March 2014 to Mr James Zwane of Winteiligent Technology
wherein he stated that the Ministry of the Presidency supported its ‘Howzit'
technology. ‘Howzit' was the name of a project pursued through Winteliigent
Technology, which Mr Mgondisi was proposing shotld be used by Government

Departments. The lefter states:

“Our recent engagement and discussion af the Launch of the Mahlangu
Scholarship Fund refers...Thank you for your presentation on
‘HOWZIT”...In this regard we support the efforts of the Wintelligent

Technology...”

This letter was sent to me via email on 26 March 2014 from Mr Ntshakga
Mokgawa, from the Ministry of Performance Monitoring and Evaluation at the
Presidency. it was then forwarded by me to Mr Mqondisi and Mr Zwane. A copy
of the email and letter is attached hereto as Annexure “BAS 27,

Following upon this, Mr Mgondisi addressed an email to me on 02 Aprif 2014,
copied to Mr Zwane and Mr Archie Zondo from Wintelligent, requesting a meeting
to discuss the Howzit project and their other business projects, stating that:

“We would kindly request to meet with yourselves on 4 April 2014 at
Michelangelo Towers, Parc Ferme restaurant from 10am fo discuss:

1. Howzit and Connect2.gov project
2. and other Digital solutions...”
A copy of this email is attached hereto as Annexure “BAS 3"

After this meeting, Mr Zwane addressed an email dated 07 April 2014 to me and
copied to Mr Mgondisi, titled ‘Wintelligent Technology: Howzit Project’, attaching
a business proposal titled ‘Business of Wintelligent Technology CC’. Mr Zwane
wished me to facilitate a meeting with Donald Liphoko, who was the Acting CEO
of GCIS at the time, in order “fo get Leffer of support for howzif’. A copy of the
email and business proposal is attached hereto as Annexure “BAS 47,

BAS-06
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23. On 08 April 2014, Mr Mgondisi addressed a further email to me, which was
copied to Mr Zwane and Mr Busa Zuma, requesting that | facilitate a meeting
between him and his business associates and the decision makers at the
Independent Communications Authority of South Africa (ICASA”) (whom
Mqgondisi introduced as his brother) to discuss their application for a licence
required by them for their “advertising on voice call concepf’, ‘adcalf which

states:
“Dear Brent,

There Is something we forgot to mention on Friday during our meeting.
We had a chat with the minister regarding our application for an Icasa
license for the advertising on voice call concept, "adcall”, The minister
was willing fo assist us secure a meeling with decision makers at icasa
who could help us fast track the application. we also wanted to negotiate
more favorable rates as we will be giving calls for free to the public.

Can you assist us in securing a meeting with them? ...
Regards Mqondisi’
A copy of this email is aftached hereto as Annexure “BAS 5"

24. Apart from this, | had several meetings with Mr Mqgondisi and his business
associates detailed below. Unfortunately, | no longer have the electronic diary in
my possession from whence | obtained the dates of these meetings.

24.1. On 29 May 2014, | attended a meeting at Sandton with Mr Mgondisi and
Mr Busa Zuma. Mr Mqgondisi informed me that he wished to:

24.1.1. secure a contract with GCIS fo place one-stop Public Information
Terminal machines at all Thusong Service Centres throughout
the country; (Thusong Service Centres are the one-stop service

delivery centres for Government Departments); and

24.1.2. secure advertising space for advertisements by Government

Departments on these terminais.
7 %‘)
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29,

30.
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On 30 September 2014 and 06 October 2014, | attended meetings with
Mr Mgondisi, Mr Zwane and several other business associates of theirs to
discuss “the concept of offering discounted cell phone packages to government
employees”. The objective of this proposal was to make them the major service
provider for cell phone and airtime contracts within National Government.

The group wanted to pursue this venture utilising a Zuma family linked youth
Empowerment Company in which Mr Mgondisi had an interest. | am not aware

of the name of the empowerment company.

i also recall that on one occasion in 2014, on a date | cannot now recall, | met a
female official from GEMS in Pretoria. | cannot recall this official’'s name, but [
recall that she was from the communications department within GEMS. The
purpose of the meeting was to provide her with a proposal given to me by
Mr Mgondisi to enter into a communications contract with GEMS to the value of

approximately R300 million.

| remember that the official became very nervous as she sensed that it would be
required of her that she sanction the proposed contract in view of Mr Mgondisi’s
association with the then President. However, | reassured her that she was not
obliged to award a contract to the proposers, as Minister Chabane only wanted
it to be seen that we were facilitating contact between the proposers and

Government Departmenis.

Ultimately, despite these introductions, to my knowledge, no government
contracts were awarded to Mr Mqondisi and his business associates or any of
his associated companies. | believe this to be as Mr Chabane was prepared to
facilitate the introductions but refused to use his weight to secure contracts with
the various government departments that Mr Mgondisi and his associates wished

to do business with.

Needless to say, this did not please Mr Mqondisi or his business associates and
they believed that this was because | had refused them access to Minister

Chabane.

BAS-08
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Threats involving Khulubuse Zuma

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

Mr Mgondisi directly threatened fo inform the then president, Mr Zuma, and
Mr Khulubuse Zuma about what he termed my “defaying tactics”.

| also received verbal threats that | was going to ‘be dealt with’. Mr Mgondisi
would say words along the lines of “Khulubuse is becoming impatient: don’t let
him come fo a meeting and deal with you™.

On one occasion, towards the latter part of Minister Chabane’s tenure at the
Ministry of the Presidency, Mr Mqondisi phoned me and asked to meet.
linformed him that | was on the way to the Johannesburg Oliver Tambo
International Airport and asked him to meet me at a coffee shop near the
International Departures section, which he subsequently did. At the meeting, Mr
Mgondisi informed me that Mr Khulubuse Zuma wanted to meet Minister
Chabane to determine what progress had been made on the possible contracts
to be awarded to them. When | stated that the Minister was not available and that
we were travelling to South Sudan and Nairobi in Kenya, Mr Mgondisi informed
me that Mr Khulubuse Zuma would “sjambok me” as a result of the lack of

progress.

On the trip following the meeting held with Mr Mqondisi at the coffee shop at
OR Tambo airport, Minister Chabane and | arrived one evening at the
Intercontinental Hotel in Nairobi where we were staying, to find Mr Khulubuse

Zuma waiting for Minister Chabane at the Hotel.

Whilst traveliing in Kenya, Minister Chabane always stayed at the same
Intercontinental Hotel, whilst in Nairobi, which must have been known to the
Zuma family. Minister Chabane refused to meet with Mr Khulubuse Zuma.

| cannot recall the exact date of this occurrence. However, it was on one of the
last trips | went on with Minister Chabane, before he passed away in March 2015.

The removal of Themba Maseko

37.

During my tenure with Minister Chabane, | grew to respect him as he
fundamentally believed that government was responsible for the betterment of

BAS-09
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all South Africans. He was a very gregarious person by nature. We became very
close friends and he would often confide in me.

During our trips together, Minister Chabane would often visit me at the Hotels
where | stayed or drive in the vehicle with me. On occasion, he instructed his
police escorts to either drive ahead or behind us as he drove with me from
Beaufort West to Cape Town.

One of the things that Minister Chabane confided in me about was the removal
of Mr Themba Maseko from GCIS on the instructions of the then President,

Mr Zuma.

| was in Australia with Minister Chabane at the time when he received a
telephone call to say that the Public Protector was going to release a report on
the Nkandia investigation (the investigation that had been in the press into the

expenses/ upgrades to Mr Zuma’s home at Nkandla).

Minister Chabane penned a short response on behalf of Mr Zuma advising that
the President would not respond to the report in detail and that, if the Public
Protector recommended that certain Ministers be reprimanded, the Presidency

would comply and reprimand them.

Minister Chabane also informed Mr Zuma that if there was any amount
recommended to be paid back by him (Mr Zuma), he would raise funds to enable
him to do so. This note was typed on the response to Mr Zuma on his statement
to be issued, placed in brackets and clearly marked “not for publication”.

However, we then received the subsequent statement issued by the Presidency
and GCIS, where we noted that Mr Zuma had failed to heed Mr Chabane’s advice
as to how to respond to the report from the Public Protector, and instead

responded with an attack on the Public Protector.

When this occurred, and whilst still in Australia, Minister Chabane was visibly
upset and told me that he was becoming concerned that the country and ANC
were moving in the wrong direction. He then told me that when Themba Maseko
was the DG in GCIS, the departmenti was being well managed. However, he had

10
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been personally phoned by the former president, Mr Zuma, and instructed to
remove MrMaseko from his position and replace him with Mr Jimmy Manyi

(“Mr Manyi’).

The Minister told me that he did not want Mr Manyi as the DG at GCIS because
of the problems caused by him at the Department of Labour after it had been
publicised that Mr Manyi had attempted to secure contracts for his private

company.

Minister Chabane told me that he tried to persuade the President to reconsider,
but he refused and he was forced to remove Mr Maseko.

Although this was prior to my appointment in the office of Mr Chabane, |
understand that as a result of the President’s instruction, Mr Maseko was

transferred to the DPSA in early 2011.

Director Generals of Government Departments are employed on 5-year
contracts and when Mr Manyi replaced Mr Maseko, he was still within his 5-year
contract. When this term ended, in around October / November 2013, Minister
Chabane refused to renew or extend his term. The Minister informed us of this
decision at a special GCIS Management Committee meeting.

Minister Chabane informed me personally that Mr Zuma was very angry with him

over his refusal to extend/ renew the contract of Mr Manyi.

Shortly before the April 2014 elections, | drafted a letter for Minister Chabane for
the attention of the President informing him that Mr Manyi was to be removed
from the Media Development and Diversity Agency Board as he was occupying
a position reserved for a GCIS representative, whilst he no longer worked for

GCIS.

DG’s are usually appointed after interviews by a panel comprising of Ministers
and other officials, where-after a memorandum is sent through by DPSA
recommending the candidate to Cabinet who then either supports/ approves or

rejects the proposed appointment.

11
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The DPSA has put in place guidelines regarding the appointments of DG’s and
Deputy Director General's (“DDG”) requiring that candidates need to have a
certain amount of years’ experience and qualifications before they could be

appointed.

However, as ultimately, the decision is made by Cabinet, the appointments are
political and on occasion the DPSA guidelines and recommendations are
overruled. An example of this is what happened with the appointment of Minster
Steve Tshwete’s son, Mr Mayihlome Tshwete (“Mr Mayihlome™)

Mr Mayihlome followed Minister Gigaba when he went to the Department of
Home Affairs and Minister Gigaba wanted to appoint him as the DDG of
Communications in that Department. The DPSA, however, did not support his
appointment, as he did not have the required experience and qualifications for
the post. We at the DPSA submitted a memorandum to Cabinet to this effect
indicating that he did not qualify to be appointed;

After the Cabinet meeting to discuss Mr Mayihlome’s appointment, Minister
Chabane informed me that the submitted memorandum had been overruled and

Mr Mayihlome was subsequently appointed.

Threatened disciplinary charges against me

56.

57.

58.

59.

On a Sunday in or around June 2015, | sent an open Facebook post to a friend
which questioned why Mr Zuma, as the President of our country, was at the

centre of most cases involving corruption in South Africa.

The message was then circulated and on the Monday, | was calied in by a visibly
upset Minister Nathi Mthetwa, who accused me of undermining the President.

I was then posted 10 an office with no responsibilities where | remained for8to 9
months doing nothing; | was informed that no DPSA DDG wanted to work with

me, as a result of my treasonous actions.

! was told that disciplinary steps were going to be taken against me and was
informed that there was a draft charge sheet circulating within DPSA and a
person in the Department of Public Enterprises under Minister Lynn Brown was

12
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working on the charge sheet. A copy of this charge sheet was leaked to the Media
and | managed to obtain a copy, which is attached hereto as Annexure “BAS 6.

60. | engaged the services of a firm of attorneys and was informed that the charge
sheet was defective as it stated that my ‘employer’ was the President of the
Republic of South Africa. Reference was also made to the African National
Congress when | was being charged as a public servant.

61. The charge sheet also refers to my derogatory comments regarding King
Goodwill Zwelithini, after he made comments referring to immigrants as

‘cockroaches’ and inciting xenophobia.

62. | was, however, never formally charged for these alleged offences and returned
to work at the DPSA untit | resigned in January 2018.

| know and understand the contents of this declaration.
| have no objection to taking the prescribed oath.

| consider the oath binding on my conscience.

Bt s

M Adrian Simons

| hereby certify that the deponent has acknowledged that he knows and understand
the contents of this affidavit, which was sworn to before me and signed in my presence
in the Western Cape on this ©% day of August 2019 at st

Y ek =g

Full Name: - A Zitene!

Address: -(_:;-! Aot )l Cria

.-"L‘_}re-, 2 ""-“4#-"’(
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---------- Forwarded message ----«----

From: Mike Louw <Mike@po.gov.za>

Date: Thu, 13 Mar 2014, 16:20

Subject: FW: Programme for Post SONA Dialogue.doc

To: Sean Phillips (Sean@po-dpme.gov.za) <Sean@po-dpme.gov.za>

Ce: Caroline Mangwane <Caroline@po-dpme.gov.za>, Brent Simons <Brent@po.gov.za>,
brent2708@gmail.com <brent2708 ail.com>

Dear Dr Phillips,

Minister is scheduled to address the GCIS Gauteng Post — SoNA Youth Dialogue at Westcol
campus in Randfontein tomorrow.

According to our Spokesperson, Minister will invite the audience to engage with him there-
after. (Minister will join this event later than scheduled due to his attendance at the Launch of
the Solomon Mahlangu Scholarship Fund in Sandton by the President)

Could you kindly arrange for representation from your office.

The contact is Brent Simons (brent@po.gov.za / brent2708@gmail.com) 076 315 7330. Mr
Simons will also be able to provide speech in this regard.

Sincere apologies for the late request.

Thanking you in anticipation

Michael Louw

The Presidency

Ministry: Performance Monitoring and Evaluation



FP-JGZ-1119 BAS-16

tel: +27 12 300 5200
cel:  +27 82 373 1968
fax: +27 12 300 5779
e-mail: mike@po.gov.za

web: www.thepresidency.gov.za

The information transmitted is intended only for the person or entity to which it is addressed
and may contain confidential and/or privileged material. Any review, retransmission,
dissemination or other use of, taking of any action in reliance upon, this information by
persons or entities other than the intended recipient is prohibited. If you received this in
error, please contact the sender and delete the material from any computer.

From: Brent Simons

Sent: 12 March 2014 10:48 AM

To: Mike Louw

Cc: Noki Modise

Subject: Programme for Post SoNA Dialogue.doc

The programme for Friday

Email Disclaimer: http://www.thepresidency.gov.za/pebble.asp?relid=97

Email Disclaimer; hitp.//www.thepresidency.gov.za/pebble.asp?relid=97
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<8
Thusong Service Centre X . A

Government Services

WESTCOL POST SONA DIALOGUE
11:00 to 14:00

Programme Director: Peter Gumede

1. Opening and Welcome: Coliege Principal
2. Introduction of delegates &

Purpose of the session: Gaynor Marshall (GCIS)
3. Keynote Address: Minister Collins Chabane
4. Q & A session
5. Summary of the session: Francis Mahlangu
6. Vote of Thanks: Tshidi Mokoka

Lunchi!! Lunch!!! Lunchill Lunchi!!Lunch!!iLunch!!!
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---------- Forwarded message ---------

From: Brent Simons <brent2708@gmail.com>

Date: Wed, 26 Mar 2014, 17:39

Subject: Fwd: Wintelligent Technology:Howzit Project

To: <james(@wintelligent.co.za>, <mgondisi@wintelligent.co.za>

Please find attached

---------- Forwarded message ----------

From: "Ntshakga Mokgawa" <Ntshakga@po.gov.za>

Date: 26 Mar 2014 16:10

Subject: Wintelligent Technology:Howzit Project

To: "Brent Simons” <Brent@po.gov.za>, "Brent Simons (brent2708@gmail.com)"
<brent2 708 @ gmail .com>

Cce:

Regards

Nishakga Edward Mokgawa

Ministry of Performance Monitoring and Evaluation, The Presidency
Tel: +27 12 300 5334

Fax: $27 12 300 5770

www.thepresidency.co.za

Email: Ntshakga@po.gov.za

This message contains information which is confidential, legally privileged, and protected by
law. It is intended only for the use of the intended recipient. Interception thereof is therefore
illegal. If you are not the intended recipient, you may not peruse, use, disseminate, distribute
or copy this message or any file attached to this message. Should you have received this
message in errot, please notify us immediately by return e-mail. Views and opinions
expressed in this e-mail are those of the sender unless clearly stated as being that of The
Presidency

Email Disclaimer: http://www thepresidency.gov.za/pebble.asp?relid=97

PN
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MINISTER IN THE PRESIDENCY: PERFORMANCE MONITORING AND EVALUATION

REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA
Private Bag X1000, Pretoria, 0001; Tel: 012 300 5200 / 021 464 2100

24 March 2014

Mr James Zwane
Wintelligent Technology
CK 2008/154704/23

Email: james @wintelligent.co.za

Dear Mr Zwane,
WINTELLIGENT TECHNOLOGY: HOWZIT PROJECT

Our recent engagement and discussion at the Launch of the Solomon Mahlangu
Scholarship Fund refers.

Thank you for your presentation on “HOWZIT”, your interactive, web-based
customer-targeted Billboard for digital advertising. It is indeed encouraging to find
our young people making in-roads in the area of digital advertising.

fn this regard wesupport the efforts of the Wintelligent Technology through their
HowzitProject which will not only benefit our youth, but the community at large.

Yours sincerely,

OHM C S CHABANE, MP

Minister in The Presidency for Performance Monitoring and Evaluation

¢c:  Mr Obed Bapela — Deputy Ministar in The Presidency for Performance Monitoring and Evaluation

2 n
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---------- Forwarded message ---------

From: Mqondisi Zuma <mgondisi@ wintelligent.co.za>

Date: Wed, 2 Apr 2014, 11:02

Subject; Meeting Request

To: Brent Simons <brent2708 ail.com>

Ce: James Zwane <james(@ wintelligent.co.za>, Archie Zondo <archie( wintelligent.co.za>

Dear Brent,

I trust that this email will find you well. Pursuant to our last engagement we would kindly
request to meet with yourselves on 4 April 2014 at Michelangelo Towers, Parc Ferme
restaurant from 10am to discuss:

1. Howzit and Connect2.gov project
2. and other Digital solutions

Thanking you in anticipation.

Regards,

Wintelligent Team
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---------- Forwarded message ---------

From: James Zwane <james@wintelligent.co.za>

Date: Mon, 7 Apr 2014, 18:22

Subject: Meeting notes

To: Brent Simons <brent2708@gmail.com>, Mqondisi Zuma
<mgondisi@wintelligent.co.za>

Dear Brent,

Please find attached the biz plan and see below notes from out mecting
To do for wintelligent

Send Biz plan

Send Rates

Identify sites and get letters

To do for Brent

Meet Donald from GCIS to get Letter of support for howzit
Talk to Donald about meeting Wintelligent

Rates

R2000 per screen per month

There will be 200 Screens to begin with.

Regards
James

LS
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BUSINESS
OF
WINTELLIGENT TECHNOLOGY CC

R s e P S T
making IT work for you.

Business Plan of Wintaliigent Page1 of 35
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Private & Confidential

This document serves to guide the directors of Wintelligent Technology to
grow the business venture with the assistance of a financial institution. This
plan is confidential and will only be used by those individuals and
organisations sfipulated by Wintelligent Technology cc. Other than those
designated individuals the following does apply:

This document is confidential and has been made available to the individual to
whom it is addressed striclly on the understanding that its contents will not be
disclosed or discussed with any third parties except for the individual's own
professional advisers. This plan is strictly for information only and does not
constitute a prospectus or an invitation to subscribe for shares. Projections in
the plan have been compiled by the promoters for illustrative purposes and do
not constitute profit forecasts. The eventual ouicome may be more or less
favourable than that portrayed.

For further information please direct all queries or comments through to

Wintelligent Technology cc.
Tel: 011326 3664 or e-mail to james@wintelligent.co.za

mrakain § ek far o
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Business Details

Business Name

Wintelligent Technology

Type of Business Close Corporation
Industry Sector ICT, Digital Advertising Media
Status of Business Start-up
Members S.J Zwane, S Tsolo,
Physical Address 280 Oak Avenue,
Randburg
Johannesburg
2194
Postal Address 280 Oak Avenue,
Randburg
Johannesburg
2194
TeleFax 011 326 3664
Mobile 0760847080
E-mail [ames@uwintelligent.co.za

Registration Deftails:

Close Corporation Reg. No.  2008/154704/23
VAT Registration No. 4800163471
Accounting Officers details:
Name MM Masilela
Address PO Box 13443

The Tramshed

0126
ContactNo
Practice No 08083151
Date Prepared March 2014
Executive Summary
Business Plan of Wintslligent Paged of 35 T
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Introduction

Detailed within this plan are strategies built solely for the purpose of market do
minance and perseverance. This includes study of the conglomerated market
and industry research, an analysis of the institutions marketing mix,
comprehensive financial projections and options and many more analysis of
different aspects of business.

Company Description

Wintellingent Technology, a close corporation, provides Information
Communication Technology (ICT) solutions, Digital advertising, and Social
media services.

Wintelligent Technology brings to the advertising industry products and
services that are related to digital marketing, direct marketing and online
advertising. The company operates from Johannesburg and intends to expand
to other provinces and also to the rest of the continent. The company offers
services based on the latest cutting edge planning strategies and expertise
that will pedestal the business to compete effectively in this challenging and
yet profitable industry.

Company Background

Wintelligent Technology is an equal opportunity business making its expertise
and its products available to the public. The business will be offering range of
services ranging from digital advertising space, interactive solutions and

software development.

Vision

To be a leader in the online and digital marketing industry in South Africa by
providing advertisers with innovative and reliable channels to reach the
market effectively and efficiently.

Mission

To develop and provide innovative and effective IT solutions, driven by the

\ aking 1| wark for e,

Business Plan of Wintz lligent Page 5 of 35
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connect like minded businesses and people making it easier to create
partnership with private companies.

Connect.gov.za © will become the standard for other governments throughout
the world making South Africa its pioneer.

How it works

Connect.gov.za: How it works

Howzit - touch screens

™ = "R T T

Figure 1.1 lllustration of how Connect.gov.za © works
® The government social media application as the centre of attraction will
be accessible on different internet devices.
® In order for people to be able fo communicate with government, users
in govemment departiments, organizations, business, labour and
people in general will create accounts on the Connect.gov.za ©

N kg FF ok 19 wal,
Business Plan of Wintelligent Page 9 of 35
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website just like they would normally do on other social media sites like
Facebook and Twitter.

® Different government departments will have their pages added on the
site, and people would then be able to connect to the specific
departments.

® The site has a live feed that allows any member of the government to
view a query posted on the site and also respond to it when required.

® Users can send social messages to each other, post aricles, events,
announcements, complaints, comments on their pages.

® All user activities taking place on the site will then be recorded and
stored on a database system for future reference.

SCREENSHOT - CONNECT.GOV.ZA®

conmec2goveos G

Qcmct.&ou.m* |
T il HOAME OOAMECT 1OIN HELP

IRNECTION TO
OYERNMENT

35 T
Ly

W " @ o Youron,

Figure 1.2

rrakig ek bor you.
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What is HOWZIT®

HOWZIT® is complete solution/product that runs in-house developed
interactive social media application with digital advertising space. The
software runs on touch screens or any other digital touch advertising screens
like the ones usually seen in the malls. The HOWZIT® application has an
intemet browser in the centre and other apps which runs the web content and
uses the bordering space around for advertising purpose.

The websites show pictures, videos, streaming and information, and allow the
user to chat. While the user enjoys the internet sites, flash, still pictures,
animation and video adverts run on the extreme top, right, left and bottom side

of the application.

The Technology

Software

A developed social media application allows for the capturing of the users
details by getting the cookies of every user as they input their information into
the social network site. The application is web based which means easier
remote updating, deployment and monitoring.

Hardware

Hosted development, testing and production servers will be used to run the
software and database.

HOWZIT® requires LCD touch screens and thin clients/interface cards which
serves as a computer, enable end users to interact directly.

Wireless networking on the screens will be configured to provide internet
connectivity for both the end users and IT.

EHINE T il or Yo,

Business Plan of Winte lligent Page 1f 35
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HOWZIT® at University of Johannesburg (UJ)

Figure 1.3

Strategic and Planning Elements

Business Pian of Wints lligent Page 13f 35
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Objectives
The business will aim to meet the following objectives:

Secure long term advertising contra

-
ekt Pl owork lodr yoa,

Business Plan of Winteifigent Page 1bf 35
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Business Operations

Operational Requirements

Office equipment

26 seater call centre

10 x laptops for the personnel

1 x touch screen for use by IT personnel
2 x in-house midrange server

O O O 0 ©

Networking equipment

Office fumiture

IT Personnel

A group of highly skilled Developers and Graphic designers will be involved
with the designing and developing the content.

Skilled IT technicians who understand the architecture and products will be
employed on a fulkHtime basis for support.

HOWZIT® equipment

200 x Touch Screen LCD Screen

200 x media player/thin clients (small computers)
200 x Wireless internet modems

200 x IP65 Enclosures

200 x network cables

200 x UPS

© ¢ o 0o 0 O

Operation Schedule

The office will be operational from 08:00 - 17:00 on week days.

Standby support will be available after hours x 7 days a week,

Connect.gov.za © will be available online for use 24 hours a day.

Howzit will be accessible only during open times of the respective rented building

space.

kg 1w bor you.
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Insurance
The business will take out sufficient comprehensive insurance cover for all

equipment as well as the premises that the business will be operating from.

Suppliers
Jiss
www.jlss.coza
Lumin Vision
www.luminvision.co.za

Brightspace

Internet Solutions
www.is.co.za/Pages/default. aspx
Communica
WWW.communica.co.za

Market Description and Marketing Plan

Industry Analysis and Market Overview

South Africa has over 14 million people using the internet: this is according to
research done by the Digital media and marketing association. (DDMA, 2013)
Online is the fastest growing medium of advertising in South Africa. According
to AdDynamix, South Africa’'s online display media market grew by 15%
between 2011 and 2012, and from R753m to R864m. Its growth out paces
that of outdoor and radie, which are growing at 12% and 10% respectively. (
BERNARIUSZ, 2013)

PWC reported that they expected the number of mobile interet users to
reach 32,3m in 2017 and the internet advertising market is forecast to
generate revenues of R3,7bn in 2017. This growth is attributed to the growing
number of people using smart phones and LTE penetration (NewsCentral
Media, 2013)

PRk 11 wises far you.
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Affiliations and Networking

The marketing team will ensure that they form long and productive
relationships with clients and associations that will in the long run benefit the
business. Examples of such include advertising agencies and marketing

professionals.

SWOT Analysis
in the instance of Wintelligent, the SWOT analysis will clearly match the
business resources and capabilities to the competitive environment in which it

operates.

Strengths
We have developed a unique and strong concept
The directors have strong experience and knowledge of IT, marketing and

entrepreneurship.
We have established good networking and sound relationships with

partners, key industry players, and decision makers.
The business will have quality processes and procedures.

The senices offered are competitively priced.

Weakness

The directors have limited understanding about the advertising industry.

Measures that will be implemented to mitigate these weaknesses include:

Using the right personnel feam to service the market effectively

benchmarking the satisfaction levels of the deliverables.

ki Howwork far youy
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Applying the right business principles with the help of a qualified business
consultant who will assist to establish a compefitive edge in the market
place.

Enrolling in industry related short courses in order to receive some form of
qualification needed to effectively run the business.

Working closely with well established advertising agencies.

Gaining maximum exposure and getting involved in life cycle of the

projects

Frimbicigy 1) work bor yau
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Advertising: An extensive and aggressive advertising campaign will be
embarked upon in the year of operation. The objectives of the advertising
campaign will be to inform the target market of the business offerings. Media
to be used willinclude social media website like Twitter and Facebook.

raking IV work For yau
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Human Resource Plan

Management

The leadership of Wintelligent is composed of competent and dedicated like-
minded business people with diversified and combined experience n excess
30 years, and are well equipped with skills and expertise that are required to
successfully grow the business to be successful and sustainable. The
management possesses extensive experience in the ICT industry as IT
Services Managers (ITSM), Project managers, IT Infrastructure
specialists/architects, System Administrators, Software developers,
Technicians and Sales.

The team has been involved in various projects in sectors such as Retail,
Telecommunications, Government, Mining and Transport, among others,

That exposure gave them the opportunity to gain invaluable experience of
running a successful business, the importance of delivering quality service,
decision making especially during mission critical issues, and last but not least,

relationship management.

kg §F oo bor you.

Business Plan of Wintelligent Paga 26f 35




FP-JGZ-1143 BAS-40

Structure

Sales Plan

Wintelligent Technology is positioned as an advertising company within the
advertising industry. The entity will advertise its services directly to potential
target markets through media advertising and brand advertising through
printed T-shirts, caps and promotional items at various events.

Sales objectives:
Generate awareness
Increase sales revenue
Increase customer base

The business will use the following channels to achieve its further sales
objectives:

Website

Telemarketing

Database

ARy it wnek foar pal.
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The business will have an impact in the locality in which it operates by:
Creating jobs
Increasing market competitiveness
Transferring skills to local employees

PRI | WGk bor you,
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business will register as an empioyer for PAYE, VAT, SDL and income tax
purposes as prescribaed by the South African Revenue Service.

The company is currently exempted for UIF however the employees will be

registered with the Department of Labour, and make contributions on behalf of
employees for Unemploy

rraking 11 Wbk tar yor.
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---------- Forwarded message ---------

From: Mqondisi Zuma <mqondisi@wintelligent.co.za>

Date: Tue, 8 Apr 2014, 11:58

Subject: Icasa application

To: Brent Simons <brent2708 (@ gmail.com>

Cc: James Zwane <james@wintelligent.co.za>, Busa Zuma <busa@winteiligent.co.za>

Dear Brent,

There is something we forgot to mention on Friday during our meeting. We had a chat with
the minister regarding our application for an Icasa license for the advertising on voice call
concept, "adcall", The minister was willing to assist us secure a meeting with decision makers
at [casa who could help us fast track the application. we also wanted to negotiate more
favorable rates as we will be giving calls for free to the public.

Can you assist us in securing a meeting with them?
looking forward to your reply.

Regards
Mgqondisi
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IN THE DISCIPLINARY HEARING FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SERVICE
AND ADMINISTRATION HELD IN PRETORIA

IN THE MATTER BETWEEN
THE STATE, AS PER THE EMPLOYER
THE DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SERVICE

AND ADMINISTRATION

AND

MR BRENT ADRIAN SIMONS THE EMPLOYEE

CHARGE SHEET

IN THIS CHARGE SHEET, ANY REFERENCE TO THE EMPLOYER, WILL MEAN THE HEAD
OF STATE, THE HONOURABLE PRESIDENT OF SOUTH AFRICA, MR. JACOB ZUMA.

Count 1.
You are guilty of violating and or contravening an Act, to wit —

Sectlon 196. (1).(a) of the Constitution Act 108 of 1996, in dealing with Basic Values and
Principles governing Public Adminietration, states that -

Public Administration must be governed by the democratic values and principles enshrined in the
Constitution, including the following principles,

“A high standard of professional ethics must be promoted and maintained.”

In that during the period April 2015 to April 2018, you embarked on a smear campaign to
tarnish the reputation of your Employer by consistently posting on social media, derogatory
and or defamatory utterances of a criminal nature amounting to hate spesch, which is in
conflict with the high standard of professional ethics that a Senior Manager of the State
employed at the Department of Public Service and Administration is expectad to promots.
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Count 2.
You are guilty of violating and or contravening an Act, to wit ~

Chapter 2 - dealing with the Prevention, Prohibition, and Elimination of Unfair Discrimination, Hate
Speech and Harassment of The Promotion of Equality and Prevention of Unfair
Discrimination Act no 4 of 2000 at Section 10, states with regard to the Prohibitlon of Hate
Speech that: 10. (1) Subject to the proviso in section 12.

No person may publish, propagate, advocate or communicate words based on one or more
of the prohibited grounds, against any person, that could reasonably be construed to demonstrate

a clear intention to

(a) be hurtful;

{b) be harmful or to incite harm;
(c) promote or propagate hatred.

In that during the period April 2015 to Aprii 2016, you deliberately published / communicated words
on a social media platform, clearly intended to be huriful, harmful and or capable of inciting harm,
and or promoting / propagating hatred in contravention of the above-mentioned Act, despite
having been notified on or about 30 July 2015, that such behaviour is not acceptable and despite
having acknowledged and appreciated in writing the possible consequences of same on said date,
to the head of department, you still went out an posted the following post:

*ZUMA HAS NO SHAME !t

HE just screwed the entire nation on national tv.

You are corrupt and should have rasigned]

You are a disgrace Mr Zuma.

You are a national embarrassment!

You are a liarl

You are not my leader !

You are not my President !

A Special NGC must be called to forcefully remove you from office.”

Count 3.

in this regard, you intentlonally, failed to failed to carry out a lawful order or routine instruction
without just or reasonable cause, to desist from what you were dolng, when you were
informed on 30 July 2015, In the presence of Mr Nkosinathi Dlaminl, of the DPSA's Labour
relations Unit, that this behaviour is unacceptable and for that reason you were being

transferred out of the Ministry pending further investigation,

Confidential
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The context within which you were addressed on this unacceptable behavior emanated from a
whistle-blowing to the Acting Minister of the DPSA in April 2015 wherein it was alleged that you had
acted in contravention of sections 5.2 and 5.4 of the DPSA’s Policy on acceptable usage of the

electronic mail, by:

1. Violating section 5.2. (a) of the policy by acting in a manner, when posting on social
media platforms, which when reasonably construed clearly constitute a common
law criminal offence of “crimen injuirfa” which refates to unlawfully and

intentionally impairing the dignity and privacy of another,

2. Viclating Section 5.4. (a) of the policy by distributing material which you as the
user knew, when judged within the context, was likely to advocate hatred that is

based either on race or ethnicity, or

In terms of section 5.4. (b) is likely to be regarded as lewd or obscene by any
person who is likely to be exposed to such e-mall,

3. And in so doing, acting in a manner contrary to the provisions of section §.2.(b) of
the policy, by exposing the government of the republic of South Africa or any
functionary thereof, namely, the DPSA, to criminal and or civil liability (in the form
of a Defamation of Character law suite), and

Acting in a manner, which reasonably construed “is intended to bring the
government or any function thereof, namely the DPSA, Into disrepute.

The nature of theee vioiations arises from a posting that you made on social media that

(). . the Tradition Leader of the Zulu Nation, namely, his Majesty King Goodwill
Zwelethini, was a "stupid®,

(.  You further insulted him by accusing him publically of desecrating the graves
of former struggle icons like “Ashley Kriel, Solomon Mahlangu, Coline
Willlams, Anton French, OR Tambo, Walter Sisulu, Albert Lithuli, Nelson
Mandela and many others who died to ensure democracy and freedom.” by

pissing on them.

(i) On 16 July 2015, you called for the downfall of your Employer by propagating
the war cry # Zuma must fall #, being interpreted as your Employer must fall,

Confidential
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Count4.

You are guilty of violating and or contravening an Act, Regulation and or Legal Obligation,
alternatively the Public Service Code of Conduct, as outlined in the Public Service
Regulations 2016 and the SMS Handbook, alternatively Public Service Policy as articulated in

the attached preface to this charge sheet,

In that you refused to refrain from party political activities in the workplace, by insisting on
making lewd and obscene utterances about a political party, namely the National Executive
Committes of the ANC, on social media in further contravention of the DPSA.s email policy,

section 5.4.(b), by posting that;

“The current ANC NEC has their heads so far up Zuma’s backside we can call them
Zumastriche”

First Alternative to Count 4.

You are guilty of violating the section in Annexure A of the Ministerial Determination: Chapter 7
of the SMS Handbook 1 /12 / 2003 - Disciplinary Code and Procedures for Senior
Management Service (SMS) Public Servants, relating to a directive to all Senior Managers by
the Minister of the DPSA, that no SMS employer may misuse his position In the publi¢ service
to prejudice the interest of a political party.

You are therefore charged for violating this section of the Disclplinary Code and Procedure when
you posted on social media that:

“The current ANC NEC has their heads so far up Zuma's backside we can call them

Zumastriche”

Second Alternative to Count 4.

You are guilty of violating section 12 {f) of Part 1 of Chapter 2 of the Public Service
Regulations 2018, read in conjunction with Chapter 2 of the Public Service Regulations 1 of 2001,
The Public Service Code of Conduct, when you “Abused your position in the public service to
promote or prejudice the interest of any political party or interest group; by stating on social media

that,

“The current ANC NEC has their heads so far up Zuma’s backslde we can call them
Zumastriche”
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Count §

You are gulity of violating a Regulation and or Legal Obligation, alternatively the Public
Service Code of Conduct, as outlined in the Public Service Reguiations 2018 and the SMS
Handbook, alternatively Public Service Policy as articulated in the attached preface to this charge

sheet,

In that on or about 11 February 2018, you deliberately and or intentionally,

« failed to failed to carry out a lawful order or routine instruction without Justor
reasonable cause, alternatively

+ disregarded, in terms of your common law obligations, a lawfuf and reasonable
instruction, from a competent authority, without just cause,

by once again propagating wrongful behavior by continuing to post on soclal media, words
against your Employer, that based on one or more of the prohibited grounds, could
reasonably be construed to demonstrate a clear intention to be harmful or to incite harm, or

promote or propagate hatred against him.

In this regard you openly alluded to your Employer, as being a “corrupt leader” who is
“threatening the national democratic revolution” and the person responsible for the

“increase in community service delivery protests”.

You deliberately did this Inspite of having been confronted and addressed by senior officlals
of the Department in or around July 2015, on the unacceptability of such behavior as a Senior
Manager within the employee of the State and more particularly, as the face and voice of the
Minlstry in the media, at that time given your as the spokesperson for the Minister.

The context within which you were addressed on this unacceptable behavior emanated from a
whistie-blowing to the Acting Minister of the DPSA in April 2015 that you had acted in contravention
of sections 5.2 and 5.4 of the DPSA’s Policy on acceptable usage of the electronic mail, by:

1 Violating section 8.2, (a) of the policy by acting in amanner, when posting on social
media platforms, which when reasonably construed clearly constitute a common

law criminal offence of “crimen injuirla” which relates to unlawfully and
intentionally impairing the dignity and privacy of another.
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2 Violating Section 5.4. (a) of the policy by distributing material which you as the
user knew, when judged within the context, was likely to advocate hatred that is

based elthar on race or ethnicity, or

In terms of section §.4. (b) Is likely to be regarded as lewd or obscene by any
person who is likely to be exposed to such e-mail.

3 And in so doing, acting in a manner contrary to the provisions of section 6.2.(b) of
the policy, by exposing the government of the republic of South Africa or any
functionary thereof, namely, the DPSA, to criminal and or civil ilability {in the form
of a Defamation of Character law suits), and

Acting in a manner, which reasonably construed “is intended to bring the
government or any function thereof, namely the DPSA, Into disrepute.

The nature of these violations arises from a posting that you made on social media that
(i}. the Tradition Leader of the Zulu Nation, namely, his Majesty King Goodwill
Zwelethini, was a “stupid”.

{ii)-  You further insulted him accusing him publically of desecrating the graves of
former struggle icons like “Ashley Kriel, Solomon Mahiangu, Cofine Williams,
Anton French, OR Tambo, Walter Sisulu, Albert Lithul, Nelson Mandela and
many others who died to ensure democracy and freedom.” by “pissing” on

them.

(i) On 16 July 2015, you called for the downfall of your Employer by propagating
the war cry # Zuma must fail #, being interpreted as your Employer must fall.

Count 6.

As a result of your deliberate and intentional violation of a clear Instruction to desist from
continuing with this type of groas misconduct and unacceptable behavior, you have violated
the express and or Implied fiduciary obligations of your contract of employment as well as
section 5.4.(b) of the DPSA e-mall policy, by acting in a manner that if reasonably construed
is intent on bringing into Serious Disrepute, the Reputation of the Department of Public
Service and Administration on 11 February 2016, by perpetuating the prohibited behavior.
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Count 7

You are guilty of violating and or contravening an Act, Regulation and or Legal Obligation,
alternatively the Public Service Code of Conduct, as outlined In the Public Service
Regulations 2016 and the SMS Handbook, alternatively Public Service Policy as articulated |n

the altached preface to this charge sheet,
When you, on or about 17 February 2016, dellberately and or intentionally,

o Failed to canry out a lawful order or routine instruction without just or
reasonable cause, alternatively

» disregarded a lawful and reasonable instruction, from a competent authority,
without just cause,

by once again perpetuating postings on a social media platform, words against your
Employer, that based on one or more of the prohibited grounds, could reasonably be
construed to demonstrate a clear intention to be harmfu! or to incite harm, or promote or

propagate hatred against him.

in this regard you once again openly criticized your Employer, of “causing harm to the good
Image and reputation of the country”.

As indicated before, the only reasonable inference that can be drawn from your actions are that they
were done deliberately as you had around July 2015, already been confronted and addressed by

senior officials of the depariment on the unacceptabiiity of such behavior, given that you are a Senior
Manager and more particularly, were known in the Media as the face and voice of the Ministry having

been the spokesperson for the Minister.

Count 8

You are guilty of violating and or contravening an Act, Regulation and or Legal Obligation,
alternatively the Public Service Code of Conduct, as outlined in the Public Service
Regulations 2016 and the SMS Handbook, alternatively Public Service Pollcy as articulated in

the attached preface to this charge shest,

In that on or about 17 February 2016, you refused to refrain from party political activities in
the workplace, by insisting on making comments about a political party on social media, which may

be perceived by a reasonable person as not:
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1. “promoting the unity and well-being of the South African nation in performing of your official
duties”

2. serving the public in an unbiased and impartial manner In order to create confidence in the
public service particularly since you are employed as the face and voice of the Department,

3. being poiite or helpful, specifically with respect to those loyal followers of the head of state,
whether as fallow employees or members of the public,

4. being respectful to the Employer and seen as protecting the dignity of the Head of State, in
his other capacities, as he is entitled to under the Constitution.

5. action that is in conflict with or infringes on the execution of your official duties; and

8. tantamount to you not dealing fairly, professionally and equitably with all other employees or
members of the public, irrespective of their political persuasion.

In this regard you opening criticised the political party, by “downgrading” their President of
the ANC {your Employer) “to junk status” and further claiming that,

“As president of the ANC he has not only caused harm to the good image and reputation of
our party but to our peopie and country.”

It Is further the submission of the Employer in this regard that your actions hereln may be
perceived by a reasonable person as either misusing your position in the public service to
promote or to prejudice the interest of that political party, alternatively abusing your position
in the public service to promote or prejudice the interest of that political party or interest
group given that this was uttered during an election year.

Count 9

As a result of your deliberate and intentlonal violation of a clear instruction to desist from
continuing with this type of gross misconduct and unacceptable behavior, you have violated
the express and or implied fiduciary obligations of your contract of employment as well as
section 5.4.(b) of the DPSA e-malil policy, by acting In a manner that If reasonably construed
is intent on bringing into Serious Disrepute, the Reputation of the Department of Public
Service and Administration on 17 February 2016, by perpetuating the prohibited behavior.
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Count 10.

You are guilty of violating and or contravening an Act, Regulation and or Legal Obligation,
alternatively the Public Service Code of Conduct, as outlined in the Public Service
Regulations 2016 and the SMS Handbook, alternatively Public Service Policy as arliculated in

the attached preface to this charge sheet,

In that on or about 26 February 2016, you refused to refrain from party political activities in
the workplace, by insisting on making comments about a political party on social media, which may
be perceived by a reasonable person as not:

7. “promoting the unity and well-being of the South African nation In performing of your official
duties”

8. serving the public in an unbiased and impartial manner in order to create confidence in the
public service particularly since you are employed as the face and voice of the Department,

9. being polite or helpful, specifically with respect to those loyal followers of the head of state,
whether as fellow employees or members of the public,

10. being respectful to the Employer and seen as protecting the dignity of the Head of State, in
his other capacities, as he is entitled to under the Constitution.

11. action that is in conflict with or infringes on the execution of your official duties; and

12. tantamount to you not dealing fairly, professionally and equitably with all other employees or
members of the public, irrespective of their political persuasion.

In this regard, you had gone onto a social media platform, and called the president of the
ANC, who is currently your Employer, as the Head of State, a “Fool ” inspite of having been
told by seniors in the Department, on or around July 2015, that such bshaviour is

unacceptable.

it is further the submission of the Employer In this regard that your actions herslin may be
perceived by a reasonable person as either misusing your position in the public service to
promote or to prejudice the interest of that political party, alternatively abusing your position
in the public service to promote or prejudice the interest of that political party or Interest
group glven that this was uttered during an election year.
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Count 11.

As a result of your deliberate and Intentional violation of a clear instruction to desist from
continuing with this type of gross misconduct and unacceptable behavior, you have violated
the express and or implied fiduciary obligations of your contract of employment as well as
section 5.4.(b) of the DPSA e-mail policy, by acting in a manner that if reasonably construed
is intent on bringing into Serious Disrepute, the Reputation of the Department of Public
Service and Administration on 26 February 2016, by perpetuating the prohiblted behavior.

Count 12.

You are guilty of Gross Misconduct as a result of violating the provisions of the Public Service
Code of Conduct, as outlined the SMS Handbook,

in that after the court made a ruling on a pending litigation matter, relating a case involving
the office of the Public Protector, you once gain violated the Code of Conduct by committing
a Common Law offence, which is tantamount to an act or treason and or sodition,

By publically on a soclal media platform, threatening your Employer, by proclaiming that

“You are no longer worthy of serving our {ANC or Country) President.

GO OR BE FORCED OUT.”
And,
In another posting of this nature, as eluded to in Count 2 above that:
ZUMA HAS NO SHAMEN HE just screwed the entire natlon on national tv. You are corrupt

and should have reslgned! You are a disgrace Mr 2Zuma. You arc a national embarrassment!
You are a liar! You are not my leader! You are not my President!

“A SPECIAL NGC MUST BE CALLED TO FORCEFULLY REMOVE YOU FROM OFFICE.”

10
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Count 13.

You are guitty of Gross Misconduct as a result of violating the provisions of the Public Service
Code of Conduct, as outlined the regulations and SMS Handbook, as articulated in the aftached

preface to this charge sheet,

When you prejudiced the administration, discipline or efficiency of a department, office or
institution of the State, by not serving the public In an unblased and impartial manner In order

to create confldence in the public service;

This you did by once again unacceptably posting the following lewd and or obscene comment oha
social media platform in contravention of section 5.4 (b) of the DPSA’s e - mail policy.

“The Court only made a finding on whether it was correct or wrong to drop the charges
agalnet Zumal It found the declsions made then was wrong,

The NPA —managed by a ZUMA CLLOWN - will now have to decide to reinstate charges against
out corrupt President or not - Not the Court.

The question remains: for how long will the ANC and some of Its members defend this corrupt
Zuma 2"

Your comments contained herein do not:

e “promote the unity and well-being of the South African nation in performing of your official

duties”™;
+ Are not polite or helpfu!, specifically with respect to those loyal followers of the head of state,

whether as fellow employees or members of the public,

* Are not respectful to the Employer or perceived as protecting the dignity of The Employer as
the current Head of State, in his other capacities, as be is entitled to under the Constitution;

Instead , it is submitted, they can clearly be construed as discouraging confidence In the
Public Service and in particular the office of the National Prosecuting Authority and Ministry
of Justice, and can therefore be described as action that is in conflict with or Infringes on the

execution of your official duties.

11
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Count 14

As a result of your deliberate and Intentional violation of a clear instruction to deslst from
continuing with this type of gross misconduct and unacceptable behavior, your actions
above in count 13 have led to a violation of the express and or implied fiduciary obligations
of your contract of employment as well as section 5.4.(b) of the DPSA e-mall policy, as they
display the behavior of an employee which if reasonably construed, Is intent on bringing into
Serious Disrepute, the Reputation of the Department of Public Service and Administration,

by perpetuating the prohibited behavlor.

The Employer will contend that the charges above If proven Individually and or cumulatively,
have materially adversely impacted on the employment relationship and has led Inherently
to a total breakdown of trust in the employer-employee relationship.

12
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AFFIDAVIT

I, the undersigned,

Abegnigo Hlungwani

do hereby state under oath:

1.

Background

3.

The facts deposed to herein are true and correct and are, save where the context

indicates otherwise, within my personal knowledge.

This affidavit is submitted for purposes of providing evidence to the Commission of

Inquiry into State Capture (“the Commission”).

| am an adult male, 47 years of age, residing in the Gauteng area. Details of my

employment in the Government sector are as follows:

3.1.

3.2.

3.3.

From 14 July 1997 to 11 March 2010, | served in various positions in
the Limpopo Provincial Government in the following departments:

3.1.1.  Finance and Economic Development;
3.1.2.  Economic Development, Environment and Tourism; and
3.1.3.  Public Works.

From 15 March 2010 to April 2013, | was the Private Secretary to
Former Minister Collins Chabane (“Minister Chabane”).

From April 2013 onwards, | served as the Chief of Staff at the Ministry
in the Presidency and the Ministry of Public Service and Administration.

1
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3.4, | am currently employed as the Chief Director in the Office of the
Director General in the Department of Mineral Resources and Energy.

The Chief of Staff is the head of the Minister's office and is essentially the
Administrator in Chief responsible for the overall administration of the Office of the

Minister, The duties would include:

4.1. Co-ordination of the Minster's programme, which included managing
the diary of the Minister, co-ordinating the Minister’s travel and making

other logistical arrangements;

4.2, Management of staff in the office of the Minister;

4.3, Management of general correspondence in the Ministry;

4.4. Management of the Ministry budget;

4.5. Serving as the link between the Minister's office and the Director

General (“DG”) and his/ her executive management of the Department.

Telephone call relating to Mr Themba Maseko

5.

In late January or early February 2011, whilst in my office at the Union Buildings, |
received a telephone call from one of the Private Secretaries of former President
Jacob Zuma (“Mr Zuma”). The call was made from the Private Secretary’s cellular

phone to my cellular phone,

The Private Secretary informed me that she was abroad with Mr Zuma at the time
and Mr Zuma wished to speak to Minister Chabane.

I cannot recall which one of Mr Zuma’s three Private Secretaries called me. The
former President had three Private Secretaries at the time. As far as | can recall in

2011, Mr Zuma'’s Private Secretaries were:

7.1. Ms Delsey Sithole: Private Secretary in the Private Office of the
President;

ﬂ* JC.
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7.2 Ms Nonhlanhla Majeke: Assistant Private Secretary to the President:
7.3. Ms Milka Bosoga; Assistant Private Secretary to the President.

| must emphasise that it was not unusual for one of the former President’s Private
Secretaries to cail me on my cellular phone from their cellular phones:; if there was
a message to be relayed to Minister Chabane.

At the time, Ms Lakela Kaunda was the Head of the Private Office of the President
and later became the Chief Operations Officer in the Presidency. As far as | can
recall, it was not Ms Lakela Kaunda who called me, but one of the other Private

Secretaries to the former president.

When the Private Secretary of the former President, Mr Zuma, called me, she asked
if Minister Chabane was in the office or if | was near / close to Minster Chabane at
the time. | responded that yes | was in the office near Minister Chabane. The Private
Secretary indicated that | should inform Minister Chabane to expect a call from the

former President shortly.

Consequently, | informed Minister Chabane that he would be receiving a call from
the former President. After a short while, Mr Zuma’s Private Secretary called again
from her cellular phone and indicated that the former President wished to speak to
Minister Chabane. | then handed my cellular phone to Minister Chabane in his office
and when he started speaking, | left his office and went back to my desk.

| was thus, not privy to the conversation between Mr Zuma and Minister Chabane.
However, after speaking to Mr Zuma, Minister Chabane came out of his office,
handed me my phone back, and informed me that he needed to speak to
Mr Themba Maseko (“Mr Maseko”). Mr Maseko was the Chief Executive Officer
(“CEO") of Government Communications and Information System Department
(“GCIS)” at the time.
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Minister Chabane did not elaborate on the details of his discussion with Mr Zuma.
| then immediately telephoned the head of Mr Maseko’s office to inform her that
Minister Chabane would like to speak to Mr Maseko at some stage.

A few days after Mr Zuma had spoken to Minister Chabane, | was walking Minister
Chabane out of the office to his official vehicle when he informed me that we “would
have to move” Mr Maseko to another department. | asked the Minister who the
replacement would be at GCIS and he stated, “Jimmy Manyi” (“Mr Manyi").

I assumed that this was as a result of the telephonic discussion between Mr Zuma
and Minister Chabane that had taken place a few days earlier; this was because
immediately after Minister Chabane had spoken to Mr Zuma, Minister Chabane had
requested me to arrange for him to speak to Mr Maseko.

On Wednesday 2 February 2011, whilst Minister Chabane was in a Cabinet
meeting, the department that monitors media reports informed Mr Maseko’s Head
of Office, Ms Pari Pillay, that the news channel ENCA was running a story that
Mr Maseko was being replaced by Mr Manyi. Those of us in the office at the time,
immediately went to check the news channel and found that this was indeed correct.

At that stage, the removal of Mr Maseko from GCIS, had not been officially
announced. | believe that it was only at the Cabinet meeting, which took place on
Wednesday 02 February 2011, that Cabinet was informed that Mr Maseko was
being moved to the DPSA.,

| have been provided with a copy of the ‘Statement on the Cabinet Meeting’ held on
02 February 2011, by the Commission, which is attached hereto as
Annexure “AH1”. The last page of the Cabinet statement reflects that Mr Maseko
was being moved to the DPSA and was being replaced by Mr Manyi.

The Commission has also provided me with a copy of the ‘President’s Minute No
32', which was signed on 3 February 2011 by the former President and the Minister
of the Cabinet. A copy of the Minute is attached hereto as Annexure “AH2".

- S.C
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This Minute gives effect to the move of Mr Maseko from GCIS to the DPSA. By way
of explanation, the process to be followed when a DG or CEQ is to be moved to
another portfolio, the incumbent Minister who has to move a DG, needs to submit
a request to the Minister of the DPSA. The Minister of the DPSA would then be
required to process an instrument called the ‘President's Minute’, which is then
submitted to the President to give effect to the decision to move the DG.

In order for the Minister of the DPSA to process this President's Minute, the DPSA
would have had to generate a submission, which would have included:

211, The initial appointment and other documents of Mr Maseko such as
his Curriculum Vitae;

21.2. The submission would have had to have been signed by the relevant
officials, such as the Director Legal, Chief Director Governance,
Deputy Director Governance, and the Acting DG at DPSA; and

21.3. The Acting DG of DPSA at the time, would then have had to submit
this to the Minister of the DPSA to consider signing the minute before
sending this to the President.

The Minute which the Commission has provided to me appears to have been signed
on 03 February 2011 (one day after the Cabinet meeting) by the former President
and Minister Baloyi, who was also the Minister of DPSA at the time.

Threatening Call

23.

On 16 July 2019, which is the same day that Mr Zuma testified at the Commission
of Inquiry into State Capture | received an anonymous call at 18:26 and was asked
questions relating to Mr Maseko. The call was from a male who warned me not to
say anything about former Minister Maseko’s removal from his office. | did not
recognise the voice of the male caller, nor do | know the phone number he used to
contact me as the caller identification was reflected as ‘unknowr .

A(F"C
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24. On the same evening, soon after | received the anonymous phone call, | received
a “Short Message” ("SMS”) at 20:01 from number 065 292 1224, which | did not
recognise. The SMS stated that “mother fucker am coming for you’.

| know and understand the contents of this affidavit.
| have no objection in taking the prescribe oath.

| consider the prescribe oath to be binding on my conscience.

Cithe

| certify that the deponent has acknowledged that he knows and understands the content
of this statement. This statement was sworn to before me and the deponent's signature
placed thereon in my presence at Parktown on the 227 day of August 2019,
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overnment.
ommunications

Depatment:
Govemment Communication & Information System
REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

Private Bag X745, Pretoria, 0001 @ Midtown Building, cnr Prinsloo and
Vermeulen Streets, PRETORIA

Tel: (+27 12) 314 2356 @ Fax: {(+27 12) 324 4452 @ Website:
WWW.gCis.gov.za

STATEMENT ON THE CABINET MEETING OF 2P
FEBRUARY 2011

Cabinet held its ordinary meeting in Pretoria yesterday, 2
February 2011

Cabinet took the opportunity of the meeting, since the
hospitalisation of the former State President Nelson
Mandela to wish him well and a speedy recovery. Cabinet
appeals to all South Africans to continue supporting him
and thanked everyone who took the opportunity to pray for
his recovery and send the family messages of support

during this time.

Cabinet noted the impact that the floods in a number
communities and re-affirmed its commitment to providing
assistance and support to all affected communities. An
Inter-Ministerial Committee is coordinating government’s
response and is tasked with the responsibility to ensure
that all the three spheres of government provide
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assistance and support to our communities in a

coordinated manner.

The National Disaster Management Centre, located at the
Department of Cooperative Governance and Traditional
Affairs (COGTA), is monitoring the situation country-wide
and provides regular reports to the IMC and other relevant
institutions.  The National Joint Operations Center
(NATJOINTS) was activitated to coordinate the response
by the security cluster. The NATJOINTS coordinates with
the disaster management centre to ensure prompt
deployment of security forces in all the affected areas.

The GCIS has re-activated the 24-hour operations room
(Ops room) to facilitate the speedy flow of information
regarding flooding to keep the government and the public

informed.

Cabinet commends all members of the security forces,
emergency services, civil society organisations and
members of the public for supporting communities and
families that are in distress as a result of the floods. The
public must be assured that government is doing

everything to mitigate the impact of the floods.
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Cabinet welcomed and supported the initiative by the
departments of health and basic education to introduce
and implement voluntary HIV testing in schools. This
initiative is part of a campaign aimed at ensuring that all
South Africans know their HIV status and receive
treatment if necessary. A task team consisting of the
South African National AIDS Council Secretariat, SANAC
Childrens sector, social workers from the Department of
Social Development and representatives from the national
and provincial education departments has been set up to

ensure that the campaign is properly implemented.

The task team will formulate guidelines on how the
campaign will be implemented and provide support to
schools that require support. A workshop has been held
the Foundation for Professional Development to prepare
all the professionals and NGO'’s that will be involved in the
testing of learners. Parents must be assured that care will
be taken to ensure that the testing is done in a
professional and responsible manner. We urge all

teachers and learners to participate in the campaign.

Cabinet noted that President Jacob Zuma will be
delivering his State of the Nation Address on the evening
of the 10 February. The address will be followed by a
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debate in the National Assembly and a series of media
engagements by the Ministers. The Minister of Finance
will deliver his budget speech in Parliament on the 23"
February 2011.

Cabinet calls on all South Africans to register for the
upcoming local government elections. The registration will
take place on the 5-6 February 2011.

Cabinet discussed the current challenges in a number of
countries on the Continent and re-affirmed its commitment
to the active promotion of democratic values and practices
in which governments constantly strive to deepen ties with
their people and address the real concerns and problems
facing them. Cabinet supported the position taken by the
African Union to establish a panel to deal with challenges

in the tvory Coast.

Cabinet approved that South Africa hosts the Southern
African Customs Union (SACU) Summit and the Second
Tripartite Summit of the Southern African Development
Community — East African Community-Common Market of
East and and Southern Africa (SADC-EAC-COMESA) in
February and March 2011 respectively.
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Cabinet also noted and endorsed the outcomes of the
Clean Energy Ministerial Meeting that held in Washington
DC on 19 — 20 July 2010. The meeting endorsed a
number of low carbon technologies including the following
initiatives:  Super-efficient Equipment and Appliances
Development (SEAD); International Smart Grid Action
Network (ISGAN); Continuous Energy Performance
Improvement (CEPI); Renewables such as wind, solar,
Biofuels; Carbon Capture Use and Storage (CCUS):;
Electric/Advanced Vehecles and ‘C-3E Women’s Initiative
and Clean Energy, Education and Empowerment.

Cabinet noted and welcomed the Minister of Energy, Ms
Dipuo Peters’s nomination as Ambassador of Energy for

Africa.

Cabinet noted and supported the appointment of Dr
Sandile Malinga as the Chief Executive Officer of the
South African National Space Agency (SANSA),

Cabinet noted that Mr Themba Maseko was to be
redeployed to the Department of Public Service and
Administration (DPSA) with immediate effect. Mr Maseko
will be replaced by Mr Jimmy Manyi as the new
Government Spokesperson and Chief Executive Officer of
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the Government Communication and Information System
(GCIS).

Enquiries: Themba Maseko
Contact : 083 645 0810
www.gcis.gov.za; www.info.gov.za
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PRESIDENT'S MINUTE NO, 2 2,

I hereby, in terms of section 12(3)a), read with &ection 12(3)(d), of the Public
Service Act, 1994 {promulgated under Froclamation No. 103 of 1884), transfer Mr T
J Maseko from the Past of Director-General of Govemment Communication and
Information System to the post of Director-General of the Department of Fublic
Service and Administration, with effect from the date following the date on which this
President's Minute is sighed by the Prasident until 39 June 2012,

Given under my Hand and the Seal of the Republic of South  Africg &t
__onthe ©3 dayof_'_Ea&’&Jg; 2011,

4 TER OF THE CABINET



